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DELIGHTFUL STEAMER TRIPS

D PRERRER

e

1-...,_‘

SALOON STEAMERS run daily (Sundays exeepted)
between OXFORD, HENLEY, & KINGSTON.

1 DOWN TRIP. Ki a UP TRIP. o
Oc<tord dep. . . . a.m, ingston dep. . 9.0 a.m,, 2.30 p.m.
Henley arr about . . 9712 p,m. ‘Windsor arr. about 1.40 p.m., 7.15p.m.
9.50 a.m., 2.40 p.m. dep. s 2.40 P.1lh.. Q.15 8.

Wi mdsor.lrr about 1.45 p.r>..7.15 p M. Henley arr. ,, 7.15p.m., I.40p.m.
ep. ,, 2.40 p.m, 9.15a.m. I ep. . . + 90am.
Iuneston arr. ,, 7.10 p.m., 1.30 p.m. Oxford arr.about . . 7r0p.m.

The through journey occupies two days each way, but passengers can join
or leave th= boat at any of the locks or regular stopping places. Circular 1ickets
f.r Combined Railway and Stevmer Trips are issued at most of the principal G. W R.
Si ns, also at_Waterloo, Richmond, and Kingston Stations, L.
Railway. Time Table giving full pamculars ot arrangements, farcs, “etc,
post free, 11,

ROWING BOATS3 ol all kinds for Excursions down tbo River at Chargrs
hich include Cartage back to Oxford
Full Particulars on appl'cation.
STEAM LAUNCHES for Hire by the Day or Week, and also for the Trip.

Boats of every description, Canoes, Punts, &c., built to ordey.
A la-ge sclection, both New & Secnnd-hand, kept in readiness for Sale or Hire.
Hiustrated Price Lists may be had on application.
HOUSE BOATS FOR SALE OR HIRE, & ALSO BUILT TO ORDER.

SALTER BROTHERS, Boat Builders, Folly Bridgs, OXFORD.
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Pictorial and Descriptive

GUIDE TO LLONDON:

ITS PUBLIC BUILDINGS, LEADING THOROUGHFARES,
"aND
PRINCIPAL OB¥ECTS OF INTEREST,
WITH

VOTICES OF THE CENTRAL LONDON RAILWAY, THE
WALLACE COLLECTION, LEIGHTON HOUSE,
KENSINGTON PALACE, AND OTHER
RECENT ADDITIONS.

Twentp-thitd EDition.—Pinetp-sebenth Thousand.

NUMEROUS MAPS AND SECTION PLANS.

UPWARDS OF EIGHTY ILLUSTRATIONS FROM RECENT

i
- PHOTOGRAPHS.

- WARD, LOCK & CO., LIMITED,
‘ LONDON, NEW YORK, AND MELBOURNE.

1901,
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'SINGER’

- FREE WHEEL

CYCLES

Combine three distinct patents not obtainable In
any other Cycle, viz.:

FREE WHEEL ACTION,
FRONT RIM BRAKE,
BACK PEDALLING BRAKE.

LIsT, TE8TIMONML8, AND PRICES FREE.

SINGER CYCLE Co.,

COVENTRY.
London: 17, Holborn Viaduct.

LTD.
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| THE LONDON HOTEL AND RESTAURANT

266a, STRAND, LONDON,

w.C.
ISITORS to London will find many advantages b

staying at this

ne minute from

the Law Courts, and only a few minutes’ walk from St. Paul's Cathedral,

1 hotel. Most central for business or pleasure.
| Theatres, and all places of interest.

i

1

. Bed and Breakfast, 3s. 6d.

No charge for attendance.

| PARTIES SPECIALLY CATERED FOR.

MRS. E. SEVIER, PROPRIETRESS.
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BRIGHTON.

OLD SHIP HOTEL

(CENTRAL POSITION)
—~=+ FACING THE SEA. +=-

One of the oldest-established, most comfortable, and
best known Holels in the Kingdom.

For FAMILIES AND GENTLEMEN.
LADIES’ COFFEE ROOM. BILLIARD ROOM.

LIGHTED THROUGHOUT '‘BY ELECTRICITY.

HIGH-CLASS CUISINE « WINES.

0 The London and other Coaches start from
this Hotel.

GOOD STABLING AND LOOSE BOXES.

TABLE D’'HOTE DAILY FROM 8.80.

0ld Sfip Assembly Rooms

FOR BALLS, CONCERTS, BANQUETS, &c.

For Terms apply to the Manager.

R. BACON & Co., Ltd,, W. J. WAGSTAFF,
Proprietors. . Manager.

vili




! IN CONNECTION WITH THE )
LONDON AND NORTH-WESTERN,
LONDON AND SOUTH-WESTERN, GREAT EASTERN,
LONDON, TILBURY, AND SOUTHEND, )
GREAT NORTHERN, AND GREAT WESTERN RAILWAYS
—
Train Services between

BROAD ST. (CITY) & KEW BRIDGE EVERY HALF HOUR,

AND EVERY HOUR BETWEEN

BROAD sm;gncéllg RICHMOND,
LONDON AND SOUTH-WESTERN RAILWAY
Teddington, Hampton Court, Bushey Park, Kingston, &e. -

A Service of Trains is run by the Great Western Company between
Southall and Willesden, forming a direct communication between Broad
Street (City) and all North London Stations, with the Great Western Com- |
pany’s Suburban and Riverside Stations. "

EVERY FIFTEEN MINUTES BETWEEN

BROAD STREET & CHALK FARM !

(The nearest Station for Regent's Park, Zoological, and Bolanic
Gardens, Primrose Hill, &c.).

FREQUENT TRAIN SERVICE BETWEEN |

BROAD STREET & ALL NORTH LONDON STATIONS

AND
LOUDOUN ROAD (for Swiss Cottage), KILBURN,
QUEEN’S PARK (West Kilburn), and
WILLESDEN JUNCTION STATIONS.
EVERY FIFTEEN MINUTES BETWEEN

BROAD STREET AND POPLAR
(For the Poplar, East and West In;‘i{a, aln)d Millwall Docks, and Blackwall
unnel. |

Through Bookings between Chalk Farm and Plaistow (and inter-
mediate Stations) in connection with the Trains of the London, Tilbury,and !
Southend Railway. !

) Frequent trains to Victoria Park and Bow interchange stations, in
connection with Great Eastern Trains to Stratford (for Great Eastern Main
Line), Ilford, Woolwich and Woodford Lines.

Also to Hackney, for Great Eastern Trains on the Palace Gates, Enfield
Town, and Walthams‘ow and Chingford Branch Lines, vid a Covered Foot-
way and Gallery. |

FREQUENT TRAIN SERVICE BETWEEN
Broad Street and all North London Stations, and Finsbury Park and the
Suburban Stations of the Great Northern Railway.

A Half-hourly Service of Trainsis run by the London and North-Western
Company between Broad Street and the Mansion House (vid North London,
London and North-Western, and Metropolitan District Railways).

G. BOLLAND NEWTON, GENERAL MANAGER.

|
N

ix



No CHARGE FOR ATTENDANCE.

The Westminster Palace Hotel,

VICTORIA STREET, LONDON, S.W.

“YAISNTIISTM ‘0L ‘ON—euoudetal

Telegraphic Address—‘ HOSTELRY, LONDON.”

I

OST convenient situation for Busi or P Opposi
AVL  Westminster Abbey and the Houses of Parliament. The Building
is Fireproof. Electric Light throughout, Hydraulic Passenger Lifts, and
all the latest modern improvements. Spacious Reading, Writing, Dining,
and Drawing Rooms, together with Smoking and Billiard Rooms, are
set apart for the convenience of visitors to the Hotel and their friends.
Revised Tariff for 1900 on application. Visitors are received at Fixed
Inclusive Rates, from 12/= per day.

GEO. J. BRINKWORTH, MANAGER.




Symmnons & Co.,] [23. Boruzerie Street,
THE CROMWELL STATUE AT WESTMINSTER.
Nes poaz2)

HOTELS, RESTAURANTS, &c, IN LONDON.

ROBABLY, the first thing upon which a visitor to London
who has no friends in town desires information is as to

how he is to be housed and fed. On this point he need be
under no apprehension. It has been calculated that all the year
round there is an average of 120,000 visitors daily within the
boundaries of the metropolis. Of these, a large proportion, of
course, stay in private houses or with friends; but it is believed
that the recognised hotels alone are capable of accommodating
amongst them from 25,000 to 30,000 guests ; while the boarding-

houses and private hotels could provide for at least as many more.
xi



VISITORS TO LONDON

'I‘RANTER S HOTEL.

FIRST-CLASS TEMPERANCE.

6.7 8,9, BRIDGEWATER SQ., BARBICAN, LONDON.

ISITORS TO LONDON wil
fnd many advantages by
‘ staying at this quiet, hume-hike.

and comiortable Hotel. Most
C-~—*—"' *np Business or
ul's

wes
-alk
foe
1
s
1

IRGETATIDC Om,

Night Porter,  Riectric Light throughout ~
Christian Herald says :—* We can Tranter’s T Hotel as
a most comfortable place.”
TERMS.—Single Bedrooms 2/= to 2/6; Double, 3/= to 4/6, with use of
Sitting, Smoking, and Coflec Rooms. Breakfast o Te- from 1/= to 1/9.

Special Insiusive Terms to Coloniats, Americans, and oibers, &/ per day (nctodes G

Bedroom, Attendance, Meat l‘!’reakfut, and “ﬂl r ‘ ood
Write for -now TO SPEND A WEEK (OR LONGER) lll }-OIIDOI." with
f and Testimonials, post free, to G, T. S, TRANTE!

Tdo(raplnc Addmc “HBALTHIB*‘I‘ lnwa

«“A HOME FROM HOME” IN THE HEART
OF LONDON.

SAVAGE'S HOTEL,

FAMILY AND PRIVATS,
54, 56, 58, & 60, WATERLOO TROAD,

Near London and South-Western Railway Statica
(Waterloo).

71SITORS TO LONDON will find every comfort. It is:
Central, and near all Places of Amusement.

MODERATE TARIFF.
THO\IAS FIELD PROPRIETOR.

xii




GUIDE TO LONDON. xiii

Every year sees an increase in the number of hotels of almost
every grade, but this is particulagly noticeable as regards first-class
hotels. The Hotel Cecil, the Carlton, the Great Central, and the
Hotel Russell have all been built within the last few years, and
others are projected.

The facilities for obtaining luncheons, dinners, suppers, and
occasional refreshment are abundant and varied. In these matters
also London has recently witnessed astonishing improvements.

HOTELS.

We cannot pretend to give a complete list of all the hotels in
London ; but we direct readers’ attention to some in different
parts of the metropolis. The tariffs have been supplied by the
proprietors, and may therefore be considered trustworthy ; but it
is generally advisable to secure accommodation by letter before
starting on a trip to town.

Travellers who only wish to spend a night or two in London will
perhaps find the great Railway Hotels adjoining the various termini
economical as well as convenient :—

Cannon Strest: R., 2/6; B. or L., 2/6; B., 2/-to 3/-; L., 2/6 to 3/-; D., 2°6 to

D, 3/6; T, fr.1/6; A, 1/6. | 4/6; T., 2/6; A.,1/6. Pension, 12'6day.

Pension, 12/6 per day or 80/- per week. ' Great Northern, King's Cross :
Charlng Cnoss R. fr. B. or L., Great Western, Paddington :
D.,s/-; T (plam), 1/6 A, 1/6 i Grosvenor, Victoria Station :
Euston : " Holborn Viaduct :
. . M/dland Grand St. Pancras: R. and 4

Great Central, Marylebone Road : | 4-; B. or T, fr. 106 table d'lmh,
Great Eastern, Liverpool Street ; R.,3/-; . 5/-~ L., fr. 3/~

The Euston Hotel, fronting the terminus of the London and
North-Western Railway and belonging to the company, contains
more than two hundred bedrooms, besides the usual public and
private apartments.

The Midland Grand Hotel forms the front of the St. Pancras
terminus, and was designed by the late Sir Gilbert G. Scott.

Charing Cross Hotel, part of the noble railway station erected
from the designs of Mr. E. M. Barry, has four storeys above the
ground line, two in the roof, and three beneath the Strand level ;
but as the ground slopes southward, the lower ones have many
well-lighted rooms.

The Great Eastern Hotel adjoins the terminus of the railway
from which it takes its name, Liverpool Street. It is, in fact,
part of that palatial building, and is entered from the platform
of the station, as well as from the street.
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[ABBREVIATIONS : R., Bed Br

kfast: L., L h

on ; D, Dinner ; T., Tea;

4, Mtendance fr from k‘mﬁ temperance]

Among the chief Hotels, other than those attached to the railway

termini, in London, are :—
Adelphi, Adam Street : R, fr.5/-;

16" L., 2/-; D., 3/- to 4/~
Pension, fr. 63/- per week.
Albemarle, Albemarle Street :
Alexandra,St. George’s Place,Hyde Park:
Almond’s, Clifford Street, Bond Street :
Anderton’s, Fleet Street : R., 2/- to 3/-;
B.or T, 1/6 to 3/~; L., 2/-; D., 3/6
A, 1/6. !
Angua, New Bridge Street, Blackfriars :
R, 2/-; B.or 1/6 to 2/-; L., 1/6;
D. (to order) ; A 1/~
Armfield’s, South Place, Finsbury: R.,
2/- to’ 3/6; B,,L. or T, 1/6 to 2/6;
D., 3/6 to 5/-; A 1/6.
Pmsioz, 9/- to 12/- per day, fr. 42/- per

Arundel, Arundel Street, Strand : R. and
,5-t07/-; L., 2/-; D, 3]-; T, 1/-
to 2/-; A, 1/-.
Pmsion, 9'6 to 10/6 per day.

Avondale, 68a, Piccadilly :

Bailey’s, Gloucester Road, S.W.:

Bath, Arlington Street, Piccadilly :

Bath and Cheltenham, near Paddington
Station (G.W.R.) : R 5/ to 7/6; B.,
fr. 1//6 L,2-;T, fr ; D, 4/-;
A, 1/-

Batt'l, 41 and 42, Dover Street: Sults
of apartments, 21/-3 B /r 3/~
2/6; D., 8/-; T, 1/-;

Bedford, Covent Garden

Bedford, 91-5, Southampton Row :

Berkeley, 77, Piccadilly : Pension, 10/6
per day.

B, fr.

Berners, 6 and 7, Berners Street: R.
and A. fr. 2/6; B. (lable dhite),
2/6; L., 2/-; D. (table dhite), 3/6 ;
T. fr. 1/6.

Pension, 10/6 per day.

Bolton Mansions, Bolton Gardens, S.W. :

Bridge Houss, 4, Borough High Street :
5 ad b3 o 56 Bor T, 1/6
to 3/— L 1/- to 2/-; D 2/- 05/.

Bristol, Burlington Gardens :

Britigh, 82, Jermyn Street :

Brown’s, 21, Dover Street :

Brunswick, krmyn Street, Piccadilly :
..6/- orL. 3/6;D.,7/-;T.,2/6;

Buckmgham, 25, Villiers Street, Strand :
Buckingham Palace, Buckingham Gate :

Buckland'’s, 43, Brook Street :
Burlmcgtan tOld Burlington Street and

Burﬂs 10-12, ?ueens Square : Pension,
/a day, in winter ; in summer, 8/-
a day if without dmner. 2/- less.

Cadi 75, Sloane Street, Cadogan

ce
.caledonlan, Adeg:hi Ten-aoe. Strand :

R., 6/6; L., 1/6 to 2/6;

D, 3/6 T, fr. -/9
Pension, 8/6 per day.

Carlton, Haymarket : R. (single), fr. 7/6 ;
(double) fr. 12/-,  Suite of apart-
ments from 25/- to 60/-. Charges
for rooms include bath, elcctnc
l;fht and attendance. B. fr 2/-3

., 7/6. The * Carlton” supper
in Grand Restaurant, 5/-.

Castle and Falcon, Aldersgate Street : R

zu:S A, 4/6; B. or T, 2/-;

3/
Cavendish, 81, Jermyn Street, Piccadilly :
Challis’s Royal, 50-64, Rupert Street, \V.:
Claridge’: s, Brook Street, Grosvenor

Goburg, Carlos Place, Grosvenor Square :

Cocker’s, Charterhouse Square :

Covent aanden Southampton and Henri-
etta Streets R, 3/- to 5/- . or T,
1/6 to 3/6; D., 2/6 to 3/6 /6

Cox's, 55, ]crm "Str

Craven, 43-6, Craven street, Strand : R,
31 8o 71-; Ba 2l to 3063 La 2/6 to
35— D, 3/- to 5/6; T. fr. I/6 4.,

Pension, 12/- per day or 73/6 per week.
De Keycar’c Roynl Blackfriars Embank-
ment ensum, 15/- to 20/- per
day, with a reduction of 5/-, if
dinner is not taken.
Duka o! Edmburgh Salisbury Square,

First Avenue, High Holborn :
Fischer’s, 11, Clifford Street, Bond Street:
R., 5/- to 8/-; B. or 1‘ 1/6 to 2/6;
L., 2/-; D., 5/-to 6/-;
Pension (* out of season "), 12/- per day.
Ford’s, Manchester Street, 13, Manches-
ter Square: R., 2/6 to 8/-; B, L.,
or T, 1/6 to 3/-; D, 3/6, A,

Golden cmu, Charing Cross: R., fr.,
4/-3 7. 2/-: L., fr. 2/6; D fr
3/-; T r. 1/6; 4., 176,
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[ABBREVIATIONS : R., bed ; B,

1 h

; D., dinner; T, tea,

4., attendance ; ﬁ from bm[t tperance.]

@rand, Northumberland Avenue :

Hatohett’s (also known as Whtk Hart
Cellars), 67a, Piccadilly

Haxell's Royal Exeter, 375. Stnnd R.
and 4., 4/- to 6/-; B., fr. 2/6; L.,
fr 2/6 D (table & hbte), fr. 2/6.

. 10/~ per day.

Hornx’l, orfolk Street, Stxand

Horseshoe, 264, Tottcnham Court Road,
R.,2/6; B, 2/-; A. 1~

Hotel cecll Strand and the Embank-

ment : R . 6/-; B., 2/- to 3/6; L.,

3/6; D, 6/— The * Cecilia” dinner

10/6.
Hotel  Métropole, Northumberland
Avenue :
Hotel Russell, Russell Square : R., 4/6
B.3j6: L. 3/05 Do 5ii T/
nil.
Pension, 14/- day.
Hétel Vloto a, Northumberland
Avenuc R, 3/6 tT? 7/;6(double 5/6
" 2
gable }'hote), 3/6; D. (table dhéte),
Pension, during the season, 20/, at
other times 15/-, per day.
Hotal Wlndsar, ctorla treet, S.W.;
R., 3/- to /- B. or T, 2/- to 3/6;
3/6 to 4/-; table

Pension, 12/- to 14/- r day.

Howard Norfolk Street Embankment
. with full board and 4., Jfr. 9/6
per day ; R. and B,, fr. 6/- per day.

Hummum’s Covent Garden

Inns of court, High Holbom R, 3/-to

7/6; B., 2/— to 3/6; L 2/- to 3/-;
g. (u;ble hote), 3/6 ; T., 1/6 to 3/-;

., 1/6.
Pension, 10/6 to 12/6 per day.

Langham, Langham Place :

8, 5-9, Surrey Street, Strand, W.C.:
Limmer’'s, Hanover Square :
Long’c, New Bond Street :
Love’s, Albemarle Street :
Aanchester Aldersgate Street: R., 2/6:

B., 2/6; L. (table d’hote), 2/6; D.

f‘tabk d'hote), 3/6; T., 1/6 to z/-

/6.
Hatrgqpolltan, South Place, Finsbury

. Savoy,

Marshcll T‘ pson’s, 28, C dish

Morl s, Tralzl uare : R.
. or L., jrpﬁ . fr. 3/63 ﬁz‘ '
1/~- A, 1/
of apart ts, f7.
8/6 rda

Morton, Russcll Square

Norfolk Norfolk

Norm's, Addison oad Statlon R, fr.
2/-; B. or L., fr 2/-; D., fr. 3/-
T, /r 1/-; A, 1 -

Peﬁswn, fr 8/- per day or 52/6 per
Park I0, Park Place, St. ]amws Street :
Pesle’ 8, 77 Fleet Street : R. and A. and

B., §/-; T., 1/6 to 2/-.
Portland 95—9, Great Portland Street,
lace ; R., fr 3/6 B. or
T., 3 1/6; L, z/—: ., 3/6; A, 1/6.

Pension, 8/6 per g'

Prl'm‘:;’ of Wales, 16-18, De Vere Gardens,

8ueon 8, Leicester Square :
ueon'u @ate, Queen’s Gate R, 4/-- N
T,2)-; / i D, 3/6; A, -/6;
Pension 10/6 per g
Sackville, 28, Sackville treet, Piccadilly :
Salisbury, Sahsbury Square: R. and 4.,
fr. 4/-; B. or T., 2/- to 3/-; L., 2/6
tt/) 3/-; D. (tabk ahite), 3/6; A.,

Saracen’s Head, Smow Hill, Holborn
Viaduct: R. and 4. and B, 5/6;
L., 2/.; D, 2/6; T., 1/6 to 2/6.

Sav. e’a Waterloo Road: R. and 4.,

omz/ ; B.or T, 1/- to 2'6.

The Embankment :

South' K ensington, Queen s Gate ’l‘errace

. 2/6; D, §/-;

.,I%; . or L

Pension, 12/- per day.
Tavistock, Covent Garden B. and A.

and R., 7/6 ; D., fr. 3/-
Watarloo Hotel, 8s and&ﬁ, ermyn Street
}54/-; é.,l., or T, fr. 2/-; D,
Peniitm.’u/'t's rday or 84/- per week.
Woat}remn;'tor 'alace ﬁ\ﬁ/ctoria Smeé
3/ 2/- r. 1
D, fr. 3-; T fr 1/6 l/()f /

Penston, Ir. 12/-

The colossal Hotel Cecil has rapidly gained a place in the affec-
tion of Londoners and their visitors, more particularly Americans,

for whom special chefs are employed.

It fills the site of two entire

streets, Salisbury Street and Cecil Street—which in their turn occu-
pied the spot whereon Salisbury House, the palace of Elizabeth’s
great statesman, once stood. The hotel extends from the Strand to
the Embankment contains a thousand apartments, and consists of
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GHARING CROSS
y TURKISH BATHS

NEVILL’S.

Gentlemen'’s Entrance—

|V NORTHUMBERLAND AVENUE. |

SEPARATE BATH FOR LADIES.

. Entrance—Northumberiand Passage, Graven 8t.,8trand.

Pronounced to be the Finest in Europe.
Admission—g a.m. to 7 p.m., 3s. 64. ; after 7 p.m., 2s.

AND AT LONDON BRIDGE, ALDGATE, EDGWARE
ROAD, AND BROAD STREET, CITY.

PROSPECTUS POST FREE.

HOWARD HOTEL,

Norfolk Street, Victoria Embani(ment,
X LONDON. Xoo

Telegrams: “ KICONI, LONDON.” Telephone No. 5511 Gerrard.

Two hundred Rooms, including spacious Drawing, Dining, '

Reading, Smoking, Reception, Billiard, and Private Suites
of Apartments. Electric Light throughout. Lifts to all
floors. Fixed Tariff.

J. W. M. JARRETT,

Proprietor.

I
|
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thirteen floors. It is of attractive architecture—the general style
being that phase of Renaissance usually associated with the work
of Adams. The Hoétel Cecil has now a frontage to the Strand, a
carriage drive leading directly from that busy thoroughfare to the
quadrangle of the hotel. A new front has been erected overlooking
the Strand. The establishment occupies two and a quarter acres,
and is the largest hotel in the world. The banqueting rooms will
accommodate fifteen hundred persons.

The principal feature of Langham Place is the Langham Hotel,
one of the most magnificent hotels in the metropolis, greatly
patronised by the best English and Colonial families—also by
visitors from the Continent and the United States. The principal
facade is two hundred feet long. The large dining-room has a
length of a hundred feet, and there are six hundred apartments.
The hotel was opened in 1865 by the Prince of Wales. The
management of this imposing structure keeps pace with the times,
among its improvements being the adoption of the electric light,
which is fitted throughout, the beautifully decorated new vestibule,
leading from the entrance-hall direct into the dining-room, a
tastefully furnished music and drawing room, &c. The private
suites of rooms are much resorted to for wedding receptions,
regimental and other dinners.

The Hobtel Vietorh, in Northumberland Avenue, is one of the
most magnificent in Europe. The Westminster Palace Hotel is
quite its equal, and its position is unrivalled either for business
purposes or for pleasure. The Grand, the Hotel Métropole, the
8avoy, and nuany others contest with them the palm of superiority.
Several new hotels of importance have recently been opened,
notably the Carlton, Haymarket, the Great Central, Marylebone
Road, and the Hotel Russell, Russell Square. These three hotels
are perhaps the finest modern buildings in London. Horrex's, at
the corner of Norfolk Street, Strand, and the Queen’s,.Leicester
Square, are also new houses.

Savage’s, in the Waterloo Road, close to the South-Western
Railway Station, is useful for visitors from the South and West of
England, the Isle of Wight, Devonshire, &c. Within easy distance
of the Strand, it is a comfortable home for the stranger; and the
tariff is moderate.

Besides De Keyser’s Royal, already mentioned, there are many
other Hotels expressly adapted to the tastes and requirements of
foreigners. Among them are :—

[ABBREVIATIONS : R., bedroom ; B., breakfast ; L., luncheon ; D., dinner; T., tea;
A., attendance ; fr., from ; femp., temperance.]

Buecker’s, Christopher- Street, Finsbury | Hétel Continental Regent Street R,
uare : RandA.,al-:BorTf Jr. 5/-; ,2 , 3/6; D., 7/6 to

1/6 to 2/-; L., 2/6 ; D., 3/-. 10/-; T., 2/-; 6
Pension, !o/6 per day. Pension, 17/6 per day or 120/- per week.



WARD, LOCK & Co.’s|

SHILLING

GUIDE-BOOKS.

ENGLAND AND WALES. |

Aberystwyth, Barmouth, &c. | Leamington, Warwick, &o.
(the Southern Section of N. Wales). | Live: i ’

Aldeburgh, &c. Llandrindod Wells, &c.
Bath, Glastonbury, &c. Llandudno, Colwyn, .&c. (thc
Bideford, Clovelly, &c. Northern Section of N. Wales).
Birmingham, [&c. | London.
Bournemouth, New Forest, Lowestoft.
Bridlington, ﬁlley, &c. Lyme Regis, &o.
Brighton. Lynton and Lynmouth.
Broadstairs. ﬂf&te._
Buxton and Dovedale. Matlock.
Canterbury and N. E. Kent. Minehead.
Channel Islands. Newquay & North Cornwall.
Cromer, 8heringham, &oc. Nort. ales. !
Dartmoor. Nottingham and Sherwood
Dawlish, Forest.
Deal, Walmer, &o. Pensance, Scilly Isles, &c.
Dover. Plymouth.
Eastbourne. Ramsgate.
English Lakes. . Scarborough.
Exeter & South-East Devon, | 8idmouth.
Exmouth. Southwold, &oc.
Falmouth & South Cornwall. | S8tratford-uvon-Avon.
Felixstowe, &c. Swanage, &c.
Folkestone, Sandgate, Hythe, | Teignmouth.

arrogate. c. | Torquay.
Hastings, Bexhill, &c. Weymouth,
Herne Bay. Whitby.
Hexham and the Borderland. | Windsor.
Ilfracombe. Worthing.
Ilkley. Wye Valley.
Isle of Man, Yarmouth and the Broads.
Isle of Wight.

SCOTLAND.

Aberdeen and Deeside. Highlands and Islands.
Edinburgh. Inverness & Northern High-
Glasgow Exhibition, the lands. :

Clyde Watering Places, &c. Oban, Fort Willlam, &c.

IRELAND. *
Azt.rlm, Giant’s Causeway, Gl;enore, Carlingford Lough,
C. C.
Belfast. Killarney, Coast of Kerry,&c.
Cork, Glengariff, &c. Limerick, Coast _of Clare, &c.
Donegal Highlands. Northern Lake District.
Dublin and Wicklow. Waterford, Wexford, &c.
THE CONTINENT.

Belgium and Holland. l Switzerland.
Paris.

LonpoN: WARD, LOCK anp Co.,, LIMITED.
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[ABBREVIATIONS : R., bedroom ; B., breakfast ; L., lunchcon ; D., dinner; T, tea;
A, attendznce /r from ; lemp., temperzncc.]

Cavour, 20 and 21, Leicester Square : Hota(l;m Pyrenees, 86, Wardour Street,
”°'°§$?J§’.f{.’ﬁ"’ 37 and 38, Gerrard Hbteéq Provence, 17 and 18, Leicester
uare

H“". F 'f"”"‘l 27, Gerrard Street, | yjgiprg 38, Finbury pare : R.and 4.

6t° 3o D (Sabie Tholey a1,
1/6 to 2/ le , 3/-.
Hoteg;i:” I'ion rie, USle'SStll:e.et, Le_};wtiar Pension, - to 6(0/_ )
1/6; D., 2/— 3 T, 1/-. Seyd’s, 39, Finsbury Square R and 4.,
Pension, 8/- per day or 35/- per week. fr. 2/6; B. or T, 1/6 to 2/6; D.
(table d'hble), 3/-.
Hétel de Italie, 26, Old Compton Street, Pension, 8/6 per day.
Soho : Temple, 11, Arundel Street : R ; B.
Héw Mathis Amndell Street, Coventry % ’76 2/6; D., fr. 3/6; . 19
eet, W. :

Pemion, 10/6 per day.
Hdtcl Prﬂltlll, Arundell Street, W.: Wedde's, 12 Greek Street, Soho

uare
R, fr.3/-; B.orT. fr. 1/6; L., 2/6; R. and 4., 2/6; B or L, 1/6; D,

D 4/-~A,l/- 2/- t0 2/6 ; Tfr. .
Pension, fr.9/- per day. Pension, 7/6 per day or 40/- per week.

Private Hotels—i.c., those not licensed—and strictly Temperance
Hotels are to be found in all parts of London. Among them

[ABBREVIATIONS : R., bedroom ; B., breakfast : L, luncheon; D., dinner; T., tea;
4., attendznce fr from kmp tcmperance]

Bomgsw 6, York Street, St. James's Square, ng’s, Finsbury Square , 2/-; B.or

T,1/-; L,1/6; D, 2/-; A, -6.
City c"'t’l’ s Newgate St"-"" R. f' Plnlp'a Cockburn Hotels, 9 and 10, Ends-
-/6. r T, fr. 1/-; L, 1/6; A, leigh Gardens, and 13, Henrietta

. Street, Covent Garden: R.and 4.,
cranstoa s Waverley, Southampton Row, . 3/- to 3/6; B, 2/-; L., 1/- to 2/6;

6;
.: R., B., A, and bath, 5/- per | D., 2/6 to 3/6; T., 1/6 to 3/6.

day. Two persons, 9/6, Barbi-
Also at 87, King Street, Cheapside. T gy ier (oduare, Barbl.

Demetor Houlo, 13, Montague Place, 1/-to 1/9; L., 1/6; D., 2/- to 2/6.
ussell Square : Pension, 35/ to 52/6 Pension 6/- per day.

lnclusive, per week.

West Central, Southampton Row, Rus-
Devonlhlro, Bisho, g‘sgate Street: R., 2/- sell Square: R, 1/6t02/6; B.or T.
D 2/6 B or 1/6 to 2/6; L., I/— 1/3to2/-; L., 1/6to 2/6 ; A., /9.
; 4. Williams’s, Montague Street, Russell
Pension, 9/6per day or 63/- per week, Square : R, 1/6g:‘o 2/6; B.or T, 13
for full board ; two meals 0nly.52/6 to 2/-; L., 1/6 to 2/6; D, 2/- ; A, /9.
per week. Pension (winter only), 6/6 per day or
Faulkner’s, 26, Villiers Street, Strand : 42/- per week.
. 2/-; B. °r T, fr. 1/6; L., fr- | wild’s 3440, Ludgate Hill: R. and A
215 D, fr.2/6; A, 1/-. 2/6'to 4/-; B. or T., 1/6 to 2/-;
Hornar's, !9, Euston Road : R, 2/- to 1/6.

-; B.or T, 1/- to 2/-; D, z/-- A, Do. 70 & 71, Euston Square : Same
-9 to 1/- . charges.



Established 1879.

DEMETER HOUSE

13, Montague Place, Russell Square,
LONDON, W.C.

VISITORS TO LONDON SEEKING A
THOROUGHLY RELIABLE

BOARDING ESTABLISHMENT will find this replete with the

comforts and freedom of a refined home.
AN EXCELLENT TABLE IS PROVIDED.

THE house is spacious, and has handsome RECEPTION
AND BEDROOMS. 1t is at the back of the British
Museum, is most centrally situated, and within a shilling cab

fare to all the principal theatres and places of amusement.

Daily Terms, which include good Bedroom, Breakfast,
Luncheon, Dinner, and Attendance, from 6/- to 7/6 per day

according to room selected.

Bed and Breakfast &/- and 4/8 per day.
Weekly Terms, £1 15s. to £2 12s. 6d. inclusive.

Address—A. GOODMAN, PROPRIETRESS.
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- Tranter's Temperance Hotel, situated in Bridgewater Square, in
the Barbican, is very cen-
tral for visitors, whether
they have “run up to town"”
on business or on pleasure.
It is easily accessible from
the chief railway termini;
is close to the Aldersgate
Street Metropolitan rail-
way station ; and near St.
Paul's Cathedral and the
> General Post Office. Pos-
sessing every adjunct of a first-class temperance hotel, it is at once
homely and select, and withal it has a low tariff of charges.

Demeter House, 13, Montague Place, Russell Square. Visitors
to London will find these quarters thoroughly comfortable, quiet,
yet central, with a most liberal table, at moderate terms.

Wild’s Temperance Hotel, 34 to 40, Ludgate Hill, is well known
by visitors from all parts of the world. It is a comfortable, home-
like hotel, most central for business or pleasure, and close to Holborn
Viaduct and Ludgate Hill stations for the Continent. The Branch
Establishment at 70 and 71, Euston 8quare, will be found equally
well-appointed. It is close to Euston (London and North-Western
Railway?, St. Pancras, and the Great Northern Railway stations ;
and is pleasantly situated, overlooking the gardens in the square.

Cranston’s Waverley Hotel, Southampton Row, is a handsome
and well-appointed building, opened in March, 19oo. It is con-
veniently situated for the theatres, the Law Courts, and the principal
railway stations. One hundred and fifty rooms.

Horner’s Temperance Hotel is situated in the Euston Road, a
position it has occupied since 1850. It is nearly opposite the
King’s Cross and St. Pancras stations ; and is on that account,
and from its proximity to Euston station, a very desirable hotel for
visitors from the northern and midland counties.

RESTAURANTS.

“To estimate the number of establishments in London de-
voted to the replenishment of the inner man,” says a writer
in the Windsor Magazine, “is a bewildering task indeed. The
London Directory gives a list of 414 refreshment-rooms, 762
dining-rooms, and 1,712 coffee-houses, making a total of 2,888
eating-houses, without including the great host of hotels and
public-houses. Allowing each of these establishments two hundred
customers a day—a very moderate estimate—we find ourselves
faced with the startling total of nearly 600,000 meals a day supplied
by the London caterers. That this estimate is but a fraction of the
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reality there is abundant evidence. The houses are as varied as
they are numerous. A hungry man may lounge in marble halls
and dine to the tune of high-class music and a five-pound note, or
he may wedge himself between the table and the straight high-
backed partition of a coffee-house in Pentonville, and feast his eyes
upon a flaming placard bearing the equivocal inscription, ‘ Dine
here once, and you'll never dine elsewhere.’” The following are
some of the principal restaurants :—

In Regent Street, the restaurants are of the highest class. The
principal are the well-known Verrey’s, at the corner of Hanover
Street ; Blanchard’s, in Oxford Street ; and the 8t. James’s. The
first-named — Verrey’s (proprietors, Messrs. Krehl)—has a world-
wide reputation for its perfect cuisine Frangaise and cellar of old
wines. The restaurant is looked upon as one of the most select
in London, and is much resorted to at lunch-time by ladies, even
when they are unattended. The magnificent dining-room, Persian
in style, is considered perfectly unique. The handsome private
dining-rooms are suited to small or large parties. An important
part of the establishment is the Café, ordered quite on Parisian
lines, the customers at their refreshment being able to view the
passing world outside. Verrey’s does .also a large business in
sending out to temporary residents entrées, ices, and other welcome
additions to the dinner or supper table of a household with only
ordinary culinary resources.

In the course of the great artery from west to east—from
Charing Cross, on through the Strand and Fleet Street into the
heart of the City, we come to Gatti’s, the Windsor, Adelphi,
Haxell’'s, 8impson’s (with its “chess divan,” where the first
players in London assemble), the Gaiety, two of Messrs. Spiers and
Pond’s well-known establishments, the Somerset Divan, and many
others. The City is noted for old-fashioned taverns, and some
with old names but more new-fashioned styles. In Fleet Street
are the Rainbow, the Cock, the Mitre, and the Cheshire Cheese,
associated with Johnsonian memories. Other renowned resorts
are the George and Vulture, Lombard Street; Salutation, New-
gate Street; Lake’s, Cheapside; the Cast/le, Gresham Street ;
Pimm’s, the Poultry ; Purssell’s, Cornhill and Finch Lane (where
the chess-player can make sure of a good game), &c. Crosby
Hall, Bishopsgate Street, is famous in history, and deserves a
visit for the sake of old associations and modern dinners.

The Holborn Restaurant, Holborn, Frascati’s, New Oxford Street,
and the Trocadero, near Leicester Square, are very popular.
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WILD’S

TEMPERANGE HOTELS

LIMITED,

30 to 40, LUDGATE HILL, E.C.

. _ e
Central for
Charing Cross, Cannon
Street, and Holborn
Viaduct Stations for
the Continent.

70 and 71, EUSTON SQUARE.
Glo;e éo N
Euston, Midland, and
Great Northern Stg.tions.

Home Comforts.

i
" Cleanliness and Quiet.

L2 4

- GENTRAL FOR BUSINESS OR PLEASURE.
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ANDERTON'S
e X HOTEL.

COMMERCIAL & FAMILY.
FLEET STREET, LONDON.

The Nearest Hotel to the Law Courts.

Special Arrangements made for the accommodation of
Solicitors and their Clients, with use of Private, Coffee, and
Dining Rooms when required.

ANDERTON’S HOTEL is centrally situated, being
within'a Few Paces of the Law Courts, the Principal
Theatres, and the heart of the City, and is essentially adapted
for the accommodation of Families and Gentlemen.

ANDERTON’S HOTEL consists of 120 Bedrooms,
Drawing Rooms, Coffee Room, Private Sitting Rooms, Ladies’
Coffee Room, Smoking Room, Bath Rooms, and numerous
handsome Halls capable of dining from 60 to 250 persons.
Lift to all floors.

€lectric Light on Lower Floors.
The Charges are very moderate. Taritf by Post on application.
-§- A NIGHT PORTER IN ATTENDANCE. 3<%

Bedrooms, from 2/@. Attendance, 1/@. Plain Breakfast,
1/8; with Cold Meat, &c., 2/=. Dinners a la Carte.

F. H. CLEMOW, Proprietor.
And at PEACOCK HOTEL, BOSTON, LINCOLNSHIRE.
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THE ARADB HALL, LEIGHTON HOUSE.
(See pp. 132-3.

LONDON: ITS GENERAL FEATURES
AND GOVERNMENT.

EW persons would, we imagine, be disposed to tind fault with

an egotistical Cockney who took liberties with the old Castilian

proverb and made it rcad, “ See London and live.” For, in no city

of ancient or modern days, was there to be seen such a “ fulness of

life” as that which crowds the streets of the metropolis of Great

Britain and lIreland in this the Victorian, age of our history., It
2 1
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would scarcely be too much to say that, during the.last fifty years
—nay, in less than that period—London has been almost recon-
structed. If Dr. Johnson were alive now, we can easily imagine
that he would enjoy his “walk down Fleet Street” with even
more than his accustomed relish; and Captain Morris would,
we can well believe, raise his voice to a higher pitch than usual,
as he chaunted forth his wish,

“ Oh, in town let me live, then, in town let me die,
For jn truth I can’t relish the country ; not 1.”

Even the intelligent foreigner, of whom we hear so much, shows
his appreciation of the “province of houses,” for we meet him at
every turn ; and one of the most cultured of his class has left it on
record, “I have seen the greatest wonder that the world can show
to the astonished spirit ; I have seen it, and am still astonished
. . . .—I mean, I have seen London.”

London is built on both sides of the Thames, at a distance of
nearly sixty miles from its mouth.* Strictly speaking, the name
only belongs to the City, a comparatively small portion of the huge
metropolis, occupying an area of under seven hundred acres—the
London of history and tradition. It extends from Temple Bar—
or rather the monument which marks its site—to Bishopsgate and
Aldgate, and from the line of streets of which Finsbury Circus,
Barbican, and Holborn form part, to the Thames. But the metro-
polis is much more extensive ; and it is very difficult to define its
limits. On the north of the river, the surface rises gradually
to about two hundred feet at Islington; on the south, there is
a level plain, about three miles wide. Near the Thames, on the
northern side and about the centre of the City, is a slight eleva-
tion, on which stands St. Paul’'s Cathedral, the depression to the
west being the valley through which the small Fleet river (long
since converted into a sewer and hidden from sight) entered the
Thames near the spot now occupied by Blackfriars Bridge.

Many districts, once suburban, now absorbed in the great metro-
politan mass, bear names with which the visitor will soon become
acquainted. On the north side of the Thames, there are, proceed-
ing from west to east, Paddington, Marylebone, St. John’s Wood,
Portland Town, Camden Town, so named from the Earl of Camden,
and Kentish Town, the derivation of which is uncertain—perhaps,
it may be traced to the ancient prebendal manor of Kaunteloe,

* London Bridge is, allowing for the windings of the river, about fifty-eight miles
from the Nore lightship, generally considered to mark the mouth of the Thames,
and the port extends to Gravesend, thirty miles below London Bridge.
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or, as some think, to Ken Ditch, an old name of the Fleet river.
Nearly due north, is Holloway, included in the parish of Islington,
and so named because it occupies the valley between two ridges of
hills, on which are Kentish Town and Highbury—the “high place.”
To the south of Holloway, is another elevated district, Barnsbury ;
and still farther south, on the summit of the hill which forms the
eastern side of the valley through which the Fleet river, ages ago,
meandered to the Thames, is the rising ground known as Pen-
tonville. Farther east, and on the northern and north-eastern
verge of the metropolis, are Dalston, Kingsland, Stoke Newing-
ton, Shacklewell, Hackney, and Homerton ; and then the eastern
suburbs, extending to the Thames—Bow, Stratford, Bethnal Green
(identified with the Blind Beggar of the ballad), Mile End (mark-
ing a mile from Aldgate, the City boundary, and mentioned by
Shakespeare in “ Henry IV.”), Stepney, and—skirting the river until
the Tower is reached—Poplar, Limehouse, Shadwell, and Wap-
ping, the last familiar to thousands who have never seen London
by its association with the nautical song, “ Wapping Old Stairs.”
On the southern side of the river—the “over the water” of
London—are (also proceeding from west to east, or down the
stream) Wandsworth, Putney, Battersea, Clapham, Vauxhall,
Kennington, Brixton, Stockwell, Dulwich, Camberwell, Walworth,
Peckham (with its famous Rye), and New Cross; and near the
river bank, below London Bridge, Bermondsey (eyot, or isle, of
Bearmond), Rotherhithe, and Deptford.

There are several legal definitions of the * metropolis,” sanctioned
by various Acts of Parliament, and they “agree to differ,” with the
most charming unanimity. The Post Office naturally considers its

.chief office (near St. Paul’s) as the centre, and decides that London
«extends for twelve miles in every direction from that point. The
:Metropolitan Police take a radius of fifteen miles from Charing
(Cross, as marking the circumference, and understand the area so
«enclosed to be the metropolis. The Registrar-General officially
recognises a “ Greater London " and an “ Inner London,” the former
ibeing also described by him as “ the outer ring” ; and he informs
as that the area of Greater London is nearly 698 square miles, about
equivalent to a circle thirty miles in diameter and, therefore, almost
identical with the Metropolitan Police district. Inner London covers
about 117 square miles. The “ County of London,” created by the
Local Government Act of 1888, comprises an area of nearly the
same extent—it measures about 118 square miles ; and the district
under the care of the School Board for London is of precisely the
same dimensions. Asthe latter board controls everything educational
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(and a Guide Book is nothing, if it be not educational) in London,
and as both the last-named bodies are constituted by Act of Parlia-
ment, we will adopt the latter definition of the metropolis ; though
in our wanderings about it, we shall visit but.a small portion of the
vast area, the population of which numbers roughly four and a half
millions. It should not be forgotten that a dense population is
growing up outside the boundaries of the metropolis. If a day
census of London were taken, it would be found that the people
who are dependent upon it for their existence are drawn, not only
from all over the outer ring, but from towns and villages forty and
sixty miles away. On the principle that the City proper claims a
day population of 300,000, London might be able to claim a day
population of over five millions.

The City Corporation

is older than the Conquest. For, in 1079, William I. granted them
a charter, still’preserved in the City archives, in which, among other
things, the Norman king, addressing “ William, the bishop, Godfrey,
the portreeve, and all the burgesses within London,” declares, “I
will that ye be all there law-worthy, as ye were in King Edward’s
days.” The constitution of the corporation has been altered from
time to time as need arose. It now consists of “our own lord
mayor,” as “Ingoldsby” dubs him ; twenty-five popularly-elected
aldermen—from whom one is annually chosen to fill “the chair,”
and two others are selected as sheriffs ; and two hundred and six
members of the “ common council.” The charter of London varies
from that of other municipal boroughs in many particulars, not the
least noteworthy of them being that, while, elsewhere, the aldermen
are elected by the councillors, and the mayor by the aldermen and
councillors combined, the citizens have the privileges of electing the
lord mayor,* the aldermen (the latter hold their office for life, or
until they find it necessary to resign it), and the sheriffs as well.
The latter boon was conferred upon them by Edward IV, as a
reward for London’s support during the contest which resulted in
his obtaining the crown of England. That monarch extended their
jurisdiction to the whole of Middlesex ; and, down to 1888, they were
known as “sheriffs of London and Middlesex.” But the Local

* In carly days, the mayor was elected by a general assembly of the citizens held
in St. Paul's Churchyard ; but as this led to great confusion, and sometimes to riot
and bloodshed, an Act was passed in 1475 to alter the practice. Now, a Court of
Common Hall is held ; it is composed of four aldermen and theliverymen of the city

ilds, and it nominates two aldermen for the office of lord mayor, from whom the

urt of Aldermen selects one.
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Government Act of that year deprived them of any authority outside
the boundaries of the city, and now they are “sheriffs of London ”
only, the sheriffs of Middlescx being selected by the Queen-in-
coungil, in the same way as arc those of other countiecs. The duties
of the former Commissioners of Sewers were, in’ 1898, transferred
to the Works Department of the Corporation.

The first mayor of London, Henry FitzAylwin, was elected in
1189, and ruled the city till' 1212—a period of twenty-three years.
Edward III. bestowed the title of lord mayor on the occupant of the
civic chair; and now, as we all know, the city king is appointed
annually and signalises his assumption of office by proceeding in
state to the Courts of Justice to obtain the formal sanction of the
judges, as representatives of the sovereign, to his appointment. His
lordship rides thither in his state carriage, out of one window of
which his sword and mace protrude. The former was given to the
corporation by Queen Elizabeth—the latter by George II. The
Lord Mayor's Show, as it is called, though considered by many as a
relic of medizeval absurdities, is very popular, and seems likely to
continue so. Another feature in the government of the City is
the existence of—

The Livery Companies,

or, to give them their proper and original title, the Guilds, estab-
lished to protect the members of the various crafts (those follow-
ing different trades), to assist those who were in poor or needy
circumstances ; to see that thorough honesty was practised by all
members of the craft, and that the public were not imposed upon
in the way of short weight or articles of an inferior or spurious
quality ; and, in addition, to attend divine service on the days of
their respective patron saints, and afterwards to feast together in
their halls—functions (and especially the last-named) which they
continue to discharge with exemplary care and precision. The
guilds first became of note in the time of Henry III, and they in-
creased in power during the reigns of his immediate successors.
By the time of Edward IIL., they were thoroughly established and
their laws, regulations, charters, and liveries (or customs) were
settled. At this period, they were first known as livery companies,
and their trades as crafts or mysteries ; and their halls were called
the halls of the companies, the name, Guildhall, being retained
for the meeting-place of the great city guild (as the corporation
was then called) itself, a title which, as every one knows, it still
bears.
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The London Boroughs.

The municipal well-being of the metropolis, outside the City, was
until 1900 entrusted to a number of vestries and local boards. By
the London Government Bill, which came into force in November
of that year, the local administration of the metropolis, except so
far as the City is concerned, was entirely changed. Twenty-eight
distinct boroughs have been formed, each with its mayor, aldermen,
and elected councillors. To these bodies are confided all the duties
of the old boards, such as lighting, paving, public baths, &c., with
many additional powers and dignities.

The following table gives particulars of the new boroughs.

- o T
' Popu- ' Rateable !Alder-:Coun»! Total

Area.

lation. | Value. men. cillors. Mmbrs.
Acres. £
Battersea .. .. 2,169 163,115 000,235 ) 54 63
Bermondsey .. 1,506 137,585 864,318 9 54 63
Bethnal Green .. 755 120,162 457,519 5 30 35
Camberwell .. 345 253,070 1,193,010 10 6o 70
Chelsea .. .. 650 75,190 744,278 6 30 | 42
Deptford .. .. 1,574 107,273 ' 349,750 6 36 42
Finsbury .. .. 588 100,001 ' 890,034 9 54 63
Fulham .. .. 1,701 113,781 1+ 039,585 6 30 42
Greenwich .. .. 3,837 81,429 517,320 5 30 35
Hackney .. .. 3,299 213,044 1,100,435 10 6o 70
Hammersmith .. 2,286 104,199 610,211 6 36 42
Hampstead. . | 2,248 75,449 851,413 7 42 49
Holborn <] 499 267,400 i 836,851 7 42 49
Islington .. .. | 3,100 336,764 ' 1,816,925 10 60 70
Kensington. . 12,188 170,465 ! 2,127,537 10 6o 70
Lambeth .. .. 4105 297,613 , 1,731,028 10 6o 70
Lewisham .. .. 7011 99,902 732,283 7 42 49
Paddington.. .. 1,400 145,056 1,404,509 10 060 70
Poplar.. .. .. 2333 169,267 745,272 i 2 49
St. Marylebone .. 1,506 141,188 | 1,608,771 10 60 70
St. Pancras.. .. 2,672 240,764 1,672,600 10 6o 70
Shoreditch .. 648 122,358 708,644 7 42 49
Southwark .. .. 1,119 200,582 1,158,775 10 60 70
Stepney .. .. 1,764 205,515 1,348,300 10 60 70
Stoke Newingtor 868 50,377 320,058 5 30 35
Wandsworth .. 9,100 184,684 1,332,651 10 60 70
Westminster .. 2,555 193,465 4,977,802 10 6o 70
Woolwich .. .. 8,296 100,477 558,104 6 36 42

. 74152 4.397.107 32,305,097 | 227 1,362 1,589
City .. .. .. 670 31,108 4,550,624 26 206 232

74822 | 4,428,215 i36,855.72r 253 1,568 . 1,821
. , : i .
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For the discharge of duties affecting the metropolis as a whole—

The London County Council,

whose jurisdiction extends over about seven-eighths of Middlesex,
two-thirds of Surrey, and one-third of Kent is responsible. Consti-
tuted under the Local Government Act of 1888, it consists of nineteen
aldermen and a hundred and eighteen councillors ; and it appoints
its chairman, vice-chairman, and deputy-chairman—not necessarily
from among its own members. The aldermen are clected by the
councillors for six years, and retire every three in alternate batches
of ten and nine. The councillors retire in a body every three years,
and are elected directly by the ratepayers.

The Parliamentary Representation

of London was, until a recent period, decidedly out of proportion to
its importance and population. But the Redistribution of Seats Act
of 1885, which revolutionised the constituencies of Great Britain,
remedied this state of things ; and the metropolis is now divided
into fifty-eight constituencies, each electing one member, with the
exception of the City, which has two members. If the two divisions
of West Ham are included, London has sixty members. The
metropolis can, therefore, exercise a powerful influence on the
national councils.

Protection of London.

Although a large proportion of the offences committed in the United
Kingdom take place within the borders of London, a comparatively
small number of policemen is found sufficient to protect its in-
habitants from the Ishmaelites whose hands are against every man
and every man’s hands against them. The City Police Force, to
whom is committed the protection of that London, the evident
wealth of which caused Bliicher to exclaim, “ What a city this would
be to plunder !” numbers few more than a thousand good men and
true ; while the Metropolitan Police, who take care of the rest of
Greater London, consists of only between fifteen and sixteen
thousand men of all ranks. The former, who are under the control
of the City fathers, have their head-quarters in Old Jewry; the
heads of the latter are responsible to the Secretary of State for the
Home Department, no local body having any authority over them.
The chief offices of the Metropolitan Police Force are located in a
costly pile of buildings on the Embankment, not far from West-
minster Bridge, and known as New Scotland Yard.

The London Fire Brigade, the chief offices of which are in South-
wark Bridge Road, is, notwithstanding recent severe criticisms, one
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of the most efficient bodies of the kind in existence. \Watch and
ward is kept, day and night, by about nine hundred brave firemen
for the slightest symptoms of an outbreak.

But there is in London a danger more imminent than the attacks
of thieves or the most destructive fire. The continuous traffic in
the great thoroughfares of the city, the ceaseless throng of foot
passengers, the apparently endless procession of vehicles, of all
kinds and sizes—some dashing along at a rapid pace, others, huge
and unwieldy, blocking up narrow streets and impeding the traffic

- of the larger thoroughfares—are alarming to the stranger, accus-
tomed to the quietude of a country town. In such a case, our only
advice can be—Keep cool ; and if your nerves are unequal to
the task, consult a policeman, who will, with great politeness, escort
you across the crowded road, and, by a wave of his hand, stop the
advance of vehicles approaching.

General Features of the Great City.

There are several thousand miles of streets, lanes, and courts in
London, many of them, of course, consisting of rows of private
houses, many others very narrow, mean, and poverty-stricken, and
some culs-de-sac; but nearly all the main lines .of thoroughfare
through which the great bulk of the traffic passes are lined with
shops, displaying articles of every conceivable variety, adapted to
the wants of the different neighbourhoods. “ Window parade ' is,
in fact, one of the attractions of London to representatives of the
fairer sex. Some of the most magnificent places of business to be
found in the civilised world are to be seen in the great West End
and City streets ; and in the less showy districts, there is an air of
business and competitive energy which indicates the extent of the
trade carried on. London, in fact, from north to south and from
east to west, is a vast retail market.

The special aspects of many of the other great towns of the
United Kingdom are reflected in London. Thus, the observant
visitor will readily discover a commercial Manchester between the
General Post Office and the Guildhall, and there is almost another
Liverpool eastward of the Tower, while the cathedral towns, with
cloisters and closes, deans, canons, and choirs, are superbly repre-
sented at Westminster. Certain trades and manufactures are
localised, and have been so for many years. The Spitalfields silk-
weavers are known all the world over. Clerkenwell is as famous
for watch-making as Geneva itself, and the manufacture of jewellery
and optical instruments is almost equally a speciality of that neigh-
bourhood. The parishes of Shoreditch and St. Luke are a very
hive of cabinet-makers, Lambeth is a rival to North Staffordshire in
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producing artistic pottery. Southwark is the metropolis of the hop
trade ; and adjoining Bermondsey tans hides and makes leather for
nearly all England. The markets for corn and colonial produce are
respectively in Mark and Mincing Lanes. The wholesale fruit
trade has its head-quarters around the Monument, at the northern
end of London Bridge, and at Covent Garden. The wholesale fish
merchants have a natural liking for Billingsgate and its neigh-
bourhood, a liking which other members of the community do
not share. Dealers in diamonds collect in the neighbourhood of
Hatton Garden and Houndsditch, and carry on a quiet and myste-
rious trade. About Aldgate, is clustered the Jewish quarter. In
Whitechapel, is a colony of German sugar-bakers; and a con-
siderable settlement of foreigners, chiefly French and Italian, is
established about Soho. Between Farringdon Road and Gray's
Inn Road, to the north of the wider part of Holborn, is a large
Italian community—the more respectable portion employed in the
production of plaster casts (some of considerable artistic value),
thermometers, barometers, and other instruments of science, and
the lower class being itinerant suppliers of street music, and in-
cluding in their numbers the dark-browed, tawny-complexioned girls,
in the dress of Italian peasants, with white head-coverings, red
kerchiefs, and rows of large yellow beads, so conspicuous in the
London streets. Paternoster Row and the British book trade
are nearly synonymous terms, although many of the larger publish-
ing houses are established in other parts of London, notably in
the streets adjoining Covent Garden. Blackfriars, Fleet Street,
the Embankment, and the Strand are the great centres of news-
paper activity, and the adjoining streets and courts are studded
with printing-offices. The financial world of London—bankers,
stock and share brokers—for obvious reasons of convenience, finds
its centre round the Bank of England and the Stock Exchange,
Lombard Street being literally lined with joint-stock and private
banks, and Princes. Street, Lothbury, and the adjacent thorough-
fares being almost as well provided with them. Hundreds of
stockbrokers and financial agents occupy little offices in narrow .
courts, finding them to be veritable “ Tom Tiddler’s grounds” in
the way of picking up gold and silver ; and the greatest mercantile
companies and commercial firms are represented in Cornhill,
Old Broad Street, King William Street, and other well-known
thoroughfares. Shipowners and agents abound near Fenchurch
and Leadenhall Streets. Just as naturally, barristers and solici-
tors congregate in the neighbourhood of the Inns of Court,
as we shall see when we come to Lincoln’s Inn, Gray’s Inn,
and the Temple. The Strand, Leicester Square, and Covent Garden
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are eminently theatrical neighbourhoods ; Pall Mall and St. James's
Street are “clubland”; painters, musicians, authors, and acton
have a liking for St. John’s Wood, Bayswater, and Brompton;
consulting physicians favour Harley Street and Wimpole Stree!,
Cavendish Square ; and architects and civil engineers favour West-
minster, especially Victoria Street.

]

.  Kitburn.
THE LAKE, GOLDER'S HILL.
The Recent Extension to Hampstead Heath.
(See p 341)



York & Srm.]vi - [ Notting Hill.
THE ROYAL EXCHANGE.

THE HISTORY OF THE CITY.

N exhaustive history of London would be that of the kingdom
of which it is the capital ; and it is needless to say that
it would be altogether impossible to find room for anything of the
kind here. But there are points in the annals of the city which
must be noticed in any Guide to London. Its origin is lost
in remote" antiquity. There are authentic traces of a British
king—Lud—reigning in a town, known as Caer Lud, or Lud’s
town. Lud’'s Gate was the name given to an entrance of the
carliest London of which we have absolute knowledge ; and that
name is retained in the busy thoroughfare, Ludgate Hill, between
Fleet Street and St. Paul’s. At a very remote period, one Belinus,
described by Geoffrey of Monmouth as a king, and supposed to
have been an ancestor of Lud, is said to have formed a gate at the
| riverside ; and from that, the modern name Billing’s (or Belinus)
Gate is supposed to have been derived. From that gate, the original
British town of mud huts probably stretched westward as far as the
point then known as Dwigate (“ watergate "), now Dowgate, and
backwards to. what is now Fenchurch Street and Lombard Street.
The river at that time expanded into a large lake, extending to
the base of what are now known as the Camberwell and Green-
wich hills, the latter standing out as bold headlands.
n
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The name of London is variously derived from the Celtic Llyndyn ’
(*town on lake”), Llhwndinas (‘““town among the woods”), or!
Lhong-dinas (“town of ships”). To the north of the town, was a|
dense forest, in which deer, wild boars, and other fierce animals |
abounded. On the north-east, were very extensive fens, from which
Finsbury, or Fensbury, took its name ; and in these fens were
probably a number of lake-dwellings—huts built on piles—similar
to those of which traces have been found in the Swiss lakes:
eastward, by the riverside, were swamps and marshes.

It was not till their second invasion of Britain that the Romans
conquered Llyndyn ; and then they, as was their wont, Latinised |
the name and made it Londinium. London it has been ever
since that remote age. Queen Boadicea, at the head of the
Iceni, attempted in vain to drive the invaders out of London. She
was defeated with terrible slaughter near the place where now
stands the station of the Great Northern Railway, which was
known, until a few years since, as Battle Bridge. Under the
Roman sway, Londinium grew to be a splendid city, one of the
nine colonice of Britain, but inferior in importance to Eboracum
(York) or Colonia (Colchester).

In the third century, London became famous for its extensive
commerce, and several hundred ships were engaged in the export
of corn. Great military roads radiated from the city to various
parts of Britain, and distances were measured from the lapis
milliaris in the Forum of Agricola, in the heart of the Roman town.
This stone, now known as the London Stone (and referred to by
that name by Shakespeare), still exists, and may be seen in the wall
of St. Swithin’s Church, in Cannon Street.

In the first half of the fourth century, London became a walled
city. The direction it took is well known, and it can be traced by the
aid of the modern names of streets. Indeed, considerable fragments
of it, composed chiefly of Kentish ragstone and large Roman bricks,
may still be seen near Tower Hill, in the churchyard of St. Giles’,
Cripplegate, and in the basements of some of the houses in Falcon
Street, near Aldersgate Street. At the eastern end, by the river side,
where the Tower of London now stands, was a strong fort. Thence,
the wall followed the line of the Minories to Aldgate; and then it
curved to the north-west, between Bevis Marks and Houndsditch
(“a ditch beyond the wall ) to Bishopsgate, whence it followed the
line, still known as London Wall, to Cripplegate. It next took a
southern course to Aldersgate, and behind St. Botolph’s Church and
Christ’s Hospital to Newgate ; and thence to Ludgate and along
Pilgrim Street to the Fleet river (which then flowed in the valley
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now known as Farringdon Street). It skirted this stream to its
junction with the Thames, where another strong fort was erected.*
The extent of this wall was nearly two miles and a quarter. The
river bank was also protected by a wall with three gates. On the
land side, the wall, twenty-two feet high, was defended by fifteen
strong towers, forty feet high. There were three gates, Aldgate,
Aldersgate, and Ludgate ; and afterwards a postern-gate (Postern
Row still marks the spot) on Tower Hill. On the northern side,
was an outwork, or barbican (the modern street, Barbican, preserves
its memory).

That the Romans did their best to improve London and make it
a maghnificent town is proved by the beautiful tesselated pavements,
altars, and other remains, frequently found at from fifteen to twenty
feet beneath the surface of the present city. On the summit of the
hill, where now stands St. Paul’s, was a large temple of Diana.
There were numerous luxurious villas by the river side ; and many
more were on the south side of the Thames (in Southwark), some
built on piles, and approached by causeways, raised above the leve
of the surrounding low grounds. There were embankments on
each side of the river. A spacious field for martial exercises was
established near Bishopsgate, and strong camps were formed at
Islington, Highbury, and near the Old St. Pancras Road ; and there
were large extramural cemeteries. The cold springs which under-
lie London supplied the Roman baths ; and some of them (especially
one near the Strand, where the bath is still fitted with the old
Roman marble) are still made use of.

When the Saxons had conquered England, London was made
the metropolis of the kingdom of Essex. In 610, a church was
erected on the site of the present cathedral of St. Paul, and a witen-
agemote, or council of wise men, was held in it in 833. The city
was constituted by Alfred the Great the capital of England, York
and Winchester having previously enjoyed that dignity in succes-
sion—the former under the Romans, the latter under the Saxons.
In 994, the first bridge across the Thames was built. It was of
wood ; it was replaced by another of stone in 1176, which re-
mained until 1832, when it was superseded by the present London
Bridge. In 925, King Athelstan had a palace in London ; and,
during successive reigns, the dimensions of the city were gradually
extended. The White Tower, in the Tower of London, was erected
by William I. in 1078, on the site of the Roman fort, already

* This line corresponds almost exactly with the present boundaries of the City of
I.ondon, with the exception of the “liberties,” or wards still known as “ without,”
added at a later time. The largest of these additions is the ward of Farringdon
\WWithout, which includes Fleet Strect.
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noticed. The same king (as we have scem, p. 1) granted” the-

first existing charter to the city; and William Rufus, in 1097,
founded Westminster Hall. In 1255, a conduit in Cheapside
was supplied with water by leaden pipes; and in 1340, tolls
were imposed for paving the streets in and near the city. The

latter were first lighted with lanterns in 1416 ; and in 1443, the |
supply of water being found insufficient, pipes were laid from |

Paddington.

In the sixteenth and seventeenth centuries, so rapid had become-

the increase of London, that Queen Elizabeth and King James
each issued proclamations against any further extension of the city.
London was then a very picturesque city, famous for the number of
its ecclesiastical establishments ; and in the Strand, between London:
and Westminster, were many splendid residences of the nobility,
mostly with fine gardens reaching to the Thames. The names of
some of the streets in the Strand—such as Essex, Norfolk, Cecil,

Burleigh, Buckingham, and Northumberland—still preserve these

aristocratic associations. About 1661, a great many streets in St.
James's parish, particularly St. James’s Street, Pall Mall, and Picca-
dilly, were built and finished ; and other streets were ordered to
be widened. In 1665 London was almost desolated by the great
plague ; and, in the following year, a dreadful conflagration broke
out, and destroyed thirteen thousand houses, St. Paul’s Cathedral,
and most of the churches and corporation halls. About five-sixths
of the city was destroyed by this Great Fire, so named to distinguish
it from numerous disastrous conflagrations from which at various
periods the city suffeyed. The place where it broke out is marked
by the Monument near London Bridge ; where it ceased, by an
inscription near Smithfield. In rebuilding the city, many improve-
ments were effected. Streets were widened and houses of more
substantial materials constructed ; and St. Paul's Cathedral and
fifty-three parish churches were rebuilt by Sir Christopher Wren.
At one time, there were nine gates to the city ; but, with two
exceptions, they were removed in 1761. The more famous of these
two, Temple Bar, was not removed until 1878, when the present
monument was erected in its place. That gate could, however, boast
of no great antiquity, though it was interesting from its connection
with the various royal progresses of late years. It now stands at
the entrance to Sir Henry Meux's park, at Theobalds, Cheshunt, a
village in Hertfordshire, about fourteen miles from London. St.

John’s Gate, the other one, spared in 1761, is still in existence. It is-

a real bit of Old London; and is the head-quarters of the useful
St. John’s Ambulance Association.

|
|
|
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THE TATE GALLERY.

(See pp. 325-8.)

TRACES OF THE PAST.

ONDON is indissolubly connected with the rise of the Anglo-
Saxon race, almost every street bringing to the mind of the
student the recollection of stirring or interesting events in its his-
tory ; but unfortunately the tooth of time is rapidly eating into its
old-world houses and necessitating their removal. In this way,
many traces of the past, dear to the antiquarian, disappear every
year. Still, in spite of all this, enough remains to interest the careful
archzeologist ; and we may thus explore the great city, as Layard
and George Smith did the remains of the city on the Euphrates,

and find monumental and written memorials of all the stages of its
15
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history. Surviving names, old remains brought to light by the
excavator, preparing for modern improvements, antique houses,
stately ecclesiastical edifices—all help to fill up the record.

The titles of Ludgate, Dowgate, and Billingsgate are memorials of
the primitive British town. Roman London survives in the name,
Watling Street, the beginning of the great road which traversed the
south-eastern part of Britain, from the Forum of Agricola, in the
centre of Londinium, to Rhutupis (Richborough); near Sandwich,
in Kent ; in the London Stone, which stood in the forum ; and in
the fragments of the great wall, of which we have spoken. Saxon
London has a memorial in some of the older parts of Westminster
Abbey ; and the existing names, Cheapside and Eastcheap, preserve
the Saxon word clicpe, or market. In Scotland Yard, near Charing
Cross, we detect a trace of the palace which King Edgar gave to

"Kenneth III. of Scotland, the last occupant connected with Scottish
royalty being Queen Margaret, sister to our Henry VIII. and
widow of James IV., who fell at Flodden.

The Normans left their mark on London in the Tower and
the stately Westminster Hall, in some portions of Westminster
Abbey, and.in the name of one of the City wards, Castle Baynard.
This commemorates a strong fort erected by the riverside near
Blackfriars, by Bainiardus, or Baynard, one of the companions of the
Conqueror. He also obtained a grant of land in which were springs
of pure water, about four miles west of London, known afterwards
as Baynard’s Water—to Londoners of to-day, as Bayswater.

Of the London of the Plantagenet and Lancastrian times, we have
considerable traces—in fact, valuable memorials—in the Temple
Church (church of the Knights Templars) with its fine “ round,”
one of the churches built in England on the plan of the church of
the Holy Sepulchre ; in St. John’s Gate, Clerkenwell, the entrance
to the priory of the Knights of St. John, the order which rivalled
the Templars in wealth, influence, and valour, and who, when the
latter were suppressed, succeeded to the bulk of their estates and
honours ; in the older part of the Guildhall ; in more than one old
church ; in a row of old houses still standing at Holborn Bars ; in
the Temple Gardens, where the deadly red and white roses were
plucked ; in Crosby Hall, where City men now dine in the old
timber-roofed hall, under which sat in state good Sir John Crosbie,
knighted by Edward IV.; and in the halls of some of the great
City companies. The names, Blackfriars, Whitefriars, Charter
House (Chartreuse), Minories (Minoresses), &c., commemorate
monasteries and convents which were swept away or changed
in character by the Reformation. Some of these religious houses
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and churches had sanctuaries in their precincts. Among them, were
St. Martin’s-le-Grand (now the centre of the Post-office system),
Whitefriars, between Blackfriars and the Temple, where was the
infamous “ Alsatia,” now represented by the narrow but respectable
thoroughfare, Whitefriars Street ; and the Abbey of Westminster,
near which we may still find a street named Broad Sanctuary.
Knightrider Street and Giltspur Street' mark the way by which
knights, wearing their famous gilt spurs, rode to the tourna-
ments in Smithfield. Paternoster Row, Ave Maria Lane, Sermon
Lane, and Creed Lane, clustering around St. Paul’s, indicate the
ecclesiastical character of the neighbourhood. Other names, such
as Warwick Lane and Westmoreland Buildings, indicate the parts
of the city where, in those days, great nobles resided. Basinghall
Street, where bankrupts come to judgment, marks the spot where,
in the early part of the thirteenth century, Lord Mayor Solomon
Basing built a fine house; Bridewell (once a prison, respecting
which Hogarth has shown us something, but which is now not
much more than a name) was the site of a royal palace, which has
eft many famous memories ; and, not far from it, are Wardrobe
Place and Wardrobe Terrace, where the royal wardrobe was kept.
This GUIDE is published on the spot (Salisbury Square) where
stood the palace of the Bishop of Salisbury, afterwards known as
Dorset House (preserved in Dorset Street). Away to the west, is
Holywell Street, about to be demolished, where was a reputedly
miraculous spring of water ; and beyond it, is the Chapel Royal
of the Savoy, a remnant of the old palace wherein the Black
Prince entertained the captive King of France and Chaucer lived
in the household of John of Gaunt. A little farther to the west,
is Covent Garden, the most famous fruit and vegetable market in
the world, which we recognise as the “convent garden” belong-
ing to the monks of St. Peter at Westminster ; and Charing Cross,
near it, derives its name from one of the crosses erected to mark
the resting-places of the corpse of Queen Eleanor, on its way to
Westminster Abbey. On the other side of the river, the Lollard -
Tower and the old archiepiscopal palace of Lambeth remain.
Spitalfields, in the east, is a district known by name to all the world
in connection with silk-weaving ; and there was the Spital (or
Hospital) Cross, where special sermons were preached in the fourth
and fifth centuries, the services being continued to this day in Christ
Church, Newgate Street.

The London of the Tudor times was a notable place, and its
memorials are many. At Westminster, in that fine specimen of
floral Gothic architecture, Henry VIL’s Chapel, attached to the

8
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abbey, are the tombs of its royal builder, of young Edward VI,
and his sister Mary, of Mary Queen of Scots, and of her kind
cousin, Queen Elizabeth. The latter monarch lived in royal state
in the palace of Whitehall, the title of which is now given to the
broad street between Charing Cross and Westminster Abbey. St.
James’s Palace was built for Henry VIII. Redolent of memories
of the happy days of Anne Boleyn, it recalls reminiscences of
James II, and the birth of the Old Pretender. Somerset House, in
the Strand, is now associated in the public mind with stamps and
taxes, Admiralty departments, and other Government offices ; but
the name was first given to it by the proud Protector, the Duke of
Somerset, who built a noble palace here. It and many other seats
of the nobles extended down to the bank of the Thames, when the
Strand was a broad road, separating London and Westminster ;
but the formation of the Embankment, has confined the river
within a narrower channel, and now a wide thoroughfare, beauti-
fied with trees and here and there with gardens, intervenes between
the houses and .the stream. In the largest of these gardens is the
old York Watergate, from the steps of which many a gay party has
embarked on the galleys which formerly thronged “the silent
highway.” Everybody knows that martyrs were burnt in Smith-
field in the fiery Tudor times. A Martyrs’ Memorial, with an
inscription, marks the spot where the stake and faggots were built
up. In the City, Gresham Street may remind us of the great mer-
chant of the Elizabethan days who built the first Royal Exchange.

The London of the dramatists is well preserved. East Cheap,
where Shakespeare made Prince Hal meet Falstaff and Mrs. Quickly,
is Eastcheap still; and Bucklersbury has not been quite swept
away by the tide of improvement. On the opposite side of the
river, is Bankside, where stood the Old Globe and other theatres ;
Playhouse Yard, near the Times office at Blackfriars, was the
site of a theatre which Shakespeare partly owned ; Clement’s Inn,
where Falstaff and Justice Shallow heard “the chimes at mid-
night,” in their hot youth, is Clement’s Inn still, albeit it is so
altered—as many think, not for the better—that the shades of those
worthies would not recognise it ; and there are many names of
places recalling scenes in the plays of Jonson and other authors of
his time.

Stuart London may be traced mostly in the western part. Bird-
cage Walk, in St. James’s Park, is the place where Charles II. estab-
lished an aviary of rare birds ; the Mall and Pall Mall have yet the
name they bore when he amused himself there. Spring Gardens,
near Charing Cross, was a place of public resort, where the beauties



20 GUIDE TO LONDON.

and wits of this time met and walked and talked. Now, it is best
known from its connection with the London County Council.

The connection of the House of Hanover with London is still
more plainly seen. The first two Georges made St. James’s Palace
their town house, and so did William IV. George III. purchased
and rebuilt Buckingham Palace, and formed there the celebrated
library which became the nucleus of the magnificent collection of ‘
books in the British Museum. George IV. has left his mark in the
metropolis—in Regent Street and Carlton Terrace, and in Regent’s
Park, perhaps, the one of London’s parks best known to “our
visiting friends ” because the Zoological and Botanical Gardens are
located therein ; while the Marble Arch—familiar to those who
1nake use of our omnibuses—also reminds us of him. Our lamented
Queen Victoria was born and passed many of her younger years at
Kensington Palace. She was proclaimed at St. James’s, and for a
time made Buckingham Palace, to which she considerably added,
her London residence. There is scarcely any part of the metro-
polis which does not bear the impress of her reign.

We must not dwell on these associations. They are mentioned
as illustrating the growth of London during many centuries, and
the manner in which the epochs overlap each other, leaving frag-
ments which reveal the older layers, as in geology ancient strata
come here and there to the surface.
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HER MAJESTY'S THEATRE, HAYMARKET,

THE LONDON OF TO-DAY.

N previous Chapters we have shown that the “mother of the
municipalities of Great Britain,” as “our own Lord Mayor”
once called it, is by no means a city of yesterday. Still the
metropolis as we know it is a creation of the Victorian age,
most of the leading thoroughfares having been widened and
improved—many of them actually constructed, and the bulk of
the chief public edifices having been remodelled, if not built,
during that period. Latterly the work of transformation has
21
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progressed wonderfully. Only a few years ago, there were
many districts in London where thousands of poor people lived
in narrow lanes and blind alleys, accessible only through little
passages, winding tortuously. Glimpses of such neighbour-
hoods may even yet be obtained from some of the high-level
railways ; but thanks largely to the London County Council,
they may as a rule be numbered among the things that were.
The formation of wide arteties—such as New Oxford Street
and Regent Street, in the early years of the nineteenth cen-
tury, of Farringdon Road and Victoria Street, later on, and of
the broad avenue connecting Oxford Street with Old Street,
of the Shaftesbury and Rosebery Avenues, and' of Charing
Cross Road, in more recent times—have cleared many of them
away and purged what were in their days notoriously un-
savoury localities. Other great improvements, such as the much-
needed thoroughfare between Holborn and the Strand, and the
widening of Fleet Street, are in progress. Each of the great lines
of railway which eénter or traverse the metropolisthas swept away
cfowdeéd and unwholesome clusters of houses, in which the poor
were forced to dwell for want of better accommodatxon Now,
outlying and healthful districts are made available by cheap trains
and trams ; and the many large piles of buildings'and industrial
dwellings offer to the working population considerable means of
living in cleanliness and decency. There isstill, however, an urgent
need for increased accommodation ; indeed, the question of over-
crowding in London has become one of the most acute social pro-
blems of the day. Within the last few years rents have increased,
even in suburban districts, by as much as twenty per cent. eausmg no
little inconvenience to people with.small and unexpansive incomes.

Street improvements, together with the various sanitary precautions
adopted by the local authorities in the metropolis, have brought
about the satisfactory result that the health of the inhabitants has so
vastly improved during the last fifty years that London is now one
of the most healthy places in the world. One great cause of this
satisfactory state of affairs is the abundant supply of—

Parks and Open Spaces,
with which London is provided. No other metropolis pos-
sesses so many parks and breathing places, as does this huge
overgrown city of ours. But it must be admitted that Londoners
require as many of these “lungs” as they can get. Besides the
great parks—St. James's, Green, Hyde, Regent’s, Victoria, and
Battersea (about fifteen hundred acres in the aggregate)—there
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are, under the management of the County Council, Finsbury
and Southwark Parks, the gardens on the Embankments, and
several commons and open spaces, within the limits we have
imposed on ourselves. The breathing spaces of the metropolis are
being constantly added to. Peckham Rye has recently been doubled
in size, by the addition of a charming park to its south. Dulwich
Park, close to it in one direction, and Brockwell Park, not far off,
in another, and Hilly Fields, Brockley, in a third, Roundwood Park
in the north-west, and Waterlow Park in the north are among
the more recently acquired. And to say nothing of that delightful
playground, Hampstead Heath, within the boundary of the metro-
polis, Hounslow Heath, Barnes Common, Wimbledon Common,
Rosherville Gardens, and Wembley Park are all easily acces-
sible, and Epping Forest, Richmond, Bushey, and Windsor
are not much farther off. Moreover, there are, within the huge
city itself, numerous large squares, a feature almost peculiar to
the metropolis, some of them of great extent and nearly all laid
out as gardens. Add to all this, the fact that the Thames flows
longitudinally through the centre of London, and we can appreciate,
to some extent, the facilities for health and enjoyment at the
command of its inhabitants.

The Metropolitan Main Drainage

system is the most complete and costly scheme for the sewage
of a great city ever accomplished. The works consist of two
entirely distinct series of intercepting sewers, one for the districts
to the north of the river, the other for those in the south, each
being carried to an outfall in the Thames, about thirteen miles
below London Bridge.

The Water Supply

of the metropolis remains, in spite of the agitation of years, a
gigantic monopoly, in the hands of eight wealthy and powerful
companies. Many schemes have been mooted for ensuring a
purer and more abundant supply, in view of the continuous growth
of London, but, owing largely to political complications, little pro-
gress has been made. A scheme initiated by the County Council
for bringing a supply from Wales by means of aqueducts has several
times been rejected by Parliament. The water companies contend
that by means of the additional storage reservoirs lately con-
structed at Staines an ample supply can still be drawn from the
Thames. .
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Artificial Light

is provided by several large Gas Companies, whose works—and
especially their huge gasometers —are prominent features of the
localities in which they stand; and all the principal lines of
street, most of the public edifices, and many of the shops are
now illumined, after nightfall, by the electric light. It was
first installed on the Thames Embankment and the Holborn
Viaduct ; and now the brilliant lamps extend into the suburbs
in every direction, the discarded gas columns being retained in
many of the thoroughfares as a “reserve force” in case of
accident to the modern invention which has, to some extent,
supplanted them. '

Churches and Chapels.

London is well provided with places of worship. On Sundays the
City—that part of the metropolis so teeming with active life during
six days in the week—is, even in the great leading thoroughfares,
almost as quiet as a country village. The huge warehouses, the
immense banks, and the commercial establishments are then occu-
pied only by housekeepers, the streets and lanes are deserted, and
silence is only broken by the bells, which summon scanty congre-
gations (except in those instances where popular preachers draw
hearers from afar) to attend the churches. There are in the metro-
polis : One cathedral—St. Paul’s ; one abbey—Westminster ; and
two chapels royal—St. James’s and the Savoy. The City is legally
divided into a hundred and three parishes, but some of them have
no practical existence. The Bank of England, we believe, occu-
pies an entire parish, which, of course, has no church, and, it is
almost unnecessary to say, no poor to provide for. Some of
the old churches have been swept away, in order to widen exist-
ing thoroughfares or provide new ones; and their churchyards
have been built on or remain little enclosures, surrounded by
lofty buildings. One parish is represented by a large tree, on
which, in default of church doors, notices are posted. Year by
year, the residents in Greater London are increasing and those
in the heart of the metropolis decreasing in numbers. The
very wise practice has been adopted of pulling down churches
which are no longer required and selling their materials and sites,
utilising the funds thus obtained for the erection of much-needed
fanes in the suburbs. Though this is a prudent and necessary step,
every lover of architecture will regret the destruction of beautiful
memorials of the skill of bygone generations, and the disturb-




LONDON OF TO-DAY. 25

ance of the bones of the worthies interred in them. But that
‘“necessity obeys no laws” is as true in this as in all other cases;
and these constant changes result in the gradual decrease in the
number of places of worship in the City and the increase of those
in the suburbs.

The latest edition of the “Post Office Directory ” informs us that
there are in the present year of grace sixty-six churches in the City,
and more than five hundred beyond its boundaries and within those
of Inner London. The sanctuaries belonging to the various Non-
conformist denominations are more numerous ; so that we shall pot
be far wrong in estimating the number of places of worship open
every Sunday in the metropolis at between fifteen and sixteen
hundred. It would be impossible to notice a tithe of these ; to
merely enumerate them would occupy more space than we have at
our disposal. The principal ones will be described more or less
fully in our Excursions through the mighty city ; and it may be
useful to our readers if here we give the situation of some of the
more interesting, with the hours at which their Sunday services
commence :—

CHURCH OF ENGLAND.

*.% The carly morning services are, as a rule, celebrations of the
oly Communion.
St. Paul's Cathedral—8.0, 1030, 315, | St. Andrew's, Holborn—11.0 and 7.0.
and 7.0; dally, 8.0, 10.0, 1.15, 40, and | St Andrew-Undershaft, St. Mary Axe—

W7.o. 11.0 and 6.30.

estminster Abbey—8.0, 100, 3.0, and | sz Andrnv—by—tlu—Wardmbe, St. An-

T7n %y, 100 and 3.0. drew’s Hill—11.0 and 7.0.
emple Church—1x.0 and 3.0; daily (in | S Anne's and St. A Gresham Street
term time), 10.0. —11.0 and 7.0 et

Chapels Royal : St. Fames' :—930, 100, | Stz. Anne's, Limehouse—8.0, 9.30, 1I.0,
12.0, and 5.3 ; Savoy, 11.30 and 7.0. 3.0, and 7.0.

Foundling Hospital Chapel, Lamb's | Sz 4 , Old Change—10. d
ndling ?—n.oz.nd vy ugustine's, nge—I10.40 an

I

Guards’ Ompel Bird Cage Walk, St. , St Banwba: Pimlico—7.0, 8.0, 10.30,
James’s Park—8.0, 10.30, 11.30, and ] lx.45,30,33o.and7o.

St. Bartholomew-the-Great, Smithfield—

All Hallows, Barking, Great Tower 8.15, 11.0, 11.40, 4.0, and 7.0.
Street—S8.15, 11.0, 3. l5- and 6.30. St. Botolph's, Aldersgate—11.0 and 7.0.

AI:MI;:IW& Lombard Street—11.0 | ¢, Botolph’: Aldgate—8.40, 11.0, 4.0, and

6.30.
All Hallows, London Wall—8.30, 11.0, St Botolph s, Bishopsgate— 11.0 and
and 6.

Al Samt.s, Margaret Street—7.0, 8.0, Sl Bndc s, Fleet Street—11.0 and 7.0
90, 10.30, 11.45, 3.0, 3.20, 4.0 (Welsh), (830, on first S. in month).
and 7.0. » 14 + St. Clement Danes, Strand—8.40, 11.0,

All Souls’, Langham Place~8.0, I1.0, and 7.0.

4.0, and 7.0. St. Dun.mm s, Fleet Street-—110, 3.15,
Christ Church, Newgate Street—11.0 and 7.0.

and 7.0. St. Edmund's, Lombard Street—8.30,

St. Aldan’s, Brook Street, Holborn—7.0, 1045, 4.0, and 6.30.
8.0, 9.15, 10.30, 11.0, 2.15, 3.15, q.15,and | St. Ethelburga's, Bishopsgate Street—
7.0. 8.15, 10.30, 11,15, and 7.0.
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St. George's, Bloomsbury—8.0, 11.0, 3.30,
and 7.0.
St. George's, Hanover Square—11.0, 4.0,
and 6.30.
St;3 George's, Southwark—8.0, 11,0, and
.30,

St. George's in the East, Commercial
Street—11.0, 3.0, and 7.0.

St. Gzlts’s, Cripplegate—8.0, 11.0, 3.30,
and

St. Glles s-in-the-. Fuld:. High Street, St.
Giles's—I11.0, 3.30, and 7.0.

St., Helen's, Bishopsgate Street—8.30,
11.0 and 7.0.

St. Fames's, Piccadilly—i11.0, 3.0, and
7.0. -

St. Fohn's, Westminster—7.0, 8.0, 11.0,
3.0, and 7.0.

St. Fude's, Whitechapel—8.30, 11.0, 3.45,
6.30, and 8.30.

St. Lawyence, Jewry—11.0 and 7.0.

St. Magnus-the-Martyr, London Bridge
—11.0 and 6.30.

St6 Margaret's, Westminster—1r1.0 and

.30.

GUIDE TO LONDON.

St. Martin's-in-the-Fields,
Square—11.0 and 7.0.

St. Mary's, Islington—1r.0, 3.15 and
6.30.

Trafalgar

St. Mary-le-Bone,, High Street, Maryle-

bone—8.30, 11.0, 4.0, and 7.0.

St. Mary-le-Bow (Bow Church), Cheap- -

side—11.0 and 6.30.
St. Mary-le-Strand—7.30, 8.30, 11.0, and
7.0.

St. Mary Matfelon, Whitechapel—8.0,
11.0, 4.0, and 7.0.

St. Mary Woolnoth, Lombard Street—
11.1? and 3.0, in summer; 11.15 and
7.0, In winter.

St. Pancras, Euston Road—?7.0, 8.0, 11.0,
3.0, and 7.0.

St. Peter-ad-Vincula, in the Tower—8.0.
11,0, and 6.30.

St. Saviour's, Southwark—8.0, 11.15, and
7.0 ; daily, 7.30, 8.0, and 5.c.

St. Sepulchre’s, Holborn—o.0, 11.3, 3,30,
and 7.0.

St. Swithin's, Cannon Street—11.0 and
7.0

NONCONFORMIST,

BAPTIST.
Abbey Road, St. John's Wood—11.0 and
6.30.

Regent's Park Chapel, Park Square—
11.0 and 7.0.

Westbourne Park, Bay ¢
and 7.0.

—11.0, 3.0,

CATHOLIC APOSTOLIC.
Gordon Square—6.0, 10.0, 2.0, and 5.0.

CONGREGATIONAL.

Christ Church, Westminster
Road—11.0 and 6.30.

City Temple, Holborn Viaduct—11.0 and
7.0; Thursday, 12.0.

Arundel Square Chapel, Westbourne
Grove—11.0 and 7.0.

Barbican Chapel, New North Road—
11.0 and 6.30.

Lyndhurst Road, Hampstead —11.0 and
7.0.

New College Chapel, Upper Avenue
Road-+11.0 and 7.0.

Paddington Chapel, Marylebone Road—
11.0 and 7.0.

Whitefield’s T abernaclz,
Court Road—11.0 and 6.30.

Westminster Chapel, James Street, West-
minster— 11.0 and 7.0.

Bridge

Tottenham

CHURCH OF SCOTLAND.

St. Columba's, Pont Street, Belgravia—
11.0 and 7.0.

National Scotch Church, Crown Court, ‘

Drury Lane—r11.0 and 6.30.

FRIENDS (QUAKERS).

Devonshive House, 12, Bishopsgate
Street Without—11.0 and 6.30.

52, St. Martin's Lane, Trafalgar Square

—1I11.0 and 6.30.
JEWS.
®o¥ The Fewish Sabbath is on Saturday.
Ba, ter Sy Chichester Place,

Harrow Road—ro 0, 2.0, and sunset.

Borough New Synagogue, Heygate Street.
Walworth—ag.30. '

Central Synagogue, 129, Great Portland
Street—10.15 and 2.0.

Great Synagogue—St. James's Place,
Aldgate—8.0 and sunset.

LyndhursiRoad,Hampstead—11.0 and7.0.

Maiden Lane, Covent Garden-—g.0 and
7.0.

New West End Synagogue, Bayswater—
10.15 to 12.0.

! North London Synagogue, John Street,

Liverpool Road—g.0.
St. John's Wood, Abbey Road—g.0, 12.30.
and sunset.
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Pro-Cathedral, Kensington—7.0, 8.0, 9.0,

Bevis Marks—8.0; Bryanston Street,
8.30 and sunset.
West London Synagogue, 34, Upper
Berkeley Street-10.30 aﬁd sunset. pe
Western Synagogue, St. Alban’s Place—
9.30, 12.0, and sunset.

METHODISTS.
United Free, Willow Street
and 6.30. Queen’s Road,
—11.0 and 6.30.
New Connexion, Brunswick Chapel,
Great Dover Strcet—11.0 and 6.30.

uare—I1.0

MORAVIAN (UNITED
BRETHREN).
32, Fetter Lane—11.0 and 6.30.

PRIMITIVE METHODIST.

i
|
\'
|

yswater .

100, I1.0, 4.0, and 7.0.

St. George's Cathedral, Westminster
Bridge Road~17.0, 7.30, 8.30, 9.30, 10.30,
11.30, 2.30, and 6.30.

St. Etheldreda's, Ely Place, Holborn—
8.0, 9.20, 10.0, I1.15, and 7.0.

SALVATION ARMY.

International Head Quarters,
Queen Victoria Street.

Home Office, Ditto.

101,

. Social Wing, 272, Whitechapel.

Hackney Chapel, London Fields—11.0

and 6.30.

Memorial Church, Hack;xey Road—11.0
and 6.30.

Caledonian Road—11.0 and 6.30.

Ste&ney Green  Tabernacle,
reen—I11.0 and 6.30.

PRESBYTERIAN (ENGLISH).
Regent Square—11.0 and 7.0.

Belgrave Church, Halkin Street, West—
11.0 and 7.0.

Stepney :

Fohn Knox Churck, Stepney—11.0 and
|

6.30.

Marylebone Church, Upper George
Street, Bryanston Square—I1.o and
7.0.

St. Fohn's Wood, Marlborough Place—
11.0 and 7.0.

Trinity Church, Church Road, Canon-
bury—1r.0 and 6.30.

ROMAN CATHOLIC.
Oratory, Brompton—6.30, 7.0, 8.0, 9.0,
11.0, 3.30, and 7.0.

SWEDENBORGIAN (NEW
$ERUSALEM).

Argyle Square, King’s Cross—I11.0 and
7.0.

Camden Road, Holloway—11.0 and 7.0.

Flodden Road, Camberwell—i1.0 and
7.0.

Palace Gardens Terrace, Kensington—
11.0 and 7.0.

UNITARIAN.
Little Portland Street—gx1.15 and 7.0.
Unity Church, Islington—11.0 and 7.0.
South Place, Finsbury—11.15.
Stamford Street—11.0 and 7.0.

WESLEYAN.
Wgsley’s Chapel, City Road—i1.0 and
.30,

Great Queen Street—11.0 and 6.30.

. Islinglon, Liverppol Road—I1r.0 and 3.0.

Mildmay Park—11.0 and 6.30.

' Lambeth Road, 11.0 and 6.30.

West London Mission, St. James's Hall,
Piccadilly—11.0 and 7.0.

East London Mission, St. George's—11.0
and 6.30.

Central London Mission, St. Jobn's
Square—11.0 and 6.30.

FOREIGN CHURCHES.

Bavarian (Roman Catholic), 12, War-
wick Street, Regent Street--8.0, 9.0,
10.0, 11.15, 3.30, and 7.0.

Danish (Lutheran), King Street, Pop-
lar—I1.0.

Dutch (Reformed Calvinist), 6, Austin '

Friars—IL15.

French (Protestant), 9, Soho Squarees

11.0 and 7.0.

French (Roman Catholic), King Street,
Portman Square.

German (Roman Catholic), St. Boniface,
Union
and 7.0.

|

treet, Whitechapel —9.0, 11.0, |

German Chapel Royal, St. James's
Palace—11.45.

Greek, Moscow Road, Bayswater—10.15.

Greek (Russian), 32, Welbeck Street,
Cavendish Square—11.0.

Italian (Roman Catholic), St. Peler's,
Clerkenwell Road, E.C.—~11.0, 4.0, and

7.0.
Sardinian (Roman Catholic), St. Anselm
and St. Cecilia, Sardinia Street, Lin-
coln's Inn Fields—8.0, 9.0, 10.0, 11.0,
3.0, and 7.0.
Swedish (Protestant), Prince’s Square
Shadwell—r11.0.
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Swiss (Protestant), 26, Endell Street, | Spanish (Roman Catholic), St. James's,

Long Acre—11.30. Spanish Place, Manchester Square—

7.0, 8.0, 9.0, 10.0, 11.0, 4.0, and 7.©.
Places of Amusement.

There are in London upwards of sixty theatres, and hundreds of
concert rooms and music halls. During recent years there has been
a marked increase in the number of suburban theatres, almost every
district of importance now having its local house of entertainment.
The performances at most of the theatres, and at other places of
amusement, commence about eight o’clock, and conclude shortly
after eleven to allow their patrons to catch the latest trains to the
suburbs. As a rule, seats for the better parts of the house should be
secured beforehand, either at the box office or from the music pub-
lishers and agents. There is in some cases an extra charge for
booking. When this precaution has not been taken, it is well to be
at the doors half an hour before the performance begins, and to
be provided with the exact price of the tickets, to save delay in
getting change. The following are

THE PRINCIPAL THEATRES AND MUSIC HALLS.

Adelphi, 411, Strapd, Middlesex, 167, Drury Lane.
Alhambra, Leicester Square. National Standard, 204, Shoreditch
Apollo, Shaftesbury Avenue. High Street.
Agquarium (Royal), Westminster. New Royalty, 73, Dean Street, Soho.
Avenue, Northumberland Avenue. New Sadlers Wells, Arlington St., E.C.
Bedford, High Street, Camden Town. Novelty, Great Queen Street.
Baorough, Stratford. Oxford, x%.v ord Street.

ych Street, Strand.

Britannia, 117, Hoxton Street, Hoxton. | Olympic,
B; 3 on. Olympia, Earl's Court.
Canterbury, Westminster Bridge Road. | Opéra Comigque, 209, Strand.
Camden Theatre, HighSt.,Camden Town. | Parkhurst, 401, Holloway Road.

Comedy, Panton Street. Haymarket. Palace, Cambridge Circus.

Coronet, Notting Hill Gate. Paragon, 95, Mile End Road.

Court, Sloane Square, Chelsea. Pavilion, techapel Road.

Covent Garden, Bow Street. Prince of Wales's, Coventry Street,
Criterion, Piccadilly Circus. Piccadilly.

Crown, High Street, Peckham. Princess’s, 152, Oxford Street.

Daly's, Cranbourne Street, Leicester Sq. ueen's, Poplar.

Drury Lane, Catherine Street, Strand. oyal Court, Sloane Square.

Duke of York's, St. Martin’s Lane. Royal, High Holborn.

Elephant and Castle, New Kent Road. St. George's Hall, Langham Place.
Empire, Leicester Square. St. Fames's, King's Street, St. James's.

Euston Theatreof Varicties, Euston Road. « Sasnger’s, Westminster Bridge Road.
Gaiety, 345, Strand. Savoy, Strand and Embankment.
Garrick, Charing Cross Road. Shaftesbury, Shaftesbury Avenue.
Globe, Newcastle Street, Strand. S re, Clapham Junction.
Grand, High Street, Islington. Strand, 168, Strand.
Great Quecn Street (Penley's), Great Surrey, Blackfriars Road.

Queen Street, near Holborn. Terry's, 105 and 106, Strand.
Haymarket, Haymarket. Ttvoli, 63 to 704, Strand.

Her Majesty’s, Haymarket. ' Toole's, Kin, illiam Street, Strand.

London Pavilion, Piccadilly Circus. Trocadero, Shaftesbury Avenue.

Lyceum, Wellington Street, Strand. Variety, Hoxton.

Lyric, Shaftesbury Avenue. Vaudeville, Strand.

Lyric Opera House, Hammersmith. Victoria Palace, Waterloo Bridge Road.
arylebone, Paddington. West London,69,Church Street, Edgware

Métropole, Camberwell. oad.

Road.
Wyndham's, Charing Cross Road.

Metropolitan, 267, Edgware Road.
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ENTERTAINMENTS.

Alexandra Palace, Muswell Hill. Olympia, Addison Road, West Ken-
Albtr! Hall (Royal), South Kensington. sington,
scultural Hall (Royal), Liverpool onﬂt s Palace, Mile End.

oad, Islington. ueen's Hall, Langham Place
Crystal Palace, Sydenham. tP‘Yama.r Hall, Regent Street and
tian Hall, Piccadilly. ccadill;
rome, Cranbourne Street. South I.omian Palace of Amusements
Madame Tussaud’s Waxworks, Mary- London Road.
lebone Road (near Baker Street | Stesmway Hall, Lower Seymour Street
station). i Portman Square.

EXHIBITIONS OF PICTURES.

Rﬂzl Academy, Burlington House, | Grafion Gallery, 8, Grafton Street.
iccadilly. Hanover Gallery, 47, New Bond Street.
Royal Society of Painters in Water | National Gallery, algar Square.

Colours, 5a, Pall Mall, East National Portrait Gallery, St. Martin’s
Royal Institute of Fainters in Water Place, Charing Cross.
Colours, 191, Piccadilly. New Gallery, 121, Regent Street.
Drtto in_0il Colours, 191, Piccadilly. Nincteenth Century Art Society, Con-
osyu Society of British Arh:ts, 6, duit Street.
fiolk Street, Pall Mall East. St. Yames's Gallery, King Street.
Agnew's, 39, Old Bond Street Society of Lady Artists, Egyptian Hall,

Dudley Gallery, Egyptian Hall, Picca- Piccadilly.
dilly. South London Art Gallery, Peckham

Doré Gallery 35, New Bond Street. Road.

Dublwich Gallery, Dulwich. Tate Gallery, Millbank.

French Gallery, 120, Pall Mall. Tootk's, 5, Haymarket, &c.
MUSEUMS.

For the hours at whick all the above are open, see body of the work (refer to Index).

Bethnal Green. i Royal College of Surgeons,Lincoln’s Inn

British, msbury. ‘gl '

lmpmal Institute, South Kensington. ' Sawzt of Arts, Adelphi.

India, South Kensington ?!a (/mkd Service Institution,

Natural History, South Kensington |

Parke’s Sanitary, 74a, Margaret Street. | Sir }'ohn Soane’:, 13, Lincoln’s Inn
Practical Geology, Jermyn Street. ’ Fields.

R%al Ardutectural 18, Tufton Street, South Kensington, Cromwell Road,

South Kensington.

Lord’s, in St. John’s Wood, and Kennington Oval, south of the
river, are the head-quarters of cricket, football, &c.; the Queen’s
Club Ground, at West Kensington, annually witnesses the inter-
Universities’ matches ; and there are many grounds set apart for
the pursuit of athletic sports.

Earl’'s Court and Olympia are famous for the exhibitions and
entertainments which take place at them from time to time.
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other three northern lines in the Euston Road, which has obtained
its modern name from that of the square wherein is located the
chief station of—

The London anhd North-Western Railway.

This large undertakln%‘the development of the earliest passenger railway in the
world—that connecting Manchester and Liverpool—is, excellence, the railway by
which visitors from Ireland and a goodly portion of those from America reach
London. It gives to the inhabitants of “gallant little Wales” unrivalled facilities
for doing so, although two of its nei&bours not unsuccessfullrfsgnt in a claim for
the patronage of the Welsh—and for the matter of that of the I and of our trans-
Atlantic brethren as well ; and, forming, as it does, the English link in the West
Coast Route to Scotland, it carries a fair share of those of our friends from the
northern half of Great Britain, who come from time to time, in no inconsiderable
numbers, to see us, as well. Furthermore, it has stations at most of the towns in
the western half of England and throws out long arms in the direction of the
eastern sea ; and its main line runs along the yery fringe of the romantic English
Lakes district, to many important points of which .its trains find their way. The
carriages of the company have long béen noted for their comfort ; -and the addition
of “the corridor dining trains” (containing accommodation for third, as well as
first, class passengers) has recently accentuated this agreeable feature.

Euston 8tation [Map II11., H 12 : CAB FARE from Charing Cross,
1/-] is reached from Euston Square by a broad approach, guarded
by two handsome lodges, between which stands a Statue of Robert
Stephenson, the eminent engineer to whom the railway owes so
much. The roadway passes beneath a portion of the Eusforn Hotel,
at which tired travellers can find first-class accommodation, and
leads us to the seveére, but imposing, Portico of the stdtion, a
representation of which appears on p. 33. Said to be the largist
in the world, it was erectéd from the designs of Mr. Hardwick
_at a cost of £30,000 ; it is of Doric architecture. Passing through
the ornamental iron gates, the traveller enters a spacious carriage
area, about a hundred and thirty-five feet long by sixty-six wide,

- on two sides of which are some of the general offices of -the
company (which, by the way, occupy the whole of the upper
storey of the station). At its northern extremity, a verandah
of iron and glass protects passengers from the weather as they
alight from their vehicles, and affords access to the spacious
Entrance Hall, one of the distinguishing features of the station.
It is about a hundred and forty feet long, sixty-seven wide, and
seventy-five high. Allegorical figures, representing the counties
through which the railway passes, are in elevated positions in the
angles of this saloon; and in the centre is a Statue of George
Stephenson, figuratively the father of the railway system und the
parent of the constructor of the North-Western Railway. On each
side of the hall, are doors leading to the booking offices, to the
waiting and refreshment rooms, and to the platforms, which,
together with the lines of rail within the station, are covered over
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by a glazed roof of great extent and supported by iron pillars. The
station was first opened in 1838, and, since that time, it has been
increased in size, so that now it covers an area of seventeen acres.
The latest improvement, completed in 1892, consisted in the open-
ing of a new booking office and two new platforms—practically, a
New 8tation—on the western side of the old one.

The railway runs direct to Willesden Junction, to the west of the district des-
cribed in this volume. It has stations at Chalk Farm (the original terminus of the
North London m“.{; which joins the North-Western there), Loudoun Road,
Kilburn and Maida Vale, and Queen’s Park; and at Willesden it connects with
all the chief stations in the metropolitan area. Some North-Western local main-

ENTRANCE TO EUSTON STATION.

line trains run on the North London line to Broad Street, which is practically the
City terminus of the railway, and is, indeed, so styled by the/officials of the company.
Others reach (by a branch from Willesden Junction. the West London), Kensington
(Addison Road), Earl’s Court, Victoria (Pimlico), Charing Cross, Mansion House,
and other District Railway stations, and cross the river by a bridge, about half a
mile above Battersea Bridge, to Clapham Junction, Herne Hill, the Crystal Palace,
Croydon, and Waterloo stations, communication being in that way established with
the group of southern lines. Another extension from Willesden Junction connects
with Acton, Kew, Richmond (for Twickenham, Teddington, Hampton, and King-
ston), and with Ealing, Southall, and the Great Western main line.

A few hundred yards to the east of the London and North-

Western station, and facing the Euston Road, is the superb hotel

and station of—
4
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The Midland Railway,

which extends from London to Carlisle, having communication with most of the
towns in the central portion of England, in some of which its trains and those of
the London and North-Western Railway run into the same station (it would be for
the advantage of travellers, if such an arrangement obtained more extensively than
it does). Starting from London, the main line runs through the Midland Counties
to Sheffield, dividing itself at Kettering, so as to' touch Leicester and Derby, on the
one hand, and Nottingham and other important sﬁaces, on the other. From
Sheffield, it makes its wazn:hrough Yorkshire to ton and Settle, and so to
Carlisle and Scotland. At bergate, a little north of Derby, a branch (which may
almost be called a main line) runs through the grand Peak district to Manchester
and Liverpool, thus opening out ication with the Sister Isle. At Settle, the
system throws out another important branch, which bifurcates—one fork communi-
cating with Barrow, whence steamerssail to Belfast, and the other running to More-
cambe, from which port Is start for a voyage to Londonderry ; like the
London and North-Western Railway, it makes its way through Dumfries, about thirty-
three miles north of Carlisle, to Stranraer, so as to enable its passengers to travel to
Ireland by the route which affords the shortest sea passage. At Y, too, and
Leicester, its western extension leaves the main line, and communicates, through
Birmingham and Bristol, with South Wales and the western counties of England.
This railway has always taken a lead in sions for the fort con-
venience of passengers. It was the first in England to abolish the second-class
carriages—an example followed by several other companies ; and it adopted the easy
first and third class dining “ corridor train” in the summer of 1893.

St. Pancras Station [Map II1., H 13 : CAB FARE from Charing
Cross, 1/6], the London terminus of the line, was opened in
QOctober, 1868, its front, which faces Euston Road, being almost
entirely devoted to hotel purposes. Designed, in the Gothic- style
of architecture, by Sir Gilbert G. Scott, it is a noble memorial of;
his genius in secular architecture, and a worthy associate of
triumphs in the ecclesiastical department of his art. It is
hundred and sixty feet long ; is surmounted by a clock to
which rises to an altitude of two hundred and seventy feet, and
a shorter tower, two hundred feet high ; and it has seven stosays.
The roof of the station is a wonderful example of engineering skl
having a single span of two hundred and forty-three feet—at the
time. the. station was opened, .the largest in the world.. It is a
hundred feet in height. and seven hundred long.

Adjoining the passenger station and hotel, and separated from
them only by a street, is the S8t. Pancras Goods Depdt, a recent
addition to the railway conveniences of the metropolis. It, too,
-fronts the Euston Road, and is readily accessible.

There are alsostations at Oamden Road and Kentish Town. The latter is quitean
important junction, and has recently been reconstructed and enlarged. From it—or, to
be exact, from Camden Road station—Midland trains run through a tunnel on to the
Metropolitan Railway, and so eastward to Moorgate and southward to Ludgate
Hill, op g out ication with the Chatham and Dover and the Bﬁshton
and South Coast sy , and bl P gers from the districts “ " by
the Midland Railway to travel througTI to the health and pleasure resorts on the
south-east coast. Moreover, the connection of the Midland trains with those of the
Metropolitan and District Railways, affords access to the whole of London and its
southern suburbs ; and from Kentish Town trains run very frequently to Holloway,




RAILWAY ACCESS TO THE METROPOLIS. 85

South Tottenham, and other portions of the north-eastern suburbs. At Tottenham,
the Midland and Great Eastern Company join hands, and, as we shall see, some of
the express trains of the latter system, which traverse the whole of the Eastern
Counties of England, travel along this branch to St. Pancras station. The Midland
Railway also connects here with the line to Tilbury and Southend.

ST. PANCRAS STATION AND HOTEL.

The Great Northern Railway,

whose terminus is at King's Cross, next that of the Midland, forms a part of the
East Coast Route to Scotiand, its rails joining near Doncaster those of the North-
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wm(mmnmmm British at Berwick). Leaving
a district to the east of that followed by the Midland. It
m“ﬂm(aﬁn&wm&ewdm Marquis of

Blzifocd. leiizx.znd Keighley, m‘?oumnnahmmmm
in Yorkshire.

The King’s Cross Terminus [ Map IV, G-H 13 : CaB FARE from
Charing Cross, 1/6], opened in October, 1852, is striking from the
peculiarity of its architecture. There is no attempt at a facade, and
it simply consists of two immense brick arches, surmounted by a
central clock tower. The company’s Holel adjoins the station, and
is reached by a covered way. The arrangements for traffic are
perfect. The main line trains arrive at and depart from the
original station ; and there are wings set apart for the metropolitan
and suburban traffic. These communicate, by of tunnels,
with the Metropolitan Railway (at its King's Cross station). A
Subway, to allow pedestrians to pass between the two stations
without going into the street, was opened in 18g2. The goods
depdt, quite a feature on the map, is a little to the north of the

passenger station. |

me-ryrllk,theswondstzhon ) from 's Cross, trains run |
on to an extension of the North Lond ﬁzﬂwz xga‘;tonjnncﬂon,thm
out tion with the Bmad Shwt station. Suburban branches

Palace also

to Victoria (the western terminus of that line), the Cryshl Palace, and intermediate
stations. There is a short link between the London, Chatham, and Dover and the
South-Eastern Extension, south of the Thames, at Blackfriars Junction, and by
means of it trains run from the Great Norther:: suburban stations to Woolwich.

The Great Central Railway,

formerly known as the Manchester, Shefficld, and Lincolnshire, is
the latest addition to the great trunk lines connecting London with
the provinces. The new line—ninety-two miles in length—has
been some years in construction, and was opened for passenger
traffic in March, 1899. The extension leaves the old Manchester,
Sheffield, and Lincolnshire system at Annesley, about ten miles
north of Nottingham, and proceeds southwards through Nottingham

* Hence, too, the Lincolnshire loop-line runs through Spalding, by the ruined

Abbey of Crowland, through the Fen Country, past Boston, to the rising watering-
places of Skegness, Sutton-on—Sca, and Mablethorpe, and to Lincoln, Grimsby, &c. l
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(where a large station has been constructed jointly with the Great
Northern Railway), then through Leicester and Rugby to Quainton
Road, on the Metropolitan Company’s Aylesbury line. From
Quainton Road to Neasden—about forty miles—the Metropolitan
lines have been doubled to accommodate the Great Central trains.
From Neasden to Marylebone (the terminus) the Great Central
follows very closely the Metropolitan line to Baker Street. At
Neasden extensive sidings have been constructed, and this place
bids fair to become a very important railway depdt and junction.
There are also large sidings and warehouses at St. John’s Wood
to accommodate the goods and coal which are barged along

GREAT CENTRAL TERMINUS : THE PROMENADE.

the Regent’s Canal—here widened to one hundred feet—to the
docks on the Thames. The coal-yard will accommodate three
hundred wagons at one time. The passenger station at the
Marylebone terminus has been constructed on the most approved
modern principles. The site is 1,000 feet long by about 435 feet
wide, covering about nine acres, but at present only about 180 feet
in width is utilised, the remainder being reserved for future exten-
sions. ‘There are at present three platforms and five lines of way.
Between the two arrival platforms is a spacious cab rank. A huge
hotel, the Great Central, has been erected between the station
and the Marylebone Road. It is of red brick, with terra-cotta
dressings, and is surmounted by a handsome clock tower. There
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are numerous bedrooms, besides the lofty and luxurious dining-
and drawing-rooms and other apartments usual in a first-class
hotel. . There are several easy approaches to the station. The con-
struction of the Great Central has necessitated the demolition and
clearance of a number of narrow and dirty streets, covering about
thirty-seven acres. On the other hand, two wide thoroughfares

ROAD

€DGW ARE

have been constructed and opened to the public, one running east
to -west from Park Road to Lisson Grove, and the other north
to south from Park Road to Marylebone Road. The line has
completely altered the aspect of many parts of the hitherto secluded
district of St. John's Wood. Lords’ Cricket Ground, as to which
there was so much outcry when the Company’s bill was before
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Parliament, has fortunately been preserved intact, the tunnels which
burrow drder it being completely hidden from' view.- In;fact, the
ground is really larger now than formerly, the Company having
transferred to the Middlesex Cricket Club a piece of land lately the
property of the Clergy Orphan Corporation.

4

Symmons & Co.,} . [Bowverie Street, E.C,
ST. PAUL'S CATHEDRAL.

The Great Western Railway,

one of the earliest of the railways running out of London, has its head-quarters in
the western district of London. It was originally intended that this line should
merely form a means of cc ication between London and Bristol; but, by

xtension and Igamation, the railway at the present time is the longest in the
country, the total length of its rails being nearly two thousand five hundred miles.
Its main lines run to Penzance; to New Milford, whence steam packets sail to
Waterford and Cork; to Weymouth, at which port vessels connect daily with

ﬂ
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Gueznselzland Jersey ; and, by three routes—pi4¢ Worcester and the Severn Vall
(which line is connected with the Devon and Cornwall one by the Severn tunnel),
rié Leamington, Warwick, Birmingham, &c., and »i4 Gloucester and Hereford—to
Birkenhead (connected with Liverpool by the Mersey tunnel) ; and it throws off
numerous branches—to Windsor, to Henley, to Stratford-on-Avon, to Manchester,
to Dolgelley (in North Wales), &c., so that it makes good its name by traversing
the greater portion of Wales and the western districts of England.

The Paddington Station [Railway Map : CAB FARE from Charing
Cross, 1/6] has its entrance opposite Eastbourne Terrace, the front
of the building, facing the Praed Street station of the Metropolitan
Railway, being utilised as a very large and handsome hotel, built,
in the Louis Quatorze style, from the design of Mr. Hardwick. The
station itself is about three hundred and ten feet wide ; and its roof
is in four spans of a hundred and twenty, two of sixty, and one of
seventy feet. Hence, passengers can travel by the Metropolitan
Railway to all parts of London in a short time, either from
the Praed Street station or that at Bishop’s Road. The former
is connected with the terminus by a subway, and the latter by a
bridge, so that travellers may pass from one line to the other with-
out being exposed to the inclemency of the weather.

The Great Eastern Railway,
which has its terminus in Liverpool Street, in the City, is the other large line run-
ninf out of London, north of the Thames. Its main lines communicate with Cam-
bridge, Ely, Spalding, Lincoln, Doncaster, and York ; with Chelmsford, Colchester,
Ipswich, Norwich, Yarmouth, Lowestoft, Cromer, and Mundesley ; and it has branches
all over East Anglia (from this fact, it was for many years known as the Eastern
Counties Railway , in which district it is almost without a competitor. Its line to
Harwich is an important one, for the trains run on to Parkeston Quay, whence
there is a daily service (Sundays included) to the Hook of Holland and Rotterdam,
by the pany’s st packets, which are the largest carrying on a daily service
between England and the Continent. They sail under the British flag, and are
consequently under the stringent regulations of the Board of Trade. Other vessels
belonging to the compang’ leave Parkeston Quay every week-day for Antwerp
—a convenient route, which is rapidly growing in the estimation of travellers.
There are, moreover, two other lines of communication with the Continent, the
starting-point whereof is Parkeston Quay. The vessels of the General Steam Navi-
tion Company sail to and from Hamburg twice weekly ; and those of the United
teamship &)mpany of Oogenhagen to and from Esbjerg, on the west coast of
Dénmark, three times a week. Through carria:fes are run between Manchester (vid
Lincoln) and Birmingham (by the London and North-Western and Midland Rail-
ways, v:d Peterborough) and Parkeston Quay, Harwich. A dining car, into which
first-class passengers can change en route, and first and third class corridor car-
riages, with lavatori\;accommodaﬁon, run on the boat trains between York and
Harwich (v:d Lincoln and March).

The main line to Doncaster and York “connects” with the North-Eastern Rail-
way, and so becomes part and parcel of the East Coast route to Scotland. On
account of the number of cities through which it passes, it is known as the
“ cathedral route” to York ; and as, at Tottenham, in the northern suburbs of Lon-
don, it throws out a line to St. Pancras station, whither some of its trains make
their way, it is equally useful to travellers from the western and eastern districts of
the metropolis. Among its branches, are those to Clacton-on-Sea, Walton-on-the-
Naze, and Brightlingsea, to Felixstowe, Aldebu_lgel;, and Southwold, to Lynn,
Hunstanton, Wells, and Cromer, to Southend-on: and other watering-places,
to Hertford, Newmarket (famous for its races), Bury St. Edmunds, St. Ives, and
Huntingdon, and to Peterborough; and its suburban lines, specially those to
Loughton and Chingford, &c., are useful to “city men.” By means of the London
and Line (the terminus of which is Fenchurch Street station), there is
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communication with the East and West India Docks and with Greenwich, a ferry-
boat meeting the trains ; and the junction, near Bromley, with the London, rmmx,
and lc-ﬁ-i ldl“z opens out direct communication with the towns wi:ence the
latter line obtains its title, as well as with Shoeburyness.

The Great Eastern Railway possesses two termini in London.
The chief one—the Liverpool Street Station [Map IV., K 17: CAB
FARE from Charing Cross, 1/6]—is one of the finest in London. It
covers about fifteen acres of land, and occupies almost the whole of
the parish of St. Botolph, Bishopsgate. From the Liverpool Street
front to the end of the station yard, it is nearly two thousand feet in
length. The western (the older) portion was designed by Mr.
E. Wilson, M.I.C.E,, in the Early Domestic style of Gothic architec-
ture, and is composed mainly of stock brick and stone. Its fagade is
an arcade of twenty-four bays with tracery. The eastern part (the
more recent addition), which has a handsome frontage to Bishops-
gate, Street, five hundred feet in length, is built of red brick and
Portland stone, and was carried out under Mr. J. Wilson, M.I.CE.
There are eighteen platforms—each about five hundred feet long ;
and the entire station is covered by a roof of various spans.

The other City terminus of the line is Fenchurch Street Station
—{Map IV:, L 17 : CAB FARE from Charing Cross, 1/6]—which is the
property of the London and Blackwall Railway ; but is also used by
the Great Eastern and the London, Tilbury,and Southend companies.

Two of the railways which start from the southern bank of the
Thames have their head-quarters at—

The London Bridge Stations

—[Map IV., M 17: CaB FARE from Charing Cross, 1/6]—which
occupy the site of the old St. Thomas’s Hospital, purchased by
the two railway companies in the middle of the last century.
The south-western—the larger—portion is the city terminus of the
London, Brighton, and South Coast Railway (to whom belong the
South London and the Crystal Palace lines), and the rest is the
property of the South-Eastern and Chatham and Dover Company,
so that on this spot are concentrated the lines of several important
undertakings. The station yard, which is approached at the junction
of Tooley Street with the head of Borough High Street and the foot
of London Bridge by an ascending incline, is spacious and lined by
shops and restaurants. A subway runs beneath the yard to the
London Bridge station of the South London Electric line. The
district covered by— ’

The London, Brighton, and South Coast Railway
extends from Hastings and Tunbridge Wells, on the east, to Portsmouth, on the west.
One of the routes to the latter town, known as the Mid-Sussex line, through Box-
hill and Dorking, is a favourite mode of reaching the Isle of Wight, as much on
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account of the charming scenery through which it passes as of the celerity of the
journey. The branch to Guildford is very useful, for it connects that town with the
coast of Sussex; and the line to Brighton is the only means of reaching London-
super-Mare. The company possesses, in addition, a favourite route to Paris, vid
Newhaven and D::Ppe and throu%h the picturesque and lovely districts of Nor-
mandy. The liberal provision the Brighton and the Western of France companies
have made for their travellers in providing them with large and erful steamers,
with excellent accommodation and every comfort, has obtained for them a large
accession of traffic.

The chief offices of the company are at London Bridge Station, its
City terminus, and it also possesses an important and useful one in
the West End—Victoria Station (connected by a subway with the
District Railway)—[Map I, N 11-12: CAB FARE from Charing
Cross, 1/-]—at Pimlico. From each of these stations, the main lines
run to Croydon, at which important junction, they unite.

The East London ndlvlg connects the railway at New Cross, with the Great
Eastern, the Metropolitan, the Metropolitan District Railways, and practically with
all the systems north of the Thames ; the West London Rx&m 'way, which
runs from Ola; Junction (where travellers can change into the trains of the
London and South-Western Railway) to Kensinﬂ.)on-(idﬂilm Road Station)}—
opens out communication with the trains of the London and North-Western and
Great Western Railways ; * while the Bouth London (from London Bridge to Vic-

toria) and Orystal Palace Lines, with their connections, afford the means of access
to the whole of the southern suburbs.

The South-Eastern and Chatham Railway.

This extensive southern system is an amalgamation of the former South-Eastern
and London, Chatham, and Dover lines. It may be well, however, for the sake of
clearness to describe them separately.

(a) The South-Eastern.

The main line runs through the Weald of Kent to Dover, from which town steamers
ply to Calais. A short branch—almost important enough to be considered a main
line—runs to Folkestone, another point of departure for the Continent, vesselssailing
thence to Boulogne. The line communicates with Deal, Margate, and Ramsgate,
with Canterbury and Whitstable, and with Port Victoria, near Sheerness, on the
northern coast of Kent; and a line from Tonbridge and the fashionable inland
watering-place of Tunbridge Wells runs down to the coast of Sussex at St. Leonards
and Hastings and rejoins the main line at Ashford. In addition, moreover, to its
auxiliaries, the North Kent and the Greenwich Railways, the line sends out branches
to many important places in the Metropolitan area, and a feeder to Guildford, whence
nearly all the trains go to Reading and Aldershot, the military camp. At New
Cross, it has a junction with the East London line, which opens out access to the
east'and north of England and the Metropolitan Railway system.

The London Bridge Station—[Map IV., M 16-17]—an erection in
the Italian style, three storeys high, with an ornamental cornice
and surmounted by a clock, is the head-quarters of the company,
where are the offices of the general manager and his subordinates.
From it, an extension was completed in 1864, along the Surrey side
of the river, and across it, by a bridge to the Charing Cross station,
to make room for which the Hungerford Suspension Bridge was
removed ; and in September, 1866, the Cannon Street station was

* There are also through services of London and North-Western trains, daily,
between Willesden Junction and Victoria, and between Willesden Junction and
Croydon, connecting the London and North-Western and Brighton systems for
through passengers and avoiding the necessity of a cab journey across London.
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opened, a viaduct having been constructed across the Thames
between London and Southwark Bridges, and communication
thereby afforded between the busiest part of the City and London
Bridge station, on the one hand, and Charing Cross station, on the
other. In 1887, a junction with the Chatham line at Blackfriars
was constructed, and in that way the South-Eastern trains obtained
access to Ludgate Station and a connection with the Metropolitan
line and its extensions was established. The Cannon Street
Station—[Map IV., L 16]—(connected by a subway with the District
Railway) is the eastern, and the Charing Cross Station—[Map I,
L 13]—the western terminus of the South-Eastern part of the
system. The architecture of these edifices is superb, and both have
hotels attached to them. The first-named occupies nearly two City
parishes. The Charing Cross station was erected from the designs
of Mr. E. M. Barry, son of the architect of the New Palace at
Westminster. It has a frontage to the Strand of two hundred and
thirty-eight feet, with four storeys above the ground line, two
storeys in the roof, and three storeys beneath the Strand level ; as
the ground slopes southward, the last-named have many well-
lighted rooms. The pilasters, balustrades, cornices, and most of
the ornamentation are of terra-cotta. On the street level, are the
booking-offices, refreshment-rooms, &c. ; and the entire station, with
its numerous arrival and departure platforms for the general and
the Continental traffic, is covered with a roof of iron and glass.
In front of the station is a reproduction of the original Charing
Cross, by Mr. Durham, R.A.

(b) The Chatham Line,

affording access to nearly all the important towns of Kent, was completed as
far as the Surrey side of the Thames at Blackfriars station, in 1861: In 1866, it was
extended into the City at New Bridge Street, near the foot of Ludgate Hill, the
Thames being crossed by a viaduct, a few yards east of Blackfriars Bri ge. Ludgate
Hill was shortly afterwards spanned biyl' a railway bridge, the line being extended to
Holborn Viaduct, and by cuttings to the Aldersgate and Farringdon stations of the
Metropolitan Railway, a City terminus being erected at Moorgate. More recently,
a second bridge, rendered necessary by the ever-increasing suburban traffic, was
thrown over the Thames, on the eastern side of the first. A very commodious
station was opened at the same time (it is known as St. Paul's), and that at Black-
friars was set apart for goods traffic. From Loughborough Junction, about three
miles south of the Thames, the itan i runs westward to
Battersea Park, and thence across the river to Victoria Station, Pimlico, where are the
chief offices of the company. e extensi ives access to the suburban districts
of Brixton, Clapham, and the Wandsworth Road, and communicates with that
remarkable railway centre, Olapham Junction. Running eastward from Lough-
borough Junction, is the High Level Line, to the 0 Palace, branches diverging
from it at Nunhead to Blackheath and Green and, through Oatford, to the
main line at Shortlands, The suburban trains run over the Great Northern line as
far as Hatfield, and over the Midland to Hendon ; and the London and South-Western
trains run from Ludgate to Richmond.

The Continental and other main line-trains start simultaneously from Victoria
and Holborn Viaduct. They unite at Herne Hill, those conveying passengers to the
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Continent running through to the Admiralty Pier at Dover, whence steampackets
ply to Calais, in connection with the trains of the Gare du Nord (France). Special
express trains are also run between London and Dover, in connection with the
boats of the Belgian Government, which run daily between the latter port and
Ostend. Another favourite Continental route is that known as the Queenborough-
Flushing, the trains running along a short branch from Sittingbourne to Queen-
borough pier, which was specially constructed by the company for this service.
This line is continued to Sheerness. Rochester, Chatham, Canterbury, and Dover
are reached by the main line ; and branches cc i with Gr d, with
%::nmom, Maidstone, and Ashford, with Whitstable, Margate, and Ramsgate, and

The termini of the Chatham line are at Victoria (for the West
End, the station being connected with the Inner Circle of the
District Railway by a subway) and at Holborn Viaduct. Holborn
Viaduct has a low-level station—that of S8now Hill, at the beginning
of the Metrépolitan Extension line of the company. Ludgate
Hill station, which faces New Bridge Street, has evoked much
criticism recently, and is shortly to be extended and remodelled.
It is the nearest railway station to St. Paul’'s Cathedral. 8t Paul’s
station, rendered necessary by the increasing suburban traffic of
the company, faces Queen Victoria Street, at its junction with
Upper Thames Street.

The London and South-Western Railway.

The chief station, where the executive staff have their offices, is at Waterloo.
This station, though often enlarged, is still insufficient for the requirements of the
traffic, and is being greatly extended by taking in adjoining streets. The line
has the greatest mileage of any railway to the south of the Thames. It runs
due west to Salisbury, Exeter, Tavistock, Devonport, and Plymouth, throwing out
branches as it proceeds to most of the important towns and watering-places in
Ham; re, Dorset, Devon, &c. Outside the Metropolitan area, Guildford, Ports-
mouth, and the Isle of Wight; Aldershot, Winchester, and Southampt S,Wbose
docks now belong to the pany, and wh large packets ply to the Channel
Islands and, »id Havre, &c, to the Continent); urnemouth, Swanage, Dor-
chester, and Weymouth ; Cheltenham, Bath, Bridgwater, and Burnham ; Barnstaple
and Ilfracombe (whence Swansea and South Wales are accessible); Bideford and
Torrington ; Bude, Launceston, Bodmin, Wadebridge, Padstow, and other Cor-
nish towns—are reached by its trains. The company’s lines, moreover, afford

to a very extensive suburban district. The Waterloo Junction station of
the South-Eastern Railway adjoins the London terminus, and may be gained
without going into the street; of course, all portions of that company’s system
may be reached from it. The trains of the London and North-Western Rallway,
from Willesden Junction, run into the Waterloo (North) Btation; and so save
through passengers from the towns “served” by their system the necessity of a
journey across London. The Ludgate Hill Station of the Chatham and Dover
fine is practically a metropolitan’'terminus of this line, many of the South-Western
suburban trains running, »i4 Brixton, thither. At Richmond, the North London,
the Met: litan, and the District Railways have connections with the line; and
the Great Western has a junction with it at

At iy

3

tionis effected with nearly every railway running
out of ndon ; and thence a branch leads to Richmond and Twickenham, the
station at which town is itself a miniature Clapham Junction, lines radiating
from it to Windsor, Staines, Virginia Water, and Reading (where the trains run
into the large junction station of the Great Western Railway) ; to Hampton, Sun-
bury, and Shepperton ; to Teddington, Kin%fton, and other riverside resorts. One
feature of this district is the “ Loop-Line ” which gives access to Chiswick, Brentford,
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Isleworth, Hounslow; and Kew (with its gardens). Many other important
south-western suburbs may also be reached by its lines; Hampton Court (one of
the ““sights of town,” in spite of its distance from London) is gained by another
branch ; as are also Bisley Common (Brookwood station), where the members of
the National Rifle Association have their annual July contests, and that part of the
Thames between Putney and Mortlake, where the University crews tend in the
early spring. Coming nearer home, we may note that Vi the second station
on the line, is but a few minutes’ walk from Kennington Oval, dear to cricketers
and football players, whence the City may be easily reached by the South London
Electric Railway.

Waterloo Station [Map. I., M 14 : CAB FARE from Charing Cross,
1/-] has slight architectural pretensions, and its many platforms
are rather bewildering. It is now being extended on both sides,
increasing the area to twenty-three acres. It really consists of
three stations :—The Central (Waterloo Road), from which the
main line trains depart ; the South Station (Waterloo Road), for
suburban trains for Epsom, Leatherhead, Hampton Court, Kingston,
Cobham, Oxshott, &c. ; the North Station (York Road), for Ken-
sington (Addison Road), the Thames Valley line, Kew, Richmond,
Teddington, Windsor, Reading, Virginia Water, &c.

Waterloo is connected with the City by an underground clectric
railway, opened in 1898 (sec p. 55).

The London, Tilbury, and Southend Railway
connects the two places mentioned in its title with Liverpool Street and Fenchurch
Street. Among its stations in the east-end of London, are , Burdett Road,

, and (the latter the junction with the North London Railway). In
the neighbourhood of Upton Park, is Anne Boleyn's Castle, built for his second queen
by Henry VIIL ; and at Barking, a loop line runs, »i4 Rainham, Purfieet, and Grays
(all riverside resorts) to Tilbury and its docks. This loop throws out a branch
to Thames Haven, and rejoins the main line at Pitsea. The two next stations—
those at Benfleet, and Leigh—are on the north bank of the Thames, at its widest
part ; and Bouthend-on-8ea and Bhoeburyness (an important artillery station) are at
its mouth. At the latter, is the terminus of the line.

% * * * * 3%

We may briefly epitomise the facilities afforded by the railways
around the metropolis in this fashion. If the visitor to London
wishes to make short excursions to places of interest in Middlesex,
he can avail himself of the London and North-Western, the
Midland, the Great Northern, the Great Eastern, and the Metro-
politan lines ; and, for the riverside and western part of the country,
of the London and South-Western and the Great Western lines.
Epping Forest and other parts of Essex are reached by the Great
Eastern Railway and the London, Tilbury, and Southend line;
Surrey, by the South-Eastern, London and South-Western, London,
Brighton, and South Coast, &. The South-Eastern and Chatham
lines make the beauties of Kent available ; and there are express
Continental services from their Victoria, Charing Cross, Waterloo,
Holborn Viaduct, St. Paul’s, Ludgate, Cannon Street, and London

Bridge termini.
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THE RAILWAYS IN LONDON.

O much for the means of reaching London. Let us now see

whHat assistance the railways will afford us in getting about the
huge metropolis. As we have already informed readers, and as a
glance at our maps will show, not only is Inner London surrounded
by the girdle of the Inner Circle, as it is called—the united lines of
the Metropolitan and Metropolitan District system—but branches of
their undertakings diverge into portions of Greater London and
thence penetrate into the country ; while, as we have seen, the great
companies, north and south, possess convenient suburban stations
and more or less directly communicate with the Metropolitan lines.
An electric railway starts from Moorgate Street and penetrates
the southern suburbs for a distance of upwards of three miles
to Clapham Common. It is now being extended northward
to Islington. Another electric line, opened in 1898, runs from
Mansion House to Waterloo station. The North London Railway
joins the Docks and the eastern districts of London proper with
the main line of the London and North-Western Railway and

5 49
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the northern and western suburbs; and the South London and
Metropolitan Extension Railway unite—the former, the London
Bridge termini, and the latter, the Metropolitan Railway, and the
Holborn Viaduct, Ludgate Hill, and St. Paul’s stations, on the
northern brink of the Thames, with those at Victoria, the western
extension of the South-Eastern line in like manner furnishing a
link between the district around London Bridge and Cannon
Street and Charing Cross. Thus, the great lines, which bring
our “country cousins” to the metropolis are connected with each
other and with every part of central and suburban London by
means of other railways, which pass thrqugh London, partly under-
ground, partly in cuttings, and partly on arches. Sometimes, it is
necessary to change carriages, to take new tickets, to pass from
one platform to another, and even from one station to another,
closely adjoining it ; but, generally speaking, a visitor, coming by
rail from any part of the kingdom, may reach any quarter of
London either north or south of the Thames by train without any
great delay or inconvenience. It must be admitted, however, that
the facilities for intercommunication in the metropolis are not what
they ought to be or could be made. It is hoped that the numerous
underground electric lines now in course of construction will effect
a great improvement in this respect.

The chief railways through London proper are the two form-
ing—

g The Inner Circle.

These lines make together an irregular oval, enclosing the
busiest part of the Metropolis, from Kensington, on the west, to
Aldgate, on the east, and with their numerous connections afford
a quick, safe, and marvellously punctual means of reaching
nearly every part of London to the north of the Thames and
many of those to the south. Electricity is likely in the very near
future to supersede steam as the motive power on the underground
lines. The stations are close together and conveniently fitted, though
they necessarily, as the greater part of each is below the surface of
the ground, lack any architectural attractions. The Marnsion House
station was for years the City terminus of the District portion of
the undertaking. The Metropolitan, whose terminus was for a
long time at Moorgate, gradually approached it, till at last, the two
ends meeting, the Inner Circle ceased to have any terminus at all,
though each of its branches has one. Mention should be made of
the fact that Moorgate Street station has recently been rebuilt and
so transformed that persons who have not visited London for some
years quite fail to recognise it.
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The northern section of this line, the Metropolitan Railway was
opened between Paddington (in connection with the Great Western
terminus) in January, 1863, and subsequently extended to Moorgate
Street, at which station it stopped short until 1876. In that year,
the line to Bishopsgate was opened ; and it was soon followed by
that to Aldgate. The rest of the circle was a more difficult under-
taking ; it was not completed to the Mansion House till 1884. The
extension westward, to South Kensington, was opened in 1868. The
line runs under the Marylebone and Euston Roads to King’s Cross,
at which station it turns southward to Farringdon Street, whence it
again runs eastward under the Metropolitan Meat Market (here are
extensive sidings, lifts, and other appliances) to Aldgate. At this
point, it somewhat abruptly changes its direction so as to form the
eastern end of the circle ; and having reached the Mark Lane station,
near Tower Hill, it commences its westward course, and “joins
hands” with its southern and western colleague—the Metropolitan
Distriet—or, as it is usually called, the District—Railway, at the
Mansion House station. From Aldgate to this spot the line is the
joint property of both companies, and the railways possess a branch
eastward to Whitechapel (Mile End), near which it effects a junc-
tion with the East London Railway and enables their trains to pro-
ceed along that line, through the Thames Tunnel to New Cross, in
the extreme south-east of London, so that it is perhaps fair to regard
the latter station as one of their termini. The District Railway is
sometimes described as the “daylight route,” because, here -and
there, it is constructed between open cuttings, instead of through
tunnels. It runs westward beneath the heart of the City, to the
foot of Blackfriars Bridge, then under the Embankment to
Westminster, and so onward to Victoria, Sloane Square, South
Kensington (here there is a very large station), and Kensington
High Street, where it connects with the Metropolitan line, and so
completes the circle, stopping at Notting Hill Gate, Queen’s Road
(Bayswater), and Praed Street.

From both Gloucester Road and High Street, Kensington, lines
run south-westerly to Earl's Court (famous as the site of numerous
summer exhibitions and the Great Wheel), and forming what may
be described as a loop line.

The Middle Circle.

This encloses a district still farther west, and having stations
at Addison Road, Uxbridge Road, Latimer Road (whence there
is a line to Shepherd’s Bush, Hammersmith, &c.), Notting Hill
and Ladbroke Grove, Westbourne Park (where there is a station
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of the Great Western Railway under the same roof with that of
which we are treating), and Royal Oak. It re-unites with the
Metropolitan Railway between Bishop’s Road and Edgware Road.

The Addison Road Station is an unusually important one, not only
because it is a centre from which Willesden Junction, on the north,
and Clapham Junction, on the south, may be reached and it thus
forms a link between all the great railways of England, but because
it enables the “ holiday Cockney ” to visit Olympia, the home of so
many attractive entertainments.

From Rarl's Court, the District Railway sends out a branch,
south-westerly, through West Brompton (adjoining the West
London Extension Railway), Walham Green, Parson’s Green, and
Putney Bridge ; thence after crossing the Thames itself, it con-
tinues its course, through East Putney, Southfields, and Wimbledon
Park, to Wimbledon, where it connects with the South-Western
system.

Another branch from Earl’s Court takes us directly west, through
West Kensington to Hammersmith, Ravenscourt Park, and Turnham
Green, whence trains run, past Gunnersbury and Kew Gardens, to
Richmond, on the important branch of the South-Western Railway,
referred to on p. 48. From Turnham Green, too, the line runs
through Acton, to Ealing, where it connects with the Great
Western main line, diverging westward from Mill Hill Park,
through South Ealing, Boston Road, Osterley, and Heston, to
Hounslow, famous for its breezy heath and as a military centre.

We have already seen that the northern portion of the circuit
is in direct connection with the Great Western, Midland, Great
Northern, and South-Eastern and Chatham systems, for the
suburban stations on which railways passengers can obtain
tickets at any of the Metropolitan stations.

The oldest and longest of the branches of the Inner Circle leaves
Baker Street Junction, and affords access to 8t. John’s Wood and
other residential suburbs; to Wembley Park, in which London’s
unfinished * Eiffel Tower " is situated ; to Harrow, with its famous
school ; and to Pinner, Rickmansworth, and Chesham, with all
the charming scenery by which those places are surrounded.
Its extension from Chalfont Road (close to which is Milton's
house), to Aylesbury, and to Verney Junction opens up some of
the prettiest landscapes in England, and attracts thousands of
holiday-makers during the summer months; and now that the
Great Central Railway has completed its extension to London,
this branch forms a portion of one of the trunk lines $o the
north.
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The Outer Circle,

as it is sometimes called, also leaves the Inner Circle at Gloucester
Road and High Street, Kensington, and utilises the same metals as the
Middle Circle as far as Uxbridge Road, whence it proceeds, vid
St. Quintin Park, to Willesden Junction (high level) and Broad
Street. Between the last two stations, the trains run over the main
line of —

The North London Railway,

a valuable aid to the facility of transit. It was originally intended
to be used for goods traffic only and to afford communication
between the docks and the depbét of the London and North-
Western line at Chalk Farm, then known as Camden, on the main
line, about half a mile from Euston. It was then called the East
and West India Docks and Birmingham Junction Railway. But
its advantages for passenger traffic were so obvious that stations
were erected and extensions made, and it is now one of the busiest
and most convenient of the metropolitan lines. It extends from
Chalk Farm, through the northern suburbs, to Camden Town,
Barnsbury, Highbury, Canonbury, Dalston, Kingsland, and Hackney.
Then, curving round by way of Victoria Park and Bow, on the
east, it comes near the river and joins the London and Black-
wall line at Bow Junction. Fram Dalston Junction, the main line
runs, through Haggerston and Shoreditch, to Broad Street, its
handsome and commodious terminus adjacent to that of the Great
Eastern Railway, in Liverpool Street. From Bow, the London
and Blackwall Railway runs to Stepney Junction, Poplar, and
Blackwall, where there is a pier, at which steamboats, to and from
Woolwich, Gravesend, and other places, call ; and at Bow, there is
also a junction with the London, Tilbury, and Southend Line. At
Camden Town, a line branches off, northward and then eastward,
to Kentish Town and Hampstead, and is continued to Kensal Rise
and Willesden, where it joins the main London and North-Western
line. Trains run direct from Broad Street to Acton, Kew, and Rich-
mond, and thus open out communication with Windsor, Kingston,
and the other riverside stations on the London and South-Western
line; and to the Victoria and Mansion House stations on the
Metropolitan District Railway.

The East London Line,
to which we have already alluded as connecting the Inner Circle
Railway and its branches with the south-eastern suburbs of the
metropolis, is likewise a valuable link between the railways on the
north of the Thames and those to the south of it. Many of its
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trains start from the Liverpool Street station of the Great Eastern
Reilway, from which line it diverges southward at Whitechapel,
where the eastern spur of the Metropolitan and District Railways
joins it. Leaving Whitechapel, it calls at Shadwell and Wapping ;
and reaches the other side of the water at Rotherhithe.

The City and South London Electric Railway

when first opened ran from King William Street to Stockwell. It
has recently been lengthened at both ends, and now extends from
Moorgate Street to Clapham Common. The Bank station, adjoining
St. Mary Woolnoth's Church, is connected by a subway with the
terminus of the new Central London Railway and with the City
and Waterloo Railway. As the pioneer of electric railways in
London, the City and South London possesses special interest.
The Central London and other underground railways in course of
construction are, to a large extent, based upon the experience
gained in the construction and working of this. There are two
tunnels, one of which carries the up, and the other, the down
line. Each is ten feet in diameter, the carriages filling two-thirds
of the space. Each train is composed of corridor carriages, open,
like tramcars, from end to end, and connected by platforms, closed in
with iron grilles. Theyare all of one class ; but smoking carriages
are provided. The fare between most of the stations is twopence.
Passengers may descend to the line either by a commodious
circular staircase or by the lifts. Each lift is capable of comfort-
ably accommodating fifty people. There are stations at Moorgate
Street, at the Bank, at the south side of London Bridge (connected
by subway with the South-Eastern and Brighton Companies
stations), at the Borough, the Elephant and Castle, Kennington
Park Road, Kennington Oval (close to the celebrated cricket ground),
Stockwell, Clapham Road, and Clapham Common. The head-
quarters and works of the company are at Stockwell ; the latter are
open to public inspection for a small fee. The stations are of
attractive architecture and similar in appearance, the central dome
being a marked feature of each. The Bank station has been so built
as to harmonise with the adjoining fane of St. Mary Woolnoth.

The Waterloo and City Electric Railway

runs, as its title implies, from the South-Western station at Waterloo
to the Mansion House, a distance of a mile and a half. Formerly
this journey occupied about twenty minutes : it can now be done,
with far greater ease and comfort, in five. Trains run every few
minutes each way. Fares are 2d. single, 3d. return. The line is
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chiefly remarkable from the fact that it burrows, in an oblique
direction, right under the bed of the Thames. The tunnels for the
up and down trains are quite separate, so that all danger of
collision is avoided. From Waterloo the new line runs under a
corner of York Road, crosses Waterloo Road, and then procceds
down Stamford Street as far as Hatfield Street. Here it turns
sharply to the left and runs under the river. On the opposite
side it touches the corner of the Embankment, and then runs
directly up Queen Victoria Street to the terminus at the top of
Walbrook. From Blackfriars Bridge to Cannon Street the tunnels
lie directly under the permanent way of the District Railway. The
steepest gradients are one in thirty down and one in sixty up. The
gradients of the two tunnels differ in the descent from Waterloo to
the river, but under the water they are level. They rise gradually
towards the City, so that the station is not more than sixty-five feet
below the roadway. The line was opened in 1898. The City
station is connected by subway with the Central London and City
and South London electric railways.

The Central London Electric Railway,

from Shepherd’s Bush to the Bank, was opened in July, 19oo, and
has been hailed with a chorus of approval such as is rarely extended
to a new undertaking. It cost about three and a half millions to
construct, or, roughly, £580,000 per mile. There are thirteen stations,
viz. : Shepherd’'s Bush, Holland Park, Notting Hill Gate, Queen’s
Road, Lancaster Gate, Marble Arch, Bond Street, Oxford Circus,
Tottenham Court Road, British Museum, Chancery Lane, General
Post Office, and the Bank. At the Bank connection is made by
means of an oval S8ubway with the northern extension of the City and
South London Railway and with the City and Waterloo Railway.
The subway at the same time affords communication. with the
street at points convenient to Prince’s Street, Cornhill, Walbrook,
&c., sparing the pedestrian the necessity for using the dangerous
crossing above. The length of the line is 10,163 yards, or,
roughly, about six miles, but it is proposed to extend it to Liver-
pool Street, making a junction with the Great Eastern and North
London lines. There are separate tunnels for the up and down
traffic. Each tunnel has an internal diameter of 11 feet 6 inches,
the average depth below the street level being 50 feet, although at
some places it is as much as 100 feet. The trains are driven by
electricity, the system known as the ‘“third rail” having been
adopted, the current generated at the Shepherd’s Bush depét being
carried by means of cables to the transforming stations, whence it
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is passed to the third rail. The trains consist of six or seven cars, |
built on the American corridor pattern, comfortably upholstered |
and very well lighted. Each train will accommodate about three
hundred and fifty passengers. At all the stations are lifts, worked !
by electricity. The generating station at Shepherd’s Bush is,
perhaps, the finest of the kind in the country.

The new line has greatly facilitated communication between the
City and all parts of the West End, and has had an appreciable
effect in relieving the congested traffic of Cheapside, Holborn, and
Oxford Street. Trainsrun every few minutes from 5 a.m.to 1 am,
the fare being twopence for any distance, except by the workmen's |
trains. The time required to journey over the whole line is about |
thirty minutes, while from Oxford Circus to the Bank takes only
twelve minutes.

New Underground Railways.

The success of the Central London and City and South London
Electric lines has given rise to what has been called “a boom in
tubes.” Probably many of the projects will never be realised, but
there is every reason to hope that in the course of a few years the
difficult problem of intercommunication in London will have been
as nearly solved as it ever can be. The following table gives the
approximate mileage of new electric railways in course of con-
struction or authorised : -

Miles.

Baker Street and Waterloo .. 53
Brompton and Piccadilly Circus . 2
Charing Cross, Euston, and Hamp<tead 5
City and Brixton .. 3%
City and South London (\Ioor ate Street to Angel Extensmn) 2
District Railway Deep Level : Mansion House to Earl's Court .. 43
Great Northern and City . . .. .. .. .. 3%
Great Northern and Strand 5

31

. The following are new projects and extensions of lines already
authorised :

Miles.
Brompton and Piccadilly Circus Extension .. .. .. .. 4
Central London (Extension to Liverpool Street) 1
Charing Cross, Euston, and Hampstead Extensions .. 5
Hammexsmlth and District .. . .. .. 3
City and North-East Suburban . .. .. .. .. .oy
City and West End . .. .. .. .. .. ..
Islington and Euston .. .. .. . .. .. .. I
King'’s Road .. .- .. .. .. . .. ..
North-East London .. .. .. .. .. .. R ¢ 4
Piccadilly and City . .. .. .. .. .. .. 2
Victoria, City, and Southern .. .. . .. .. .. 7
West and South London Junction .. . . .. .. 4

~—




(Chiswick.

e —
F. P. Dollman,} -
THE MARBLE ARCH.

CABS, OMNIBUSES, TRAMCARS, AND
STEAMBOATS.

ARGE as London is, and extensive as are its suburbs, it is not
really difficult to find one’s way about it. A glance at the map

will show that the main streets are so planned that the pedestrian
need have no difficulty in making his way from one point of Inner
London to another—and it is the pedestrian who gets the best idea
of what the metropolis really is. But if the visitor be indisposed to
undergo the fatigue of walking, or if the nature of his engagements
will not allow him to spend the time which his doing so would
entail, he need be at no loss for the means of reaching his destina-
tion. Indeed, the Londoner—permanent or temporary—is well
provided with public vehicles. In this respect, as in many others,
it may be averred that the most absolute monarch in the world has
not so many able and willing servants ready to minister to his
necessities and luxuries as a visitor to London has, if only he be
moderately provided with ready cash. In our two last Chapters,
we saw that the railways afford, on the whole, fair facilities to
dwellers in Cockneydom, not only in reaching their places of
business in the morning and returning home at night, but also in

57 :
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to construct many new lines in the north and south of
to work both new and old lines by means of electri
important developments are in progress.

Coaches.
During the season, a number of four-horse coaches
times. They usually start from Northumberland Af

enable the traveller to enjoy pleasant drives throug]
wooded districts of the suburbs and Home Counties.

Steamboats.

It is greatly to be regretted that the Thames, which
London as important and popular a highway as the
Paris, is at present without any permanent service of
steamboats. Several companies have attempted in re
solve the difficult problem of river traffic, but all
financially unsuccessful. In some quarters the blame
to the Thames Conservancy, whose tolls are said to be
others blame the steamboat companies themselves for
provided better and more attractive vessels. Whatever
the present state of affairs is certainly deplorable. The
and the London County Council have recently decided to

to establish 2 municipal service, the necessary capital o
estimated at £500,000.

Down the River.

During the summer, the fine vessels of the New Pala
Co., Ltd., the General Steam Navigation Co., and the Belle
Ltd., make daily trips down the river to Southend, Mar
mouth, and other places, starting from London Bridge,
about g a.m. For details as to times and fares see daily pa
for description of places of interest en roufc consult the new:
to Margatc in this series. The Guide to Yarmouth will
useful to visitors proceeding to that popular haunt of Londo

Up the River.

The Queen Elizabeth, or other vessel belonging to the Queens of
River Steamship Co., makes daily passages during the sum
(except Fridays) to Kew, Richmond, Hampton Court, &c.

On the higher reaches of the river, the fine saloon steam@
belonging to Messrs. Salter Bros. of Oxford are available. Th¥
run daily (Sundays excepted) between Kingston, Henley, a#
Oxford. The through journey occupies two days each way, be
passengers can join or leave the boats at any stopping-place.









Symmons & Co.,] (23, Bouverie St.. E.C.
A PUBLIC COACH MEET IN HYDE PARK.

HOW TO SEE LONDON.

AVING informed the visitor how he can conveniently travel
from one part of London to any other, we will now do
our best to help him to become acquainted with—

The Principal Lines of Thoroughfare.

(1.) One of the most important lines of road is that which enters
the metropolis from Hammersmith, passes through Kensington and
Knightsbridge, to Hyde Park Corner ; then it is named Piccadilly
as faras Piccadilly Circus. Here it joins Regent Street, and, taking a
direct southward course, enters Pall Mall, whence it continues east-
ward, past Trafalgar Square and Charing Cross. Then it is known
as the Strand, Fleet Street, St. Paul’s Churchyard, Cheapside, Corn-
hill, Leadenhall Street, and Whitechapel, where it divides, becoming
the Mile End and Commercial Roads.

(2.) Another main artery is the great western, or Oxford, road.
It runs to the north of the former, and continues through Bays-
water, past the northern side of Hyde Park, along Oxford Street
and Holborn ; uniting with No. 1 at Cheapside.

" (3.) At the end of Oxford Street, this road sends out a branch

through Bloomsbury Square, Theobald’s Road, Clerkenwell Road,
61



64 GUIDE TO LONDON.

to the memory of Mr. Brass Crosby, lord mayor of Lo
achieved popularity by suffering confinement in the Tower
tempt of the House of Commons in discharging persons co
to prison for printing Parliamentary debates. The Lond
connects the circus with another great centre, at a point
the Newington Causeway (a continuation of the Bo:
principal street of Southwark), the New Kent Road,
Walworth and Kennington Roads unite, the famous * Elep
Castle” marking the junction. Near it is the new Metr
Tabernacle, succeeding that destroyed by fire in 1898. At
ton, is another centre, with lines of road radiating to Wesf
Brixton, Clapham, &c.

On the northern side of the river, the principal centres
gence are Hyde Park Corner and Knightsbridge ; Piccadilly
at the eastern end of Piccadilly ; Charing Cross, where P:
Whitehall, the Strand, St. Martin’s Lane, and Charing Cr
unite ; Holborn Circus, with Ludgate Circus, to the south ;
great nucleus, around which are clustered the Bank of E:
the Exchange, and the Mansion House, at which most
principal City thoroughfares unite. Further south, at the
King William Street, marked by a Statue of William the Fo
the point where Gracechurch Street, Eastcheap, and Bridge
diverge from it.

Further north, the chief centres are at the meeting of the M:
bone and Edgware Roads ; King’s Cross, at the foot of Pento

Hill ; the “ Angel” at Islington, already referred to, and Sh
(see Nos. 3 and 11). ’

* LS * *

Probably, a visitor can adopt no better mode of gaining a gen
idea of the aspect of London and the exterior of the chief buildi
than is afforded by the omnibuses, traversing the main routes j
indicated. Half-a-crown judiciouslyinvested in penny and twopenny
fares will cover the expense ; and, comfortably seated on the top of
one of these vehicles, the visitor occupies the most favourable pos-
tion for viewing the great streets and important buildings of London.
Ladies would probably prefer taking short rides to particularly
interesting places, and then walking, for the shop-windows ar¢
certainly not the least attractive spectacle London affords. On
these imaginary omnibus excursions, it will be very convenient
to take Charing Cross as our first point of departure, and the Bank
for the second. These two centres command the metropolis ; from

them nearly every place of prominent interest can be reached. f
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THE NATIONAL GALLERY.

WANDERINGS ABOUT LONDON.

EXCURSION 1.
CHARING CROSS AND ITS NEIGHBOURHOOD.

N the preceding pages, we have endeavoured to give readers a
general idea of what London really is; we will now conduct
them through the principal thoroughfares, and do our best to

* Fairly streets and buildings trace,
And all that gives distinction to the place.”

We make Charing Cross the point from which to start on the
earlier of our excursions; and it will be well, before going
further, to devote a morning to a ramble about the neighbourhood.

Charing Cross.

[Mapl.: L 13]
Cab Fares : From Broad Street, Fenchurch Street, King's Cross, Liverpool Street,
London Bndge Paddington, or St. Pancras stations-—1,6.
From Cannon Street, Euston, Holborn Viaduct, Ludgate Hill, Mansion House,
Victoria, or Waterloo stations—1/-.
Nearest Railwa¥ Stations : Charing Cross (South-Eastern and sttnct)
Omnibuses pass from all parts of the metropolis.

‘Wecommence with the perplexing announcement that no Charing
Cross exists. It is a name, and nothing mcre. One of the nine
6 6s
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Gothic crosses erected by Edward I., to mark the several places
where the corpse of his beloved queen, Eleanor, rested on its way
to Westminster, stood here from 1291 until 1647, when it was taken
down by order of Parliament, who, it appears, discovered some-
thing superstitious and otherwise objectionable in this memonal of

(Notting Hill.

TRAFALGAR SQUARE.

York & Som.)

a good queen. When the cross was erected, a little village, Char-
ing, or Cheeringe, occupied a half-way position between London
and Westminster—and from that the cross was named.!  Royal pro-
clamations were made at Charing Cross ; and.the spot is assodiated
thh some lessagreeable incidents. In the Royalist reaction after the
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Restoration several of the regicides were executed here ; and, in
later times, there was a pillory, in which, among others, Edmund
Curl, the scurrilous bookseller, stood to receive the contributions
of dead cats, rotten eggs, and other filth, with which the populace
delighted to honour pilloried heroes. It may be well to remember
that the precise spot whence the cab fares are computed and the
Registrar-General and Commissioner of Police describe their
circles—and therefore the legal centre of London—is the Statue of
Charles L, to which is attached an almost romantic history. It
was the work of Le Sucur, a French sculptor of considerable
ability. It was cast in the life-time of the unfortunate king, but
not erected ; and the Parliament directed it to be destroyed. This
order was evaded ; and after the Restoration, the statue, which had
been carefully secreted, was produced and erected in 1674. The
plinth was renewed in granite in 1856. To the north of Charing
Cross, is—

Trafalgar Square,

so named in commemoration of Nelson’s great victory—a large open
space, which the great Sir Robert Peel described as “ the finest site
in Europe.” The land slopes from north to south ; but the square
itself has been levelled, the road on the northern side forming a
terrace and the side-roads having a rather steep gradient. On’
three sides, the square is enclosed by low but massive walls of
granite, and similar walls surround two basins, in which are the
well-known fountains. In the centre of the southern and open
side, is the Nelson Monument, designed by Railfon. A granite
column, a hundred and seventy-seven feet high, copied from one
of the Corinthian columns of the temple of Mars the Avenger at
Rome, is surmounted by a statue of Nelson, by Bailey. On the four
sides of the base, are bronze bas-reliefs, representing the battles of
the Nile, St. Vincent, and Trafalgar, and the death of Nelson. The
cost of this monument,erected by the nation, and completed in 1843,
was £28,000; and in 1867, four colossal lions, modelled by Sir
Edwin Landseer, the famous animal painter, were placed at the
base. Other attractions of the square are a Statue of Major-General
8ir Henry Havelock, K.0.B, and his brave companions in arms

during the campaign in India, 1857, erected by the nation in 1867

and designed by Bekhmnes, to the east of Nelson’s column (an inscrip-
tion on its back gives the composition of the force which he con-
ducted to the relief of Lucknow) ; on-its western side, is a Statue to
General 8ir Charles Napier, by Adams, placed there in 1856 by sub-
scription, to which the most numerous contributors were private
goldiers ;--and behind- Nelson’s- monument, ih the centre ‘of the
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square is the most recent of them all, the Statue to Major-Gemeral
Oharles George Gordon, K.C.B, “ killed at Khartoum, 26th of January,
1885.” The statue is by Hamo Thornycroft. In the north-eastern
angle of the square is an equestrian Statue of George IV., bv
Chantrey, originally intended to surmount the Marble Arch. All
these statues are of bronze. The National Gallery (the description
of which we reserve for the concluding pages of this chapter)
extends along the whole of the northern side of the square. At its
north-eastern corner, is the large—

Church of 8t. Martin-in-the-Fields, so named from the fact that
when the original church was built, it was surrounded by open
ground. The first church on this spot was a small building, erected
chiefly at the expense of Henry VIII.,, who did not like funeral pro-
cessions to pass through the precincts of his palace at Whitehall,
and therefore established a churchyard near Charing Cross. The
present edifice was erected between 1721 and 1726, from the designs
of Fames Gibbs, the architect of the Ratcliffe Library, Oxford. Its
cost, including the organ, was about £37,000. The length of the
building is a hundred and sixty, and its width, eighty feet. The
portico is greatly admired, but is apparently weighted by the
massive and not very elegant steeple. In 1892, two of the windows
were filled with stained glass, in memory of the Right Hon. W. H.
Smith, for many years representative of the Strand in Parliament
and churchwarden of the parish ; and in 1894, Major Probyn pre-
sented a new east window, representing the appearance of the risen
Saviour to Mary Magdalene. In 1897, the interior was re-decorated,
the expense being defrayed out of the profits arising from the
letting of seats round the church on the occasion of .Her Majesty’s
Diamond Jubilee. As Buckingham Palace is included in the
parish, the births of several of the Royal family are entered in
the register. That of the old church, still preserved, contains an
entry of the baptism of Lord Bacon. Nell Gwynne was buried here.
So were the Hon. Robert Boyle, the natural philosopher ; Farquhar,
the writer of comedies ; Lord Mohun, who abducted Mrs. Brace-
girdle, the actress, and was killed in a duel by the Duke of Hamil-
ton ; Roubiliac, the sculptor; John Hunter, the great surgeon
(whose remains were afterwards removed to Westminster Abbey).
The old Sanctus bell is preserved in the spire, and the parish whip-
ping-post may also be seen. (Sunday services at 11.0 and 7.0.)

South of the church, and below Duncannon Street, are the
head-quarters of the Royal Humane Soclety, founded in 1774.

On the opposite side of the square (the western) stands the Royal
College of Physicians, an elegant building erected in 1825 from the
designs of Sir Robert Smirke. It contains the portraits and busts of
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some of London's most famous doctors, and thcy may be in-
spected by the holder of an order from a fellow or member of the
college. It was founded in 1518 by Linacre, physician to Henry
VII. and his son and successor, and the collection was at first
“housed " in Warwick Lane, Newgate Street. Adjoining the college,
and occupying the rest of that side of the square and extending
into Cockspur Street, is the Union Club (non-political), established
1822.

* * * * * *

On each side of St. Martin’s Church, are “ways " to the Strand.
That to its north—a somewhat narrow one—conducts us thither,
across ADELAIDE STREET, and through the Lowther Arcade, a
covered-in passage, lined with shops where toys and ornamental
articles are displayed--a perpetual fancy fair, devoutly believed by
children in our boyish days, when the rising generation were not
so highly educated as now, to be the very palace of our friend
Santa Claus.

DUNCANNON STREET, to the south of the church, communicates
with the Strand, at the foot of Adelaide Street, and directly in front
of the Charing Cross Railway Station and hotel.

CRAVEN STREET and NORTHUMBERLAND STREET, to the west of
the hotel, communicate with—

The NORTHUMBERLAND AVENUE, a broad street, connecting Char-
ing Cross with the Victoria Embankment, and so, vid Queen Victoria
Street, with the City, a useful and very much used *short cut” for
hansom cabs. The “ Avenue,” as it is familiarly called, is the great
starting-point for the London (out-of-town) coaches. The thorough-
fare commences at the spot where formerly stood Northumberland
House, built in 1605, and purchased in 1874, for £497,000, by the
Metropolitan Board of Works. The house was removed to make
way for the Avenue, in which are three of the finest and largest
hotels in London—the Grand, Hétel Victoria, and Hétel Métropole.
In the street are also two of the great political clubhouses of the
metropolis, the Constitutional, commenced in 1883,and the National
Liberal, established in 1832, and removed in 1887 to its present
handsome premises. Both it, and the Avenue Theatre, face the
river. The Royal Colonial Institute, which occupies a German
Renaissance building in terra-cotta, next door to the Grand Hotel,
may claim to be a third club; it was established in 1868, and
incorporated by royal charter in 1882, for the purpose of (to quote
its prospectus) “ providing a place of meeting for gentlemen con-
nected with the colonies and with British India.”

WHITEHALL, along which we shall journey in a future Lxcur-
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sion, runs southwards from Charing Cross ; and behind the houses

‘on its western side is—SPRING GARDENS. Its name is a household
word among Londoners, because here are to be found the offices
of the London County Council. The County Council Chamber is
fifty feet across the straight side, and fifty-two from it to the
centre of the semicircular wall. It is thirty feet high ;- and the
seats for the members rise in four tiers. They are massed
together in seven separate blocks, and are so arranged that from
every seat a very large proportion of the members (from one-half
or two-thirds) can be directly addressed by the speaker. One by
no means slight advantage is that no member need pass more than
two others in order to reach his seat or to move from one side of
the chamber to the other. Behind the members’ seats, is a public
gallery. The departmental offices of the Council are scattered
in various neighbouring streets. New offices now being erected
have necessitated the demolition of several houses in Cockspur
Street.

Spring Gardens communicates with 8t. James’s Park, which we
shall visit in our next Excursion.

ST. MARTIN’S PLACE, at the north-east angle of Trafalgar Square,
would, in a more crowded part of London, be considered an open
space. From it, streets radiate in every direction. Here are the
rooms of the Alpine Club, of almost world-wide celebrity, as the
head-quarters of athletes addicted to - mountain-climbing.

CHANDOS STREET runs for a few yards due east, and then turns
north-east, so as to reach Covent Garden, vid Maiden Lane (passing
the back of the Adelphi Theatre) and -Southampton Street. From
its angle, KING WILLIAM STREET, where is Toole’s Theatre—the
name of which has been frequently changed, for it has been known
as Wooden'’s Polygraphic Hall, as Charing Cross Theatre, and as
the Folly Theatre—communicates with the Strand.

Running due north, is ST. MARTIN’S LANE, in which are Aldridge’s
Horse Auction Stables, among the most important in London, the
Prench Hospital and Dispensary, &c. At its Charing Cross end, is
the Duke of York Theatre, opened as the Trafalgar Square Theatre
in September, 1892, and renamed in 1895. Built from the designs
of Mr. Walter Emden, it is seated for more than twelve hundred
spectators. Externally, its appearance is ornamental ; and in-
ternally it is equally attractive. The decorations and hangings
are modelled on the French Renaissance period. The building is
lighted throughout by electricity. The dressing-rooms occupy a
separate block of buildings, which communicates with the theatre
by fire-proof passages.

St. Martin’s Lane communicates with the celebrated—
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Seven Dials *

[Map I.: L 13], at one time notorious as the haunt of the lowest
of London’s “residuuin.” Of late, thanks to the alterations that
have been effected in the physical aspects of the district—and
especially to the influence of the various Christian societies at work
there—the condition of the inhabitants has been greatly improved
in every respect. Of the societies to whose activity this is trace-
able, none holds a higher place than does the St. Giles’s Christian
Mission, established a quarter of a century ago by Mr. George
Hatton, which has its head-quarters in Little Wild Street Chapel,
a place of worship which has a striking interior, and was at one
time the meeting place of a well-to-do congregation. It was
opened as a mission station by Mr. Spurgeon, and is doing a good
work in the rescue of the fallen, as well as in ordinary mission
labour. One of the specialities of the society consists in meeting
prisoners whose period of incarceration is completed at the doors
of the jails, and giving them an opportunity of starting life afresh.
Emerging from “the Dials,” the omnibus route conducts us, vid
BRroAD and HIGH STREETS, (o the Oxford Street end of Tottenham
Court Road. In High Street, is—

The Church of St. Giles-in-the-Fields [Map III. : ¥ 13], originally
built by Matilda, the queen of Henry I., in the year 1I0I, in
connection with a hospital for lepers, which then stood there ;
and rebuilt in 1623 and again in 1734. The church, a large and
stately edifice, constructed of Portland stone, is externally note-
worthy for its spire. The western gate of the churchyard, which
dates from the reign of Charles I., is much admired. Here are the
tombs of several celebrated persons; among them, of Richard
Pendrill, who assisted Charles II. in his escape after the battle of
Worcester, George Chapman, the earliest translator of Homer’s
*1liad,” Shirley, of dramatic fame, Andrew Marvell, Oliver Plunket,
the Roman Catholic Archbishop of Armagh, executed at Tyburn
for high treason in 1681, &c.

The whole parish of St Gilw-in—the—l?xelds is full of interesting historical

, and It cont: r, but was also the place of

ruldence of a large number of well-to-do and dxs nguished persons. It was in
this parish, in 1665, that the great Plague of London originated.

# Seven Dials obtained its name from the fact that—

‘“ Here to seven streets seven dials count their day,
And from each other catch the circling ray ;
Here oft the peasant, with inquiring face,
Bewildered trudges on from place to place,
Tries every winding court and street in vain,
And doubles o'er his weary steps again.”

R t impr ts have so changed it that it is doubtful whether the most rustic
of our “country cousins ¥ would now lose his way there.
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Charing Cross Road, a wide thoroughfare cut right through the
heart of St. Giles's, commences at the National Portrait Gallery,
and runs almost straight to Oxford Street, reaching that main
artery near the spot where High Street, St. Giles's, runs into it.
As we leave St. Martin's Place, we see, right before us, 8t. Martin's
Town Hall, a substantial edifice, erected in 18g1. The 8t. Martin’s
Pree Library is one of the best institutions of the kind in London,
and is especially rich in works of reference. There are separate
rooms for newspaper and magazine readers. Adjoining it, is the
Garrick Theatre, the front of which, ornamented by Grecian pillars,
is i conspicuous feature of the street. Close at hand is Wyndham’s
Theatre, erected at a cost of £30,000, and opened in November,
1899. A unique feature of this house is the roof-garden. In the
opposite corner, is ORANGE STREET, in which are St. George’s
Barracks and some public baths.

CRANBOURN STREET, an important thoroughfare, c .nnecting
Léicester Square with the Strand, vid Garrick* and Bedford
Streets, and with Holborn, vid Long Acre and Great and Little
Queen Streets. In it, is Daly’s Theatre, opened in June, 1893, the
facade of which is designed in the Italian Renaissance style and
executed in Ham Hill stone. Another palatial new building is
the Hippodrome, opened in January, 1goo. This establishment is
described with some reason as ‘“unlike any other in London.”
It has a large movable stage and many other ingenious mechanical
devices. Performing animals play a prominent part in the enter-
tainment.

Leicester Square
(Map I.: L 13),

obtained its name from Leicester House, built for Robert Sidney,
Earl of Leicester (father of Algernon Sidney), who died in 1677.
It was afterwards described as the “pouting-place of princes,”
because ‘George II., when Prince of Wales, having quarrelled
with his father, set up here an opposition Court, an example
dutifully followed by his son, Frederick, father of George III.
Sir James Thornhill and John Hunter, the great surgeon and
the founder of the Hunterian Museum, lived on the eastern
side of the square; and Sir Joshua Reynolds lived and died at
the house now numbered 47. Arrangements have been made to
preserve this house from demolition. A tablet on No. 30 (now
Archbishop Tennison’s Grammar School), records the fact that
William Hogarth lived and had his studio on the spot.

In the centre of the square formerly stood an equestrian statue
of George I., brought about 1754 from Canons, the superb seat
of the Duke of Chandos, near Edgware. The square was per-
mitted to fall ipto decay, and gradually became an eyesore to

* In Garrick Street is situated the Garrick Olub, on the walls of whose rooms
is a collection of Jxortraits of English actors; it is open (on Wednesdays) to
isifors ac panied by a ber of the club.

P
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Londoners. The railings were broken, refuse accumulated, the
poor old king lost a leg and an arm, and he was occasionally
converted by the aid of paint and other adornments into some-
thing between a scarecrow and a Guy Fawkes.

The enclosure in the centre of the square was purchased by
Baron Grant, the ill-fated financier, who laid it out as an ornamentatl
garden, with a Statue of Shakespeare, a fountain, and Busts of
Newton, Hogarth, Hunter, and Reynolds, and presented it to the
then Metropolitan Board of Works for the enjoyment of the public.
On the eastern side of the square, is the Alhambra Theatre, which
has had a somewhat eventful history. It was destroyed by fire
in December, 1882, under circumstances which excited consider-
able attention. It was quickly rebuilt, and is now one of the
best constructed music-halls in London. In 1897 an additional
entrance from the Charing Cross Road was opened. The Empire
Theatre is a large building on the north side of the square. Next
to it is the imposing Queen’s Hotel, one of the latest additions to
the gigantic and luxurious caravanseras of London. On the south
of the square is the Dental Hospital, now being rebuilt on a much
more extensive scale, and on the west side is 8t. John’s Hospital
for Diseases of the Skin.

At No. 35, ST. MARTIN'S STREET, on the south side, Sir Isaac
Newton lived from 1720 to 1725, the house being afterwards
occupied by Dr. Burney, father of the lively Fanny, subsequently
Madame d’Arblay. With the exception of the stuccoed front, the
house remains much as it was in Newton’s time.

Leicester Square and the district known as 8oho, which ex-
tends northward to Oxford Street, has long been famous as the
home of a colony of French, Swiss, and Italians. Hereabouts
are many hotels—good, bad, and indifferent—where Londoners
may learn what the much-praised foreign cooking really is. In
LEICESTER PLACE, running northward from the square, we find
the Plume Club (at No. I1), and L’Eglise Prancaise de Notre
Dame de France. COVENTRY STREET (so named from Coventry
House, the residence of Sir John Coventry, who had his nose slit
by bullies employed by the Duke of Monmouth), connects Leicester
Square with Piccadilly Circus. WARDOUR STREET, noted for its
old curiosity shops, runs from Coventry Street, crossing the
Shaftesbury Avenue, to Oxford Street, which it reaches opposite
Berners Street. At the corner of OXENDEN STREET, the first
turning past Wardour Street, is the Prince of Wales’s Theatre.

Soho Square

Map II1. : ¥ 13],
some distance further north than Leicester Square, is a part of
the district affected largely by foreigners of various nationalities.
It was built in the reign of the “merry monarch,” on a site known
as Soho Fields ; and, two hundred years ago, was the residence
of the nobility of those days. Bishop Burnet was one of its cele-
brated residents. In the palmy days of the Duke of Monmouth,
whose house stood where the Hospital for Women does now, it
was known as King Square ; and at the battle of Sedgemoor,



74 GUIDE TO LONDON.

Monmouth adopted Soho as his cry. St. Patrick’s Roman Catholic
Church, erected in 1893, is in the Late Italian style, and constructed
of red brick and Portland stone. A campanile, about a hundred
and twenty-five feet high, ornaments the Sutton Street corner.
Nearly all the houses in Soho Square are now used as business
premises. .

But all this is a digression. Continuing our walk up Charing
Cross Road, we see a Welsh Presbyterian Chapel, on our left, and
those of us who are unacquainted with the wonderful language of
the Principality strive in vain to read the announcements on its first
door, which, for our relief, are translated on the second ; and then
we reach the intersection of Shaftesbury Avenue, at CAMBRIDGE
Circus [Map I.: L 13), which occupies the site of a centre, known
as the Five Dials in its day; one of the sights of London for those
who have wished to know the actual conditions of the life and the
habits of the poorer inhabitants. One of the faces of the Dials is
wholly taken up by the attractive fagade of the Palace Theatre of
Varieties, at the corner of the Cambridge Circus, which extends for
some distance along the Shaftesbury Avenue. In this thorough-
fare, are other theatres—the Shaftesbury, opposite the one we
have spoken of, and the Lyrie, near the Piccadilly Circus end. It
is not necessary to say anything of the northern end of Charing
Cross Road ; but we may note that its need has been canvassed
for, at least, two hundred years.

Turning to the Shaftesbury Avenue, we may note that it runs east-
ward from Cambridge Circus to Oxford Street. Near its junc-
tion with that artery, the Avenue opens out the little that remains
of the southern portion of Bloomsbury, formerly Plum Tree
Street. Here we see the French Frotestant School, and -the Ghnrch
of 8t. John La 8avoy. A few paces east of Cambridge Circus, is
the Home for Destitute Boys, a memorial of the jubilee of Queen
Victoria’s reign, connected with the Society for. Providing National
Refuges for Homeless and Destitute Children.- Its first stone was
laid by the Prince of Wales in June, 1887 ; and it has been named
the Shaftesbury Home, after the distinguished philanthropist, who
took great interest in the society. Adjoining it, is a2 Baptist Chapel,
of attractive elevation.

In its westward course, Shaftesbury Avenue runs through a neigh-
bourhood which teems with reminiscences—literary, biographical,
and historical—sufficient to fill a by no means small volume. Bu
we must resist the temptation to indulge in any of them, further
than to note that, on the southern side of Richmond Street (which
has entirely disappeared), there stood, up to the formation of the
Avenue, the last existing house in London that could, with any cer-
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tainty, be pointed out as a residence of Nell Gwynne. She lived
in this house some time during the interval between 1667 and 1670.
Walking towards Piccadilly, we see, on our right, GREEK STREET
and FRITH STREET, communicating with Soho Square ; and then
we cross DEAN STREET, the chief features of which are the New
Royalty Theatre, built in 1840, which has changed its name more than
once, and 8t. Anne’s Church, in which was buried Theodore, King
of Corsica, the inscription on whose tablet, from the pen of Horace
Walpole, more truthful than are many epitaphs, declares—
“ Fate poured its lesson on his living head,
Bestowed a kingdom and denied him bread.”

He died, a pauper, in 1756. Dean Street communicates with
Oxford Street. GERRARD STREET (to which Gerrard, Earl of
Macclesfield, who owned the land on which it was built, stood
sponsor), a short one, to the south, to which Wardour Street
gives access, has its share of literary fame. For in it, lived John
Dryden and Edmund Burke ; at the “Turk’s Head,” the literary
club frequented by Johnson, Burke, Reynolds, and other worthies,
held its meetings, and the same tavern was practically the birth-
place of the Royal Academy of Art. Noting as we go the station
of the London Salvage Corps, we cross RUPERT STREET and
GREAT WINDMILL STREET (the latter named from a windmill,
which, two hundred years ago, stood near here in the midst of
fields) at the spot where is the magnificent Trocadero Restaurant,
occupying the site of the old Argyll Rooms. Adjoining it, in
Great Windmill Stréet, is 8t. Peter’s Church. And- so, we reach—

Piccadilly Circus.
[Map I.: L12]
Cab_Fares: From Charing Cross, Euston, Holborn Viaduct, Ludgate Hill,
Paddington, Victoria, and Waterloo stations—1/-.
From Cannon Street, Fenchurch Street, King's Cross, London Bridge, Mansion
House, and St. Pancras stations—1/6.
From Broad Street and Liverpool Street stations—2/-.

The appearance of this busy spot has been wonderfully changed
by the formation of Shaftesbury Avenue. It was at first known as
Regent Circus, but as there was another Regent Circus at the
intersection of Oxford Street, a little further north, the latter was
re-named Oxford Circus, and this one, Piccadilly Circus. In its
centre, is the Shaftesbury Monument, an inscription written by the
late Mr. Gladstone explaining its raison d’étre .—

* Erected by public subscription to Anthony Ashley Cooper, K.G., seventh Earl
of Shaftesbury, born April 28th, 1801, died October 1st, 1885. During a
public life of half a century, he devoted theinfluence of his station, the strong
sympathies of his heart, and the great powers of his mind, to honouring

by serving his fellow-men. An example to his order, a blessing to
his people, and a name to be by them ever gratefully remembered.”
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On the south side, is a life-size bust of the earl. According to the
official description, the fountain itself is * purely symbolical, and is
illustrative of Christian charity,” this being embodied, it must be
supposed, in the flying angelic figure with which it is surmounted.

Notting Hill.
PICCADILLY CIRCUS.

York & Son,)

Piccadilly, along which we shall travel in another excursion, extends
westward from the circus.

The Haymarket
[Map1.: L 13],

along which we intend to return to Trafalgar Square, runs south-

wards from this spot;

and Coventry Street, Leicester Square,




THE HAYMARKET, ETC. 7

Cranbourne Street, &c. (of which we have alrcady spoken), a line
of streets diverging due east, afford a “short cut” to the City. On
the northern side of the circus, the London Pavilion occupies a
prominent position; and facing it, and adjoining the upper end
of the Haymarket, is the Criterion Restaurant and Theatre, the
latter entered by a staircase from the restaurant and from Jermyn
Street, at the back. ’

The Haymarket (the name of which indicates the use to which
it was put until 1831, when the market was removed to Cumber-
land Market, near the Regent’s Park) is a broad, uphill thorough-
fare of a rather mixed character. It contains some good shops
and large and well-known mercantile establishments; a number
of taverns, oyster-rooms, tobacconists, and supper-rooms (much
patronised by visitors to the theatres and others), and so forth.
About midway, on the eastern side, is the Haymarket Theatre,
originally erected in 1702, rebuilt in 1767, by Nash, and entirely
reconstructed, in 1878, by Mr. and Mrs. Bancroft, the then lessees.
It is famous in theatrical annals as the place where Foote exhibited
his audacious mimicry of notable political and other personages.

A little above it, with its entrance in PANTON STREET, and its side
extending along the Haymarket to James Street, is the Royal Comedy
Theatre, erected in 1881 and capable of accommodating twelve
hundred spectators. Her Majesty’s Theatre, erected by Mr. Beerbohm
Tree on part of the site of the old theatre of the same name, has
been justly described as the most magnificent play-house in London.
The building is of Portland stone, in the French Renaissance style,
and will accommodate 1,500 with the greatest comfort. The cost
was about £60,000, the architect being the late Mr. C. J. Phipps.
Its internal arrangements are as admirable as the exterior is
beautiful. The inaugural performance took place on the 28th of
April, 1897.

Next to the theatre, and in the same architectural style, is the
Carlton Hotel, one of the most sumptuous establishments of the kind
in London. It occupies the whole of the commanding corner site
overlooking Pall Mall, and contains upwards of 250 bed- and
sitting-rooms. It was opened in July, 1899. Its most notable
feature is the magnificent Palm Court, on to which the restaurant
and principal public rooms open.

In SUFFOLK STREET, at the back of the east side of the Hay-
market, Richard Cobden, of Free Trade celebrity, died in 186s.
In this street, is the Gallery of the Royal Society of British Artists,
removed hither from Somerset House in 1823. The society holds
two exhibitions in the year, one, during the summer months, open
from nine till six, and the other, in the winter, from nine till five.
Admission, one skilling.
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In the open space at the foot of the Haymarket, is a bronze
equestrian Statue of George IIL, by M. C. Wyait, erected in 1836.
The artist has perpetuated the costume of the period, and while the
likeness of the king is excellently preserved, equal justice is done
to the wig and pigtail. This gave rise to a parody on Johnson's
famous couplet—

“ Here stands a statue at which critics rail,

To point a moral and to point a tail.”
Here three important streets join the Haymarket — COCKSPUR
STREET runs south-east to Charing Cross ; PALL MALL leads us
westward into “club-land,” of which we shall speak presently ;
and in PALL MALL EasT, along which we walk to the National
Gallery, there are, appropriately enough, the homes of several
associations of artists—the Royal Boclety of Painters in Water
Colours (whosc exhibitions, hcld twice a year, arc among the
‘“evenls” in the artist-world), the Photographic Society of Great
Britain, the Royal Water Colour Club, and the Royal Society of
Painter-Etchers, amongst them. At No. 3, is the Baldwin Club,
established in 1887 at 43, Pall Mall, “for the study and practice
of whist at small points.”

The National Gallery
(Map I.: L 13).

Cab Fares: From Broad Street, Fenchurch Street, Liverpool Street, London
Bndge. or Paddmgton stations—1/6.
From Cannon Street, Euston, Holborn Viaduct, King's Cross, Ludgate, St
Pancras, Victoria, or Waterloo stations—1/-.

Omnibuses from all parts of London.
Nearest Railway Station : Charing Cross.

Here we intend to close our day of sight-seeing, revisiting the
gallery again and again, as opportunity offers. It is open free to the
public on Sundays, from three to six, and on Monday, Tuesday,
Wednesday, and Saturday, from ten to seven in the summer months,
and from ten to four, five, or six, at other times of the year. On
Thursday and Friday, students’ days, the public are admitted after
cleven o’clock, on payment of sixpence.

The importance—now, indeed. amounting to pre-eminence—of
the National Gallery as a collection representing the art of painting,
and likewise that of sculpture, in a manner worthy of the great
metropolis of the world, dates from a very recent period. In the
earlier decades of the present century, war and politics engrossed
the attention of the nation ; and with the exception of a few con-
noisseurs, who devoted their attention to private collections, there
was very little enthusiasm, or even care, manifested for the estab-
lishment of an institution able to compare, for the masterpieces it
could boast, with the Louvre gallery in Paris, the gloriogs Dresden
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gallery, and even the national collections at the Hague, Brussels,
and Amsterdam. The importance of placing famous pictures
within the view of the people, as a means of educating the national
taste and elevating the standard of the student, was but little under-
stood or appreciated, and political economists and financial re-
formers inveighed loudly against the appropriation of state funds to
art purchases.

Our great national collection had but a humble origin. In 1824,
Lord Liverpool’'s government took heart of grace to purchase
for some £57,000 the private collection of J. Angerstein, Esq. ; and
for some years, indeed, until 1838, these pictures were exhibited in
Mr. Angerstein’s house in Pall Mall. Meanwhile, the building for
the reception of the pictures was being erected ; but here again,
the authorities showed a frugal mind, in the low elevation of the
building and its pepperbox turret and insignificant dome, and also
in the utilisation of the eight Corinthian pillars from the disestab-
lished Carlton House, whose incongruous appearance moved some
mirth-loving Italian to inscribe on the front wall the distich,

“‘Care colonne, che fati qua ?’
* Non sapiamo, in verita.’”

Which may be Anglicised, “‘ Dear columns, what are you doing
there ?’ ‘We don’t know, and that’s the truth.”

The present building occupies the site of the royal mews, or
stables, and was originally intended to accommodate the collections
in the National Gallery and those of the Royal Academy. But soon
the meagre collection was increased by numerous and valuable
gifts. Among the donors the names of Sir George Beaumont, the
Rev. Holwell Carr, and Lord Farnborough deserve to be mentioned ;
and in 1847, came a very munificent contribution, by Robert Vernon,
Esq., who added to the national collection the famous “ Vernon
Gallery,” a hundred and fifty-seven pictures, all but two by British
artists. In 1851, Joseph Mallord William Turner, the greatest of
English landscape painters, died ; he had bequeathed to the nation
a great number of pictures and drawings, many of which found
their way to the National Gallery. Among other benefactors, are
conspicuous her present Majesty, the late Mr. Jacob Bell, and espe-
cially Mr. Wynn Ellis, whose magnificent bequest of great pictures
wonderfully enriched the gallery. In response to these and other
instances of munificence, the building has been added to at various
times. The purchase of pictures, too, was conducted on a more
liberal scale. Thus, up to 1871, more than £337,000 had been spent
in buying valuable pictures, and the subsequent purchase of the
* Ansidei Madonna” of Raphael, from the Blenheim collection, for
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470,000, shows that where a masterpiece is to be acquired, money
is not allowed to stand in the way. -

In 1897, ninety-six pictures by British artists who worked within
the last hundred years were transferred to the new National
Gallery of British Art, or “ Tate Gallery,” at Millbank.

The ent of the Pictures.—The National Gallery now possesses above
thirteen hundred works of art ; but a certain number of them are lent to other col-
lections in different parts of the country. In former iears, the art treasures were
distributed in somewhat miscellaneous fashion through a few rooms ; but in 1861.
when the building was re-opened, after the £15,000 voted in the previous year had
been expended on its enlargement,.great improvement had been made in the internal
arrangements ; and when the Royal Academy, which for many years had occupied
part of the buildin%; departed to Burlington House, in 1869, much additional
space became available; and in 1887, further rooms were opened. The present
arrangement of the pictures is admirable, and greatly calculated to assist the
student who wishes to devote his attention fo any particular school or any
period of the art. A great advantage to the visitor is found in the excellent cata-
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logues on sale within the building. Besides a general catalogue, separate records of
the foreign and the British schools may be obtained. But the inscriptions on the

icture-frames themselves, giving in each case the name of the painter, the dates of
Eis birth and death, and the subject of the painting, form a kind of catalogue suffi-
cient for the purposé of the general visitor. We can, of course, only undertake to
point out a very limited number among the hundreds of pictures of which this
magnificent collection consists, and must content ourselves with drawing the visitor’s
attention to a few of the chief features in the various rooms.

Since the departure of the RiA.’s left the trustees of the Nat‘onal Gallery masters
of their own house, the system adopted for the arrangement of the pictures has
been admirable, and will be readily understood even by the uninitiated in matters
of art. The student may, by visiting and examining these halls in succession, trace
the progress of the art of painting from the medizval times, when anything like
a correct yal of nature was not thought of and perspective was still unknown,
to the finished and perfected masterpieces of Raphael and his and may
follow the rise and progress of the various schools to the present time.

A glance at the plan. printed above. will show the position of each of the
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twehty-two rooms, throughout which the collection is distributed. The following
is a list of them and of the school of painting represented in each :—

I. Tuscan School (fifteenth and six- XIII. Late Italian Schools.
teenth centuries). XIV. French School.
I1. Sienese School, &c. XV. Spanish School.
III. Tuscan School. XVI. Old British School.
IV. Early Tuscan School. XVII. Old British School.
V. Ferrarese and Bolognese Schools. | XVIII. British School.
VI. Umbrian School, &c. XIX. British School.
VII. Venetian and Brescian Schools. XX. Modern British School.
VIII. Paduan and Early Venetian XXI. Modern British School.
Schools. XXII. Turner Gallery.
IX. Schools of Lombardy and Parma. | OCTAGONAL HALL.—rKliscellanemls.
X. Dutch and Flemish Schools. EAST VESTIBULE.—OId British School.
XI. Early Flemish and German | WEST VESTIBULE.—OIld British School.
Schools. NORTH VESTIBULE.—Fragments of Ita-
XIL Dutch and Flemish Schools (in- lian Frescoes, &c.
cluding the Peel Collection).

‘We have now to speak of the chief art treasures of the various rooms individually,
the above list having been given chiefly for the direction of the visitor who wishes
to examine some special period or school of British or foreign art. Entering the
building by the portico in Trafalgar Square, and ascending a handsome flight of
steps under the Corinthian pillars, we reach—

fho Entrance Hall.—The attention of the visitor is here attracted to severa
statues and busts. Foremost among these, is the fine statue of Sir David Wilkie,
with a relic in the shape of theaFreat painter’s palette ; Bailey's bustsof Dr. Johnson
and of George Canning, both after Nollek ; busts of the painters, T. W. §

g, todhard
and V. Mulready, by Weekes; that of Newton, by Bailey, after Roubiliac ; and
Chantrey's bust of Sir Walter Scott, and that of the great Duke of Wellington, by
Nollekens, &c., &c. ; besides several pictures on the walls.

Mounting the main staircase, we come to the West V in which notice
789. * Family Group,” by Gainsborough (1727-1785), one of the greatest of English
portrait painters. 1228. “Titania and Bottom,” by Henry Fuseli (1741-1825). at
one time keeper of the Royal Academy, and famous for his weird and fanciful
compositions. The scene admirably suggests the delusion of the Fairy Queen, who
is evidently enraptured with her ass-headed lover. Notice the little fairies and
elves peeping from the flowers, and the graceful attendants on the deluded queen,
143. “Portrait of Lord Ligonier,” Si» Yoshua Reynolds, P.R.A.(1723-1792). A very
spirited Fortrait of a brave British officer, whose career extended from the cam-

aigns of Marlborough to the war of the Pragmatic Sanction that ended in 1748.

'wo other fine specimens of Sir Joshua here are groups lent by the Dilettanti
Society, formed for encoumging a taste for the fine arts in England. The word,
dilettants, signified what would now be conveyed by the expression “amateurs.”
Notice also 1146. * Portrait of a Lady,” by Si» Henry Racburn (1756-1823), called
by his fellow-countrymen “ the Scottish Reynolds.” e next enter—

Room I. The 8chool.—The visitor who has not been initiated into the
history of pictorial art in Europe will probably be at first not a little puzzled to dis-
cover what interest attaches to many of the paintings of the earlier Italian schools
which he sees displayed in the first four rooms (I -IV.) of the National Gallery.
Many of the pictures, stiff, angular, devoid of proportion and perspective, will
appear to him grotesque and even ludicrous ; but it must be remembered that the
study of these pictures will enable the observer to trace the progress and develop-
ment of the medizval art from its crude beginnings to the derful perfection
attained in the palmy days of Italian artistic supremacy, when * the canvas glowed
beyond €’en nature warm,” and the works of such painters as Raphael, Michael
Angelo, Titian, and their compeers were looked upon as holding a place among the
wonders of the world. After the fall of the Western Empire of Rome and the
plundeﬁnﬁby the Goths of the mistress city of the world, Constantinople took the

lace of Rome, as the centre of civilisation and culture; and for centuries the
yzantine (from Byzantium, the ancient name for Constantinople) was the style
that reigned in art (architecture, painting, &c., &c.). The Byzantine school of
painting was hard and stiff. There was no attempt at a faithful rendering of
nature, in form or colour, of the representation of rounded surfaces nor of distance
by the use of p tive. The fig were hard and angular, the drawing
altogether faulf and Incorrect. After the conquest of Constantinople by the
Latins in 1204, tine artists were transplanted to Italy, and painting gradually

7
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emancipated itself from the trammels of the Byzantine school. Things were
represented no longer flat, but in rellef, or standing out; various distances, fore-
ground, and background were indicated by perspective. The time, also, was one
of religious enthusiasm, and palntlni)was soon enlisted to aid the teachlnf of the
Church. Vasari, in his “ History of Painting,” tells us that Margaritone of Arezzo
(1216-1293) was “the last of the Italian artists who painted entirely after the Greek
(or Byzantine) manner.” Among the early Italian painters the first great name is
that of Cimabuc (1240-1302), the principal founder of the Florentine school, and
Giotto, his pupil, the son of a Tuscan shepherd, whom Cimabue is said to have
discovered gmwin the figure of a sheep on a slate, as he watched his flock. Giotto
was also an architect and sculptor, and built the famous “Giotto's Tower,” at
Florence. His influence, apeciall{ in the way of colour, was very great. His
favourite pupil was Taddeo Gaddi (1300-13527). Another was Simone Memini
( u84-1¥4). For more than a century, the school of Giotto continued to dominate
Italy. The next great influence was that of Masaccio (1401-1443), whose work
emphasised an accurate and diligent study of nature. radually the range of
subjects embraced by Italian art widened and i d. Classical, mythological,
and historical scenes employed the ﬁencils of the Italian painters, and portrait
paintin§ in their hands became anything but what it has since been called, the
prose of the pictorial art. In these first rooms, most of the pictures belonﬁ to the
earlier periods of Italian art. A few words concerning those painters who brought
painting to its greatest perfection will be given, in drawing the reader’s attention to
their pictures, in the rooms in which these are found. In this place, it is sufficient
to mention that Leonardo da Vinci (1452-1519), Michael Angelo Buonarotti (1474~
1653), and Raphael Sanzio, of Urbino (1483-1520), are universally acknowledged as
the three greatest among the Italian artists ; but two other names may be added as
worthy to be put in an equally high place—those of Titian (1477-1576) and Antonio
Allegri, surnamed Correggio (1494-1534). These five painters exhibit in their works,
some the whole, others the greater portion of the various elements—which in the
earlier periods of art had existed apart, and composed distinct styles—united and
more h:ghl developed ; while each of them has taken up one of these elements,
and cat edy it not only further than his predecessors had done, but further than it
was by his contemporaries or by any subsequent artist.

Among the pictures in Room 1., the following should be especially noticed by the
visitor :—No. 592. “Adoration of the Maij," Filippino Lippi (1457-1504—of the
Florentine school) (little Phili}:), the son of Fra Filippo Lippi.  Filippino was a pupil
of Botticelli, to whom, ind some i s have attributed this picture. 1282,
“San Zenobio, a Florentine bishop of the fifth century, restores a dead child to life
by his Pr;;yers," Yacopo Chimenti da Empoli 3135 -1640—Florentine). 727. “The
Trinity,” Francesco Pesellino (1422-1457). This picture is a fine instance of the
symbolic or conventional treatment of religious subjects by the early Italian
school. The Son is represented on a crucifix, supported by the Father, while the
Holy Spirit hovers near, in the form of a dove. 1143. “The Procession to Calvary,”
Ridolfa Ghirlandajo (1483-1561—Florentine), follower of Leonardo da Vinci. He
obtained the friendship of Raphael, by whom he was invited to Rome ; but he pre-
ferred to remain in his native Florence, where he worked diligently, and with the
co-operation of numerous pupils painted many pictures and acquired fame and com-
petence. He was an admirable portrait painter. 17. “Holy Trinity,” Andrea del
Sarto (1486-1531) (really Andrea d'Agnolo, but called del Sarto, “of the tailor,”
from his father’s calling). He was one of the greatest painters of the sixteenth cen-
tury, and was invited to France by Francis I. He died of the plague in his native
city, Florence. “The Madonna di San Francisco,” at Florence, is considered his
masterpiece. 292. “Martyrdom of St. Sebastian,” Anfonio Pollaiuolo (about 1429~
1496). This picture, representing the saint, being shot with arrows, is con-
sidered by Vasari as the chief work of the painter. There were three brothers,
Pollaiuolo, Antonio, and Piero, of whom Antonio was the greatest. He was also dis-
tinguished as a sculptor in bronze. This picture was painted for the altar of a
church in Florence and in 1475. 704. “Cosmo de Medici,” Bronzino (1502-1572), a
great portrait painter, patronised by the patriotic grand-duke of Florence, Cosmo 1.
293. “The Virgin and Child; St. Jerome and St. Dominic adoring the Infant
Christ,” Filippino Lippi, the son of Fra Filippo Lippi (1457-1504). One of his best
works is the *“ Adoration of the Magi” (No. 1124) 690. “ Portrait” (said to be of
the artist himself), Andrea del Sarto. 651. “Venus, Cupid, Folly, and Time, or All
is Vanity,” an allegorical work, Bronzino. Venus holds the apple of discord, and
turns her head towards Cupid, while Folly, with one foot on a thorn, is about to throw
a handful of roses, a harpy hides her sting with one hand, while offering a piece of
honeycomb with the other, and Time is about to throw n1s veil of oblivion alike over
Love and Folly. This picture was painted for King Francis I. of France, and is
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tally praised by Vasarl. 91s. “Mars and Venus,” Sandro Botticelli (1446-1510).
he goddess of Beauty is represented reclining, with the sleeping Mars-by her side ;
young satyrs are playing with his waafons, and one of them vainly endeavours tc
wake him. The whole seems allegorical of the yielding to indulgence and its conse-
q > “The subject is almost identical with that which Spenser draws in the
* Faerie Queene,” where Sir Guyon, the knight of purity, overthrows the Bower of
Bliss in which Acrasia (or Pleasure)dwells ; the last and hardest of Sir Guyon's trials,
for ‘it is harder to fight against pleasure than a%ainst pain.’’ Vasari ranks Botticelli
as the best Florentine painter after the death of Fra Filippo Lippi. 916. “ Venus,”
with Cupids playing with flowers and fruit, a good specimen of the same artist.

Room II.—In’ this room, the pictures are especially remarkable for the religious
feeling, which formed the distinguishing feature of the Sienese school. This feeling
was worthily expressed in the fourteenth century statutes of the Painters’ Guild of
the city of Siena, whose members described themselves as “teachers to unlearned
men of the marvels done by the power and strength of holy religion.” In 1113, “A
Legendary Subject,” P. Lorinzette (d. 1350), we have a very early specimen of the
Sienese school ; and another in 1108, “Virgin Enthroned.”” 1155 *“Assumption of
the Virgin,” Matieo di Giovanni (1435-1495). *“These pictures of coronations and
assumptions of the Virgin are not merely tributes of devotion to the Mother of God,
but are poetic renderings of the recognition of woman's queenship.” Matteo di
Giovanni is considered the best painter of the purely Sienese school, and this picture
is looked upon as his best productign. *In this work, we may be said to have an
epitome of Sienese painting in its aim and score. from the middle of the fourteenth
to the end of the fifteenth ccntury." 283. “Virgin and Child, enthroned,” Benozzo
Gozzoli (1420-1498). In his paintings, the rich of the landscape back ds,
the introduction of various animals, and the elaboration of architectural defails are
especially to be noted. His most celebrated works are the frescoes in the Campo
Santo at Florence, representing twenty-four scenes from the Old Testament. 663.
“Christ with the Banner of the Resurrection,” Fra Angelico. The Saviour is repre-
sented surrounded bya §reat number of kneeling figures, the patriarchs, the prophets
saints, and martyrs ; and others, representing the bl d. The ber of fig is

The two ends are occupied by the “ beati” of the order of the Dominicans, the
picture having been originally painted for the altar in San Domineco at Fiesole,
Giovanni Guidolino of Fiesole, known as Fra (Brother) Angelico, was a monk of the
order of the Predicants. His chief work was the decoration with fresco paintings
of the convent of St. Mark at Florence. He is said by Vasari to have been a man of
such fervent piety that he never commenced painting without prayer. 582. “The
Adoration of the Magi,” by Fra Amngelico. 566. “The Madonna and Child, with
Angels,” Duccio di Buoninsegna (1260-1339). David and six prophets are repre-
sented above the sacred figures, and on the doors of the tryptych are St. Dominic
and St. Catharine of Alexandria. Ducclo is said “to have infused new life into the
Sienese school of painting, without entirely abandoning Byzantine traditions.” 1155.
“ The Assumption of the Virgin,” Matteo Giovanni(1435-1495). This picture is con-
sidered the best work of the artist. The Virgln is being wafted to heaven on clouds,
surrounded by a choir of singing angels. On the nimbus around her head are the
words, “ Regina celi letare.”

Room .—Here are pictures of the Tuscan school, the most interesting being
works by Botticelli and Fra Filippo Lippi. Especially noticeable are : . “The
Annunciation,” Filippo Lippi. A fine work marked with the crest of Duke Cosmo
de Medici, for whom it was painted. 782. “Madonna and Child,” Botticelli. 583.
« Battle of St. Ucello,” Paolo Ucello (1397-1475) (really Paolo di Dono, called Ucello,
as a bird painter). 1034. “ The Adoration of the Magi,” Botticelli. The Greek in-
scription on this remarkable picture tells that it was painted in 1500. “The theo-
logical symbolism may be seen in the gesture of the Divine Child, pointing to His
mouth—typifying that He was the Word of God ; and also in the flight of the devils,
and the embracing of the shepherds and angels.” 598. “St. Francis with the Stigmata ”
Frlippino Lipp:. St. Francis, the founder of the Black Friars (Franciscans), is repre-
sented as miraculously bearing tlre stigmata, or marks of ‘the Saviour's passion, on
his hands and feet, as a recognition of the faithfulness with which he had followed
in his Master’s footsteps. 226. “ Virgin and Child, St. John, and Angels,” Botticelli.
Very notable is the skill and tenderness infused by Botticelli and Lippi into the
painting of roses and lilies respectively. Professor Ruskin has drawn especial attention
to the point, of which this picture is an evidence. 667. “St. John the Baptist and
other Saints” (on the left, St. Damianus, St. Antony and Peter Martyr ; on the right,
St. Francis, St. Lawrence, and St. Cosmos), Fra Filippo Lippi. 589. “Virgin and
Child,” Fra Filippo Lippi.

Room IV.—In this room, the visitor finds very earlv specimens of Italian art;
most of the pictures are quaint, rigid, and conventional ; but through all the gaunt-
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ness and rigidity of the forms the devotional ltiirit is eve:rwhm visible.

Italian pictorial art was largely represented in the portrayal of biblical scenes, by
means of which the illiterate populace were instructed in sacred history. We would
direct the visitor’s attention to: 215 and 216. “ The Company of Saints,” two very
early specimens of the school of Taddeo Gaddi. 569-578. Altar-piece,” in ten
compartments, Andrea di Cione, called Orcagna, from Arcagnuolo, Archangel. the
greatest of the early Florentine painters, after Glotto. 565. “Madonna and Child,”
Cimabue (1270-1302). Giovanni Cimabue (properly Ceno) is one of the greatest
names among the early Italian pai He is especially remarkable in two
directions ; the imp t he effected in colour, and the substitution of natural
expression of human feelings and emotions for the conventional treatment of the
Byzantine school. *Cimabue’s additional claim to distinction is that of having dis-
covered and trained the superior abilities of Giotti.”

Room V.—Here we come to the period of the schools of Ferrara and Bologna, and
notice a further advance. 1119. “The Madonna and Child, with Saints,” Ercole di
Guilio Grande(d. 1531). The two figures of saints in this picture represent John the
Baptist and St. William. “The ies are al t an epi , as it were, of the
decorative arts of the times. In the central panel, is an alfo relievo in ivory, with
Adam and Eve on either side of the tree of knowledge.” A grand picture. 81.
“Vision of St. Augustine,” Garofolo (1481-1559). This is an illustration of an
incident in the saint’s life. Seeing a child who said he would empty the sea into a
hole he had dug, Augustine told him it was impossible. “Not more im, ible,”
replied the child, “than for thee, O Augustine, to explain the mystery on which thou
art now meditating.” Tisio da Garofolo was greatly influenced in his painting by
Raphael. He was an earnest and conscientious artist. During the last eight years
of his life, he was blind. 770. *‘Leonello d’Este, Marquis of Ferrara” (d. 1450),
Grovanns Oriolo. 179-180. “The Virgin, with infant Christ, and St. Anne,” and
“The Virgin weeping over the dead Christ,” Francesco Raibolini, called Francia
11450—1517). These two pictures ori%inally formed an altar-piece in a church at

Notice especially the figure of the little St. John, with the reed cross, and
the scroll inscribed, “ Ecce Agnus Dei”—* Behold the Lamb of God.” 638. “The
Virgin and Child with Saints,” Francia. 73. “Conversion of St. Paul,” Ercolo Grande.
590. “ Christ placed in the Tomb,” Murco Zoppo (fifteenth century).

Room VI.—Here we have the Umbrian school, in which the religious feeling in
Italian art is seen brought to its highest development. Umbria is described by
Morelli as “the gracious nook of earth, in which Pietro Perugino loved to place his
chaste, God-fraught Madonnas ; and which in his pictures, like soft music, heightens
the mood awakened in us by his martyrs, pining after Paradise.” The greatest
glory of the Umbrian school was Raphael, of whom the National Gallery possesses
some very fine examples. His period marks the highest point attained by Italian
art. Among the most noteworthy pictures in this room are: 288. “ Virgin and
Child,” Perugino (1446-1523). Pietro Vanucci, called Perugino, from having passed
his youth in Perugia, was one of the most remarkable painters of the Umbrian
school. “Each of Pietro’s best is a masterpiece of its kind. He has the power of
elevating us into a serene and poetic region where even pain becomes sublimed and
idealised. . . . He was none the less able in exact portraiture.” He has also the
merit of having founded a school of painﬁn% in which Ra{)hael himself was his
most illustrious pupil. This picture formed the three principal parts of an altar-
piece ; the Virgin adoring the infant Saviour occupies the centre compartmeant, in
the outer comfaaxtmcnts are the archangels, Michael and Raphael. 213. “ Vision of a
Knight,” Raphael (1483-1520). Raphael Sanzio, of Urbino, the son of the painter
Giovanni Santi, is remarkable alike for his prodigious genius and his wonderful
activity. Dying at the early age of thirty-seven (like Shakespeare, he died on the
anniversary of his birthday), he yet lived long enough to enrich the world with
many masterpieces and to win for himself the foremost place in Italian art.
“ Raphael marks the culminating point of Umbrian art, which, after his time, led
down to the conventional sentimentalities against which the pre-Raphaelites have in
modern times revolted.” The present picture is a specimen of the artist’s first
period, when he was infl d by his ter, Pietro Perugino, and is thus in his
earliest manner. The knight, sleerin upon his shield, is tempted by a female figure
offering him a myrtle, emblematic of the delights of love, while, on the other side,
Duty proffers the book and the sword, emblematic of study and combat. Raphael

ainted this picture at the age of seventeen. 1171. “ The Virgin and Child, attended
gy St. John the Baptist and St. Nicholas of Bari,” Raphael. This picture is com-
monly known as the “Ansidei Madonna,” from the Ansidei family of Perugia, for
whom it was painted. It was purchased from the Duke of Marlborough in 188s,
for by far the highest price ever given by a nation for a picture, £70,000. The date
1506 (MDV1.) appears on the Virgin’s blue mantle. It is one oi the greatest pictures
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in the world. 744. * Madonna, Infant Christ, and St. John,” Raphiel. Known as
the “ Aldobrandini Madonna,” also as the “ Gervagh Raphael,” as it was sold to the
late Lord Gervagh by Mr. Day, who brought it to England. This picture belongs to
Raphael's third or Roman period. “In the ‘Ansidei Madonna,’ the divinity of the
Virgin is insisted on; and above her throne is the inscription, ‘ Hail, mother of
Christ” But here the divinity is only dimly indicated by a halo. And as the
Madonna is here a merely human mother, so is the child a purely human child.”
168. “St. Catherine of Alexandria,” Ruphael. In this picture, the saintis represented
with an expression of holy patience on her face ; she leans upon the wheel, which,
accordm§ to_the legend, was to have been the instrument of her martyrdom. 27.
“ Portrait of Popegulxus IL,” Raphael. This is the Pope who began the building of
the present church of St. Peter in Rome. 1075. “The Virgin and Child, with St.
Jerome and St. Francis,” Perugino. As in most pictures of this period, St. Francis
is regrgsented with the stigmata on his hands and feet. 1128. “The Circumcision
of Christ,” Luca Signorelli. One of the most remarkable paiaters of his time ; he is
considered as the forerunner of Michael Angelo. 1218-1219. “Joseph and his
Brethren,” Francesco Ubertini (1494-1557).

Room .—Here we have the Venetian and Brescian schools. The characteristic
of the Venetian painters is their predilection for representing gorgeous and mag-
nificent scenes; nature adorned with the highest brilliancy of colour. * They are
especially fond of saints who have been cardinals, because of their red hats, and
they sunburn all their hermits into splendid russet-brown.” Then, also, it has been
rightly observed that they had before them the colour of Venice, “that melodrama
of flame, and gold, and rose, and orange, and azure, which the skies and lagoons of
Venice yield almost daily to the eye.” Among the gems in this room, are: 35.
“ Bacchus and Ariadne,” T¥tian (1477-1576). Tiziano Vecellio, a great and glorious
Italian painter, belonged to an honourable Venetian family. Living to the great
age of ninety-nine years, he is distinguished alike for the greatness of his achieve-
ments and the length of his career. “He presents to us humanity in its noblest and
most beautiful forms, and so profoundly had he studied it that the ideal personages
introduced in his pictures have an intense individualit{. Naturally, therefore, he
stands supreme amongst the ?reat portrait painters. In the department of land-
scape, he was, i‘f not the first to perceive, at least the first to render Nature in her

p ‘When dealing with classical themes, he thoroughly translated
the spirit, without idly imitating the forms of antiquity.” Titian was one of those
fortunate painters whose merits were fully recognised 'in their own time. He was
the friend and companion of princes amf kings ; and it is recorded that Francis I.,
visiting his studio, did not disdain to stoop to pick up the pencil the aged master
had let fall. The “Bacchus and Ariadne” represents the jol];; god leaping from his
chariot to welcome the forsaken bride of Tgaeus. He is attended by his joyous
train, among whom appears drunken Silenus, on his ass. 635. “ Madonna and Child,
with St. John the Baptist and St. Catherine, embracing the Divine Infant.” 636.
“ Portrait of a Poet” (supposed to be Ariveto), Palma, generally called Palma
Vecchio, or the Elder. 20. *Portraits of the Painter and of the Cardinal Ippolito de
Medici,” Sebastiano Luciane, called Sebastiano del Piombo, or Sebastian of the Seal,
from the office he held in the Papal Court. 1. “The Raising of Lazarus,” Sedastiano
del Piombo. A grand work, the masterpiece of the artist, full of artistic power and,
religious fervour. 270. “Christ appearing to Mary Magdalen after His Resurrection,”
Titian. This is generally known as the “ Ngll? me tangere” of Titian, from the
scriptural words, “Touch Me not ; for I am not yet ascended to Mz Father.” Be-
lueathed to the National Gallery in 1855. 280. “ Madonna and Child,” Giovann:

ellini (1428-1516). Ruskin says that Bellini alone of all the painters of Italy united
purity of religious aim with perfection of artistical power. is Eicture is generally
called the “Madonna of the Pomegranate,” from the fruit in the hand of the Virgin.
189. “Portrait of the Doge Leonardo Loredano, in his State Robes,” Giovanni
Bellini. Loredano, one of the ablest of {the Venetian Doges, ruled over the City of
the Sea from !gox to 1521. 308. “St. Peter, Martyr,” Giovanni Bellini. 268. “The
Adoration of the Magi,” Paolo Veronese (Caliari). The adoration is represented as
taking Flace in a ruined Roman building, symbolic of the rise of Christianity on the
ruins of Paganism. 294. “The Family of Darius at the feet of Alexander the Great,
after the Battle of Issus. B.C. 333.”" {e most precious Paul Veronese in the world”
(Ruskin). ¢7. “Rape of Europa,” Paul Veronese. Jupiter. in the form of a bull,
carries off Europa, who has ventured to seat herself on his back. 281. “St. Jerome
reading,” Basaiti (active between 1500 and 1521).

Room VIII. Paduan and Early Venetian Bchools.—The characteristic of the
Paduan school was the application of classical scholarship to painting. Especially
notewotth{’: 902. “The Triumph of Scipio,” Andrea Mantegna (1431-1506). Scipio,
surnamed Nasica. was selected as the worthiest man in Rome to receive the image
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of Cybele, the mother of the f,ods, who was to be enthroned among the Roman
deities. 1145. “Samson and Delilah,” Andrea Mantegna. The incident of the
cutting of Samson's hair by Delilah is here represented. The moral is strongly
expressed in the words inscribed on the tree-trunk in the background : * Feemina
diaboli tribus assibus est mala pejor” (“A woman is a three-times worse evil than
the devil”). 724. “The Madonna and Child enthroned, with St. Jerome and St.
Sebastian,” Crivelli. This picture is known as the “ Madonna della Rondine” (“Our
Lady of the Swallow”), from the bird introduced. 788. “The Madonna and Child
enthroned, surrounded by Saints,” Crivelli. A large and important work ; an altar-
piece in thirteen compartments. .

n Room.—1214. “Coriolanus meeting Volumnia and Veturia,” Michele da
Verona. The story of the successful intercession of the Roman warrior's mother
and wife, on behalf of the city. 1241. “Mary Magdalen led by Martha to hear the
Preaching of Christ,” Pedro Campana (1503-1570). In the centre of the room notice
the grou&of sculpture, “ Hylas and the Nymphs,” by Wilson.

Room IX, Lombard Schools.—The two schools of Lombard painting were both
influenced by the genius and style of Leonardo da Vinci. 15. “Christ presented by
Pilate to the People,” known as the * Ecce Homo,” Antonio Allegri da Perregeio
(1494-1534). “Allegri could endow the offspring of his imaéinauon with a vitality
which is astounding. The sense of overflowing life in his figures carries us away
until we beli in their exi " This is considered one of the best of the
master’s pictures. 10. “Mercury instructing Cupid in the presence of Venus,’
Correggio. Mercury, who, according to mythology, was the inventor of letters, is
teaching the little’ God of Love the alphabet. 18. “Christ disputing with the
Doctors,” Bernardino Luini (1475-1533). 23. “The Holy Family,” Correggio. St.
Josegh is represented as a carpenter, in the act of planing a board.” The introduction
of the small basket in the picture procured for it the name of the “ Madonna
della Cesta,” or the “ Vierge au Panier.” 1144. “Madonna and Child, w1t11 Saints,”
Giovanni Bazzi (1477-1559). 76. “Christ’s Agony in the Garden,” Correggio.

The series of Italian Painters will be found continued in Room XIII. We now
enter uﬁn another phase of art. Rooms X., XI., and XII., are devoted to pictures
of the Flemish and Dutch schools. In Flemish art, the distinguishing features
are the strict fidelity to nature, the wonderfully accurate delineations of real life,
and the marvellous preservation and freshness of the works after centuries. If
the visitor wishes to view the pictures chronologically, let him go first to Room XI.,
where he will find the oldest examples. We have only space to indicate a few of
the chief works in each room.

In Room X.—1248. “Portrait of a Lady,” Bart. von der Helst (1611-1670). 149,
150. “Calm,” and “ A Fresh Breeze,” W.van der Velde, D. (1633-1707). 775. “Old
Lady,” Rembrandt van Ryn, F. (1607-1669). “Landscape, with Cattle and Figures,”
Albert Cuyp, D. (1605-1661). 672. “Portrait of the Artist,” Rembrandt. 1172.
“ Equestrian Portrait of Charles 1.,” A. Van Dyck, F. (1599-1641). Portraits by
Rembrandl. 1247. The * Card Players ” Nicolaus Maas, D.(1632-1693). 190. “ Jewish
Rabbi,” Rembrandt. 45. The Woman taken in Adultery,” Rembrandt. 278. “ Triumph
of Julius Casar,” Peter Pawul Rubens, F. (1577-1640). 797. “Portrait,” 4. Cuyp.
896. “ The Peaceof Mtinster,” Gerard Terburg (1617-1681). 98s. “Sheep and Goats,”
Karel der Jardin, G. (1622-1678).

Room XI. Eurly German and Flemish Bohools. —295. “The Saviour and the
Virgin Mary,” Quentin Metsys, F. (1460-1530). 291. “Portrait of a Girl,” Lucas
Kranach, German (1472-1553). 186. ‘ Portraits of Giovanni Arnolfini and his Wife,”
Fan van Dyck, F. (1390-1440). 222. “Portrait of a Man,” ¥an van Eyck.

Room XII. contains the collection of Flemish and Dutch Cabinet pictures,
ﬁenernll cxcellent specimens of the respective artists, collected by the late Sir

obert Peel. Notice especially the works of Ruysdael, Hobbema, Wynanto, Van
Ostade, and the brothers Van der Velde.

Room XIII.—Here we come to the later Italian schools. They are in their
decadence. ' The old religious spirit has entirely vanished, and the Holy Family
is represented as worrying a bird with a cat! gohn the Baptist holds the little gold-
finch, while the Madonna expressly directs the attention of the Infant Christ to
it,” &c. (See No. 29. “Our Lady of the Cat,” Baroccio.) There were three schools,
known, respectively, as Mannerists, Eclectics, and Naturalists.

Room va.—[n this room, are pictures of the French school; but it is very
inadequately represented, the best works beingbthose of Claude Lorraine, whose
fame was lated and, indeed, far surp d by Joseph Mallord William Turner
and the two Poussins. The landscapes of Claude and of the Poussins and Salvator
Rosa all give evidence of the artificial taste of the time in which they had their
origin—a time, when shepherds and shepherdesses were depicted as tending their
flocks of beribboned sheep, in doublets and skirts of silk and satin, when the
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nymphs and swains made love to each other in the style of the pastoral poets ; there
was certainly no touch of nature about them. Mr. Ruskin points out the utter
absence of any real expression of true delight in nature in the works of Fielding,
Smollett, and Sterne, in England, and of Moliére, in France; and Dr. Johnson
honestly avowed that to him one green field appeared very much like another green
field. It was such men as Constable and Turner who led the movement of the
return to real nature in painting, adorned their pictures with the variety of sunshine
and shade, storm, and breeze, and enlivened them with human interest. It was a
French critic who spoke with praise of Constable as “the man who abandoned all
the conventions, artifices, and imaginary descriptions of pretended Greek or,Roman
landscapes, and used his own eyes-to see the grass, water, and trees.in:all their
striking natural beauty.” -In looking at the pictures in this room, the visitor should
especially notice the opportunity given him’of comparing-the merits of Claude with
those of Turner. It was the .English painter's great wish that such a comparison
should be made ; and he therefore Jeft two. of his pictures to the nation, under the ex-

ress condition that they should be hung side by side with two of Claude Lorraine’s.

his has accordingly been done ;.and, on entering the room, we see two pictures of
Claude—12. “Isaac-and Rebecca, or the Mill ;” and 14. “Seaport ; Embarkation of
the Queen of Sheba”—and two.of .Turner’s—479. “The Sun Rising in a Mist,"
painted in 1807, and already showing the illustrious artist, as Ruskin described him
—as the painter, “not df pastoral indolence or .classic pride, but of the labour of
men, by sea and land.” The other picture selected by Turner for the competition
with Claude is 498. “Queen Dido Building Carthage,” also called “ The Rise of the
Carthaginian Empire.” ~ -

Room XV.—The Spanish collection :is still more scantily represented ; the names
of Velasquez, Murillo, and Ribera are the chief that here encounter us, and the
specimens of Murillo are perhaps the best.

The remaining rooms contain a very admiirable collection of the English painters ;
and these are so judiciously arranged in their.various periods that they may be left
to speak for themselves. The visitor will hardly need to have his attention directed
to their beauties. Many of the pictures by British artists which formerly hung
here were in 1897 transferred to the new Tate Gallery, Millbank.

The National Portrait Gallery

adjoins the National Gallery, on the north and east ; it is open fo the
public on the same days and hours as the older institution. It is also
open on Sunday afternoons from 2.30 to 5.30 from April to September.
The building is a spacious, handsome, well-lighted, and secure
home for our priceless :collection of natjonal portraits, which pre-
sents a pictorial history of our country and of the Anglo-Saxon
race. The idea of its formation dates from 1820—a year after
Queen Victoria was born. The governors .of the British Insti-
tution then held their first exhibition of historical portraits in Pall
Mall ; and in their opening remarks declared that—

““We never read of the actions of any distinguished .individual, without feeling
a desire to see a resemblance of his person. We-often imagine that we can trace
the character of the man in the expression of his countenance; and we retain
a more correct recollection of his actions by keeping in our minds a lively impres-
sion of his general appearance.”

The accumulation of this collection of portraits of national in-
terest was the outcome of this exhibition ; but it was a long time
before any steps were taken for its realisation. It was not till the
March of 1856—thirty-six years later—that the formation of the
collection was commenced by the Earl of Ellesmere, who pre-
sented to the nation his famous Chandos portrait of Shakespeare—
a picture that hangs in Room III., wherein are exhibited the like-
nesses of the early Stuarts. Most of us would have looked for it in:



Room II., among the frilled and bejeweclled lords and dames of the
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Elizabethan period, for it was then that Avon’s bard was in the hey- 1‘
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day of his glory. 1n 1356, Earl Stanhope made his famous speech in
the House of Lords on the desirability of establishing a national
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portrait gallery; and before the * fifties” had passed away the
idea had to some extent taken hold of the popular mind. By
the commencement of 1860, the pictures numbered eighty-nine,
a third of which had been —to adopt the official phrase —
‘“acquired by donation.”

During the first forty years of its existence, under the direction
of the late Sir George Scharf, K.C.B., the collection experienced
four changes of abode. It was at first housed in No. 29, Great
George Street, Westminster ; in ten years, the rooms there were
filled to overflowing. The pictures were then transferred to the
Long Building, at South Kensington ; and there they remained till
1885, when a fire broke out so close to the galleries in which they
were exhibited as to endanger them. The authorities therefore
deposited them temporarily in the Bethnal Green Museum. This
spot was found to be inconvenient—mainly, on account of its dis-
tance from the other collection of pictures and of its difficulty of
access. The necessity of providing a more suitable gallery soon
became apparent ; and in 1888, Mr. W. H. Alexander offered to
build it a suitable home at a cost of £80,000. The Government
accepted his offer and fixed on the site to the north and east of
the National Gallery, as the locale of the new edifice. The plans
of Mr. Ewan Christian were approved of, and the work was
commenced in 18go. But it necessarily made slow progress, for
Mr. Alexander’s express injunction was that the edifice should
be the best that could be obtained for the money. It was no.
till the December of 1893 that the boards and scaffolding were
removed from the front of the east wing, thus enabling us to
form an idea of its splendid proportions. It was then found to
be a triumph of art, as it is fitting it should be, considering the
purpose for which it is intended. The new building is, on the
whole, in harmony with the elder edifice of which it forms a con-
tinuation. Its most apparent modification of the design of the
National Gallery takes the form of a bay of Corinthian columns,
which serves the useful purpose of masking the awkwardness
of its line of eastern frontage ; and its most prominent section is
the beautiful and spacious main entrance, which stands well for-
ward into St. Martin’s Place, adjoining the end of the east wing.
A series. of medallion-busts by Mr. F. C. Thomas, jun., are
placed above its windows. These represent the artists and authors
who have contributed to the formation of the gallery : Chantrey,
Lawrence, Reynolds, Hogarth, Roubiliac, Kneller, Lely, Van Dyck,
Holbein, Walpole, Clarendon, Fuller, Lodge, Faithorne, Granger,
Macaulay, Stanhope, and Carlyle.

In the early weeks of 1896, the wandering portraits migrated
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to their final resting-place ; the gallery was thrown open to the
public, without ceremony of any kind, on the first Saturday of the
April of that year. Since that date many thousands of people have
passed through the turnstiles, affording the best possible evidence
of the popularity of the “personal ” element in history as in other
matters. It cannot be said that all the portraits are works of art—
far from it—but it can be said that the selection is judicious, and
that none is without interest of some kind.

The collection, which numbers more than a thousand portraits,
contains representations of our national history from the -time
of the Normans (going as far back as a portrait of Robert, duke of
Normandy, who died in 1134), down to the present day. Itincludes
men of distinction who have only recently died, such as Cardinal
Manning, Tennyson, and Stevenson. The reigning families, states-
men, poets, judges, warriors, actors, and every one who has played
a part in national history are represented in it. Stuart’s well-known
portrait of Washington and one of Benjamin Franklin show the
catholicity of the gallery, which would not have been complete
without the presentments of the men who, although not belonging
to the British nation, have left their mark on the history of the
English race. It is well to note here that the word “ portrait,” in
the title of the exhibition, is to be read in its widest sense. Not only
does it include paintings and drawings, but numerous presentments
in bronze and marble as well. Indeed, the busts in all the rooms
form an agreeable and noteworthy feature of the collection.

The edifice is not an ideal picture gallery—which should be one
in which there are no stairs ; where all pictures are hung low in not
more than two rows ; and where all the light is admitted by skylights.
This cannot be had in London ; but the best has been done that
could be perhaps expected. The gallery is conveniently arranged
in three floors and a basement; and the authorities have shown
much care in arranging and hanging the pictures, both with regard
to harmony and subjects, and, what is more important, to let them
be seen to the best possible advantage. If one is struck by the
many narrow corridors and the numerous corners in the building,
it should be remembered that this arrangement has been dictated
by a desire to get the best possible light.

Entering from St. Martin’s Place, and handing our “hand-grips,” walking-sticks,
and umbrellas to the officials, we pass througle the tut"nstile and see before us a
notification, over the archway g to the t that the pictures of the
House of Commons are deposited there. We therefore make our way thither ;
and find three large paintings, crowded with authentic portraits, in a welllighted
crypt. The one which first attracts our attention is by Karl Hickel, “The
House of Commons in 1795.” It is numbered 745, and was presented by the
Emperor of Austria in June, 1885. Next it, is (No. 54) a corresponding picture by

Hayter, “The House of Commons in 1833 "—the first reformed Parliament. Like the
other, it was a gift to the nation. The inscription tells us it was “ presented by her
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Majesty's Government,” in 1858 ; but it is well to give honour to whom honour is
due, and to record the fact that its donor was Earl Beaconsfield—then the Right
Hon. Benjamin Disraeli, Ch llor of the Excheq The third picture is lent to
the collection by Lord Annalﬁ ; it represents “ The House of Lords in August, 1820,”
during the discussion on the bill to dissolve George IV.’s marriage—in other words,
during Queen Charlotie’s trial. Here it may be convenient to notice that another
picture, containing a group of portraits, and similar in size, &c., is to be seen on the
ﬁat landing. It is (No. 599) Haydon’s * Convention of the Anti-Slavery Society in
1840."

1f, instead of p: ding to the b t, we turn abruptly to the left, on passing
the turnstile we reach, in the east wing, two rooms—numbered XXXI. and
XXXII.—in which are to be seen a collection of sculptures, electrotypes, models, &c
Robert “ Courthose,” as he was called, eldest son of William the Conqueror, is here
represented by a cast from his effigy in Gloucester Cathedral. Here, too, is the
monumental portrait of Edward II., from his tomb in that cathedral; and in the
two rooms are a ber of interesting speci of the sculptor’s art. ~

“The pictures begin at the top floor,” we are’informed, in response to our inquiry ;
and thither we make our way by a series of roomy staircases, so as, by following
the numbering of the rooms, to be able to examine the portraits in chronological
order. Their contents are as follows :—

TOP FLOOR.
I. Early Portraits. VIII. Wiltiam III.
1I. The Tudors. IX. Anne.
111. Early Stuarts. X. The Pretenders.
1V. Cromwell XI. George I. and II.
V. Charles II. XII. Large Portraits.
VI. Charles II. and James II. XIII. Royal Portraits. (Firsi Landing.)

VII. Busts and Engravings.
The rooms on this floor in the east wing are set apart for the use of photo-
graphers, desirous of copying any of the portraits.

FIRST FLOOR.

XIV. (Eighteenth Century.) Divines, XXII. Miscellaneous Busts and Por-
Philosophers, &c. traits.

XV. Statesmen and Politicians. XXII1. (Second Landing.)
XVI. Actors and Dramatists. XXIV. (Third Landing.) Royal Por-
XVII. Artists. traits.
XVIII. (i C;ntﬁtail ; Com:gr ) Statesmen,
oliticians, &c. 3
XIX. Artists, Men of Science, &c. East Wing
XX. Men of Science. XXV. Literary, Military, and Naval.

XXI. (Screen Room.) Female Por- XXVI. Military and Naval.
traits, Drawings, Sketches, &c. XXVII. Scientific and Literary.

GROUND FLOOR.

XXVIII. Judges. East Wing.
XXIX. (Corridor.)  Miscellaneous XXXI. Sculpture Gallery, Electro-
Portraits. . types.
XXX. (Fourth Landing.) XXXII. Sculpture and Models.

Basement.
XXXIII. House of Commons.
The rest of this floor is used for the offices of the director and his staff.

It would be impossible to notice all the portraits in detail ; nor is it necessary
for us to make the attempt. Numbered tablets affixed to the frames explain fully
the subject of each portrait; and the official catalogue enables the visitor to
thoroughly enjoy the collection, for it is not only an admirable guide to the pic-
tures, but an epitome of national biography as well. Neither of the portraits
attracts more attention than does that of (No. 429) Mary Queen of Scots, painted
by Ondry, in 1578, the mark on the back whereot tells us that it once belonged to
her equally unhappy grandson, Charles I. But it somewhat disappoints the visitor,
for the auburn hair is the only feature that connects her with the popular concep-
tion of the feminine charms of Mary Stuart. The portrait is to be found in
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Room I1.; and near it hang Queen Elizabeth and four of her favourites—Essex,
Leicester, Raleigh (this was the very first purchase made by the trustees in 1857—it
is numbered 7), and Burleigh. A picture (237) of the Prince Consort, presented by
the Queen ; a later one of Her Majesty herself, hanging near it: and a series of
portraits of Sir John Franklin and his colleagues (numbered 903 to 924), ueathed
to the nation by Miss Cracroft, attract considerable attention. In addition to
Sir John (T. Phillips, R.A.) and his lady (Miss Romilly), they include Sir }
Barrow, Sir R. Murchison, General Sir E. Sabine, Admiral B. Hamilton, Sir J.
Richardson, Captain Hobson, Admiral Beechey, Sir Edward Parry, Sir James Ross,
Sir R. Collinson, Sir H. Kellett, Admiral Osborn, Mr. Kennedy, Sir F. Beaufort, Sir
Leopold McClintock, Sir Allen Young, Admiral Sir E. Inglefield, Dr. Walker, R.N,,
Sir George Richards, and Mr. B. Leigh Smith. These twenty were painted by
S. Pearce. In the Stuart Room, besides Shakespeare, we have Michael Drayton and
Ben {‘onson. Dryden, Cowley, Suckling, Butler, and many others. Cromwell has
near him Milton, Marvell, Ireton, and other leaders in those stormy days. From
these austere faces, we pass to the days of the Merry Monarch. Pepys is there,
and Rochester with his pet monkey; Samuel Butler, Dr. Busby. Dryden, and
Wycherl’e(y. We see, too, on the walls the originals of Richardson's Pope, of
Godfrey Kneller's Gay, of Sir Joshua Reynolds's Burke and Blackstone, Admiral
Boscawen, and himself. The great Chesterfield (the ideal of a scholar and an
aristocrat he looks) gazes at us out of Allan Ramsay'’s canvas, and Lady Hamilton
smiles seductively in George Romney's.

Coming down to our own century, Sir Thomas Lawrence shows us Thomas
Campbell, Samuel Rogers, Kemble, Mrs. Siddons ; Severn gives us his friend, Keats,
and Peter Vandyke, Coleridge and Southey (his great ancestor, Sir Antony Van Dyck,
is represented by a fine portrait of Sir' Kenelm Digby). By Landseer, we have
;;)hn Allen and Sir Walter Scott ; by Fohn Opie, Bartolozzi, Fuseli, and himself ; by

'ickersgill, Wordsworth and Hannah More; by Raeburn, Francis Homer and
Henry Mackenzie; by Ary Scheffer, Dickens ; by Samuel Laurence, Thackeray; by
Bonomi, Livingstone ; by Sir Frederick Burton, George Eliot ; by Talfourd, Eliza-
beth Barrett Browning ; by Boeltm, Gordon and Napier, Bright and Beaconsfield.

In other rooms we find portraits of Nelson, Lord Clive, Wolfe, Wellington, and
others, who have fought their country’s battles, and so on down to the latest and
more pacific times, represented by the work of Watts, Millais, and contemporary
:‘arﬁftss. with portraits of Rossetti, Tennyson, Cardinal Manning, Carlyle, and
R. L. Stevenson.
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THE CHAPEL ROYAL, ST. JAMES'S.

EXCURSION 1.
THE PALACES AND “CLUBLAND.”

E meet to-day at Charing Cross. Crossing Trafalgar Square,

and walking through SPRING GARDENS, where, as already

noted (sec p. 70), the County Council for London have their head-
quarters, we make our way into—

St. James’s Park.
[Map I.: M 12, 13.]
Cab Fares: From Broad Street, Fenchurch Street, King’s Cross, Liverpool Street,
London Bridge, or St. Pancras stations—1/6.
From Cannon Street, Charing Cross, Euston, Holborn Viaduct, Victoria, or
‘Waterloo stations—1/-.
Nearest Railway Stations: Charing Cross or St. James's Park.
St. James's, one of the oldest and prettiest of the London Parks, has
pleasant associations for Cockneys in general and is connected with
many of the historical events which have marked the progress of
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Old England. Up to the reign of Henry VIIL, it was a marsh,
sufficiently distant from London to have a hospital for lepets 6n’ its
northern boundary. But that monarch purchased the hospital and
the adjoining land (for once, he appears to have refrained from his
usually free and easy mode of “requisitioning ” them);, and built
‘himself a country residence on the site of the former ; he drained
the marsh, surrounded it by a high wall, and made a deer-park of
it. Charles II., who played at paille-maille (a- game which he
learned during his involuntary exile in France) on the broad path
now known as the Mall, employed a French gardener, Le Notre by
name, to lay it out ; but it was far from being the pleasant place
which we know it to be till George IV. commissioned Nash to im-
prove its objectionable features out of sight and make it a *“thing of
beauty and a joy for ever.” The park, which covers an area of
about ninety acres has, extending nearly its entire length, a sheet
of ornamental water, with an island in the centre—the home and
breeding place of the beautiful water-fowl, who live and move- and
have their being on the lake ; the water is spanned by a light iron
suspension bridge. In cold wintry months it is now the home
of thousands of sea-gulls. On the eastern extremity is the Parade
Ground of the Horse Guards; on the west, Buckingham Palace
rears its imposing and magnificent front ; to the south, is BIRDCAGE
. WALK, another name derived from the use to which it was put
by Charles the Merry, who kept a number of birds in the cages
he placed here ; and its northern side is traversed by the MALL
already referred to, a broad road, some half mile in length, which
runs from Spring Gardens to Buckingham Palace.

Scarcely have we entered the Park gate, when we see, on our
right, a flight of broad steps, leading to Waterloo Place, with the
Duke of York’s Column at their head. As we intend to leave the
park by these steps, we need not stop to notice them now. Con-
tinuing our walk westward, we pass the back of—

Marlborough House,

built in 1707-10, by Wren, for the great Duke of Marlborough, who
kept up in it an establishment which eclipsed that of *neighbour
George,” as the noted Sarah, the general’s spouse, was fond of
calling the first king of that name. The duke died init, and the
house was purchased in 1817 for Princess Charlotte and Prince
Leopold, subsequently King of the Belgians, who, after the death
of his consort, resided here for several years. On the decease of
William IV, it became the abode of the Dowager Queen Adelaide,
and it was the town residence of the King while Prince of Wales.
During its occupation by the Prince another storey was added to the
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elevation, and it has been improved in other respects. The collection
of paintings and the School of Design, at South Kensington, both
originated in the palace, as also did the Vernon Gallery of pictures
(now in the National Gallery), the nucleus of the former being
housed here up to the year 1889.

Separated from it by the road leading into Pall Mall, is—

St. James’s Palace

[(Map I.: M 12], .
which occupies the site of the leper hospital already referred to.
The palace which Holbein built for Henry VIII. was known as the
‘“ Mansion House ” ; and did not become the official residence of the
sovereign of Great Britain and Ireland till the destruction of White-
hall in the reign of William of Orange. But very little of the
old palace now remains, even the gateway, through which Anne
Boleyn (of whom the initials, H. A,, above the chimney of the
Presence Chamber, are a reminder) rode so blithesomely to gather
hawthorn blossoms in the Kensington Woods, having given place
to the handiwork of later times. For, in 1809, a fire destroyed the
eastern wing; and now all that is left of Henry VIIL’s edifice are
its entrance from St. James's Street, the Presence Chamber, in which
State functions are frequently held, and the Chapel Royal. It is by
no means easy to obtain access to the State Apartments, which con-
tain many valuable works of art, and are beautifully furnished ;
but the change of the guard, at 1045 a.m. daily, with the accom-
panying “trooping of the colours,” is viewed at one time or
another by most Londoners. The ceremony is sufficiently pic-
turesque to justify the interest it excites ; it takes place in the outer
court—variously known as the Colour Court and as Marlborough Court.

The palace is full of the memories of vanished kings and queens, soldiers and
statesmen, and the leaders of the gay life of byggne generations. Here lived at
times, not only Henry VIIL, but Edward VL. and Elizabeth ; to St. James's, Queen
Mary retired during the absence of her husband and under itsroof she died. It was
the home of Charles I. in his happier years ; here several of his children were born,
and on the moming of his execution he attended divine service in its chapel, walk-
ing thence through the Park, guarded by a regiment of foot and partisans, to the
scaffold at Whitehall. Hither, too, his children were brought from Sion House
to take that affecting farewell of their fattier which has been a favourite subject for
the painters of more than one country. Monk lived at St. Jaines's while he brought
about thé Restoration; and in what is now the ante-chamber to the Levée-room
was born the Old Pretender, of whom, twenty years later, his father’s kingdom
heard so much and saw so little, the fact of the bed standing close to the back
of the stairs being one of the favourite arguments adduced by those who
contended that the prince was not the son of his mother, but was conveyed
to the royal chamber in a warming pan. James II. slept in the palace the
night before his coronation, and from it he started on that flight from which
he never returned ; and William of Orange made it his temporary home. until
his lease of the ngﬁsb throne was fully secured to him and his spouse. It
was the residence Queen Anne and her husband, and in their time the scene
of many a famous State function. Most of the Georges lived in St. Jamnes's. Here,
in 1727, e 1. gave a banquet to the entire Court of Common Council ; and in

one of the the “ Rake's Progress” we have a glimpse of the great folks
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arriving in chairs and glass coaches to pafy their re&cm to the consort of George
1L, on her birthday, as was then the fashio: rge III. was married at St.

ames's, and lived there until Windsor 5rew more in favour. In the palace, George

V. was born, and in the Chapel Royal, he was named ; William IV. and Queen
Adelaide made it their principal residence, and often entertained royal personages
within its walls. The building has been less distinguished during the present
reign, the Queen using it only for courts, levées, and other ceremonies. But
it witnessed her accession to the throne, and her marriage and those of some of
her daughters were celebrated in its chapel royal ; and if Windsor, Osborne, and
Balmoral have been her principal homes, in the language of official documents, the
palace is still “ Our Court of St. James's,” to which ambassadors have, since 1697, been
accredited. The Duchess of Cambridge died in it in 1889 ; and in 1893, a portion .of
the palace (known as York House) became the town house of the Duke of York.
Here a Privy Council was held on the 23rd of January, 1901, the day succeeding the
death of Queen Victoria, in order that the oath might be administered to the new King.

8t. James’s Chapel Royal, which is entered beneath the Clock
Tower, on the northern side of the Colour Court, is worth visiting,
if only to inspect its beautiful ceiling by Holbein. There are three
services on Sundays—at 10.0, 12.0, and 5.30s The earlier service is
open lto the public ; to the other two, a few strangers are admitted by
ticket, to be oblaincd from the Lord Chamberlain, whose official
address is * Stable Yard, St. Famcs's Palace,” or from the Bishop of
London, in his capacity of dean of the Chapel Royal.

Clarence House (the town house of the late Grand Duke of
Saxe-Coburg-Gotha, and formerly that of his grandmother, the
Duchess of Kent) is a neat and unpretending, though well-designed
structure ; it adjoins St. James’s Palace on the west, and is partially
connected with it.

The German Chapel Royal stands at the side of the palace,
adjoining Marlborough House ; it is a portion of the St. James's
Palace, and dates from the accession of the House of Hanover to
the throne. An English service takes place in it on Sunday morning.
.v8tafford House, or as it is sometimes erroneously called, Suther-
land House, the residence of the Duke of Sutherland, lies to the
west of the palace. It has been well described as, ‘perhaps,
the finest private mansion in London ” ; and on its walls is a col-
lection of valuable paintings, which are shown to the public at limes
in the summer, on application to the Duke's private secretary.

Bridgewater House, the town-house of the Earl of Ellesmere, is
immediately behind Stafford House. It, too, has a noted picture
gallery, to which admission is sparingly grantcd on Wednesdays and
Saturdays, worth visiting, for it contains many choice paintings.
The chief entrance to the mansion is from CLEVELAND SQUARE to
the north of CLEVELAND Row the western extension of Pall Mall ;
which also contains Spencer House, the residence of Earl Spencer.
.- These and other mansions overlook—

The Green Park
(Map 1. : M 11-12],
at one time known as Upper St. Fames's, It adjoins St. James's



THE GREEN PARK—BUCKINGHAM PALACE. 97

Park on the north, and extends to the south side of Piccadilly,
where there are some shrubberies and flower-beds. Otherwise, its
name well describes the park, about sixty acres of greensward, con-
sidered one of the most salubrious localities in London. The
QUEEN’S WALK runs along its eastern border, and CONSTITUTION
HiLL, on the west side, on which road three attempts have been
made to assassinate the Queen, separates it from the gardens of—

Buckingham Palace.
Cab Fares: From Broad Street, Fenchurch Street, or Liverpool Street stations—2/-,

From Cannon Street, Euston, Holborn Viaduct, King’s Cross, London Bridge,

E.ll(ligate Hill, Mansion House, Monument, Paddington, or St. Pancras stations

From Charing Cross, Victoria, or Waterloo stations—i/-.

Nearest Railway Stations : St. James’s Park and Victoria.

This large edifice obtained its name from a mansion erected in
1703, by John Sheffield, Duke of Buckingham. George III. pur-
chased it about sixty years afterwards, his large family making St.
James’s too small for him; and in 1825, his son and successor,
George IV., commissioned his favourite architect, Nash, to remove
the old building and erect a new palace on the site. It was com-
pleted in due course, though not till the close of the reign of its
projector. William IV. disliked the new edifice, and, as already
stated, made St. James’s his residence ; and it was not occupied by
royalty until 1837, when Queen Victoria chose it as her town house.
The east front, the best part of the edifice, which overlooks St.
James's Park, was erected in 1846 by Mr. Blore, whose designs
were supervised by Prince Albert ; it is three hundred and sixty
feet long and seventy feet high, and cost £150,000. At the same
time, another storey was added to the rest of the palace. The
gardens, wherein is a large sheet of ornamental water, and
the private chapel of the palace and other edifices, extend back-
ward to Grosvenor Place, northward to Constitution Hill, and
southward to Buckingham Palace Road. Court balls, concerts,
drawing-rooms, and levées take place here, its rooms being more
spacious and more convenient of access than those of St. James's,
albeit it lacks the prestige of the older palace.

The interior has some very handsome features. The portico opensinto a spacious
hall, the floor whereof is of variegated marble ; it is surrounded by a double row of
veined white marble columns, with gilded bases and capitals. The Queen’s private
apartments are in the northern portion of the palace. The Grand Staircase, of
white marble, is ably carried out, both as to dimensions and decoration. The Ball
Room is spacious and splendid. The Green Drawing Room is a fine apartment, ﬁftljlr
feet long. The Throne Room is sixty-four feet in length, handsomely draped wit!
crimson satin. The arched ceiling is richly emblazoned ; and the white marble
frieze was designed by Stothard and executed by Baily. The Picture y a
hundred and eight feet long, contains a small but choice collection of paintings,
chiefly Dutch and Flemish. Among the gems of the collection, are : “ A Ship-
builder, intent on a design, interrupted by his wife, bringing a letter " (Remébrandt)
(No. 10), which George IV., when %rince of Wales, bought for £5.000. *“Noli me

8
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tangere” (41; J. de Decker, a friend of Rembrandt, the painter of this picture,
composed a sonnet. in its praise). “Lady writing a letter” (Terdurg) (40), and
“Card-players” (de Hooge) (22)—both chefs d'aeuvre of the masters, others, by
Cuyp, Hooghe Hals, Claude Lorraine, Maas, Metzu, Potter, Rembrandt, Rubens,
Tenniers, Terburg, Titian, Van der Veld, Van Dyck, Van Ostade, Van Ruysdael,
Zottany, &c., are well worth notice ; as are also Si» Foshua Reynolds's * Death
of Dido,” “Cymn and Iphigenia,” &c. and two of Wilkids pictures. In the

ini are some portraits of English sovereigns, many of them by Gains-
borough; and the walls of one of the adjoining rooms display some of Lord
Leighton's chefs-d'eeuvre. The Ball Room, erected in 1856, was designed by Penne-
thorne and decorated by Griiner ; and the Chapel, not far from it, took the place
of a conservatary, and was consecrated in 1843. The latter has been the scene of
some royal marriages and baptisms. The last of the former was the wedding of
Princess Maud of Wales, in July, 1896. Buckingham Palace was the starting-place
of the historic procession to St. Paul’s on the occasion of Queen Victoria's Diamond
gubilee, 1897. A Summer House, in the gardens, and the ceiling of the Marble

i are adorned with frescoes.

The Royal Mews,* or Stables, and the Riding House are situated
in BUCKINGHAM PALACE RoAD, to the south of the palace. The
former, which cover three and a half acres, were built in 1824.
They are entered by a Doric archway, supporting a clock-tower ;
and are hidden from the gardens by a mound. Here are kept the
gilt state coach, with paintings by Cipriani (it cost £7,660), about
forty other carriages, and the royal stud. The public are not
admitted to view any portion of the Palace; but permission can be
obtained to sec the Stables, by an application to the Master of the
Horse.

8t. Peter's Church, Pimlico, next to the Royal Stables, is an old
conventicle-like structure, which presents to the street a mean-
looking gable-end, surmounted by a bell-turret, of the pepper-box
order. The interior is in keeping with the outward appearance. A
deep gallery runs round three of its sides; and on the fourth is
a square recess, sunk in the wall, and serving as a sanctuary.
But the rich decorations on the “high altar,” and the cross and
that over the principal door (outside}, proclaim the fact that its
services are of an “ advanced ” description. This church is note-
worthy from the fact that it was the last connected with the Church
of England in which the late Cardinal Manning worshipped.

On the south side of the ornamental water, fronting BIRDCAGE
WALK (see p. 94), and separated from the palace by BUCKINGHAM
GATE, which spans the end of Buckingham Palace Road, are the
Wellington Barracks, built in 1834, in which a battalion of house--
hold troops is always quartered. Attached to them, is the Guards’
Chapel, erected from the designs of Mr. G. E. Street, between
1877 and 1879. The exterior is Doric in style, with four colossal
fluted columns at the front, and the interior is in imitation of
Lombard architecture. It is very rich in mosaics (memorials of

* The name “mews,” applied to stables in the West-End of London, is a survival
of falconry—the birds being kept in mews, or coops.
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departed Guardsmen), those over the chancel arch being the gift
of Queen Victoria, “to the glory of God, and the memory of the
Guards who have died for their country.” Here and there, tattered
and torn, are the flags carried or captured at Waterloo and in the
course of the Crimean campaign. The services at 8.0, 10.30, 11.30,
and 6.30, are very hearty; but the building is so filled by the
soldiers and their friends that, to secure a seat, a stranger must get
there early. The chapel is open for inspection on Tuesdays, Thurs-
days, and Saturdays, from eleven till four.

And now, crossing the ornamental water by the Suspension
Bridge, a modern addition rendered necessary by the increasing
use of the park, we leave it by Waterloo Steps, leading to Waterloo
Place, the broad flight we noticed as we entered its gate (see p. 94).
We stop at their head to examine, and maybe to ascend (for it con-
tains a spiral staircase by which, in the suimmer, visitors are permitted
to reach the gallery, on payment of sixpence), the Column in memory
of the Duke of York, the second son of George III., erected at a
cost of £30,000, the result of a subscription. It is a hundred and
twenty-three feet high, and of Tuscan design ; and it is surmounted
by a bronze statue of the Duke, by Westmacott. Running right and
left from the top of the steps, is Carlton House Terrace, which has
been the home of several distinguished individuals, among others,
the late Right Hon. W. E. Gladstone. Prussia House, on our left,
as we leave the column (and therefore to the west), is the official
abode of the German ambassador. The southern portion of—

Waterloo Place

(the wide area which extends from the column, across Pall Mall, to
the foot of Regent Street) was for a long time known as Carlton
Gardens, because it occupies the site of Carlton House (the
memory of which is kept alive by the name, Carlton House
Terrace), built by Lord Carlton in 1709, and successively the
residence of Frederick, Prince of Wales, the father of George
111., and of George IV., when Prince of Wales.

Waterloo Place rivals Trafaigar Square in the number of its
monuments to England’s heroes. Right in front of us (in the
centre of the southern portion of the place) is Boehm's Equestrian
Statue of Lord Napier of .Magdala (who died in 1890) ; it was un-
veiled by the Prince of Wales in 1891. On our left, to the east are :
A Statue of Colin Campbell, Lord Clyde, the conqueror of Lucknow,
who died in 1863 (the work of Marochetti—it stands on a circular
pedestal of granite, at the foot of which is a figure of Britannia,
seated on the British lion, and holding a twig of laurel) ; and
Bochm's 8tatue of Lord Lawrence, who died in 1879, the Governor
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» of the Punjab during the Muliny, and afterwards (1864-9) Viceroy
of India. Facing this, standing on a pedestal of bright-coloured
granite is another monument by Boekm, a Statue of Field-Marshal
8ir John Burgoyne, who died in 1871 ; and opposite that of Lord
Clyde, stands Noble's Statue of 8ir John Pranklin. This was erected
by Parliament, to quote its inscription, “ to the great Arctic navigator
and his brave companions, who sacrificed their lives in completing
the discovery of the North-West Passage, A.D. 1847-48." The
bronze relief on the front of the pedestal is a representation of the
burial of the remains of the expedition, and the names of the crews
of the Erebus and Terror, the ships commanded by Franklin on
this occasion, are inscribed on the sides of the monument. All
these statues are in bronze.

The centre of the northern half of Waterloo Place is occupied by
the Crimean Monument, a beautiful group of statuary, commemora-
tive of the soldiers belonging to the regiments of Guards who fell
in the Crimean War. Executed by Bell, it consists of a figure of
Victory, holding in each hand wreaths of laurel. At the base, on
the Pall Mall front, are life-sized figures of three Guardsmen ; at
the back, are guns from Sebastopol ; and on the sides, are engraved
the words, “ Alma,” “ Inkerman,” and “ Sebastopol.”

% * % * s %

We are now in the very heart of “ Club-land,” a region which has
no parallel in any other part of the civilised world.

Pall Mall.
[(Map L.: M 12, I. 12-13.]

Cab Fares: From Broad Street, Cannon Street, Fenchurch Street, King's Cross,
Liverpool Street, London Bridge, Mansion House, Paddington, or St. Pancras
stations—1/6.

From Charing Cross, Euston, Holborn Viaduct, Ludgate Hill, Victoria, or Water-
loo stations—1/-.

Nearest Railway Stations: Charing Cross and St. James's Park.

The name is a survival of the game played in St. James’s Park by
Charles II. and his merry associates. It is a short street, as streets
go in London ; but it is an important one. Running from the foot of
the Haymarket (sce pp. 76-7) to St. James’s Palace, it contains not
only the official palace of the English sovereign and the town
houses of her two eldest sons, but many abodes of the rich and
titled and the centres of much of the political activity of our land.
We reach it not far from its eastern end. Close to, at the right hand
corner of Waterloo Place, is the United Bervice Club, built in 1828,
from the designs of Nash. It has a Roman Doric portico, with

~ columns of the Corinthian order, supporting a massive pediment.
Its members are connected with the military and naval services,
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which apparently have a large number of “clubable” representa-
tives, for at the opposite side of the street, at the corner of George
Street, is the Army and Navy Club, and at the corner of Charles Street
and Regent Street (a few yards from Pall Mall), is the Junior United
Service Club. The former club occupies a very handsome building
in the Venetian style, the Palazzo Cornaro and the Library of St.
Mark’s having furnished models.

At the north-western corner of Waterloo Place, is the Athensum
Club, the members of which are mostly distinguished in literature
and science, either as authors or patrons of literature. There is an
extensive and valuable library, in addition to the ordinary features
of a first-rate club. The building, which was completed in 1829
and cost nearly £35,000, was designed by Decimus Burton. On its
principal front, is a frieze, reproduced from the fragments of the
frieze of the Parthenon at Athens, now at the British Museum ;
and over the portico, is a large figure of Minerva, by Bailey.

The Travellers’ Club adjoins the Athenzum. It is Italian in style,
and was built in 1832, from designs by Barry, the architect of the
Houses of Parliament. The club was originated, in 1819, by Lord
Castlereagh, and its members must be gentlemen who have travelled
at least a thousand miles in a direct line from London.

Barry was also the designer of the Reform Club, which we next
reach, a very successful reproduction of the Italian palazzo. The
club was established by Liberal members of Parliament at the time
* of the Reform agitation ; hence its name. Its present home was
completed in 1839. The great hall, with its surrounding galleries,
is justly considered one of the best imitations of Italian work ; and
its exterior, though simple, is worthy of the street it faces.

Just beyond the Reform Club, is the rival palace of the other
great political party, the Carlton Club. The club is the resort of most
of the “blue blood ” of the kingdom ; and, as befits its character, is
housed in a superb edifice. This was originally built in the Grecian
style, from the designs of Sir R. Smirke, but nearly reconstructed in
1847 by his brother, Sydney, who adopted the Italian style. The
facade, a hundred and thirty feet long, is to a considerable extent
an imitation of the library of St. Mark, at Venice. It is ornamented
by a double range of pillars, of polished Peterhead granite, which
have a very striking effect. We must look across the road for the
Junior Carlton Club, built in 1869 for the accommodation of gentle-
men, attached to the Conservative party, who could not belong to
the older club.

The Marlborough Club, of a social character, is small and very
select, some of the Princes being members of it.

On the south side of Pall Mall, beyond the Carlton Club, is the’
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War Office, formerly the residence of the Duke of Cumberland,
brother of George III. Inthe quadrangle, is a bronze Statue, by
Foley, of Lord Herbert of Lea, better known as Mr. Sydney Herbert,
Secretary of State for War, who died in 1861. The offices of the
Commander-in-chief adjoin it ; and a little further on, on_the same
side of the street, is the Oxford and Cambridge Club, the members
of which are, as its name implies, men who have studied at
one of those great universities. - The Guards’ Club, coming next
in order, is unpretending in appearance. Marlborough House
(see pp. 94-5) has an entrance to Pall Mall

We have already visited St. James’s Palace and the neighbouring
royal residences, and Stafford House and its art treasures, and with
them we exhaust the features of Pall Mall ; but before leaving it, it
would be well to note that the Fremch Gallery, where there are
frequently exhibitions of very choice pictures, is on the south side
of the road, three doors from the United Service Club. In this
street, and those running out of it, are several handsome banks and
insurance offices, and the head-quarters of some of those beneficent
and charitable institutions and religious socicties which are the
glory of our land.

St. James’s Street
[(Map I.: L-M 12),

which connects Pall Mall, opposite St. James’s Palace, with
Piccadilly, contains most of* the older clubs. Strolling up this
famous street, we first notice, at No. 86, on our right, the Thatched
House Club (a modern one—it only dates from 1865), the members
of which belong to the Civil Service. A few doors further on, at
the corner of Little St. James’s Street, which runs for a short dis-
tance to the west, is the Conservative Club, founded in 1834. The
building, erected in 1849 on the site of the “ Old Thatched House
Tavern,” is in the Palladian style of architecture, from the designs
of Sydney Smirke and George Basavi. In the interior, are fine
encaustic paintings by Sang. Arthur’s Club, a little further on, was
established in 1765, but its present house dates from 1811 ; and
nearly opposite, at the corner of King Street, by which presently
we shall make our way to St. James's Square, is the Junior
Army and Navy Club, founded in 1869, as an overflow from the
other clubs in which the members of *the services ” meet.

Some few doors further, at the corner of YORK PLACE, on the
jeft-hand side of the road, is one of the famous old clubs, Brooks's.
It was established in 1764, under the auspices of Fox and other
leading. Whig politicians. It was not, like the modern clubs, a
joint-stock undertaking, but proprietary—in fact, a tavern of a high
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class. The first owner was Almack (who established the celebrated
rooms in King Street) ; and then came Brookes, whose name it
bears.

At 63, at the one corner of BLUE BALL YARD, is the Royal
Societies Club. At 64, at the other corner, we find the Cocoa Tree
Club, a social association, established in 1746. <

Seven doors further up, is the New University Club, established in
1863, its premises extending backward to ARLINGTON STREET, in
which is the town residence of the Marquis of Salisbury ; and
nearly at the top of the street, the “local habitation ” of the Devon-
shire Club, commenced in 1873, for the accommodation of gentlemen
belonging to the Liberal party. We are now near PICCADILLY—a
street down which we propose riding to-morrow, and crossing St.
James’s Street, we see the front door of White’s Club, first opened
in 1730, for years a favourite resort of Tory politicians, and, as the
eighteenth century reached its end, famous for gambling. It is
now a sedate non-political club.

JERMYN STREET, just below White’'s, named after Henry
{_(larmyn, Earl of St. Albans, connects St. James’s Street with the

aymarket, crossing Regent Street, on its way. In it, are the
offices of the Geological Survey, the Museum of Pracueal Geology,
and the School of Mines (all three under the same roof), and the
head-quarters of the Royal Society for the Prevention of Cruelty
to Animals, This street is noted for its good hotels and
fashionable lodging-houses, as well as for its Turkish baths,
the Hammam. BURY STREET, running from it southward to
King Street, was the residence, at different dates, of Tom Moore,
Crabbe, Daniel O’ Connell, Steele and Swift.

The Museum of Practical Geologycontams a fine collection of mineral speci-
mens, marbles, statues, mosaics, y and

various processes in metal fusmg. &c., together “with maps and many other

illustrations of geology and its collaterals. Lectures are given here in a well-fitted

and commodious theatre. The museum is open gratustously from ten to four,
except on Fridays.

Boodle’s Club, at 28, St. James’s Street, at first named the * Savoir
Vivre,” or “ Know-how-to-live,” Club, founded in 1762, was a great
resort for bon vivants, who ate, drank, grumbled, and betted to their
hearts’ content. It is now chiefly frequented by country gentlemen,
and has a reputation for sociability and comfort.

KING STREET, the next turning eastward, contains 8t. James's
Theatre (Mr. George Alexander's), originally built in 1835 and
almost entirely reconstructed in 189g9. Much additional space has
been gained by abolishing all but two of the boxes. In King Street
also are Willis's Rooms, known in connection with balls, concerts,
and public dinners, and when entitled Almack’s, the resort of the
most exclusive fashionable society, to be admitted to which was
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a joy indeed to the parvenu * ; Christie and Manson’s Auction Rooms,
where the great sales of works of art and bric-a-brac take place ;
and the Orleans Club, founded in 1877. This street leads us into—

. St. James’s Square
[(Map I.: L-M 12},
which was built "in 1700; it contains an equestrian Statue of
William ITL, by Bacon, erected in 1717. George III. was bern in
this square, which, crowded as it is with aristocratic mansions,
demands the first honour among the squares of London. The
Duke of Norfolk, the Duke of Cleveland, the Marquis of Bristol, the
Earl of Rosebery, the Earl of Falmouth, the Earl of Derby, and the
Bishops of London and Winchester have their town mansions here.
At its south-west corner, is a portion of the Army and Navy Club,

a large part of the south side being occupied by the rear of the -

Junior Carlton Club. The East India United Service, the Windham,
and the Portland Clubs have also their “local habitations” in the
square. The London Library was totally reconstructed in 1898, and
an addition made on the north side at a cost of about £17,000. This
well-known institution is simply invaluable to literary men, and,
indeed, to all lovers of good books. There are at present about
180,000 volumes on the shelves, but additions are made at the rate
of 5,000 a year. Each member of the library pays a subscription
of £3 a year, and if residing in London is entitled to take ten
volumes at a time, and retain them two months, the country sub-
scribers being entitled to fifteen volumes. An extra subscription
of £1 yearly gives the subscriber the right to be supplied within
three days with any new book, provided the committee have already
added one copy to the library. The rooms of the celebrated Kennel
Club, to which dog-fanciers owe so much, are to be found in CLEVE-
LAND Row, which runs out of the square. .

We can reach Regent Street and the Haymarket by CHARLES
STREET, which runs eastward from St. James’s Square, and return
to CHARING CRoss, our starting-point, either by that route, by pro-
ceeding to PALL MALL and retracing our steps thither, or by making
our way to PICCADILLY, vid YORK STREET (which runs thither from
the north side of the square). - .

* The portraits of the members of the celebrated Dilettante 8ociety, who met at
the old Thatched House Tavern and dined together on Sunday evenings, may yet
be seen in Willis’s Rooms, whither they were removed when the tavern was pulled

down (see p. 103), since which time the society meets occasionally there. Reynolds,
who was himself a member of the club, painted three of the portraits.

e
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THE IMPERIAL INSTITUTE.

EXCURSION I11.
CHARING CROSS TO KENSINGTON.

O-DAY, we shall make acquaintance with Piccadilly and its

aristocratic surroundings, with Hyde Park and Kensington
Gardens, and see all there is to be seen in a hasty visit of Ken-
sington Palace, the birthplace of Queen Victoria, the South Kensington
and Natural History Museums, the Albert Hall, the Imperial
Institute, and the many other institutions in the neighbourhood.
We must take one of the ’'buses plying between Charing Cross
and Kensington. In a year or two it will be possible to proceed
from Piccadilly Circus to the South Kensington District Station
by a deep - level -electric railway. The line will be two
miles in length, and there will be intermediate stations at Bond
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Street, Hyde Park Corner, Knightsbridge Road Corner, and
the Oratory. The line will connect at Piccadilly Circus with
the Waterloo and Baker Street line, thus tapping the Metro-
politan Railway, with its Harrow and other extensions, as well as
the London and South-Western. It will also connect with the
Charing Cross, Euston, and Hampstead Railway, when that is
completed.

Driving along COCKSPUR STREET and the southern portion of
REGENT STREET, we soon reach PicCADILLY CIRCUS, alrzady visited
in our First Excursion. Then we turn westward along—

Piccadilly.
(Map I.: M 11-12, L 12.]

Cab Fares : From Broad Street or Liverpool Street stations, 2/-.
From Cannon Street, Fenchurch Street, King's Cross, London Bridge, Mansion
House, or St. Pancras stations, 1/6.
From Charing Cross, Euston, Holborn Viaduct, Ludgate Hill, Paddington,
Victoria, or Waterloo Stations, 1/-.

Nearest Railway Stations : Charing Cross and St. James's Park.

The Circus is an Omnibus Centre, from which any part of London may be
reached by the expenditure of a few pence. The Railway Stations at
Baker Street, Portland Road and Charing Cross are connected ‘with Piccadilly
Circus by railway omnibuses—the Metropolitan, distinguished by the large
umbrella over the “box seat’’ ; the District, by the sun-dial.

Piccadilly, one of the most noted streets in London, is nearly a
mile long and, in one respect, is the most attractive thoroughfare in
London, for, in its western portion, it skirts the Green Park. The
footway on that side is lined with trees; and, the situation being
elevated, a charming view is commanded over the park. The road-
way is broad, the shops handsome, and some of the most aristocratic
mansions in the metropolis abut on it. There are a number of
much-frequented restaurants and tea-rooms at the commencement
of the street. We see, on the right, one of the entrances to
8t. James’s Hall, which we hope to visit to-morrow during our
walk up Regent Street ; and on the other side of the way, is the
Museum of Practical Geology and School of Mines, the entrance
to which is (as we noted yesterday—see p. 104) in Jermyn
Street. Then we pass 8t. James’s Church, which was built in
1644. The exterior has nothing worthy of note, save the tower
and spire, a hundred and fifty feet high; but the interior,
divided into a nave and aisles by beautiful Corinthian columns,
ranks among Sir Christopher Wren's best works, and Grinling
Gibbons’ carvings on the font and in the chancel are excellent.
The font, of white marble, is nearly five feet high, and its basin is
six feet round.

Six doors further west, is the gallery of the Institute of Painters
in 0il Colours; and adjoining it, that of the Royal Institute of
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Painters in Water Colours. In the latter, two exhibitions (admission,
one shilling) are held annually. On the ground floor, is the Prince’s
Hall Restaurant. :

SACKVILLE STREET, on the other side of the way, noted for its
hatters and tailors, leads to Vigo Street (which see); and the
Albany, the next turning westward, was once the residence of the
first Lord Melbourne, and then of the Duke of York and Albany ;
but it has been, for a long time, divided into suites of chambers.
These have been occupied by many eminent men, among them
Byron, Canning, Matthew (Monk) Lewis, Bulwer Lytton, and
Macaulay. At its head, is SAVILE Row and the head-quarters of
the Royal Geographical Bociety. Adjoining the Albany, is—

Burlington House,

in which the Royal Academy of Arts and several learned societies
find a home. In its spacious rooms are the libraries and meeting-
places of the Royal Society, the Royal Astronomical Society, the
Society of Antiquaries, and the Geological, Chemical, and Linnaean
Societies. The original Burlington House was erected by Richard
Boyle, Earl of Burlington, aided by Kemp, the landscape gardener.
The house and grounds were purchased by Government in 1854
for £140,000, and an additional storey erected.

The lchyll Bociety was commenced in 1660 and incorporated by Charles II. in
3663, the first ber of its “ Philosophical Transactions” being published in 1665.
1t is thus the oldest, as well as the most important, of the learned societies. It was
established at Gresham House, in Bishopsga)\te Street, and its first premises were in
Crane Court, Fleet Street. It removed to Somerset House in 1780, and to its present
home in 1857. On the shelves of its library, there are about fifty thousand books
and five thousand manusc;iits; and its rooms contain some fine portraits—notably
those of Halley ( Thomas Murray), Sir Isaac Newton (¥ervas), Pepys and Sir Hans
Sloane ( Kneller); and Martin l?;)lkes (Hogarth). There are likewise several busts
of distinguished fellows of past ages, and other interesting objects, such as a
telescope, once the property of Newton, the original model of Davy’s safety
lamp, and so forth. Admission by order of a Fellow.

The Geologioal , established in 1807 and incorporated in 1825, possesses an
interesting museum and a library, whick may be visited between ten and five o'clock
any day, by introduction from a member. i

The obje;: of the Chemical is “ the promotion of chemistry and of those

hes of sci ,

ted with it.’
The locuts of Antiquaries was estat d in 1707, and, like the Royal Society, at
one time held its meetings at Somerset House. It removed to Burlington House in
187, Admission can be obtained on written application to the secretary.

e Royal Astronomiocal was founded in 1820 ; and the Li
(established for the promotion of the study of botany and zoology) in 1788. The
library of the last named, which includes the books, &c., belonging to the celebrated
Swedish naturalist, Li from whom the society took its name, was removed to

Burlington House, from Soho Square, in 1856.

The Royal Academy of Arts

occupies the northern portion of Burlington House, separated by a
courtyard from the rooms occupied by the other learned societies.
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It was built from the plans of Sydney Smirke, and is in the Renais-
sance style of architecture, in keeping with the design of the rest of
the buildings. On its facade are statuettes of Phidias, Leonardo
da Vinci, Michael Angelo, Raffaelle, Titian, William of Wykeham,
Wren, and Flaxman. The Royal Academy, which was established
in 1760, occupied a portion of the National Gallery from its erection
in 1838 till 1868—9, when it removed to its present spacious and
handsome apartments. The annual exhibition of pictures by living
artists instituted by this celebrated sodiety—commencing in May
and continuing to the end of July—is among the chief features of
the London season. There is, also, a Winter Exhibition of Old
Masters. Admission to either cxhibition, one shilling ; catalogucs,
one shilling. Admission to the lecture rooms, schools of art, &c.,
may be gained by application to the keeper.

Three Galleries, above the exhibition rooms, are open daily—free—from eleven
till four. They contain, besides the paintings presented to the Academy by fellows
on their election, the Gib Collection of pt and some valuable specimens
of early Masters. Among the latter, the gems are : “ Mary, with Jesus and St. John™
(Michael Angelo); “Madonna and the Holy Child and St. Anna” (cartoon by Leo-
nardo da Vinci); the copy of Leonardo's “ Last Supper” (by Marcio d’Oggiono),
which in its time formed the original of Morghen's well-known engraving, &c. The
Library is on the first floor.

Behind the Royal Academy, and occupying the northern part of
the gardens of the old mansion, are the former headquarters of
the University of London, a fine building in the Italian style,
designed by Pennethorne, the principal front of which is two
hundred and thirty feet long. Above the portico, are figures of
Milton, Newton, Harvey, and Bentham, by Durham ; upon the
entablature, Plato, Archimedes, and Justinian, by Woodington, and
Cicero, Galen, and Aristotle, by Westmacott; on the western
wing, Locke, Bacon, and Adam Smith, by Theed, and Hume,
Hunter, and Davy, by Noble; on the eastern wing, Galileo,
Laplace, and Goethe, by Wyon, and Cuvier, Leibnitz, and Linnaeus,
by Macdowell. In the interior, are a splendid saloon for meet-
ings, and various examination and other rooms. The University
removed to the Imperial Institute early in 1goo. .

Burlington Arcade, on the western side of Burlington House, is a
long covered avenue, lined with shops, and a very favourite resort.
Nearly opposite to it, is the Egyptian Hall, with large figures at the
entrance, and well known for its magical entertainments.

The next street on the right-hand side of Piccadilly is OLD BoND
STREET, which, with Albemarle and some adjacent streets, was
built by Sir Thomas Bond, who had purchased Clarendon House
and grounds, the property of the famous Lord Chancellor of
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that name, and author of the History of the Rebellion. Before
Regent Street existed, Bond Street was the most ‘fashionable
street in London, the resort of the “bucks” of the day. Its
Piccadilly end is known as “Old,” and its extension to Oxford
Street as “New” Bond Street. At No. 41, Old Bond Street,
Laurence Sterne died, and for a time Lord Nelson lived at 141.
The Grosvenor Club, 135, New Bond Street, was erected by Sir
Coutts Lindsay, as a picture gallery, at a cost of £100,000 ; it was
" turned to its present use in 1892. Messrs. Agnew’s New Art Gallery,
at No. 398, contains an exhibition of paintings, open daily from ten
to six—admission, one shilling. Old and New Bond Streets have
for generations been noted for the jewellery and other costly
articles sold in their shops. The Royal Arcade—like Burlington
and the Lowther Arcades, a perpetual fancy fair—connects Old
Bond Street and Albemarle Street
At No. 21, ALBEMARLE STREET, so named from the second
Duke of Albemarle, son of General Monk, is the Royal Institution
of Great Britain, founded in 1799 by Count Rumford, Sir Joseph
Banks, and others. It was connected, more or less intimately,
with the scientific researches and lectures of Humphrey Davy,
Faraday, Tyndall, and other eminent men; and was the
“mother” of many literary and scientific and kindred societies.
The Centenary of the Institute was celebrated in June, 1899. The
Asiatic Bociety was founded in 1823, in order to promote
the knowledge of Asiatic literature ; and ifs library is open from
cleven to four daily—on Saturdays, from cleven till two o’clock.
Several other learned societies hold their meetings in its rooms.
No. 20, next door to the Royal Institute, at one time the residence
of the Earl of Albemarle, was presented by Mr. Lodwig Mod to the
Royal Institute and transformed into the Davy-Faraday Laboratory.
It was opened by the then Prince of Wales in December,

1896.

We pass, in succession, the southern ends of DOVER STREET,
BERKELEY STREET, and STRATTON STREET. The two last named
—(between which, and facing Piccadilly, is Devonshire House,
the town residence of the Duke of Devonshire, nearly concealed
by a high brick wall) — were named after John Berkeley of
Stratton, lord-lieutenant of Ireland in the time of Charles II. At
the corner of Stratton Street, is the residence of the Baroness
Burdett Coutts, a name honoured throughout Great Britain ; and
next door to it is an old-fashioned house, with a balcony and
verandah, where, in his days of hot Radicalism, lived her father,
Sir Francis Burdett. Thence he was taken to the Tower on the
6th of April, 1810.

Berkeley Street leads to the fashionable BERKELEY SQUARE,
noted for its plane trees ; it reminds us of Thackeray's * Jeames,
of Barkley Square.” Lansdowne House, in the square, the mansion
of the Marquis of Lansdowne, is interesting from the fact that,
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while living here as librarian to Lord Shelburne, Priestley dis-
covered the existence of oxygen. :Scattered about the house are
some valuable pictures and other works of art, as well as an
extensive collection of Roman sculptures, most of which were
discovered by Gavin Hamilton, at Hadrian’s Villa. Admission
can only be obtained by introduction to the Marquis. In JOHN
STREET, which leaves Berkeley Square at its north-western
corner, is Berkeley Chapel, erected in 1750, in the unpretentious
style of architecture then in vogue. In 1874, its interior was
remodelled ; and in 1894, one of the windows was filled with
stained glass, in memory of the late Duke of Clarence. In
DAVIES STREET, adjoining the square, is St. Anselm’s Church,
a handsome edifice, in the Byzantine style, built of yellow bricks
with red-brick and stone dressings ; the interior is composed of
blue Robin Hood stone. The Church was consecrated in 1896.
It has a notable chancel rail, composed of green Irish marble,
and other interesting features. :

From Stratton Street, westward, the railings of the Green Park
bound the south (left-hand) side of the street, the windows of the
houses on the opposite side commanding a charming view over the
parks, with the towers of Westminster Abbey and of the Houses of
Parliament, in the distance. BOLTON and CLARGES STREET come
next, the former named after the Duke of Bolton, and the latter
after “ Nan Clarges,” whose father was a blacksmith and mother
a barber in Drury Lane, and who married General Monk and
became Duchess of Albemarle. At the west corner of the first
named of these two streets, facing Piccadilly, stands Bath House,
the residence of Mr. Julius Wernher, the South African millionaire.

HALF MoON STREET, which derived its name from a now non-
existent hotel—in its day, of considerable repute—leads directly
into CURZON STREET, and an old-fashioned, very * blue-blooded,”
and reverently regarded district, generally known as—

May Fair.
(Map I, L 11; Map IV., ¥ 10-11.]

The visitor may look in vain for the name at street corners or
in the “Directory,” for the district has no parochial or other
official recognition. The origin of the name is described, and
some interesting particulars of the place detailed in Emerson’s
London : How the Great City Grew :—

“Between Berkeley Street and Park Lane, to the north of Piccadilly, was a
large open space, described by Pennant as being * covered- with dunghilis and all
sorts of obscenity.” James II. granted permission for a fair to be held there, to
begin on the first of May and to last fifteen days. This became a scene of the
most fearful debauchery, and was suppressed in 1708, but revived some years
afterwards, and was not finally suppressed fill towards the end of the last
century. In the course of time, May Fair, as the place was then called, became
one of the most fashionable districts in London,and is even now a select quarter
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for the more retired portion of the aristocracy. But the evil reputation of the
old fair long clung to it. Even when Curzon Street was built, Dr. Keith’s
chapel was renowned for marriages at a minute’s notice, the West-End parson
being as unscrupulous as his brethren of the Fleet. Hasty beauties and eager
swains were here tied together with the utmost. celerity ; and it is said that no
fewer than six thousand of these hasty marria%es were celebrated in one year.
The beautiful Miss Chudleigh was wedded in this fashion to the Duke of Kings-
ton ; and the still more beautiful Miss Gunnlni the youngest of the lovely sister-
hood who turned the heads of young Englishmen a hundred years ago, came
hither with the Duke of Hamilton, half-an-hour after midnight, and was married
with a bed-curtain ring.”

In this district, are Grosvenor Square [Map I.: L 11] and
Berkeley Square and perhaps Portman Square (to the north
of Oxford Street), may be included in it. Many of the man-
sions hereabouts have their fronts ornamented by charming
specimens of the iron-worker’s art, and the extinguishers of the
torches in vogue before the era of gas and electric lighting,
still linger at their doors. Some of the houses are of almost
world-wide fame. In Grosvemor House, UPPER GROSVENOR
STREET, the mansion of the Duke of Westminster, is a well-
known collection of pictures, thrown open to the public daily, from
May to Fuly, on the production of tickets, to be obtained, free of
charge, on written application to his Gracc's secretary. The
famous Blue Stocking Club, of the closing years of the eighteenth
century, met at Mrs. Montagu’s, in the north-west corner of
POoRTMAN SQUARE. Horace Walpole died at No. 11, and Lord
Clive (by his own hand), at No. 45, Berkeley Square. It was in
Chesterfield House, SOUTH AUDLEY STREET, that the famous
“Chesterfield Letters” were penned; and No. 25 BROOK
STREET, has on its front a tablet, informing “all whom it may
concern ” that Handel, the musician, once lived there. In Brook
Street also is the famous Claridge’s Hotel, recently rebuilt in
sumptuous style. South Audley Street contains a Public Library,
housed in an attractive edifice of terra-cotta.

PARK LANE, which connects Piccadilly and Oxford Street, run-
ning for the entire distance along the eastern margin of Hyde
Park, has two outlets into Piccadilly, the most westerly being
known as HAMILTON PLACE, at No. 4 of which, the residence of
the Earl of Northbrook, is a noted collection of pictures—the
nucleus of which was the celebrated Baring Gallery. Park Lane
is wholly composed of aristocratic mansions, all of them more or
less interesting and historical. Dudley House (at one time the
town-house of the Earl of Dudley, now the residence of the
South African millionaire, Mr. Joseph Benjamin Robinson) and
Dorchester House (that of Capt. G. L. Holford) contain notable
collections of pictures. Permission to vicw both is granted during
the spring and summer months, on written application to the
private secretaries of the owners. A melancholy interest is at-
tached to the ambitious mansion erected by the late Mr. Barney
Barnato, but never occupied by him. It is now the property of
Sir E. A. Sassoon. Gloucester House, at the Piccadilly corner of
Park Lane, a large and unattractive building, is the residence of
the Duke of Cambridge. It was the residence of the famous
Earl of Elgin. 0
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Beyond Hamilton Place, are three or four large mansions, and
then we reach Apsley Houss, the residence of the Duke of Welling-
ton, presented to the Great Duke by the nation in 1820, as one of
the rewards for his splendid services. The house was built, in 1785,
for Lord Chancellor the Earl of Bathurst. The Waterloo banquets,
in memory of the great battle, were held here every anniversary
until the death of the Duke in 1852. The house contains, amongst
its art treasures, a great many portraits and statues of historical
interest, several of them gifts from royal and celebrated persons ;
but it is difficult to gain admission, which is restricted to those who
can obtain an introduction to his Grace. The mansion of the
notorious “Old Q.” (the Duke of Queensberry) is now divided into
two houses ; and near it is Thornycroft’s splendid Pountain, erected
in 1875, and beautified by Statues of Milton, Chaucer, and Shake-
speare. One of the two houses referred to is celebrated as being
that in which Byron wrote his “Siege of Paris” and “Parisma,”
whence his lady fled from him, carrying with her her. baby girl.
In HaMILTON GARDENS, behind Apsley House, is Mr. Belt's 8tatue
of Lord Byron, the result of public subscription. It was uncovered
by Lord Houghton on the 24th of May, 1880.

We have now reached the end of Piccadilly, at Hyde Park Corner,
and here we would leave our 'bus to take a stroll in Hyde Park.
But before doing so, it would be well to note that the district through
which we have travelled contains some of the best hotels in the
metropolis. The White Horse Cellar, in Piccadilly (also known as
Hatchett's), was famous, of old, as the starting-place of the mail-
coaches ; and from it and from Northumberland Avenue coaches,
with noteworthy teams and often with aristocratic drivers, now set
out, in summer, for Windsor, Brighton, St. Albans, and other places.

Piccadilly is, moreover, to all intents and purposes, a part of
“clubland.” In the famous street itself, there are a number of
notable ones. The Naval and Military Club occupies a large
mansion, standing back from the line of road, with a small court-
yard in front. It is numbered 94; and was formerly known as
Cambridge House, because it was the residence of the Duke of
Cambridge, the youngest son of George III., who died in it in
1850. Lord and Lady Palmerston afterwards resided in the
mansion. At No. 100, is the Badminton Club, whose members
devote themselves to coaching and other sporting pursuits. 8t.
James's and the Savile Clubs are next-door neighbours, at 106
and 107 ; but their characteristics are somewhat different. Hope

- House (No. 116), at one corner of Dover Street, is the hive of
the Junior Athensuwm Club, an offshoot of the Athenzeum, in Pall
" Mall, whose bees “swarmed” in 1864. At 127, is the Cavalry
Club, dating.from 1890 ; and at 105, the Isthmian Olub, .estab-
lished in 1882. The Junior Coastitutional Club has recently

Y
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removed from Regent Street to the western end of Piccadilly,
where extensive premises, overlooking the Green Park, have
been built for its accommodation ; and still further west, a new
society club, the Hyde Park, has erected for itself an attractive
and luxurious home.

There are several clubs of more or less importance located
in the streets to the north of Piccadilly. At 47, Clarges Street, is
the Turf Club, as its name infers, the haunt of racing and hunting
men and sportsmen generally. In SAVILE Row, at No. 17, not
far from its northern extremity, where New Burlington Street
communicates with Regent Street, is the Burlington Fine Arts
Club, established in 1866, for the comfort of gentlemen interested
in the cultivation of art; and in Bond Street and its neighbour-
hood are a number of similar institutions. No. 135, Bond Street,
is the Grosvenor, a social and non-political Club, with a member-
ship of about three thousand, although it started on its career
so lately as 1883. GRAFTON STREET contains the New Club, &c.
In ALBEMARLE and DOVER STREETS, which connect Grafton
Street with Piccadilly, we find a few more. The Royal Thames
Yacht Club, of which the King is commodore, has its head-
quarters at 7, Albemarle Street ; and at No. 13 is the Albemarle
which, formed in 1875, has eight hundred members of both
sexes. In Dover Street, we have the Bath, at No. 34, and in
Hamilton Place, the Bachelors’ Club, and the Junior Conservative,
the political complexion which speaks for itself. In GROSVENOR
STREET, further north (in which is Grosvenor House, already
noted), is the Alexandra Club, the membership of which is re-
stricted to “ladies of position.”

Hyde Park Corner.
[Mapl.: M11]

Cab Fares: From Broad Street, Fenchurch Street, Liverpool Street, or London
Bridge railway stations—z/-.
From Cannon Street, Euston, Holborn Viaduct, King's Cross, Ludgate Hill,
Mansion House, St. Pancras, or Waterloo railway stations—1/6.
From Charing Cross, Paddington, or Victoria railway stations—1/-.

Omnibuses, as we have seen, run to all parts of London.
Nearest Railway Stations : Victoria and Marble Arch.

Hyde Park Corner is a well-known and busy centre, which has
latterly undergone a much-needed and therefore very welcome
transformation. The traffic was for years greatly congested ; and
more space has been gained by setting back the loty triumphal arch
beneath which is the entrance to the Green Park. This change has
afforded the traveller an opportunity of seeing the fine houses in
Grosvenor Place. The arch in question was copied from onc
in the Forum at Rome. A Statue of the Great Duke of Wellington
stands in the centre of the enclosure facing Apsley Houuse. It pre-
sents an admirable portrait of his Grace; and the details of uni-
form, horse trappings, &c., are all exactly copied, from actnal relics
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of the Iron Duke. It stands on a pedestal of polished Peterhead
granite, with four colossal bronze supporters, one at each corner.
They represent private soldiers, in the uniform of the period of
Peninsular and Waterloo campaigns, one of each nationality :—
Foot Guards; a Highlander (42nd) ; an Irishman (27th Inniskil-
lings) ; and a Royal Welsh Fusilier (23rd).

To the left of the arch, is CONsTITUTION HILL, a road running to
St. James's Park, between the Green Park and the garden wall of
Buckingham Palace ; and, again to the left of that, is GROSVENOR
PLACE, a broad road leading to Pimlico, and bounding the back of
the palace gardens. At its corner, facing Hyde Park, stands 8t
George’s Hospital, founded in 1733. The present very fine building
was erected by Mr. Wilkins, RA,, in 1831. A few yards down
Grosvenor Place, adjoining the hospital, was Tattersall's famous
sporting subscription-room and horse repository. Thousands who
take an interest in racing were a few years since quite familiar with
‘““doings at the corner,” without knowing that Hyde Park Corner
was referred to. Tattersall's was removed, in 1865, to new and
larger premises in the BROMPTON ROAD, a short distance westward.
Adjoining it, with the entrance from KNIGHTSBRIDGE ROAD, is
Prince’s Club, where many first-class matches at racquets and
tennis are played.

Adjoining Apsley House, is the “8creen” entrance to Hyde Park,
erected in 1826, from the designs of Decimus Burton, at a cost of
£171,000. There are three entrances for carriages, and two for
pedestrians. The structure is supported by Ionic pillars ; and the
frieze, representing a triumphal procession, is a reproduction from
the Elgin Marbles.

Hyde Park.
[Map 1., M 11 ; Map II., L-M g-10-11.]

This spacious and historically interesting park is close upon four
hundred acres in extent. It derives its name from the old manor of
Hyde, which, in the reign of Henry VIII., became Crown property,
and was converted into a deer park. This Charles 11. enclosed and
planted with trees—some with his own hand ; it was greatly im-
proved by King William III., and Queen Caroline, consort of George
11, who formed the Serpentine. During the last quarter of a
century, it has been made gay by beds of brilliant flowers,

" particularly on the side adjoining Park Lane. The successive
displays of crocuses, tulips, hyacinths, &c., are entitled to rank
amongst the most noteworthy sights of London.

Hyde Park is in the “ London season " the great resort of royalty, aristocracy,
wealth, and fashion, who frequent the well-known Rotten Row in thousands—
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numberless carriages, equestrians, and gaily-dressed loungers thronging this cele-
brated avenue. Rotten Row is a mile and a half long ; its name is supposed to be
a corruption of Roufe de Roi, “ the king’s drive.”

In 1895, cyclists received germlsion to ride in a portion of the park ; and since
then, another row—which has been christened Cyolists’ Row—has been added to
its attractions. This new row has become the resort of hundreds of wheelmen
and wheelwomen, who may be seen every fine morning in two streams, banked
by interested on-lookers. en young ladies are followed on their safeties by
uniformed attendants, also mounted on wheels, as sometimes happens, their triumph
is as great and complete as that of others on horseback in Rotten Row itself.

The Ladies’ Mile, on the north side of the Serpentine, is the spot at which the
Coaching and Four-in-Hand Clubs meet in the summer months,

It has of late ycars been fashionable for the elife of society to attend ‘‘ Church
Parade,” as it is called, on fine Sundays, in Hyde Park, between morning service and
lunch—i.e, from one to two o’clock ; and a visit to the park at that hour on “ Ascot
Sunday,” when the ladies display their new summer dresses, is quite a treat to many.

Near Apsley House is a large bronze 8tatue, “inscribed by the
women of England to Arthur, Duke of Wellington, and his brave com-
panions inarms.” Itis popularly supposed to represent Achilles, but
is really a copy of one of the celebrated figures on Monte Cavallo,
at Rome. It was modelled by Westmacott ; the metal employed
was obtained from cannon taken in the Peninsular War and at
Waterloo ; and it was erected in 1822. Entering the park at this spot,
and proceeding northward, by the side of Park Lane, we pass some
of the most beautiful Flower Beds in the metropolis. This fine
thoroughfare is now illuminated by electricity. The northern
entrance of Hyde Park is by the Marble Arch.

In Hyde Park, close to the Serpentine, we have the Humane
Soclety’s Recelving House, for the rescue of submerged bathers
or skaters. The Humane Society is one of the most valuable
institutions in the world. In the park, too, is the Government
Gunpowder Magazine. The first Crystal Palace, that of 1851, was
erected on the south side of the park, opposite Prince’s Gate.

The park is now surrounded by iron railings, replacing those
that were partly pulled down by an excited mob in 1866, when
the authorities endeavoured to prevent a political meeting being
held. Since then, such meetings have been permitted, with
certain restrictions. The most recent additions to the park, and
to Kensington Gardens, adjoining it, have been the erection of
some tastefully-conceived Kiosks, where newspapers, &c., may be
bought.

We leave our visit to Kensington Gardens (really a part of Hyde
Park) till we have visited the South Kensington Museum and the
handsome edifices in its neighbourhood. To reach these, we again
climb to the top of a 'bus. We ride along a broad handsome road,
with Hyde Park on the right, and fine shops and hotels, on the left ;
and soon reach SLOANE STREET, leading to Chelsea, and named
after Sir Hans Sloane, the physician and antiquary, whose collection
formed the nucleus of the British Museum. Opposite Sloane Street,
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is a fine entrance to the park, Albert Gate, marked by two immense
mansions. That on the eastern side was built for Mr. George
Hudson, the “railway king,” and is now occupied by the French
Embassy. It has recently been extended by the demolition of
some adjoining shops. Thus Knightsbridge no longer presents
the curious spectacle of a church situated between two public-
houses, or, as the irreverent used to have it, “a heaven between
two hells.”

Directly beyond, the road divides, the left-hand branch leading to
Brompton and South Kensington, and the right-hand, a narrow and
not very attractive road for the first quarter of a mile, to Kensington.
The large Knightsbridge Barracks, erected some years ago in place
of the former inadequate barracks, are on the right, the chief
front being towards the park. The name, Knightsbridge, is a cor-
ruption of “Neate’s Bridge " ; it was bestowed on the district as a
memorial of the fact that, at this point, the roadway was carried
over a narrow and dirty stream, known as the Neate. The junc-
tion of KNIGHTSBRIDGE and BROMPTON RoADs was, in June, 1895,
adorned by the erection of an equestrian Statue of Field-Marshal
Lord Strathnairn, of Indian Mutiny fame, designed by Onslow Ford ;
it was “cast from guns, taken in 1858 by the India Field Force and
presented by the Government of India.”

Our 'bus turns down BROMPTON R0AD, along about three-quarters
of a mile of which we travel, in order to reach the palatial and
artistic suburb, South Kensington. On the right-hand side, the
footway is in some parts flanked with trees, and there are good
shops and the general aspzsct of a busy thoroughfare. Brompton
itself, a favourite and pleasant place of residence for members of
the dramatic and literary professions, does not call for special notice ;
but the Church of the Oratory (to give it its full title—in every day
speech, it is simply known as “Brompton Oratory”) is worthy
of examination. One of the leading London places of worship

~belonging to the Roman Catholic body, it is in the Italian

Renaissance style, of which it is a fine specimen The lofty
marble columns and domed ceiling are the most striking features
of its interior. The side chapels, with their richly adorned altars,
are particularly noteworthy. The Oratory is famed for its excellent
musical services, probably unequalled in London. A little to the
west, is a Statue of Cardinal Newman, by Brindley. It is a full-
length figure, in white marble, and stands upon a massive pedestal
of stone, four solid pillars supporting a canopy, surmounted by a
figure of the Virgin.

And so we gain a group of interesting edxﬁccs to see which was
the special object of our excursion to-day. They are—the South
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Kensington Museum, the site of the Victoria and Albert Museum,
the Natural History Museum, the Imperial Institute, the Albert Hall
and Memorial, the Royal College of Music, &c. They occupy a
site purchased out of the surplus funds (£150,000) arising from the
Great Exhibition of 1851.

(Map II., M and N 9.]

The Omnibus will set us down at the “ Bell and Horns"” public-house, a well-
known stopping-place.—Fare from Charing Cross, twopence.

The South Kensington Railway Station is within a few minutes’ walk of each

-+ of the edifices, a subway running from its platform to a point conveniently near

~ to the three ﬁtst-name! buildings ; thesubwzg'was originally intended to enable

visitors to reach the exhibitions annually held on the spot where the Imperial

- Institute stands, without crossing the busy streets. Gloucester Road station
ww i8 a little further off.

Cab Fares: From Cannon Street, Fenchurch Street, Liverpoo! Street, London
Bridge, or Moorgate Street railway stations—2/€.
From Euston, Holborn Viaduct, King’s Cross, Ludgate Hill, St. Pancras, or Victoria
stations—2/-.
From Charing Cross or Paddington stations—1/6.
From Victoria station—1/-.

The Victoria and Albert Museum,

the foundation stone of which was laid by Queen Victoria on the
17th May, 1899, will occupy the long vacant site adjoining the
South Kensington Museum, of which institution it may be con-
sidered the completion. The new building, in Renaissance style,
from designs by Mr. Aston Webb, will have an imposing frontage
to the Cromwell Road, surmounted by towers and cupolas. It is
intended that the museum shall afford an effective contrast to its
beautiful neighbour, the Natural History Museum. The foundation
stone bears the following inscription : * This stone was laid by her
Majesty Queen Victoria, Empress of India, on the 17th day of May,
1899, in the 62nd year of her reign, for the completion of the
South Kensington Museum, inaugurated by his Royal Highness the
Prince Consort, and henceforth to be known as the Victoria and |
Albert Museum.”

The South Kensington Museum

comprises a series of courts, with glass roofs and galleries, with
a central building and a school of science, the latter facing the
Exhibition Road. The buildings, in the Renaissance style, with
a free use of terra-cotta ornamentation, were chiefly designed by
Captain Fowke, of the Royal Engineers. The collection is one of
the finest in the world, many very valuable works of art and
precious objects having been lent to the Department of Science and
Art, under whose care it is placed. The institution now consists of

various departments :—
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1. The Museum proper, a very extensive collection of works of art, or plaster and
electrotype reproductions of such works, for the most part belonging to the Museum,
but many of them lent toit.

B lTh Gallery, in the upper portion of the building, a national gallery of
ritish Art.

3. The Art , located i in rooms above the South Wat Court, consistin
upwards of seventy t ousand vol ted with Art and a hun ed
and ninety thousand drawm engravi s, and photographs illustrative of archi-
tecture, ornament, &c. not easily procured in local libraries are lent to
provincial schools of art, in onder to extend the utility of this library.

4. The Bcience and Eduoation Library, placed in the large court at the end of the
South ‘West Court, and containing more than sixty-four thousand volumes, many
of them prmented or lent by the various educational publishers. Several st
works on history and eneral literature are included in  the collection,

Bohool, in which designing, painting, and modelling

are taught
6. The R«z:.ln()olh‘s of Boiuu for the trammg of teachers and others.
7. The Ing , on the west side of Exhibition Road.

The Museum is open datny, except on Good Friday and Christmas Day, free
on Mondays, Ty ; and on students’ days, Wednesdays, hurs-
days, and Fndays t):e pubhc are admitied on payment of sixpence each person. The
hours on Mondays, Tuesdays, and Saturdays are from len in the morning till ten at
night ; on Wednesdays, Thursdays, and Fridays, from ten till four, five, or six p.m.,
according to the season. The Libraries are during the same hours as the Museum.
OnSu s,tthuseuman{ytsopm om two in the afternoon till dusk. On
dz Room is open lo all visitors ; on days, admission is
restricted to managm and teachers of schools or iickd—ho . The Exhibition
Galleries and Indian Section are open free daily, from ten in the morning bll four,
five, or six p.m. according to the scason. Tickets of ad to the M
the Libraries and Reading Rooms and the Bethnal Green lluseum, are lssucd at thz
following rates :—Weekly, -/6 ; monthly, 1/6; rierly, ; halfyearly, 6/-
10/-. Yearly tickets are also issued to any choal at 20/- ; they admif all t
of the school on all students‘ days. Tickels may be ablamcd at Catalague Sak Si

* *

We enter the Museum from the Cromwell Road, beneath a beautlful rood lot't
composed of alab and d marbl f Flemish archltecture,
brou)g'ht from the cathedral at Bois-le-Duc, North Brabant and dated 1625. Stalls
Jfor the sale of catalogues, &o¢., will be found on both sides of the entrance. In the
grounds near the principal entrance, is a sitting Statue of 8ir Jamsetjee Jeojeebhoy,

by Marocluttz
e Archi Court is first reached. It is divided by a central corridor, the
plllals whereot’ uupport a gallery. Each half of the court is a hundred and t.hxrty
five feet Ion t?v wu:le itis eighty-three feet high ; itis devoted to the exhibition
of reproduc ons of famous works chiefly architectural, 'most of them of large dimen-
sions. The casts in the right half of the court are mostly from Italian originals,
whilst those on the left are from works of art in various countries.
‘We reach the 8outh Oourt, by descending a flight of steps at the end of the passage
between the eastern and western half of the Architectural Court ; it is divided in like
* manner, the pillars of its central passage sugsportlng the Prince Consort's Gallery.
The whole of this court—the iron columns, ribs, and girders, even the bolts and rivets
—are richly ornamented, chiefly from deslgns by Godfrey Sykes. On its walls, are
portraits in mosaic of thirty- ve famous painters, sculptors, architects, ceramic
artists, and painters on ﬁﬁlass and the lunettes on the upper portions of the north
and south walls are filled by Lord Leighton's famous fresco paintings—‘ The
Industrial Arts, as applied to War” and “ The Industrial Arts, as applied to Peace.”
The collections in this court consist, for the most part, on the Teft hand, of gold and
silversmiths’ work and ivories ; and on the right, of oriental objects of art. In the
west arcade, note the fine panellmg from a room in Sizergh Castle.
In the south-west corner of this court, is the staircase leading to the Art
On the staircase, are several paintings by G. F. Watts, R.A., and others ; and on the
walls of the %allery isa collection of pictures, lent by Mr. beson and others, From
this corner of this court, as well as from the western side of the Architectural Court,
we reach the SBouth-West Oourts. One of these contains a sculpture gallery of casts
from the antique, and the other, the long one beneath the Art Library, an exhibition
of textile fabrics. On the walls are some exnmyla of Flemish tapestries.. The
subjects represent ““ The Triumphs,” “The Fates,” “ The Siege of y,” &c. A
staircase on the left of the court leads to a room of the Art Library, where is to
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2; seen a collectiot: é)f d;fa\:;n and sl:etches. (‘}n this setf::‘lrcau. isa photo‘gnphic
loured on e eux ta; . To the left, is the entrance into the
Boience cﬁ Eduoeation v pestry

The arcades to the east of the South Court form the Oriental Oourt, decorated by
the late Mr. Owen Jones. It contains examples of the art workmanship of China
and Japan. At its south end, is 2 beautiful Parisian boudoir of the period of Louis
XVI,, said to have been originally fitted up by the wife of the Marquis de Serilly,
with the assistance of Queen Marie Antoinette, to whom she had been a favourl{e
maid of honour, and to have been completed during a temporary absence of her
husband, as a pleasant surprise for him on his return.

The North is one hundred and seven feet long, one hundred and six wide
(exclusive of its cloisters), and thirty-three high. Itisnot divided like the other two.
Its roof is of a single span, without pillars ; and around the cornice is a broad band
of blue and gold, on which are Inscribed passages from the book of Ecclesiasticus.
Its decoration is much simpler than that of the South Court; in it are beautiful
examples of Itallan art workmanship, many of which are incorporated into the
building. The East Aroade contains a collection of textile. or woollen, fabrics,
chiefly ecclesiastical vestments. Here, too, is shown a Venetian bed of the
eighteenth oentuz, with hangings and furniture to match, bequeathed to the
Museum by Mr. Alexander Barker. The North Aroade is devoted to specimens
illustrating the art of working on glass; and in the West Aroads, is a collection
of musical instruments, including, in addition to many old Euro instruments
(some of them of extreme interest—among them a small organ said to have belon%ed
to Martin Luther, and the harpsichord on which Handel played), those used at the
present day in China, Japan, Persla, Russia, Upper Egypt, Central Africa, &c.

A door to the north of West Arcade conducts us to the Refreshment Room
Oorridor, which stretches across the quadrangle to the west of the North and
South Courts. In its corridors, are some beautiful specimens of ancient and
modern stained several examples of sculpture and plaster models for statues
by Campbell, ly, and Earle, and a few examples of old English furniture. A
staircase at the west end of the corridor affords access to a gallery in which isa
collection of pottery, with a portrait of Sir Henry Cole, in enamelled terra cotta, on
the first landing. e West E:rrldu, to the left of thestaircase, contains a collection
of old furniture and tapestry ; and at the end of the corridor is an entrance to the
South-West Courts (already noticed), arranged along the south of the quadrangle.
The West 8chool Corridors, to the right of the staircase, occupy the basement of the
building, in which are the Schools of Art, and contain some Interesting specimens
of English woodwork and carriages ; and the North School r g alon,
the north side of the quadrangle, are devoted to the exhibition of Saracenic an
Persian work. The pulpit, from a mosque at Cairo, with inlay of Ivog, is worthy
of special notice. A turnstile, in the angle between the West and North School
Corridors, gives outer communication with the Exhidition Galleries and the Indian
Section on the western side of the Exhibition Road.

At the western corner of the North Court, which we reach at the eastern extremity
of the North School Cloisters, is a staircase, li%htedel;{ a lar%(;stnlned-glass window,

he design of

made Messrs. Lavers and Barraud, from r. Reuben Townroe, 2
upil of the late Mr. Godfrey Sykes (its design is suggested by the passage in
esiasticus xxxviii., descriptive of trades), leading to the Gdﬁriu
above the North and South Courts. In the two rooms at the top of the stair-
case, is a collection of pictures, bought under the terms of the Chantrey bequest,
and lent by the Royal Academy. Passing through them, we reach the rooms con-

taining the N: Oollection of British Wa lour Drawings. To the right of
the rooms in which this is exhibited, is the Ceramic, or Pottery, Gallery, extending
over the Refreshment Room Corridor, and icating, by of a staircase

at its west end, with the school corridors. In this gallery, is a case, containing fine
specimens of the extremely rare Henri II. ware. At the southern extremity of the
Picture Galleries, are placed the Books, Drawings, and Engravings, bequeathed to
the Museum by the Rev. A. Dyce and Mr. John Forster, the Reading Room attached
to which is accessidle to the public whenever the Museum is open.

Leaving the Western Galleries, at the end of the National Collection of Water
Colours, we turn to the left along the gallery over the northern side of the South
Court, midway along which, is a balcony formed by the ‘‘ Cantoria,” or 4

, from Santa Maria Novella, Florence. From it, we get a comprehensive
view of the North Court ; and over it is a Medallion Portrait of the Prince Consort,
in mosaic. Immediately behind this, we enter—

The Prinoe Consort's a-l.llary, supported, as already stated, by the columns which
separate the east and west portions of the South Court. In it, are placed, in a single
row of cases, many of the most precious p i of the M an interesting
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collection of enamels of the Middle Ages. One—a casket, diapered with several
armorial shields—is believed to have been made in England for William or Aymer
de Valence, between the years 1200 md 1300. In the next case, is a large shrine, or
relchnary in the form of a B; ted by adome. It was bought
at the sale of the celebrated Soltikoff oollection for éz,uz ; itis one of the most
important existing remains of Rhenish Byzantine Art of the twelfth century. A
choice beaker, decorated in “émail de plique 4 jour,” of the fifteenth century,
deserves special attention.

In the gallery of the Architectural Court, to the south of the Prince Consort’s
Gallery, is exhibited a collection of ironwork. Down the centre and in one arcade,
are portions of the iron screens from Hampton Court.

The South Gallery of the South Court will conduct us, eastward, to the East
Gallery of the Museum, in which are the of the pictures which it
At the end of it, is a staircase, communicating with the Oriental Courts, on which
are hung several paintings of the early Itallan and German Schools, selected as
affording illustrations of costume. The long gallery to the east of the South

Court, contains the Jomes Oollection, “the most important gift,” to quote the
words of the official Guide to the Museum (wludz ma, be. obhwmi at the entrance,
price sixpence), “the Museum has yet recei d value Is the entire
cost of all art purchases made from the formauon of the Museum at Marlborough
House to the year 1882. It consists of a collection of furniture, Sdvres and other

rcelain, enamelted miniatures biy Janet, Petitot. and others, paintings, sculpture,

ronzes, &c., and is ially les of French industrial art of the second
half of the eighteentﬁ century " The painters of the ofguh school are hung on
the west, and those of foreign schools on the east wall of the gallery; and in the
lunettes, over the panels on either wall, are decorative paintings, illustrative of Art
studies.

The gallerv to the east of the North Courtis divided into four rooms, and contains
the British Fine Art Oollections, for the most part the gift of the late Mr. John
Sheepshanks,. those in the southern of the rooms consisting of finished works
and studies in oils, water-colours, and pencil by the late J. Constable, R.A
presented by the late Miss Isabel Constable and Mr. Sheepshanks.

At the north end of the gallery, is a staircase, leading us down into the North
Court ; and at the head of that staircase, a door giving access to the North Gallery,
wherein are hung the celebrated Raphael Cartoons, about twelve feet hlgh—-dmwn
with chalk upon strong paper and coloured in distemper, the original
executed by Raphael and his scholars in the year 1513, as copies for tzpestry
work for Pope Leo X. There were originally ten, but three are lost. The
tapestries, worked in wool, silk, and gold, were hung in the Sistine Chapel at
Rome in the year 1519, the year before Ra‘)hael died ; they are now m the
Vatican. Copies of the three tapestries of which the cartoons are lost are hung
on the north wall; and between the cartoons is a series of arabesque pilasters,
copied from the loggie of Raphael, in the Vatican. On one side of the door, by
which we enter the gallery, is a copy in black chalk, by Casanova, of “The Trans-

figuration,” Raphael’s last work, carried in the procession at his funeral. Upon the
other side of the door, is a large altar Xicture painted by him for a convent at
Perugia, lent by the Duke of Castro. At the west end of the gallery, are copies
in oil, on a reduced scale, of ten frescoes by Raphael in the Stanze of e Vatican.

And so we conclude our round of the Museum, which we leave
by its western door, in Exhibition Road. This we cross in order
to visit the Exhibition @alleries, on its western side ; these form a
sort of “overflow museum ” from the parent one. Constructed of
red brick, in the Italian Renaissance style, with a balustrade and
other terra-cotta ornaments, the building, which is two storeys high,
extends back to Queen’s Gate, and there is a second entrance in
the Imperial Institute Road. In it, are arranged cases, containing
copies of objects in the Museum and elsewhere, for the most part
reproduced by the electrotype process ; examples of modern art
manufactures of every description, acquired from the Great Exhi-
bition and its successors ; a collection of machinery and inventions ;
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in several rooms, is a collection of objects, illustrative of naval con-
struction ; not far off, is a collection of economic fish culture,
bequeathed by the late Frank Buckland.

The Indian Section (main entrance on the north side of the
Imperial Institute Road) was in 1880 transferred by the India
Office to the charge of the Committee of Council on Education.
It includes various specimens of the architecture of India ; deities
and utensils used in performing religious rites ; figures representing
the various trades and scenes of everyday life in India, and the
different carriages and conveyances used by the natives ; cotton
carpets, woven textile fabrics, Kashmir shawls, embroidery, tapestry,
men’s and women’s garments, turbans, photographs, miniatures,
lacquered and inlaid woodwork, pottery, armour, &. Among the
more interesting objects are portions of the tent and the carpet used
at the durbar, held at Delhi, on the occasion of the proclamation of
Queen Victoria as Empress of India ; and a curious organ, formerly
belonging to Tippoo Sahib, representing a tiger devouring a British
officer.

The Natural History Museum,

to the south of the Exhibition Galleries, faces Cromwell Road and
extends from Exhibition Road to Queen’s Road. Intended as a
branch of the British Museum, the Natural History collection—
probably, the finest in the world—occupies a noble edifice, designed
by Mr. Alfred Waterhouse, and composed principally of terra-cotta,
at a cost of £400,000. The style is the earlier Romanesque.
The extreme length of the front is 675 feet, and the towers are each
192 feet high. On entering the main portal, the visitor passes
under the “monkey arch,” so named from the climbing monkeys
which form its principal decoration. The great Central Hall is
170 feet long by ninety-seven wide and seventy-two feet high,
and contains 2 most interesting epitome of the whole museum.
In the middle are some cases principally illustrating adaptation
to environment. Here also are Statues of 8ir Richard Owen,
8ir Joseph Banks and Professor Huxley. The last-named is the
work of Onslow. Ford, and was unveiled by the Prince of Wales in
April, 1900. 1t is of heroic size, and is carved in white Carrara
marble. A white marble Statue of Charles Darwin, by Boehm, is
placed at the top of the first flight of stairs, facing the entrance
hall of the Museum. Branching out of the central hall, near its
southern extremity, are two long galleries, each 278 feet 6 inches
long, by fifty wide. These galleries are repeated on the first floor,
and (in a modified form) on the second floor.

The building contains the zoological, geological, and botanical
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departments of the older museum. An introductory collection (an
index or typical museum) is to be seen in the central hall. Birds,
corals, shells, star-fish, insects, and fish occupy the ground floor of
the west wing, and mammals are exhibited on its first and second
floors. The ground floor of the east wing contains the fossil mam-
malia, fossil reptiles and fishes, cephalopods, molluscs, corals,
sponges, and plants ; on its first floor are minerals and meteorites ;
and on the second, the botanical collection, and the herbarium.

Admission is free ; the hours during which the Museum is open may be seen or: the
entrance gates—-roughly speaking, they are from ten fill six in the summer and from
ten till dusk in the winter ; onSundays.fmm lwointhe aﬂanoon till dusk. A General
Guide to the M: and di the Departments, the
price varying from bs’mna,maybekadojﬂuatbndaub.

The Royal College of Bcience is located in a handsome edifice of
terra-cotta, with a front to the east side of Exhibition Road. In
it, are the laboratories and lecture rooms, connected with the Royal
School of Mines, in Jermyn Street, which we visited in our Second
Excursion-; and it is the “local habitation” of our chief national
scientific college. The building can be visited on application to the
authorities. :

The famous gardens of the Royal Horticultural Society, in which
were held the various exhibitions—the * Fisheries,” * Healtheries,”
the Indian and Colonial Exhibition, &c.—of the early *eighties”
are no longer recognisable. A new street, the IMPERIAL INSTITUTE
RoAD, runs across them, to the north of the Exhibition Galleries,
facing which is—

The Imperial Institute.

This was the outcome of the Colonial and Indian Exhibition
of 1886. The foundation stone, a huge block of granite from
Cape Colony, standing on a pedestal of Indian bricks, was laid
by Queen Victoria in July, 1887, and the institute was opened by
her Majesty in May, 1893. Though the building is to a certain
extent shut in by its surroundings and it is difficult to get an
adequate idea of its actual dimensions, no eye can fail to be capti-
vated by the imposing fagade, which extends along the entire north
side of the Imperial Institute Road. The architect, Mr. T. E.
Colcutt, has produced a magnificent building, a mass of cupolas
and towers and lofty spires. It is constructed chiefly of Portland
stone, variegated by the use of red brick in the recesses.

The crowning attraction of the foreground is the great portal,
surmounted—although set back from it—by a large square,
capped by a dome-shaped cupola. The altitude of the Queen’s
Tower is nearly three hundred feet. The two flanking towers
are each a hundred and seventy-six feet high. The central tower
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contains the Alexandra Peal of Ten Bells, the giit of an aged
Australian lady, and excelled in London only by the bells of St.
Paul’'s. They weigh over ten tons.

The principal entrance is seventeen feet wide by twenty-three
and a half high ; it is flanked by lions and other statuary from Mr,
Pegram’s chisel, and ornamented with a frieze covered with sym-
bolic sculptures, and with a seated figure of the Queen. Passing
through it, a vestibule is reached, into which a polished stone
corridor opens, running on either side to the ends of the building.
The vaulted ceiling, elaborately panelled in arabesque work, rises
twenty feet from the mosaic floor, the passage is twelve feet wide.
The vestibule gives access behind to the great Reception Hall.

The Institute was incorporated in 1888. Its fellows pay a yearly subscription of
two pounds, or become life fellows on payment of twenty pounds, and have the use
of the building and all the advantages afforded by the Institute. It isopen to the
pubdlic from ten till dusk.

The central and eastern portions of the building are now the
headquarters of the London University. The University formerly
occupied a portion of Burlinglon House, but removed in 1900.

At the corner of Imperial Institute Road and Exhibition Road
is being erected the new building of the Royal School of Art
Needlework. The foundation stone was laid by the Prince of Wales
in June, 1899.

Facing the Exhibition Road, and nearly adjoining the Indian
Section of the South Kensington Museum, is the central insti-
tution of the City and Guilds of London Imstitute, or Advanced
Technical Institution. Opened in 1884, by the then Prince of Wales,
it includes departments for mechanics and mathematics, engineering,
physics, and chemistry, under professors of eminence in each
branch of study. The building, erected by the corporation and
livery companies of London, cost about £100,000.

An entrance, or matriculation, txammatwn is held yearly in September. The
regular course of instruction is a three years' ome, and the fee for a regular matricu-
lated student is £25 per annum. Diplomas are granted to students who have
taken a complete course of instruction, and have d the ti There
are several valuable exhibitions in connection with the institute, which has bram.heu
at Finsbury, Kensington Park Road,and Bethnal Green.

EXHIBITION RoaD, by the way, on the east, and QUEEN’S GATE,
on the west, bound the plot of land purchased by the Commissioners
for the Exhibition of 1851, on which stood the great building
wherein was held the Exhibition of 1862. They are connected not
only by the IMPERIAL INSTITUTE ROAD, already noticed, but a little
to the north by the PRINCE CONSORT ROAD, to the south of which
is the new building for—

The Royal College of Music,
the original home of which, to the westward of the Albert Hall, was
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a present from Sir Charles Freake, and was inaugurated in 1883.
The present college, erected by Mr. Samson Fox, at a cost of
£46,000, was opened by the King in 1894. A room on the
ground floor of the College, beautifully furnished and decorated
by Mr. Donaldson, contains the Donaldson Collection of rare
instruments and other musical treasures, presented to the college
by the gentleman whose name it bears, as the nucleus of a perma-
nent museum.

Exhibition Road and the Queen’s Gate connect South Kensington
with KENSINGTON RoAD, a broad and handsome road, to the west
of the Knightsbridge Barracks (see p. 118), in front of Kensington
Gardens, and not far from the western boundary of Hyde Park.
To the south of the road, is—

The Royal Albert Hall.
(Map 11.; M 9]

Nearest Railway Stations : South Kensington, or High Street (Kensington)
Cab Fares : From Cannon Street, Fenchurch Street, Liverpool Street, London
Bridge, or Moorgate Street railway stations—2/6.
From Euston, Holborn Viaduct, King's Cross, Ludgate Hill, St. Pancras, or
Victoria stations—2/-.
From Charing Cross or Paddington stations—1/6.
From Victoria station—1/-.

" The Albert Hall is officially styled the Royal Albert Hall of Arts
and Sciences. The erection of a building for congresses, musical
performances on a great scale, and artistic and scientific exhibi-
tions was proposed by the Prince Consort, at the close of the
Exhibition of 1851 ; and in 1865, four years after his death, a com-
mittee, with the Prince of Wales at the head, was formed to carry
out the project. Queen Victorialaid the first stone in May, 1867 ; and
the building, erected at a cost of £200,000, was completed and
opened by her Majesty in March, 1871. The exterior is in the
style of the Italian Renaissance, of brick and terra-cotta ; and the
edifice is oval in form, with diameters of about two hundred
and seventy and two hundred and thirty-five feet respectively.
There are twenty-six entrances, and the interior forms perhaps
the grandest saloon in the world. The central arena is sur-
rounded by an amphitheatre. There are three tiers of boxes, a
balcony, and above all a picture gallery and promenades, reached
by a lift and staircase.. Altogether, about eight thousand persons
can be seated. The roof is about one hundred and thirty-five
. feet above the floor, the dome is filled with painted glass. At
night, the vast hall is lighted by electricity. The organ, built
by Willis, under the direction chiefly of Sir Michael Costa, iS one
of the finest in the world. It is sixty-five feet wide, seventy high,
and forty deep. There are five'manuals and ten thousand pipes
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some forty feet long and thirty inches in diameter, and some of
the size only of a straw. The orchestra will accommodate eleven
“hundred performers.

Alexandra House, a home for women students, is a few yards td
the west of the hall.

Immediately in front of the Albert Hall, inside Kensington
Gardens, is— -

The Albert Memorial,

the design of which, by Sir Gilbert G. Scott, is based on that of an
Eleanor cross. The height to the summit of the spire is a hundred
and fifty feet. On a platform, reached on all sides by granite steps,
is a pedestal, around which are a hundred and sixty-nine marble
figures, representing the chief musicians, painters, architects, and
sculptors of all time.

At each angle of this massive pedestal, are Marble Groups representing Agricul-
ture (Calder Marshall), Industry (Weekes), Commerce (Thornycroft), and Architec-
ture (Lawlor). The memorial statue, by Foley, in gilt bronze, about thirteen feet
high, represents the Prince, seated and wearing the dress of a Knight of the Garter.
Over the statue, is a Gothic canopy, supported by clustered columns of polished
granite and crowned by a spire of rich tagemacle work, in gilt and enamelled metal,
terminating in a cross. At the angles of the steps, are noble groups of sculpture—
allegorical representations of the great divisions of the world—Europe (Maazrwcll ),
Asia (Foley), Africa (Theed), and America (Bell). Around the canopy, is theinscrip-
tion, in blue mosaic, upona gilt ground, “Queen Victoria and her peo‘ple to the
memory of Albert, Prince Consort, as a tribute of their gratitude for a life devoted
to the public good.”

Kensington Gardens.
[Map II.: L-M 8-9]

Nearest Railway Stations: South Kensington, High Street (Kensington),
Notting Hill Gate, or Lancaster Gate (Central London).

This delightful resort, with its broad avenues and thickly-inter-
laced lofty trees, its elaborate flower-beds, its fountains, and its
charming water scenery, stands unrivalled among the public
pleasure-grounds of London. Iits fine woodland amphitheatre
and rich glades give sudden surprises of landscape, which, for
beauty, can scarcely be surpassed in any English-forest. The
gardens were first laid out in the reign of William III. and
were very considerably enlarged in that of George II. At this
period, Queen Caroline appropriated about three hundred acres of
the old Hyde Park, separated them from the park by a fosse and
sunken wall, and engaged Bridgeman, a noted landscape gardener
of the day, to lay out the domain. The Round Pond was formed,
the avenues, with the converging lines of noble trees, planted,
and the Serpentine took its present shape. The bridge connecting
the gardens with-Hyde Park was erected in 1826. : .
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The Statue of Queen Victoria, which stands in the BROAD WALK,
was executed by the Princess Louise, and purchased and erected by
the inhabitants of Kensington. The statue, of white marble, repre-
sents her Majesty as she was when she first ascended the throne.

The best way by which to obtain a general view of the gardens is to enter the
Alexandra Gate, near the Albert Memorial ; proceed down the broad avenue, until
Kensington Palace is reached ; then turning east, skirt the Round Pond, and go

down the slope towards the Semgne. Then turn to the right, passing the pretty
cottage of the ranger, with its ng flower-| , and cross the open space to the
bridge, from whence there is one of the most exquisite park views in London,
whether we look north or south.

Kensington Palace.
[(MapII.: M 8]

Nearest Railway Stations: High Street (Kensington) or Notting Hill Gate:
Queen’s Road (Central London).

The State Rooms and the Orangery are opem FREE daily, except
Wednesdays, unless notice be at any time given to the contrary—
1st April to 3oth September, ten to six; winter months ten lo four.
Open on SUNDAYS at 2 p.m. Closed on Christmas Day and Good
Friday.

Kensington Palace—the state rooms in which were thrown open
to the public, on the eightieth birthday of Queen Victoria,
May 24, 18g9—stands at the western end of Kensington Gardens.
Great interest attaches to this historic building, for here Queen
Victoria was born, here she spent the quiet days of child-
hood, and here at five o'clock on the eventful morning of June 21,
1837, she received the news of her accession to the throne. Two
of the most interesting rooms, namely, the Birthroom and the room
in which the youthful monarch held her first Council, are not shown.

The Palace dates from the time of William III., who purchased
the mansion, then known as Nottingham House, from Lord Chan-
cellor Finch for the sum of 18,000 guineas. William immediately
set to work to extend and improve the place, his efforts being
energetically seconded during his long absence in Ireland by
Queen Mary. Sir Christopher Wren was the architect employed,
and the portions of the existing palace for which he was responsible
are wholly commendable. Kensington now became the favourite
royal residence, a distinction it enjoyed through several successive
reigns. King William, Queen Mary, Queen Anne, her husband
(Prince George of Denmark), and George II. all died here. Under
George 1. an additional suite of state rooms was constructed under
the direction of Wm. Kent, whose ideas of art, happily, hardly com-
mend themselves to the present generation. George III. cared
little for the place, though it continued to be inhabited, in part, by
various members of theroyal family. During the late Queen’sreign,
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the most notable event in connection with the palace was the birth
on May 26, 1867, of the Princess May, now Duchess of York.

For many years the unused central apartments were suffered to
fall into a woeful condition of dilapidation. Queen Mary’s Gallery
apparently served merely as a lumber-room for such diverse articles
as old bedsteads, mangles, and packing-cases. The Orangery, a
much-praised specimen of Sir Christopher Wren’s work, wis used
as a common tool-house by the gardeners. In March, 1898, in
deference to the Queen’s kindly expressed wish, the House of
Commons voted a sum of £23,000 towards the cost of restoration.
The work, considering the difficulties involved, was carried out
in a most successful manner under the direction of the Office
of Works, and the state apartments as now seen may be con-
sidered a historical relic of the greatest value. It may be well
to say at once that the pictures which deck the walls are to be
esteemed rather for their historical interest than for their intrinsic
value as works of art, in which latter respect some are palpably
deficient.

Entering from Kensington -Gardens, at the northernmost angle
of the palace, the visitor first reaches—

The Orangery, built for g:leeu Anne by Sir Christopher Wren at a cost of over
#£2,000. It stands on a slight terrace of Portland stone, with steps at the ends and
in frout. It is a very simple and unambitious structure of red brick, with rusticated
piers The interior, in its empty condition, at first strikes one as bald and un-
inviting, but when the proportions of the room are observed, together with the
beautiful carved cornices, columns, and festoons, it is impossible to withhold
admiration. The quaint alcoves are especially noteworthy.

The Palace proper is entered by the Queen’s Staircase, Many modern hotels
have staircases far more imposing, but there is something very pleasing in the
plain, panelled oak wainscoting and the broad, easy steps.

Quoen Mary's Gallery is likewise notable for its richly-grained oak panelling and
flooring. The quaint gilt looking-glasses over the chimney-pieces are the most
striking feature of the room. The pictures are mostly portraits of monarchs by
Kneller, and include William III. (two) and his consort Mary, George II. and

ueen Caroline, Georie I, and a very striking portrait of Peter the Great, executed

uring the Czar’s shipbuilding visit to this country.

The Queet’s Oloset is a small apartment with a handsome stone Tudor chimney-
piece, formerly in Westminster Palace. The Picfures of Old London, which have
been collected from Hampton Court and other places, are full of antiquarian
interest, and bear striking testimony to the changes which many of the most
familiar aspects of London have undergone within the last century or so.

Queen Anne’s Private Room is an eminently cosy room—a room for use
rather than for show. Here, it is believed, took place the final rupture between
the Queen and her whilom favourite, Sarah, Duchess of Marlborough. The most
important picture is that lent by the Trustees of the National Portrait Gallery,
* Installation of Kuights of the Garter at Kensington in 1713,” by Peter Angelis.

‘an Wyck's portrait of Churchill, first Duke of Marlborough, is appropriately placed
in this apartment.

Queen 's Privy Chamber is chiefly interesting for the portraits of John Locke
and Robert Boyle the philosophers, Matthew Prior the poet, and Sir Isaac Newton.
In the elaborately-carved oak cornice may be seen the initials of William and Mary.

Here we leave the apartments designed by Wren, and have an
opportunity of contrasting his work with that of William Kent.
Queen Oaroline’s Drawing Room looks out upon the Clock Court. The ceiling is
10
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very richly, not to say gorgeously, decorated, the centre being occupied by a deeply
recessed oval painting of Minerva. Amongst the contemporary French and German
portraits with which the walls are hung, mention may be made of * Madame de
P(:lnnigadour," the mistress of Louis XV., by Drouais, and the replica of Callet's
familiar painting of “ Louis XVI. in his Coronation Robes.” “Frederick the Great,"”
by Antoine Pesne, is also a striking portrait.

The Cupala, or Cube is an architectural and decorative curiosity. The flat,
central portion of the domed ceiling is occupied by an enormous star of the Order
of the Garter. There are four oak pilasters to each wall, the spaces between being
filled by white marble niches containing newly gilt classical figures, The doorways
and the chimney-piece are alsoof marble. Above the latter is a bas-relief represent-
ing a Roman marriage. This showy room seems to have been intended for balls
and receptions. It is thought to have been the room in which Queen Victoria was .
baptised exactlg;momh ter birth,

The ¥ 'S wing Room forms part of the east front, and from the window a
beautiftt view is obtained of the Round Pond and the leafy glades and grassy
slopes of Kensington Gardens. Here we have another of Kent's gorgeous oval
panels in the ceiling. The subject is the story of Jupiter and Semele. Above the
cornice is some most elaborate scroll-work. The pictures are mostly portraits by
West, executed to the order of George III. A copy of the painter's well-known
‘“ Death of General Wolfe” is also hung.

The King's Privy Chamber is an insignificant apartment, but contains some good
pictures, including Gainsborough's “ Portrait of Hurd, Bishop of Worcester,” and
Opie's “ Mrs. Delany.” Ho{mr’s “ Francis, 5th Duke of Bedford,” should also be noted.

The Ni was the birthroom of Princess May. The walls are hung with
prints illustrative of the Queen’s life and reign.

Queen Viotoria’s was the room used by her Majesty during girlhood.
Here she was sleeging when summoned to receive the news of her accession to the
throne. A dolls’ house and a number of her toys are exhibited here, and attract
much attention.

The x.ing'l Gallery is the finest room in the Palace, and forms an admirable
climax to the apartments already seen. It was designed by Wren, and is beautifully
I}roportioned, The carvings of the cornice and the doors are by Grinling Gibbons.

he painted ceiling is Kent's work again. There are seven panels, six being oblong,
and the central one oval. Over the chimney-piece is a curious wind-dial, showing
part of the map of Europe. The dial hand was connected with a vane above the
root, and by its means asthmatic King William was able to judge whether he might
safely venture out of doors. Peter the Great is said by Macaulay to have been
greatly taken with this ingenious piece of mechanism.

The pictures are mostly sea-pieces, and admirably illustrate the Georgian iod
of naval history. Huggins' pictures of “Trafalgar,” and §. T. Serres’ “ Battle of
Camperdown” will attract special attention.

The King’s Grand Staircase may only be seen from the top. The painted walls
show various forgotten worthies. The chess-board like squares of black and white
marble, the han e ironwork of the balusters, and the rich ceiling give the
staircase a very imposing appearance. .

The Presence Chamber is of little interest, except for Grinling Gibbons' garving
over the chimney-piece. The walls are hung with ceremonial pictures of the
Queen’s reign.

Kensington Church, St. Mary Abbot's, is near the western extremity
ot the High Street. The old building has been replaced by a large
and handsome Gothic edifice, designed by Sir Gilbert Scott.

* * % * * *

We are getting beyond our bounds, but must take the visitor
a third of a mile farther ‘west to Holland House, one of the
most interesting mansions in the vicinity of London, built by
Sir Walter Cope in 1607. In 1716, Addison married the Countess
Dowager of Warwick, widow of Lord Holland, and became

ominally master of the house, where he died. For a period,
Holland House was the most brilliant literary and political centre
in London.
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THE KING'S DRAWING-ROOM.

R. Thiel & Co.,) (Chancery Lang
THE KING'S GALLERY.
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A few yards westward of Holland House is—

Leighton House,
2, Holland Park Road, Kensington.
[Map IL.: N 7.] :
Nearest Railway Stations : High Street (Kensington) and Addison Road.
Holland Park (Central London).
Omnibuses proceeding along Knightsbridge Road and Kensington High
Street pass quite close to the house (alight at Melbury Road).

Open 2 to 5.30 p.m. FREE on Tuesdays and Saturdays ; other dtévs, by tickets, ONE
SHILLING each, to be obtained at 1, Laura Place, close to the house. Closed on Sundays.

Shortly after Lord Leighton’s death, an influential committee was
formed with the object of securing the famous P.R.A.’s house, with
its matchless Arab Hall, as a national treasure. Thanks to Lord
Leighton’s executrixes, his two sisters, this object now seems likely
to be attained, and the house is open for inspection as specified
above. It contains a large collection of Lord Leighton’s original
drawings and sketches, and proof engravings and photographic re-
productions of his principal pictures. There are also a few finished
paintings. In the drawing-room, with its pretty garden outlook, it
is proposed to form an Art Library, the collection of which has
already been begun. To art students especially the collection is of
great interest as showing with what labour and patience Leighton
developed his designs into finished pictures.

In the Inner Hall, which is of the “patio” type, lit from the sky,
the place of honour is given to a bronze reproduction of Brock's
fine bust-portrait of the late P.R.A. The walls are lined with
De Morgan’s blue. tiles, surrounding plaques of Damascus tiles.

By a happily-conceived gradation of effects one passes from the
well-lit hall into a “twilight corridor where enamel and gold detach
themselves from an architectural ground of a richness somewhat
severe. It is a transition which prepares the eye for a jewel of
Oriental art, where the most brilliant productions of the Persian
potter are set in an architectural frame inspired by Arab art, but
treated freely ; the harmony is so perfect that one asks oneself if
the architecture has been conceived for the enamels or the enamels
for the hall” (Choisy). Mr. Purdon Clark holds, indeed, that this
Avab Hall is the most beautiful structure which has been erected
si.ice the sixteenth century. Most of the tiles date from three
hundred years ago, while two are of the fourteenth century. They
were collected by Lord Leighton during his visits to the East and
are priceless. The large columns are of Caserta marble. The
beautiful lattices to the lower windows and gallery are from
Damascus. The very effective central fountain is bordered by
a square of-‘Belgian black marble. The Damascene windows,
with' their contrasts of gorgeous colour, are very beaatiful.

The Silk Room contains, amongst other treasures, a proof photo-
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gravure of “ Cimabue’s Madonna carried in procession through the
streets of Florence,” the first picture exhibited by Leighion at the
Royal Academy. In the Studio, a melancholy interest attaches to

No. 268—studies (chalk

on brown paper) for the .

picture Lord Leighton
was designing when he
died, executed the last
day he worked (January

21, 1896).
* * %

At Barl’s Court, a littl
to the south, adjoining
the station, is the
ground on which ex-
hibitions take place
from time to time. Here
may be seen the Great
Wheel, three hundred
feet in height, which
claims to possess ‘“the
largest circulation in the
world.” - The outlook
from the cars is very
extensive.

Olympia, adjoining
Addison Road station, is
famous for Barnum
and Bailey's and other
great Shows.

In BLYTHE ROAD, just
behind Olympia, are
being erected the new
offices of the Post Office
Savings Bank. The
work has hitherto been
carried on at Queen
Victoria Street, but the
great increase in the
number of depositors

York & Son,] [ Notting Hill.

THE GREAT WHEEL.

has rendered additional accommodation necessary. The block will
cover the greater part of five acres, and will be in the St. Martin's-
le-Grand style. The then Prince of Wales laid the foundation stone

in June, 1899.



Symmons & Co.,) 7 (23, Borwerie St., F.C.
SEA LION AT THE ZOO.

EXCURSION 1V.

REGENT STREET AND REGENT’S PARK, EDG-
WARE ROAD, OXFORD STREET, &c.

0O-DAY, we will have a look at the shop-windows in Regent

Street—perhaps, to ladies, the most attractive of London's
arteries —then visit the Wallace Collection, and proceed to
Regent’s Park and the Zoological Gardens, returning to Charing
“Cross vid Edgware Road, Oxford Street, &c.

Regent Street
(Map I.: L1z; I : ¥12]
and Regent’s Park both owe their existence to a magnificent whim
of George IV., who, as Prince of Wales and Prince Regent, lived
in Carlton House, which stood on the spot now occupied by the
southern half of Waterloo Place. He conceived the idea of build-
ing a villa on or near Primrose Hill (then a rural spot), and projected
a fine new road, three miles long, to connectit with Carlton House.
The villa never became a reality ; but Regent Street did, and the

Regent’s Park soon followed.
134
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At the corner of the southern portion of Regent Street and
Charles Street, is the Junior United Service Club, built by Smirke in
1824. With the exception of St. Philip’s Church, whose designer
was Repton, we have little to detain us till we reach the com-
mencement of Regent Street proper at PiccapiLLy CIRCUS and
the Shaftesbury Fountain (see pp. 75-6). Then we have quite
enough to occupy our attention, for, on both sides of the street,
are numerous large and fashionable shops—among the most famous
in London. The building immediately facing us, surmounted by a
statue of Britannia, is the County Fire Office, and the noble road,
which takes such a bold curve, is the QUADRANT, as that part of
Regent Street is named. At first, the footway on each side was

. covered, the roof being supported by cast-iron fluted columns.
Striking as the colonnade was from an architectural ‘point of view,
it excluded light from the shops, and was therefore removed. The
buildings on each side of the street are lofty and uniform, and the
entire coup d'eeil is very pleasing. A few doors up, on the left, is
the entrance to 8t. James’s Hall, one of the finest concert-rooms
in London ; there is a second entrance from Piccadilly. The large
hall is a hundred and thirty-nine feet long and sixty high.

In SWALLOW STREET, the turning to the south just above the
hall, is Charles Voysey’s Theistic Church. VIGo STREET, which
we next reach on the same side of the road, connects Regent
Street with Savile Row (the Royal Geographical Society’s head-
quarters are at the corner) and the Albany, and is continued
as Burlington Gardens to Bond Street, Old and New, which
streets and their surroundings we have already visited. New
Bond Street communicates with Oxford Street, and a little further
north is joined to Regent Street by CoNDUIT STREET, a wide
thoroughfare, well known to purchasers of music and musical in-
struments. The New Gallery is a little to the north of Vigo Street.

GLASSHOUSE STREET, on the right side of Regent Street, ends
at Piccadilly Circus, and conducts us, vid Brewer Street, into
GOLDEN SQUARE, interesting to readers of Nicholas Nickleby.
BEAK STREET leaves Regent Street on the same side of the road ;
and higher up, ARGYLL PLACE will conduct our wandering feet
into MARLBOROUGH STREET, in which there is a somewhat
noted police-court. In ARGYLL STREET, is the National Skating
Rink, occupying the building formerly known as Hengler's Grand
Cirque.

PRINCES STREET and HANOVER STREET, nearly opposite Argyll
Place, both communicate with—

Hanover 8quare [Map I. : L 12], one of the best-known squares
of the West End. It was built in 1718, and received its name
as a compliment to George I. In the centre, is Chantrey's
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Statue of William Pitt. The Square contains the 8t. George’s Club,
the Oriental Olub (founded in 1824), and the Arts Olub. At Nos.
4 and 5, is the Royal Academy of Music. Founded in 1822 for
the promotion of the study of music, the Acadéemy has had a
prosperous career ; and it is considered no small honour to be
entitled to write the magic letters, R.A.M.,, or still better, L.R.AM.,
after one’s name. The London Zoological Society and the Anthro-
pological Institute of Great Britain and Ireland are at No. 3 ; the
Smithfield Cattle COlub has its home at No. 12; and the Royal
Soclety of Literature has its head-quarters at No. 20.

St. George’s, Hanover Square,

stands a little to the south, at the corner of GEORGE STREET and
MApDOCK STREET. The church has a fine classical portico, its
pediment supported by six Corinthian pillars. The east window
originally belonged to a chapel at Mechlin, to which it was
given by Isabella of Spain. Thornhill's beautiful painting of
“The Last Supper,” over the communion table, is enclosed in a
carved frame, attributed to Grinling Gibbons. The organ, on
which Handel has plaged, was built by Snetzler, in 1761, and
entirely reconstructed by Hill, in 1864. It is now worked on
the Hope-Jones electric-system. The church was greatly injured
by fire in November, 1896. The registers, which are un-
questionably the most interesting in London, were fortunately
preserved. The number of marriages of well-known people
which have been celebrated here is truly enormous. Among
them was that of Sir William Hamilton to Emma Harte, after-
wards ‘“the friend of Nelson,” in 1791 ; Benjamin Disraeli to Mary
Anne Lewis in 1839 ; and “ George Eliot” in 1880. One of the
most notable weddings of recent years was that of Mr. Asquith.

Leaving the square by Harewood Place we cross Oxford Street
to HOLLES STREET, where Lord Byron was born in 1788. The site
of the house (part of Mr. John Lewis’s premises) is marked by a
handsome bronze bust, erected in May, 1g00. CAVENDISH SQUARE
was planned in 1715, by the Duke of Chandos, who projected a
superb mansion on its north side, intending to purchase all the
land between the square and his seat, at Canons, near Edgware.
nine miles distant, so that he might ride to town through his own
estate. He never realised his ambition, and only two wings of
the mansion were completed, forming the corner houses of Harley
Street and Chandos Street. The east wing was demolished some
years since. In the garden is a 8tatue, by Campbell, of Lord George
Bentinck. On the west side of the square, is Harcourt House, a
vast building surrounded by high walls. HARLEY STREET is
noted for the large number of consulting physicians and other
members of “the faculty,” residing in it.

A few yards westward is MANCHESTER SQUARE, the north side
of which is occupied by Hertfora House, the stately red-brick
mansion in which is housed—
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The Wallace Collection.

[(Map III. : ¥ 11.]

Nearest Railway Stations : Bond Street (Ceniral London), Baker Street
(Metropolitan).

Omnibuses proceeding along Oxford Street or Baker Street pass quite close to
Manchester Square.

Hours of Admission : The Wallace Collection is open FREE on Wednesdays,
Thursdays and Saturdays from 10.0 a.m. to 6.0 p.m., or dusk. On Mondays
from 2.0 ‘p.m. to 6.0 p.m. Also on Sundays from beginning of April to end of
October from 2.0 p.m. to 6.0 p.m.

On Tuesdays and Fridays the Collection is open from 11.0 2.m. to 6.0 p.m,, or
dusk, on payment of SIXPENCE.

This superb, and in some respects unrivalled, collection of
pictures, artistic furniture, porcelain, miniatures, enamels, and
European and Oriental arms and armour was bequeathed to the
British Nation by the late Lady Wallace, on the condition that the
Government for the time being should give a site in a central part
of London, and build thereon a special museum to contain it. It
was also stipulated that the collection should always be kept to-
gether, unmixed with other objects of art, and should be styled
“The Wallace Collection.” Eventually the conclusion was come
to that no temple could more fittingly enshrine these priceless
treasures than their old home. Hertford House was accordingly
purchased, remodelled, and to some extent reconstructed for
the purpose, at a cost of £100,000. The collection was formed in
the main by Francis Charles, third Marquis, and Richard, fourth
Marquis of Hertford, and supplemented by Sir Richard Wallace,
to whom it passed by bequest. The first-named nobleman enjoys
a dubious fame as the Marquis of Steyne of Thackeray’s Vanity
Fair. Whatever his foibles, no one will question his incom-
parable taste. As has been well said, “ those who enter Hertford
House feel the impress of a single cultured personality who bought
these beautiful objects, not only because they were rich and rare,
but because they were beautiful in themselves, and delightful to
be associated with in the intimacy of private life. Hertford House
is not only a museum ; it is a palatial home.” Judged merely as a
picture gallery, it is certainly one of the finest in Europe, being
notably strong in masters of the French school of the eighteenth
century. The English, Dutch, Italian, and Spanish schools are
also most worthily represented. The collection of artistic
furniture of the periods of Louis XIV, XV, and XVI. is unique;
while the Sévres porcelain can only be rivalled by the superb
collection at Windsor Castle and Buckingham Palace. The
collection of arms and armour was for the most part brought
together by Sir Richard Wallace, and includes the choicest pieces
of the Debruge, Meyrick, and Nieuwerkerke collections. Thefour
large galleries containing the armouries are an addition to the
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house, having been specially built by the Trustees on the site of the
former stables.

The Collection was opened to the public by the then Prince of
Wales on the 22nd of June, 190o0.

On entering, the visitor is faced by the Great Staircase, of marble,
surmounted by a Louis Quatorze balustrade. At the head are
busts of the Marquis of Hertford, and of Sir Richard and Lady
Wallace.

It is impossible to even mention a tithe of the interesting objects
in this priceless collection, but it may be well to say that the
general arrangement is as follows :—

Ground Floor.
Chamber I. Portraits of Royal Personages.
" II. French Furniture.
" III. Paintings of the Earlier Schools—Majolica
and Limoges Enamels.
IV. Sculptures.
., VI, VII. European Armoury.
" 'VIII. Oriental Armoury.
" IX, X. British and French Schools of nineteenth
century.
" XI. Paintings by Oudry, Desportes, and others—
Miniatures.
First Floor.
Chamber XII. French Furniture—Paintings by Canaletto
and Guardi.
XIII., XIV. Dutch Schools of seventeenth century.
” XV. French and British Schools of nineteenth
century.
" XVI. Italian, Spanish, Flemish, Dutnh and British
Schools.
XVII. Schools of seventeenth century.
\\'II] XIX,, XX. and Great Staircase. French Schools of
cighteenth century.
XXI., XXII. Water Colours.

Catalogues of the pictures and of the European arms and armour
may be obtained, but so far the furniture and works of art have not
been listed.

Returning to Oxford Strect by way of Duke Street we are within
easy walking distance of —

Oxford Circus.
[(Map III. : ¥12.]

Cab Fares ;: From Broad Street, Cannon Street, Fenchurch Street, Holborn Viaduct,
Liverpool Street, London Bridge, Ludgate Hill, or Mansion House railwav
stations—1/6.

From Charing Cross, Euston, King's Cross, Paddington, St. Pancras Victoria, or
‘Waterloo stations—1/-.
Railway Station : Oxford Circus (Central London).
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Oxford Circus, at the intersection of Oxford and Regent Streets,
is one of the busiest 'bus centres. Hence runs the northern end
of Regent Street, the chief feature of which is The Polytechnic.
The old institution, famous for its popular scientific lectures, ex-
hibitions, &c., closed its doors in 1881, and was purchased by
the Young Men’s Christian Association. It is now used for
technical and scientific classes, and is the centre of much religious
activity of the most practical and useful type.

LANGHAM PLACE connects Regent Street and Portland Place.
Its principal features are the Langham Hotel, one of the largest of
its kind, greatly affected by visitors from “ the States” ; 8t. George’s
Hall, with an elegant little theatre; and All Souls’ Church, of some-
what unusual architecture. It was designed by Nask, and its
entrance is a reproduction of the circular tower of Mars, with
Tonic columns and Corinthian peristyle, surmounted by a conical
“ extinguisher ” spire. The Queen’s Hall, mainly used for the per-
formance of high-class music, was opened in November, 1893.
Its front is in the French Renaissance style ; and the hall is seated
for twelve hundred and sixty-four persons. There is a smaller hall,
seated for five hundred. The Queen’s Hall is now perhaps the best
known hall in London, the popular promenade concerts and similar
functions attracting vast crowds almost daily.

From Langham Place, extends northward PORTLAND PLACE,
one of the broadest thoroughfares in the metropolis. It leads to
PARK CRESCENT at the entrance to Regent's Park, and is lined with
mansions in the most severely plain style of architecture. These,
however, contain some of the most beautiful Adams’ ceilings, doors,
and fireplaces.

Here, again, we make a slight digression. In GREAT PORTLAND
STREET, are 8t. Paul’s Episcopal Chapel, the Jews' Central Syna-
gogue, and the National Dental Hospital. At the corner of
Mortimer Street and Cleveland Street, is the Middlesex Hospital,
founded in 1745. In Fitzroy Square, to the east, is Lady Eastlake’s
Collection of Pictures.

To the west are many streets noted for their connection with
the “upper ten,” the gossip concerning which would fill volumes.
In MANCHESTER SQUARE is Hertford House, containing the famous
Wallace Collection (sc¢ pp. 137-8). PORTMAN SQUARE is con-
nected with Manchester Square by Lower Berkeley Street ; and
with Edgware Road by UPPER BERKELEY STREET, in which is
the West London Synagogue. In LOWER SEYMOUR STREET are the
Steinway Hall Ooncert Rooms. Near the north-western corner
of the square, Montagu House reminds us of the celebrated
authoress for whom it was built. BAKER STREET, a straight and
spacious connecting link between Oxford Street and Marylebone
Road, reaches the latter artery close to the Metropolitan railway
stahon to which it gives its name.
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In KING STREET, a short turning on the west side of Baker
Street, 8139 the French Chapel, which celebrated its centen_a‘ry in

ay, 1899,

Outside the Portland Road station, is a wide open space formed
by the junction of several important streets. It is here that the
northern artery from west to east (see p. 62) changes its name
from Marylebone Road to Euston Road. Facing the station is
Trinity Church, Marylebone. The pulpit outside, on the wall to
the left of the portico, is a memorial of the Rev. Canon W.
Cadman, and is used at the week-day outdoor services.

® * ® * * =

The MARYLEBONE RoAb, along which we walk westward for a
short distance, when we reach the left-hand extremity of Park
CRESCENT, is one of the main thoroughfares of London. In its
course, it passes several useful public edifices, with more or less
pretension to beauty of architecture. Among them is St Mary-
lebone Parish Church, standing near the site of an older edifice
which figures in Hogarth’s “Rake’s Progress.” Charles Wesley
was buried in the churchyard.

A little further westward, but on the opposite side, is Madame
Tussaud’s Waxwork Exhibition, a ‘“show” the establishment of
which is coeval with the commencement of the nineteenth century.
Admission, one shilling ; chamber of horrors, sixpence extra.

St. Marylebone (popularly pronounced Marrowbun), literally
means St. Mary near the bourne, or brook, the Tyburn stream:
runnin% through the parish.

Still further west are Queen Charlotte’s Lying-In Hospital, with
its new Nurses’ Home, the Western Ophthalmic Hospital, and a
Samaritan Free Hospital for Women and Children. Here also
is the new Marylebone Workhouse, opened in the spring of 19oo.
It has the appearance of a ducal mansion, or an exceptionally
handsome block of flats, rather than of a Poor Law institution.
The Marylebone Baths were opened by the Duke and Duchess of
York in 1897. Besides the large Pompeian swimming bath for
gentlemen, there are ladies’ baths, and warm and vapour baths.
A speciality is made of the “ penny bath,” the first of the kind in
London. The terminus of the new Great Central line from
Sheffield to London abuts on the northern side of Marylebone
Road, near Baker Street. A very handsome hotel, the Great
Cenlral, with a commanding clock tower, has been erected to
meet the requirements of passengers. Close at hand, in Church
Street, is being erected the new Portman Market. The buildings
will occupy an area of 43,426 superficial feet.

Chapel Street is really a continuation of Marylebone Road.
The Edgware Road Railway Station, so named from the impor-
tant thoroughfare close by, is in CHAPEL STREET.

We leave Marylebone Road on reaching the York Gate of—
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Regent’s Park.
(Map III.: G-H I 10-11.]

Nearest Railway Stations: Baker Street, Portland Road, St. John's Wood
Road, and Chalk Farm.

Regent’s Park, the largest of the London parks (it is about three
miles round), occupies the site of the Old Marylebone Fields. It
was laid out by Nash, at the command of the Prince Regent, a
circumstance from which it obtained its name. Around it, is a
carriage drive, two miles in circuit, and known as the OUTER
CIRCLE ; and within this, around the Botanic Gardens, in the
very centre of the ornamental portion of the park, is a circular
road, called the INNER CIRCLE. Bordering and surrounding the
park, except for a small portion on its north side, are a succession of
terraces of large mansions ; and about midway, on its eastern side,
not far from the Gloucester Gate, is 8t. Katharine’s Hospital and its
chapel. Originally founded by royal hands, centuries ago, and
intended for the support of “six poor bachelors and six poor
spinsters,” in a precinct of the Tower, it was removed hither in 1827,
to make room for the St. Katharine’s Docks; and it is now the
“local habitation” of Queen Victoria’s Jubilee Institution for
Nurses.

In the eastern portion of the park, the Broad Walk runs across it.
This is lined with parterres of gay flowers and large chestnut trees,
which in the spring present a sight which rivals in beauty that of
the famous avenue of these trees in Bushey Park. The vista is
broken by a pretty drinking fountain, a token of gratitude from a
Parsee gentleman. Refreshments are served at the adjoining
pavilion in the summer time.

The Lake, in the western half of the park, is unusually beautiful,
the size of the trees by which it is overshadowed and its other
features giving but little indication of its artificial character. It has
three forks and is crossed by suspension bridges, large numbers of
aquatic birds disporting themselves on its waters. Boats may be
hired at reasonable charges.

The Royal Botanic Society’s Gardens,

circular in shape, in the southern part of Regent’s Park, are beautifully laid
out, and contain an artificial lake, conservatories, &c. The flower-shows are
among the “events” of the London season, and on Wednesdays, during the
summer months, there are musical promenades, functions at which the leaders
of fon invariably put in an appearance. The Gardens are open every week-day
from nine bill sumset ; on M tys and Saturdays on p ¢t of one shilling ; on
other days (including Sunduys, two o'clock), by orders fo be obtained on application
to the fe and officials. :

The Toxophilite Soclety’s Gardem is to the south of the Botanic
Garden, from which it is separated by the Inner Circle.
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The Zoological Gardens.
Nearest Railway Stations : Chalk Farm (North London), St. John's Wond
Road (Metropolitan).

Admission.—The Gardens ave open from 9 a.m. umiil sunsct.
Admission one shilling each person, except on Mondays, when only
sizpence is charged. Children half price, except Mondays. Military
bands perform on Saturday afternoons in the summer. On Sundays
admission may be obtained by order from a fellow of the Sociely.

The Zoological Gardens, familiarly known to Londoners as “the
Zoo,” are in the northern part of Regent's Park and to the west ot
the Broad Walk, which they adjoin. They extend southward from

the banks of the Regent’s Canal, which here skirts the park, and are |
intersected by the Outer Circle, communication being afforded by a l

tunnel. The houses of the larger animals, elephants, rhinocerosi,
hippopotami, &c., are in the northern portion, and a spacious house
for lions and other of the larger carnivora, is in the southern part of
the ground. The Monkey House, Seal Ponds, Bear Pits, Aquariums,
and an extensive collection of British and foreign birds are great
attractions. A house has recently been built at a cost of upwg(t
of £1,100 to accommodate the Society’s fine collection of zebrss
and wild asses.

Some statistics regarding the Zoo can hardly fail to be of interest
The yearly number of visitors during the last decade has averaged

653,723. The number of inmates—willing and unwilling—is about |
2,750, the proportion of birds being nearly double that of mammals, |

and of mammals nearly double that of reptiles. To attend to the
wants of this very varied family a staff of about a hundred mer
is required. The food. consumed during the year works out as
follows. No one can complain that the dietary is not sufficiently

‘“mixed,” extending as it does from horseflesh to cherries, and even |

such lordly luxuries as grapes and condensed milk.

Clover, 139loads ; hay, 1414 loads ; straw, 226 loads ; oats, 156 grs. ; barley, 32 grs. :
wheat, 40 grs. ; peas, I gr.; beans, 6 qrs. ; maize, 81 grs.; bran, 265 qrs. ;
seed, 19 grs. ; hemp seed, 13 grs. ; rape, 1 gr.; millet, 5 grs.; buckwheat, 6 '
rice, 74 cwt.; maw seed, 56 lbs. ; oil cake, 60 cwt. ; oatmeal, 3 cwt. ; bread,
gtns. ; milk, fresh, 4,669 gts. ; milk, preserved, 803 tins; biscuit, 330 cwt.
* 29,400; horses, 234, weighing 92 tons; goats, 186, weighing 869 stone ; fl

2,190 lbs. ; whitings, 29,200 lbs.; rough fish, 10,080 Ibs.: shrimps, 1,260 28“:2 '

fowl-heads, 9,450 ; sugar, 454 Ibs, ; raisins, 174 Ibs. ; currants, 124 1bs. ; figs, r
Liebig, 49 pots ; greens, 7,764 bunches ; carrots, 1,250 bunchesand 113 cwts. in sacks:
potatoes, 94 cwt.; cress, 2,064 bunches; bananas, 1,589 doz.; apples, 123 bushels :
pears, 19 bushels: grapes, 957 lbs. ; dates, 1,520 Ibs. ; oranges, 6,300 ; onions, 4
bushels; monkey nuts, 45 cwt. ; Spanish nuts, 25 pecks; Brazil nuts, § pecks:
cherries, 122 lbs. ; melons, 56 lbs. ; marrows, 50 doz. ; cabbage, 647 doz. ; lettuce,
350 score,

Primrose Hill, to the north of the park, is much resorted to, partly

for the sake of the cricket-ground and gymnasium, and partly for |

the wide view of the metropolis, with Hampstead, Highgate, &c.,
which may be obtained from its sunmit,
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Photos by) UA. F. Phillips.
STUDIES AT THE ZOO.
1. King Pen&mn 4. The Bear Den.

2. Sambur Deer. 5. Yak with Young.
3. Pelicans. i
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Lord’s Cricket Ground,

a little to the west of Regent’s Park, is reached by ST. JoHN’s WooD
Roap. Itis the property of the Marylebone Cricket Club, and on it
the chief matches are played every year. Gate-money, sixpence ; on
special occasions, onc shilling ; when the Eton and Harrow mafch is
played, half-a-crown.

St. John’s Wood Road runs into EDGWARE ROAD, an important
artery connecting the north-western suburbs with Oxford Street.

Before walking down Edgware Road, from the end of CHAPEL
STREET, we make two - détours. The one; along HARROW ROAD,
cénducts us to Paddington Greem, where stands a Statue of Mrs
Siddons, the noted actress. It is modelled from Reynolds’ cele-
brated picture of Mrs. Siddons as the Tragic Muse. 8t
Church, to the south-west of the- Green, is a Grecian edifice,
surmounted by a cupola and vane. The:Churchyard has been
laid out as a garden, and contains, besides the .tomb of Mrs.
Siddons, those of Benjamin Robert Haydon, the: painter, of
William Collins, R.A., of George Barret, one of the founders of
the Society of Painters in Water Colours, of Sapro and Zarra.
noted vocalists in their day, of George Bushnell, an erratic
sculptor, who died in 1701, and of other noted artists. In St
Mary’s Terrace, close by, is the Welsh Church of 8t. David’s. A
Children’s Hospital and the Stainer Homes for Deaf and Dumb
Children face the Green.

The other divergence is that along PRAED STREET as far as the
terminus of the Great Western Railway, with two stations on the
Metropolitan Railway adjoining it. In CAMBRIDGE PLACE is St
Mary’s Hospital.

Edgware Road joins OXFORD STREET at the western limit of the
district to which we have confined ourselves, the north side of Hyde
Park, not far from—

The Marble Arch.
[Map. II.: L 10] .
Cab Fares : From Broad Street and Liverpool Street railway stations—2/6.

From Cannon Street, Fenchurch Street, Holborn Viaduct, London Bridge, Lud-

gate Hill, or Mansion House statxons—z/-

horgx (,hanng Cross, King's Cross, St. Pancras, Victoria, or Waterloo stations—

From Euston or Paddington stations—1/-.
Nearest Railway Stations : Marble Arch (Central London), Edgware Road
(Metropolitan.)

This arch, intended by George IV. to form the portal of Bucking-
ham Palace, was erected at a cost of £80,000. The sculptures on
the south front are by Bailey, and those on the north by Westmacott.
The bronze gates, of very elegant design, cost £3,150. In 1851, the
arch was removed to its present position. Near this end of Oxford
Street, is 8t. Saviour’s Church for the Blind and Deaf.

We are sure to find an omnibus hereabouts ; and can drive along
Oxford Street to OXFORD CIRCUS, returning vid REGENT STREET to
CHARING CROSS once more.
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THE HOUSES OF PARLIAMENT.

EXCURSION V.

THROUGH OFFICIAL LONDON: CHARING
CROSS TO THE HOUSES OF PARLIAMENT.

TARTING from the south side of Trafalgar Square, we have

before us another aspect of the great metropolis. We are
about to visit what may be termed Governmental London, the very
centre of administrative and legislative life. The broad street
before us is named, at its upper end, Charing Cross, and in its
central and lower portions, Whitehall. The southern end of what
has been called “the principal avenue in London” was formerly
known as Parliament Street, and was very narrow. By the demo-
Iition of houses on both sides the line of frontage has been set
back, and the vista thus opened to a person proceeding down
‘Whitehall from Trafalgar Square is superb. The improvement has
been effected at enormous cost, but no one can deny that it is
worth the money. Large sums are being spent on the erection
of additional Government offices.

Walking along Whitehall for a short distance, we shall see, on
our right, Great 8cotland Yard, till recently the head-quarters of the
Metropolitan Police (now removed to New Scotland Yard, on
the Embankment). On the opposite side of the street, is—

11 145
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The Admiralty.
(Map 1. : M 13.]

Cab Fares : From Paddington railway station—2/-.
From Broad Street, Cannon Street, Euston, Fenchurch Street, King’s Cross,
Live 1 Street, Mansion House, or St. Pancras stations—1/6.
From Charing Cross, Holborn Viaduct, London Bridge, Ludgate Hlll, Victoria, or
‘Waterloo stations—1/-.

Neavx\}%st Railway Station : Westminster Bridge. Omnibuses run along
iteh:

The buildings, erected about the year 1726 from- the plans of
Ripley, form three sides of a quadrangle, with a screen and gallery
towards the street, designed in 1776 by the brothers Robert and
Fames Adam, the architects of the Adelphi Terrace and Portland
Place. Surmounting the screen are sculptures of sea-horses. Here

York & Som,) [ Notting Hil.
NEW ADMIRALTY BUILDINGS, ST. JAMES'S PARK.

is the official residence of the First Lord of the Admiralty and of
the secretary to that board. The junior lords also have apartments
in the building, which contains a fine portrait of Lord Nelson,
by an Italian artist. We are told that Nelson and Wellington met,
for the only time and that for but a few minutes, casually in this
room, just as the gallant admiral was about to set out on his last
voyage, which culminated at Trafalgar. In the house of the
secretary there are portraits of persons who have filled that office
from “Diary” Pepys to the latest officials. The original building
has, however, grown quite inadequate to supply the wants of the
Admiralty—in 1894, no fewer than thirty other houses were
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occupied by them in various parts of London. An enlargement, to
take the shape of a quadrangle at the back of the building, has
been in progress since 1887. One portion has been finished ; and it
is expected that the work will be completed before long.

The Horse Guards,

formerly the head-quarters of the British army, takes its name from
the mounted household troops, always on duty. Its site is that of
the tiltyard of Westminster, so renowned in the courtly annals of

\

F.4 Dolisman,) [(Chiswick.
THE HORSE GUARDS.

the Tudor times. There tilted Philip Sidney, the Earl of Leicester,
Sir Christopher Hatton, and brave old Sir Henry Lee, who had lived
eighty years and served five English monarchs, “ In courtlie jousts,
his sovereign’s knyght he was.” The present building was erected
in 1758, at a cost of more than £30,000 ; it was originally intended
as a guard house for Whitehall Palace, from which fact it obtained
its name. It consists of a centre, surmounted by a tower—in which
isa clock, with illuminated dials, which enjoys the reputation of being
one of the best timekeepers in London—and two pavilion wings.
Benecath the clock-tower, is a passage communicating with the
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parade ground and St. James’s Park. The offices of the Comman-
der-in-chief, formerly occupying the northern part of the build-
ings, were removed to Pall Mall, many years since. The military
guard on duty is provided alternately by the two regiments of
Life Guards and the Horse Guards Blue ; and the change of guard,
which takes place at eleven o’clock every morning, always attracts
sightseers. The Parade Ground, behind the building, overlooks
St. James’s Park (sec p. 93), to which it is the principal entrance.

In WHITEHALL PLACE, opposite the entrance to the Horse Guards, is
being erected the New War Office,from designs by M. Young,F.R.I.B.A.

Adjoining the street known as HORSE GUARDS AVENUE, is an
historical building—

The Whitehall Banqueting Hall,

the only completed portion of the palace intended by Charles I. to
replace the famous residence of Wolsey, where the Court was held
from the reign of Henry VIII. to that of William III. The outbreak
of the Civil War prevented the completion of the grand design of
Inigo Fones, who projected a palace which should occupy a site of
twenty-four acres. Nothing was achieved but this edifice, from a
window of which Charles stepped, not as a monarch to his
throne, but to a scaffold, on the ever memorable 3oth of January,
1649. Afterwards, Cromwell kept his court in the old palace ; and
there Charles II. died, and his brother, James II., lived, till one night
he stole away quietly, and England had a new king in William of
Orange. The palace was burned down in 1698, the fire sparing
only the portion which Inigo Jones reared. The hall, a superb
specimen of the Later Renaissance, is a hundred and twelve feet
long, fifty-five wide, and fifty-five high. The ceiling, which was
painted by Rubens (who was paid £3,000 for the work), and after-
wards restored by Cipriani, represents the apotheosis of James I.,
and there are several allegorical figures. In 1724, it was converted
into a chapel royal. In 1893, Queen Victoria handed it over to—

The Royal United Service Institution,
as its future home ; and on the day on which its members took pos-
session of it, was commenced a new wing, adjoining its southern
end. The memorial stone “was laid by H.R.H. the Prince of
Wales, Admiral of the Fleet and Field Marshal, on the 6th day of
June, Anno Domini, 1893 " ; and in its front, beneath a plate of
stout glass, is to be seen a beautiful casket, containing specimens of
the silver coinage of the year and specimens of current literature.
The new building is constructed of brick, Portland stone, and granite,
and is fireproof both inroof and floors. There is but little sculptured
ornament within the building, but that little has been designed and
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executed by W. S. Frith in a way which removes it from the work
of the ordinary carver and gives it a distinct artistic value. It has
convenient and handsome apartments for the delivery of lectures,
reading-rooms and smoking-rooms, &c.; and a well-built and
comfortably furnished library, containing a ‘valuable collection of
twenty-eight thousand volumes.

The Banqueting Hall itself, which has been utilised as a splendid
museum for the treasures of the institution, has not been altered
structurally, nor has its architectural effect been compromised in any
way by any excessive height of the new building, the facade of
which has been detached from the work of Inigo Jones by an
interval of plain masonry. In one respect, the site occupied by the
old hall has been improved, but with the most religious care and
with the best results. When the institution took possession of it, its
lower storey was used as a cellar. It has been cleared out, its
“ancient lights” restored by the removal of masonry from its
windows ; its naked brick piers and vaults have been repaired and
plastered, and the place—a crypt worthy of the name—now holds
the institution’s collection of heavy exhibits—guns, shells, &c.

The Museum contains a collection of national treasures—tattered
flags, stands and trophies of arms, models—sometimes curious,
sometimes magnificent—relics of frayed magnificence, &c. These
‘“ curios.” are valuable, historic, pathetic, and curious. Some at-
tempt has been made—though it is a difficult scheme to carry it
out successfully—to arrange them chronologically. They range
from the earliest times of an empire which, in the words of the
soldier’s poet, has been—

* Built with the sword and the flames,
And salted down with our bones,”
—from a Saxon shield to the guns taken from a West African chief.
The swords of Oliver Cromwell and Wolfe jostle kukris from
Burmah and kreeses from Mandaiay : there is a Spanish cockade,
a flag of the German Legion, which dwelt alien over here at the
time when Europe crouched under the shadow of Napoleon, and
Nelson’s hat, and the pocket glass with which Napoleon watched
the battle of Waterloo. Here we see the standards which our
forces have captured from the enemy, and a map stained with the
life blood of General Picton. There are here pergonal relics of
other noted generals and naval officers, representations of the
battles of Trafalgar and Waterloo and of the siege of Sebastopol,
models of many of the most modern war ships, and many other
objects of interest. A number of trophies from recent battles
in the Soudan and South Africa may be seen here. The museum is
open from cleven till six in the summer and till four in winter on
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any week-day, except Wednesday. Fee sixpence. Blue jackels and
soldiers in uniform free.

The Royal United Service Institution was founded in 1831, under
the title of the Naval and Military Library and Museum, in order to
provide a central library and museum for the military services of
the country. William 1V., who took a deep interest in the forma-
tion of the institution, became its first patron. In 1837, on the
death of William IV., Queen Victoria became its patron, and in 1842,
Prince Albert became its joint patron. In 1834, the title was altered
to “The United Service Museum,” which name it retained till
1839, when it was again changed to “The United Service Institu-
tion.” In 1860, the Queen granted it a charter of incorporation,
and it became “ The Royal United Service Institution.”

In the adjoining WHITEHALL GARDENS stands a bronze Statue of
James IL, in Roman costume, by Grinling Gibbons. It is one of the
few praiseworthy statues in London. .

A few yards off is Montague House, a noble building in the
French-Renaissance style, the property of the Duke of Buccleuch;
and then we reach RICHMOND TERRACE, a row of fine houses
extending to the Embankment, and so named from a mansion built
on the spot by the Duke of Richmond, to whom a portion of the
site of the old palace of Whitehall was presented in 1698.

On the western side of Whitehall, between Dover House and
Downing Street, are—

The Treasury Buildings,
(Map I.: M 13.]

presenting a fine facade, two hundred and ninety-six feet long, and
in the Italian style. A portion of the structure dates from the reign
of George 1. ; but the exterior was reconstructed and additions made
by Mr. Barry in 1847. Here are the official residence of the First
Lord of the Treasury, the Privy Council Office, the Office of the
Board of Trade, and other departments.

DOWNING STREET is a very familiar name, frequently used as an
equivalent expression for the Foreign Office. A few years since,
that great department of the State was lodged in old, limited, and
dingy rooms, at the end of this famous street, and the Colonial
Office was in no better plight. Now, a magnificent pile of buildings
occupies the area between Downing Street and Charles Street, and
includes the Foreign, India, and Colonial Offices ; and the frontage
to Parliament Street, recently completed, is occupied by other
governmental departments. The Foreign Office covers a large
area, south of the Treasury Buildings; with it, is united, as the
southern portion of the edifice, the India Office. The building is
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lofty, as well as large ; its principal front is towards St. James’s
Park. The style is Italian, of two orders—the lower, Tuscan, the
upper, Corinthian. An inner court, two hundred and fifty feet by
a hundred and seventy, is treated with the same refinement and
finish as the exterior facades, and adorned with numerous statues.

Photo by) (. H. Bunnett.

GOVERNMENT OFFICES, WHITEHALL.

The India Office has also its inner court, smaller, but much more
Hloridly decorated, and covered with a glass roof. The state-rooms
of both are exceedingly splendid. The Colonial Office is in the
castern part of the building. The architect was Sir G. G. Scotf,
R.A., who wished to erect a Gothic building, but was overruled by
Lord Palmerston. The inner court and interior of the India Office

|
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were completed from the designs of M. D. Wyait. The cost of
the building was half a million.

At the south end of Whitehall, having now traversed both
sides, throughout its length, we reach a busy “four-cross-roads.”
Eastward (to our left) BRIDGE STREET conducts us to Westmin-
ster Bridge. The south side of the street is occupied by New
Palace Yard, Westminster Hall and the Houses of Parliament;
on the north side are some shops and the Westminster Bridge
Station of the Metropolitan District Railway. Westward, GREAT
GEORGE STREET runs to St. James's Park, and along Birdcage Walk
to Buckingham Palace. A stately pile of New Government Offices
is being erected on the commanding corner site at the junction of
Whitehall and Great George Street, the architect being Mr. J. M.
Bryden. The block will eventually extend right back to St. James’s
Park, but at present only the portion facing Whitehall is required.
In Great George Street is the Institute of Civil Engineers, occupying
the site of three old houses, in one of which the body of Lord
Byron lay in state for two days. The building was designed by
Charles Barry, the eldest son of the architect of the Houses of
Parliament, and its facade is in the Italian-Renaissance style.
The busts in circular niches along the expanded frieze are
those of Telford, Brindley, Watt, Rennie, Stephenson, Brunel,
and Smeaton. On the opposite side of the street is the S8urveyors’
Institution.

Immediately before us, one of the most striking and picturesque
scenes the metropolis can present is opened to our view. On the
right of the picture, is the venerable abbey, with St. Margaret's
Church adjoining it ; on the left, is New Palace Yard, with
Westminster Hall and the magnificent Palace of Westminster, as
the Houses of Parliament are sometimes called. In PARLIAMENT
SQUARE, the open and ornamentally laid-out space to the west of
New Palace Yard, and to the north of the abbey, are bronze Statues
of George cann!ng (Westmacott), Bir Robert Peel (Noble), Lord
Pa.lmerston (Woolner), the Barl of Derby (Noble), and the Barl of
Beaconsfield (Mario Raggi). Close to Westminster Hall stands the
new statue of Oliver Cromwell (Hamo Thornycroft), unveiled in
November, 1899. The figure is ten feet high, the pedestal twelve.
The statue is one of the most successful of modern times. The
Protector is represented in military attire, but bareheaded. In his
left hand he clasps a Bible, his right rests on the hilt of his sword.
Near the corner of Great George Street, is a large Gothic Drinking-
Fountain, erected in 1865 in memory of the promoters of the aboli-
tion of slavery in British possessions. We make our way to New
Palace Yard a spacious quadrangle, with residences of the librarian
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and other officers of the House of Commons, on the eastern side,
the great clock-tower at the northern angle, and Westminster Hall
on the south. On the other side, it is bounded by handsome iron
railings, with ornamental lamps. The old palace of Westminster,
built by Edward the Confessor and enlarged by the Norman kings,
had two enclosed yards, or courts, the older, at the southern end,
still retaining the name, as we shall see as we come to notice Old
Palace Yard, when describing the entrance to the House of Lords.
In the fourteenth and fifteenth centuries, the w:ol market of London
was held in the open space now known as New Palace Yard.
The gate of the old market was pulled down in 1741, to make
room for the abutments of Westminster Bridge. It was then for
a time a place of punishment. Here the Duke of Hamilton, Lord
Capel, and other Royalists were beheaded ; and here Prynne, the
Puritan, and Titus Oates, the arch-perjurer, stood in the pillory.
The palace, which had been greatly damaged by fires, ceased to
be a royal residence when Henry VIIIL. took possession of White-
hall.

Westminster Hall.
(Map 1.: L 13).

Cab Fares : From Paddington railway station, 2/-.
From Broad Street, Cannon Street, Euston, Fenchurch Street, King's Cross, Liver-
pool Street, Mansion House, or St. Pancras stations—1/6.
From Charing Cross, Holborn Viaduct, London Bridge, Ludgate Hill, Victoria, or
‘Waterloo stations—1/-.

Nearest Railway Station : Westminster Bridge.

This noble and ancient hall—next, perhaps, to Westminster Abbey
and the Tower, the oldest and the most famous of the many inter-
esting architectural memorials of London —is now the public
entrance to.the Houses of Parliament. It was originally erected
by William Rufus, who projected a magnificent extension of the
old palace. The hall was rebuilt by Richard II. in 1397, the clerk
of the works being no other than Geoffrey Chaucer, the father of
English poetry, who, singularly enough, lived in the passage which
is now the entrance to the Poets’ Corner of Westminster Abbey.
Under his superintendence, the height of the hall was increased
and the grand timber roof, which we may see to-day, was added.
Considerable restoration was effected in 1802 ; and many improve-
ments and alterations were made in 1840, when it was transformed
into a grand vestibule for the new Houses of Parliament. It is one
of the largest—if not, indeed, the largest—hall in the world with
a roof unsupported by pillars, excepting, of course, thc modern
railway stations, whose roofs are formed by gigantic ribs of cast-
iron. The length is two hundred and forty, the breadth seventy
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and the height ninety-two feet. The timber roof is regarded as
chef d'euvre. The ornamentations of the projecting beams are
carvings of angels, supporting shields, charged with the arms of
Richard II. and Edward the Confessor ; and on the stone frieze

[(Notting Hilt,

WESTMINSTER HALL.

VYork & Son,)

beneath the windows, are sculptures of a hart couchant and other
devices of Richard II. The roof was repaired and extended in 1820,
the oaken beams then added being taken from old ships of war at
Portsmouth. The first English Parliament sat here. Royal festi-
vities—among them the coronation banquets, when the champion




WESTMINSTER HALL—HOUSES OF PARLIAMENT. 155

of England rode into the hall, and threw down the glove against
all comers—were held here. Charles I. was tried and condemned
in the hall. Here, Cromwell, clothed in purple and ermine robes,
was proclaimed Lord Protector; and here, a few years after-
wards, his head was exposed on the point of a pike, In this hall,
too, were tried and condemned William Wallace, Lord Cobham,
Sir Thomas More, the Protector Somerset, the Earl of Essex, Sir
Thomas Wyatt, the Earl of Strafford, and Guido Fawkes, Lords
Balmerinoand Lovel, and Lord Ferrars, who murdered his steward.
It was the scene, too, of the long trial of Warren Hastings. Last,
but scarcely least, it was the scene, on the 26th and 27th of May,
1898, of the lying-in-state of Mr. Gladstone, previous to his inter-
ment in Westminster Abbey. Ranged along the sides of the hall,
are Statues of James L, Charles L, Charles IL, William and Mary,
George IV, and Willlam IV. The Courts of Queen’s Bench, Common
Pleas, Exchequer, Divorce, and other divisions of the High Court of
Judicature, which formerly occupied a stack of buildings on the
western side of the Hall, removed their sittings to the New Law
Courts in the Strand at the close of 1882, and the old courts have
been pulled down, so that an open view of the western side of the
Hall, skilfully restored to original appearance, can be had from the
very street.

The Houses of Parliament.
[(Map I.: M-N 13.]

The great fire of the 16th of October, 1834, swept away the old
Houses of Parliament. St. Stephen’s Chapel, built by Edward III.,
had been for centuries the place of meeting of the House of Com-
mons—a fact which explains, what might otherwise be a recondite
allusion, the popular phrase, “returned to St. Stephen's.” There
was an eager competition among architects when designs for the
new Houses were asked for, and ultimately the planss presented
by Barry were selected. The first stone of the existing structure
was laid in April, 1840. The site occupies an area of eight acres ;
and the entire range of buildings is nine hundred feet in length and
three hundred in width. A terrace, nine hundred and forty feet long
and thirty-three wide’, extends along the river, towards which is the
principal facade of the edifice, decorated with the statues of the kings
and queens of England, from William the Conqueror to Victoria,
and panelled sculpture, representing coats of arms and royal devices.
The architectural style adopted is the richest Gothic (Perpendicular
or Tudor), and the stone employed on the exterior is magnesian
limestone from Yorkshire which unfortunately has already begun to
suffer from the effects of the climate. In the interior, Caen stone
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has been used ; and the river terrace is of Aberdeen granite. There
are eleven open courts, eleven hundred apartments, a hundred stair-
cases, and its corridors are more than three miles in length. The
great Victoria Tower, at the south-western angle, is three hundred
and thirty-one feet high to the top of the metal crowns on the angle
turrets ; it is seventy-five feet square, and it rises over four fine
Pointed arches, sixty feet in height. There is a spiral staircase
of five hundred and fifty-three steps to the upper floor of the
tower. The flagstaff is of wrought iron, a hundred and twenty
feet high, two feet in diameter at the base and nine inches at
the summit. A flag flies when the House is sitting. The royal
entrance is beneath the tower. The elegant Central Tower is
used as the main air shaft for ventilating the Houses ; it rises
to the height of two hundred and sixty-one feet. At the north-
western angle of the stately pile is the Clock Tower, forty feet
square and three hundred and twenty high. It is divided into nine
storeys, besides the clock-room itself ; in each of these storeys are a
number of rooms,* and two huge shafts run up the centre. One of
these is constructed for the ventillation of the edifice, and the other
—a hundred and sixty feet high—supports the clock itself,and allows
for the passage up and down of its huge weights. A spiral staircase
communicates with the clock-chamber, a dark room twenty-five feet
high and twenty-eight by nineteen in area, and, with the bell-room.
two hundred feet above the street. The Clock, which is wound
up by water by means of a self-acting apparatus, has four faces.
Each dial is twenty-two feet and a half in diameter, weighs four
tons, and is automatically illuminated at night. The figures are
two feet high and nearly six apart ; the minute hand is sixteen and
the hour hand nine feet long. The clock was made by Dent, of
the Strand, from the designs of Mr. E. Beckett Denison, Q.C.
- now Lord Grimthorpe. The hours are struck on a bell, known
as “Big Ben” (so named after Sir Benjamin Hall, who filled the
post of chief commissioner of works at the time the bell was cast) and
weighing thirteen tons. The quarters are chimed on eight smaller
bells. The spiral staircase terminates in the bell-room ; but it is
possible to go still higher by means of laddgrs. In this way, we
may reach the Lantern Gallery, a hundred feet below the roof of
the tower. .

The interior of the Houses of Parliament is as grand as is the
exterior. Visitors arc admitted to view it on Saturdays between ten and
Jfouro’clock. When Parliament is sitting, admission to hear the debates
in either House can only be obtained by means of a member's order.

* These rooms are occasionally used as prisons. In one of them Mr, Bradlaugt

was confined when he was taken in custody by the sergeant-at-arms, charged with
an offence against the House of Commons.
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Entering the building beneath the Victoria Tower, we ascend a
staircase fifteen feet wide, the twenty-six steps of which are com-
posed of Aberdeen granite. The staircase is lighted by painted win-
dows, in one of which is a portrait of Edward the Confessor, and in
the other that of Queen Victoria. This staircase leads up to the
Norman Porch, the vauited porch of which is supported by an elegant
central pillar. A door to the left leads to the King’s Robing Room,
richly decorated with frescoes by Dyce, representing the virtues of
chivalry as illustrated in the Arthurian Legends. From this room,
the Royal Gallery, leads to the House of Lords. The floor is
formed of beautiful mosaics, and the ceiling is wainscoted and
richly gilded. On the walls are two large frescoes by Maclise
(each forty-five feet long and twelve high). They represent—

The Death of Nelson at the Battle of Trafalgar.
The Meeting of Wellington and Blucher after the Battle of Waterloo.

At the east end of the chamber, a chair of state stands, beneath a
canopy of carved oak, on a dais, approached by three steps.

The Princes’ Chamber, between the Royal Gallery and House, is
artistically decorated in the medizval style. There is a marble
group, by Gibson, of Queen Victoria, on the throne, supported by
Mercy and Justice. Three painted windows show the rose, thistle,
and shamrock, and on the walls are panels, with portraits of Eng-
lish sovereigns and eminent personages of the Tudor period.
Two doors lead from this room into— .

The House of Lords, a very superb hall, ninety feet long, forty-five
wide, and forty-five high, and lighted by twelve painted windows,
with portraits of the monarchs of England, and their queens. The
throne has a gorgeous gilt canopy ; and the decorations of the
House are extremely ornate, though somewhat dark and heavy.
Between the windows, are niches, in which are statues of the
barons who compelled King John to sign the Magna Charta ; and
on the lofty arches of each end are frescoes—

Edward III. conferring the Order of the Garter on the Black Prince—Cope.

The Bm of Ethelbert—Dyce.

Judge igne committing Prince Henry to the Tower—Cope. .
These frescoes are above the throne, and at the opposite end are
symbolic figures—* Justice” (Maclise), “ Religion” (Horsley), and
“Chivalry ” (Maclise). Before the throne, is a cushioned seat, the
famous “ woolsack,” on which the Lord Chancellor sits. The seats
for the Peers are covered with red morocco. At the end of the
House, opposite the throne, is the ‘“bar,” a space to which the
members of the House of Commons are admitted to hear the royal
speech at the opening of the session of Parliament. An orna-
mental gallery is beneath the window, and there are reporters’ and
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strangers’ galleries. The ceiling and walls are adorned with
heraldic ornaments, symbols, devices, and monograms. The
chamber is lighted by electricity.}

[Reigate.

THE HOUSE OF LORDS.

F. Frith & Co., 1.td.,]

The Peers’ Lobby, in which every member of the House of Lords
has his own hat-peg, &c., with his name above it, is richly fitted up,
some of the brasswork being specially worthy of examination ; and
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thc Peers’ Robing Room, to which it leads, contains two grand ‘

frescoes by Herbert, * Moses bringing down the Law ” and “The

Judgment of Daniel.” .
The two Houses are-scparated by the Octagonal Hall 'O

corridors. The Peers’ Corridor, which we reach on lea e

House of Lords, contains eight frescoes :— -
c‘. .

The Funeral of Charles I. °

The Expulsion of Members of a College at Oxford for refusing {o sign the Cgsmant.

The Defence of Basing House by the Cavaliers. . -

Charles I.. plantin§ his Standard at Nottingham-—PizkerngIL

Speaker Lenthall, defending the Rights of the House of Commons againat Qaries
L, when he attempted to arrest Five Members—Cross. ..

The Departure of London Citizens to assist the Garrison of Gloucester. ~

The Departure of the ** Mayflower” for New En%nd—(,‘aﬁe. Ml

Parting of Lady Russell from her husband, Lord Wm. Russell, before his Exxatadion.

The Octagonal Hall is sixtyfeet in diameter and seventy-five&dgh:
it has a vaulted stone roof, ornamented with Venetian noasaic,
representing the heraldic symbols of the arms of England. #bove
the doorway, are pictures in mosaic. In the niches at the sideg&f the
doors, are statues of English sovereigns and their queens. A-fillatue
of the First Earl Russell (better known as Lord John Russell) (Bl
was placed here in November, 1880; and one of the FirshSord
Iddesleigh (Sir Stafford Northcote) (Boehm) was added m’h&)

A much-abused Statue of John Bright, “the people’s trilfime” ,
(Gilbert), faces the last-named presentment ; and one of Lord #iean-

ville (Thornycroft) stands near the Telegraph Office. The Jatest
addition is a life-sized Statue of Mr. Gladstone (F. W. Pommroy).
unveiled in May, 1900. A bust in white marble of Lord Ramfelph
Churehill is placed in the corridor of the members’ staircase lesding
to the House. The Post and Telegraph Offices are to be fouad in
this hall, whence run the staircases to the Strangers’ Gallery and to
the committee rooms of the House ; and in its wall are preserved
the standard yard and pound—a length of bronze and a mass of
platinum, by which the weights and measures of the empire are
regulated. There are four sets of these standards, the other three
being preserved at the Mint, by the Royal Society, and at Green-
wich Observatory, respectively.

In the Waiting Hall (“ The Hall of the Poets "), on the east sidc

of the Octagonal Hall, are frescoes, representing scenes taken from
the works of British poets :—

Patient Griselda, from Chaucer—Cope.

Red Cross Knight overcomes the Dragon, from Spenser— Wa#ts.
Lear disinheriting Cordelia, from Shakespeare— Herbert.

Satan touched by the Lance of Ithuriel, from Milton—Horsley.
St. Cecilia, from Dryden—Zenniel.

The Thames, from Pope—Armitage.

The Death of Marmion, from Scott—Armitage.

The Death of Lara, from Byron—Dyce.




161

THE HOUSE OF COMMONS.

‘SNONNOD 40 dSNOH AHL



162 GUIDE TO LONDON.

The Commons’ Corridor, opening from the northern side of the
hall, corresponds with the Peers’, and completes the communication
between the two chambers. On the walls, are frescoes :—

Alice Lisle concealing Fugitives after the Battle of Sedgemoor—Ward.
The Last Sleep of Argl:— Ward.

The Acquittal of the Seven Bisho

The Lords and Commons offering the Crown to William and Mary.
General Monk announcing his Su})port of the Liberty of Parliament.
The Disembarkation of Charles I

The Execution of Montrose—Ward.

Jane Lane assisting the Flight of Charles II.

The House of Commons is less richly ornamented than is the
gilded chamber where the Peers sit. It is seventy-five feet long,
forty-five wide, and forty-one high ; but it is not large enough for
the accommodation of the six hundred and seventy members who
are entitled to take part in its proceedings. It only contains seats
for four hundred and seventy ; so that on the occasion of an interest-
ing debate, or of an important party division, chairs are placed in
every available spot and many gentlemen seat themselves on the

_ gangway steps or in the gallery. The present ceiling is not the
original one ; it is of ground glass, and was added for the im-
‘provement of the ventilation of the chamber. There are twelve
windows, on which are painted the arms of the parliamentary
boroughs at the date of the erection of the House. The Speaker’s
“chair is at the northern end, and in front of it is the table at which

:-the clerks sit, and on which the mace is laid when the House
- is sitting. The seats of the ministers and their supporters are
on the right of the Speaker, and those of the Opposition on the
‘left. Above the Speaker’s chair, is the reporters’ gallery ; and over
~that a gallery for ladies—but an ornamented lattice-work prevents
them from being seen, and they are supposed, by a Parliamentary
fiction, not to be in the House. At the other end of the chamber,
is the peers’ gallery, with the strangers’ gallery, close to it.
The electric light illuminates the sittings of the ¢ faithful
Commons.”

Returning to the Central Hall, a door on the right hand (the
western side) affords access to St. Stephen’s Hall, a fine gallery,
ninety-five feet long and thirty feet wide, which occupies the site of
St. Stephen’s Chapel, where, as we have seen, the first sittings of
Parliament were held. In it, are statues of—

ggim Hampden—Foley. Lord Clarendon—Marshail.
den— Foley. - Lord Falkland—Bell.

Sir Robert Walpole—Bel/. : Lord Somers—Marshall.
Lord Chatham—McDowell. Lord Mansfield—Bailey.
William Pitt—McDowell. Fox-—Bailey.

Henry Grattan. Burke—Theed.

In the niches at each side of the doors, are statues of the
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Norman sovereigns and their queens. This gallery gives direct
access to Westminster Hall, by descending a flight of steps, beneath
8t. Stephen’s Porch, an arch, sixty-two feet high, lighted by a
charmingly painted window. A door near the foot of these steps
gives access, by another flight, to—

St. Stephen’s Crypt,

a remnant of the old building, and now used as a chapel for the
residents in the palace. It was restored by E. M. Barry. It is ninety
feet long, twenty-eight wide, and twenty high ; and it is lighted by
seven stained-glass windows, representing the ministry and martyr-
dom of St. Stephen, St. John, St. Catherine, and St. Lawrence, and
the legend of St. George and the Dragon. The east wall is
panelled, with full length figures, on a gold ground, of St. Peter,
St. Stephen, St. Oswald, St. Etheldreda, St. Edmund, St. Edward
the Confessor, St. Margaret of Scotland, and St. Edward the Martyr.
The reredos is of marble and mosaic. The columns are of polished
Purbeck marble. The chapel—(it was consecrated as the Church
of St. Mary Undercroft, and that is its proper title)—will hold two
hundred and fifty persons.

-Adjoining the east side of Westminster Hall are 8t. Stephen’s
Cloisters, a portion of the old Houses of Parliament which escaped
the fire. They are beautifully ornamented with groining and
tracery.

In OLD PALACE YARD, between the Houses of Parliament and
Westminster Abbey, is the spirited equestrian 8tatue, in bronze, of
Richard Cour de Lion, by Marochetti ; it was originally placed in
front of the Exhibition building of 1851, in Hyde Park. '

The London County Council propose to construct a new embank-
ment and gardens between the Houses of Parliament and Lambeth
Bridge. The scheme will involve an expenditure of at least half a
million pounds, and will much improve the approach to the Houses
of Parliament from the Embankment.

St. Margaret’s Church,
Mapl.: M13]
on the southern side of the square, is the parish church of West-
minster. The first church on the spot was built by Edward the Con-
fessor about 962, for the use of the poor people who had gathered
about the Abbey. It was rebuilt by Edward I., and E#éred by
Edward IV. In 1735, the church was repaired at the ex;;ense
of Parliament, and the east end was rebuilt in 1758, In this
church, the Speaker and such members of the House of Com-
mons as choose to go with him attend service on certain sdlemn
occasions, the Speaker’s chair of state being in front of the
west gallery. The church is of Perpendicula architecture, the
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nave being separated from the aisles by two beautiful rows
of arches of that style. Unfortunately, only one window—
that over the vestry—is of Perpendicular work; but the others
are worth ‘examination. The large eastern one, the painting on
which represents the Crucifixion, is the most perfect of the few
remains of ancient glass which the short domination of Puritanism
in our land has left us. According to the curious history of this
relic, it was in the first place intended as apresent from the magis-
trates of Dort, in Holland, to Henry VII,, on the occasion of the
marriage of his son Arthur, Prince of "Wales, to Catharine of
Aragon ; but both prince and King died before its completion. It
was, however, finished, and sent to Henry VIII, who gave it
to Waltham Abbey, from which it was removed after the dissolu-
tion of the monasteries. After some vicissitudes, it came into the
possession of General Monk, who, to save it from the destructive
Puritans, enclosed it in a case and buried it. About 1740, it was
sold to a private gentleman for fifty guineas; and his son, some
twenty years later, realised a handsome profit by selling it for four
hundred guineas to the restorers of St. Margaret’s, where it has
found its permanent resting-place. On each side of the window
are the old colours of the Queen’s Westminster Volunteers. They
were originally presented to the volunteers by George II1.; and, fifty
years after his death, they found their last home in the parish church
of the city with which the regiment was connected. Of late years,
most of the windows have been filled with stained glass. The
great west window was the gift of several Americans, in memory of
Raleigh ; another—that at the east end of the south aisle—was
placed there by the printers in 1882, as a memorial of Caxton ; the
Milton window, at the west end of the north aisle, was given by Mr.
G. W. Childs. The Jubilee window, erected in 1887, was the result
" of a subscription ; as was also the Blake window, in the north wall.
That at the west end of the south aisle is a memorial of Lord
Frederick Cavendish, assassinated in Phcenix Park, Dublin; and
others commemorate Mr. W. H. Smith, Lord and Lady Hatherley,
Sir T. Erskine May, &c. The most recent addition to the stained
glass is the memorial of Bishop Phillips Brooks, of Massachusetts.
Caxton and Raleigh, Admiral Blake, Titus Oates, John Pym,
Skelton, Harrington, and the wife and child of Milton are among
those who sleep in the church and its graveyard. Some few years
ago, the church was restored from roof to floor ; when this was
done, the beautiful new west porch, designed by H. P. Burke
Downing, was added at a cost of about a thousand pounds.

Leaving St. Margaret’s, a few steps will conduct us to the north
door of Westminster Abbey, which we deal with in the next chapter.
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A STATE FUNCTION AT BUCKINGHAM PALACE.

EXCURSION V1.
WESTMINSTER ABBEY TO VICTORIA.

HE city of Westminster was a busy spot long before
London had any being. The good dry land, on which St.
- Stephen’s now stands, was, when the Romans reached this part
of Britain, a part of the Thames. Hemmed in to the east and west
and made a deep, rapid, and impassable river, it was here spread out
in a wide and shallow, and withal sluggish, stream, near the north
brink whereof there arose a small eyot, overgrown with briers and
brushwood, and known as Bramble Island. It was impossible to
cross the river, with any prospect of safety, for many miles on either
side of this spot ; and the Britons had therefore established a ford
at this point, and built the necessary houses for the accommodation
of travellers and the marts at which they might obtain their neces-
saries on the little eyot. The Romans followed their example,
and brought the main roads, Watling and Dover Streets, into con-
nection with the ford. They doubtless removed much of the under-
wood which gave the island its name ; and they established a
station here, and built a town near it, with soldiers and civilians,
167
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houses and a cemetery, and everything else appertaining thereto.
Here, too, they erected temples to their gods ; and when they became
Christians, they built here a church in which to worship the living
. God. That it certainly existed, is proved by the many relics of it—
pieces of mosaic pavement and so forth—now and then.brought to
light. That at one time its inhabitants were Christians is shown
by the sarcophagus of Valerius Amandinus, on which the cross is
prominently sculptured ; it was dug up in 1869 and may now be
seen at the entrance to the chapter house of Westminster Abbey.
When the Romans left, a succession of British kings resided on
Bramble Island ; and we are told that one of them—English authors
give his name as Lucius, and Welsh writers (possibly, more cor-
rectly) call him Lleuvwg-ap-Coel-ap-Cyllin — built a Christian
church on the site of an old temple of Apollo. - The Saxons, in
their turn, devastated the British town and destroyed its church:
but it soon recovered from the blow.

Westminster Abbey.
) [Map I.: M 13.]
Cab Fares: From Paddington railway station—2/-.
From Broad Street, Cannon Street, Euston, Fenchurch Street, King's Cross, Liver-
pool Street, Mansion House, and St. Pancras stations—1/6. 5
From Charing Cross, Holborn Viaduct, London Bridge, Ludgate Hill, Victoria or
‘Waterloo stations—1/-.

Nearest Railway Station : Westminster Bridge.

In the seventh century, Sebert, the first Christian king of the East
Saxons, built his palace on the island ; he afterwards erected a
church here, and it was, so saith tradition, consecrated by St. Peter
himself, who suddenly appeared for that purpose. The church,
however, was not completed when King Edgar ascended the throne:
that monarch, under the influence of Dunstan, not only finished it.
but added a monastery for twelve monks of the Benedictine order.
It was afterwards destroyed by the Danes, and rebuilt about 1050
by Edward the Confessor; who made it an abbey and ordained that
henceforth the monarchs of England should be crowned in it ; and,
throughout allthe great political changes England has since endured,
that order has been religiously obeyed. Edward also presented to
the treasury a golden crown and sceptre, and other insignia of state,
to be worn at coronations, and some of these were used by Queen
Victoria, nearly eight hundred years after the Confessor was laid in
his tomb. It was natural, too, that monarchs should wish to *sleep
their last sleep” in the spot where they were crowned ; and many
of our kings and queens lie in the abbey It has been called
England’s Pantheon, because, in addition, room has been found
for her leading statesmen and warriors, her poets, artists, and men
of letters—in fact, all that the nation holds dear—as well. At the
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time of the erection of the Confessor’s Abbey, the site had ceased to

York & som,) . (Notting Hill,
THE WEST FRONT.

be’an island. The branch of the Thames, which cut it off from the
rest of Middlesex, had been filled up, and the main river had been
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embanked and deepened, so that much of the land on which the
houses now stand had been rescued from the water. Many build-
ings, too, had sprung up around the abbey, which was called the
west minster, to distinguish it from the east minster (St. Paul's
Cathedral), on the summit of a hill, a mile off.

Only a few fragments of Edward’s church—perhaps, the first
in England in which the Norman style was adopted—remain in
some parts of the cloisters. Henry III. pulled it down, in the
thirteenth century, in order to erect the present splendid edifice
on its site ; and he himself built the eastern portion of the nave and
aisle. Like all our large churches, the abbey was the growth of
centuries. The western portions were added at various periods
between 1340 and 1483. The north and west cloisters were built
by Abbot Litlington, in the reign of Edward III.; in them are
the tombs of some of the early abbots, half-obliterated effigies of
whom may be traced on the pavement. The Jerusalem Chamber,
at the south-western angle of the abbey—the place where Henry
IV. died suddenly, so partially fulfilling the prediction that he
should die in Jerusalem—was also built by Abbot Litlington.
The splendid chapel at the eastern end was added by Henry VII.
between 1503 and 1512. During the Civil War and the Common-
wealth, the church was sadly neglected and fell into a very dilapi-
dated condition. Sir Christopher Wren was commissioned to
restore it ; and he erected the two inadequate and incongruous
western towers so familiar to us all. In 1895-6, the old houses
to the south-east of the abbey were pulled down, leaving an open
space, which shows clearly the splendid proportions of the old church.

The form of the abbey is that of a Latin cross, and the total length,
including Henry VIIL.’s chapel, is five hundred and twenty feet ; its
breadth at the transept is two hundred and three feet, and the height
of the western tower is two hundred and twenty-five feet. The
Choir extends beyond the transept to the middle of the nave, from
which it is separated by an iron screen. Before the altar is an old
pavement of mosaic, laid down by Abbot de Ware in 1260. The
inscriptions are now nearly obliterated. The wood-carving of the
choir, executed in 1848, is very beautiful and elaborate, especially
the ornamentation of the dean’s stall and the canopies of the canons’
stalls. The galleries above the aisles are very spacious, and were
probably intended by the architect for spectators at the great cere-
monies of the Church. The effect of the tall columns and the narrow
pointed arches supporting the groined roof is very fine. The superb
west window has figures of Moses and Aaron and the patriarchs.
The great “rose” window, in the north transept (seen from the
churchyard), has paintings of Christ and the apostles ; and in the
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south transept is a  marigold ” window, erected in 1814. We will
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now make a round of the old abbey, noticing the more prominent
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monuments. Space will not permit us to enumerate them all, and
perhaps it is not necessary. For, in each division of the church, is
placed a plan of the monuments, to which the visitor can refer.
The dates given show the years of death. We enter the abbey by—

The North Transept, the large stained window of which represents
the foundering of the Captain off Cape Finisterre, in 1870. Pitt
and Fox, the great contemporary statesmen, who died in the same
year (1806), are buried in this transept, almost side by side. Near
them, lies Henry Grattan (1820). Among the monuments in this
transept, generally known as “the Statesmen’s Aisle,” are those to-—

Lord Chatham (1778)—Bacon. John Holles, Duke of Newcastle (1711
George Canning (1827)—Chantrey. Earl Canmng (l%z)—i’oky Vlscoun
de Redcliffe (1 )—Boelun Lord Beaconsfield (1881)—Bochm.
(1865)—§ack.wn Captains Bayne, Blain, and Lord Manners (mortally
during Rodney’s victorious engagements, on April gth and 12th, 1782)—N
William Cavendish, Duke of Newcastle (1676), and his wife. General Maloolm 33)
—Chantrey. Admiral Warren (x 52)—Roubiliac. Lord Londo

reagh (szz)—Tbamas Mznsﬁeld (1793)—Flaxman Peel
(1850)—Gb. Earl “ d Noble. Mrs. Elizabeth Warren (1816)—
We:tmacott Sir G. C Lewm (1863)—W¢¢I¢¢: General Eyre Coote (1783 B-nks

Francis Horner, M.P. (1817)—Chantrey.~ Admiral Balchen (perished, with meadty
a thousand others, in the shipwreck of the “ Victory,” 1744)—Scheemakers. General
Hope (1789)—Bacon. Warren Hastin, Bgz(xﬁxB)—Eacon jun. Richard Cobden (1865)
—Woolner. Earl of Halifax (1771)—Bacon. Admiral atson (1757)—Scheemakers.
Admiral Vernon (1757)—Rysbrack.

The most recent addition to the graves is that of Mr. and Mrs. Glad-
stone. The former died, it will be remembered, in 1898, the latter
on June 14, 1900. When Mr. Gladstone was buried in the Abbey
it was arranged that in the course of events his last resting place
should be shared by the faithful companion of his arduous and
eventful life. )

We next enter the North Aisle of the .Choir (for, by an unusual
arrangement, the choir and its aisles extend further to the west than
the transepts) ; it is generally known as “ the Musicians’ Aisle,” on
account of the number of organists and composers, who are either
buried or commemorated in it. Among them, are (those whose
names are marked with an asterisk (¥) are buried here) :=—

Balfe (1870)—Mallempre. Arnold ® (1802). Purcell * (1695). Blow ® (1708).
Burney (1814). Croft® (1727). Sterndale Bennett* (1875).

Of the other monuments, the chief are those to—

Sir T. F. Buxton, M.P. (1815)——7‘1:7:;)) W. E Forster (l886)—Pmker Sir T.
Heskett (1605). Dr. Chamberlen (1728)—Sch s and D, S. Raffles
(1826)—Chantrey. William Wilberforce, the of the i ‘i---- of the
slaves (1833)—Yoseph. Darwin xSSz)—Boehm Lord John Thynie (1880)—Arm-
stead. Sir G. L. Staunton (1801)—Chantrey. Admiral Temple West (1757). Dr.
Peter Heylin, historian (1662). Herschel, the astronomer (1871).

The stained-glass windows on this side of the church are in
memory of R. Stephenson, J. Locke, Brunel, and Trevethick, the
celebrated engineers. - Ben Jonson (1637) was buried in an upright
position near the centre of the north aisle of the nave, the spot being
marked by a stone with the inscription, “ O rare Ben Jonson.” The
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- Chofr Screen, the woodwork whereof dates from 1831 and enclosed

the stonework of the thirteenth century, is a conspicuous object
from the west end of the church; and against it are two large
monuments—those to Earl Stanhope (1720), Kent, and Sir Isaac
Newton (1727), Rysbrack. The Organm, built by Schreider, and

F. Frith & Co., Ltd.)] [Reigate.
THE NORTH TRANSEPT.

altered and enlarged by Hill in 1884, is divided ; it stands on each

side of the screen, the organist’s seat being in the centre. Dr.

Bridge declares that it is the finest cathedral organ in the kingdom.

It has five manuals. One of them is attached to the celestial organ,

among the latest additions to the instrument, and the gift of an
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and increased more than once since his day, there has been no new
organ in the abbey since then. A new carved oak case, from designs
by the late ¥. Pearson, R.A., was recently constructed, portions of
the original case beingincorporated. It was erected as a memorial
of Purcell, in connection with the celebration, in the autumn of
18935, of the two hundredth anniversary of the death of that eminent
organist.
I “The Nave, like every other part of the church, is crowded with
monuments. In the North Aisle, are (among others) those of—
Dr. R. Mead (1754)—Scheemakers. Spencer Perceval (murdered by Bellingham
in the House of Commons, 1812)—Westmacott. Mrs. Mary Beaufoy (1705)—
Grinling Gibbons. General Killigrew (fell at Almanza, 1707)—Bird. Sir C. Lyell
t (1875)—Theed. C. J. Fox (1806)— Westmacott. Captain Montague (1794)—Flax-
| 7za»n. Sir James Mackintosh (1832)—7heed. George Tierney (1830)— Westmacott.
, Marquis of Lansdowne (1863)—Boehm. Lord Holland (1840)—Basley. Earl Russell
. (1878)—Boehm. Zachary Macaulay, father of the historian (1838)—Weekes. John

| Hunter (1793), whose remains were brought from St. Martin’s-in-the-Fields in 1859.
| Dr. John Woodward (1728)—Sckeemakers. Sir 1saac Newton (1726)—Rysbrack.

. In the Centre of the Nave, are the graves of several notable
| persons, including—

George Peabody, the philanthropist (1869); Archbishop Trench (1886); Dr.
Livingstone (1873) ; Tompion, “the father of English watchmakers” (1713), and
Graham, his apprentice (1751) ; Robert Stephenson (1859) ; Sir Charles Barry (1860) ;
G. E. Street (1881); Sir G. G. Scott (1878); Lord Lawrence (1879); Sir James
Outram (1863); Lord Clyde (1863) ; the Earl of Dundonald (1831), &c.

‘The Pulpit, constructed of coloured marbles, from a design by
Sir G. G. Scott, is 2 memorial of the commencement of the special
services in the nave in 1859, and bears presentments of the four
Evangelists, and of St. Peter, and St. Paul, with a medallion head

. of Christ in the centre panel.

. ‘The window over the Western Door was filled with stained glass
in the reign of George II., as witness his arms in its centre. It is

| divided into twenty-four large and fourteen small compartments,

" which contain representations of the Patriarchs, Moses, Aaron, &c.
Near the door are monuments to—

The Earl of Shaftesbury (1885)—Bochm. u;eremlah Horrocks (1641). John Con-
duit (1737)—Cheere. William Pitt (1806)— Westmacott. Admiral Sir Th Hardy
(1732)—Cheere. Captain J. Cornewall (1743)—Taylor.

The Baptistery is near the Jerusalem Chamber. One of its
windows contains a knight in plate armour, believed to represent
the Black Prince, while the other is a memorial of Herbert (1632)
and Cowper (1800). Here are commemorated :—

Ci 1721)—Guelphi. William Wordsworth, the t (18! -Lough.
Rclva:ni?hn r!}ggl!e( Z%g)—meﬁl::r. Rev. F. D. Maurice (xs;;o)ilgfotfl‘:z);. ﬁg?l

arles Kingsley (1875)—Woolner. Henry Fawcett (1884)—Alfred Gilbert. Mat-
g:lew Arnold (1888)—Bruce ¥oy. Arnold of Rugby School (1896)—Gilbert.

In the Bouth Alsle, above the door leading to the deanery, is the
Abbots’ Pew (a small gallery), erected in the sixteenth century by
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Abbot Islip. As we walk eastward, we pick out the following from
the monuments which crowd the aisle :—

William Cog‘;reve (1729)—Bird. Dean Buckland (1856)— Weekes. Lord Law-
rence (1879)— Woolner. General Wade (1748)—Roubiliac. Sir J. Outram (1863)—
Noble. General Hargrave (1750)—Rowbdiliac. Earl Godolophin (1712)—-Bird. Colonel
T hend (1759)—Eckstein. Major André (1780)— Van Gelder.

In the South Aisle of the Choir, are—

Thomas Thynne (murdered in Pall Mall in 1682)—Quellin. Dr. Iss
(1748)—Banks. Thomas Owen (1598). John (1791) and Charles Wi
Adams-Acton. Charles Burney (1818)—Gakagan. Pasquale de P
Flaxman. Admiral Sir Cloudesley Shovel (1717)—Bird. Sir G. Kn
Rysbrack, designed by Kneller himself. Sir Thomas Richardson (1635
Dr. A, Bell (1832)—B¢hnes.

In the centre of the 8South Transept, or Poets’ Corner,
by many the most interesting part of the abbey, is a v
over the Grave of “0l1d Parr” (1635), supposed to have lived:
age of 152. The transept is famed throughout the English-sg
‘world ; for here are memorials—monuments, busts, and insciil}
—of the most famous English authors of imaginative workisl
Chaucer to Tennyson. They were not all buried here. Mag
far away ; but the Poets’ Corner is the spot chosen for su«
memoration as art can give, to be preserved to future ages.

The Tomb of Chaucer (1400) is beneath a fine stained-glass window,
likeness of the poet and scenes from his works (it was unveiled in 1868).
of an altar-sarcophagus, surmounted by a canopy, dated 1551.

Among the other monuments, are those of—

Grote, historian (1871)—Bacon. Thirlwall, Bishop of St. David's (18
den, antiquary (1623). Garrick, actor (1779)—Webber. Casaubon, theok
Grabe, oriental scholar (1711)—Bird. Barrow, theologian (1677). Dicks
Addison, essayist (1719)— Wes¢macott. Lord Macaulay, historian (1859)
Thackeray, novelist (1863)—Marocketti. Handel, composer (1759)—ZRo1
last work). Sir A. Campbell, general (1791)— Wilton. J. S. Mackenzie §
Nollekens. The Duke of Argyle, of Scott's “ Midlothian” (1743)—Roubiliaes:
Goldsmith (1774)—Noliekens. Macpherson, author of “Ossian” (1796). Hel
actor (1785). Dr. Johnson (1784). Sheridan (1816). Gay, poet (1732)—R
Rowe, poet (1718) and his daughter—Rysbrack. Thomson, author of the S
(1748)—Spang, from a desi%n b . Shakespeare (1616
from a design by Kenz. Robert
Coleridge (1834)—Hamo Thornycroft.
ville Sharpe thxg)—Chantreg. Prior (1721)—monument (designed by
by Rysbrack, containing bust by Coyzevox. Shadwell, poet laureate (: :

ason, poet (1797)—Bacon. Gray, goet (1771)—Bacon. John Milton, i
‘Paradise Lost” (1674)—Rysbrack. Butler, author of “ Hudibras” (1680).
author of “ Faery Queen” (1599). Ben Jonson (1637)—Rysbrack, from a d
Gibbs. Michael Drayton (1631). Barton Booth, actor (1733)—7yler. Philll}
ng). Cowley, poet (1667)—Bushnell. Longfellow, t (1882)—Brocil4

ryden, poet (1700)—Scheemakers. Archbishop Tait (1883)—drmstead.
South, preacher (1716)—Bird.

The last two poets buried in the “ Corner” were Browning (1889)
and Alfred Lord Tennyson (1892), whose graves adjoin each other.
The latter is buried at the foot of Chaucer, so that the first and the
latest deceased of the English poets lie close together. A medallion
bust of-Jenny Lind, “the Swedish Nightingale,” was placed just
below Handel’s monument in 1894.

8t. Faith's Chapel, adjoins that of 8t. Blaise, at the southern end
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an interesting example of the Early English style, of a somewhat
different type to the rest of the abbey ; before the Reformation,
it was used as the sacristy. At its east end, is an acutely-pointed
arch, beneath which a small altar of oak has been erectsd
chairs have been provided, so as to afford the means fog
prayer and meditation, as well as for the early morning se
from the disturbance of sight-seers. The mortices of
altar slab are very distinct ; and the reredos space is fillaf§
thirteenth-century pictures, painted in oil, upon the wali}
methed of decoration in vogue in England at that time.
figure represents St. Faith—more properly, St. Fides-—vin
martyr, who was put to death at Agen, in Aquitaine, ta:wwhom
the chapel is dedicated. She holds a gridiron in her hamd—an
allusion to the brazen bed on which she was tied to.be bmrned.
Below this, is a small painting of the Crucifixion, with a Benedic-
tine_monk kneeling at the side of the cross, typifying the order
to whom the abbey belonged. The chapel has a charmingly
groined roof.

The Chapel of the Pyx, behind it, was formerly the treagury of
the kings of England. It obtained its name from the pyx—the
box in which are the standards of gold and silver coins—being |
kept here ; it has now been removed to the Mint. Access to the ‘
chapel is gained by a massive stone door, lined with human -skins. |
and secured by seven locks. This chapel is an interesting portion ‘
of the edifice, built by Edward the Confessor.

A staircase, behind the Argyle monument in the south tepnsept, |
communicates with the great dormitory of the monks, now divided
into two apartments, not open to the public. In one of themn, fs the |
Chapter Library, which owes its existence to Dean Williamsg {x620'
whose portrait hangs over the fireplace. That a library of some ‘
kind previously existed is evident from the existence of am order |
of Council of the reign of Edward VI. |

The Cloisters (to the west of the south transept) contain geveral
memorials, the most interesting of which are those to—

Henry Lawes, musician and friend of Milton (1662) ; Sir Edmond B

(1678), murdered in the time of Titus Oates’s plot ; Aphra Behn, autho v
licentious plays (163:2‘; Tom Brown, the satirical poet (17:].;) ; Betf ot
(1710) ; Mrs. Bracegirdle, actress (1748) ; Ephraim Chambers, who com; first

encyclopzdia in the English language (1740) ; Foote, actor and mimic (x

To the east of the Poets’ Corner, is the Chapter House, a I;uuﬁ.
fully decorated octagonal apartment in the English Gothic style
built in 1250. From 1282 until 1547, the House of Commons sat
there. It then became a depository for public records, among them
the famous Domesday Book, until 1860, when the documents were
removed to the new Record Offices. Here are preserved the
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sarcophagus of Valerius Amandinus, already alluded to (see p. 168)
and other ancient remains found in the neighbourhond. and several

York &;Son,) [(Notting Hill.
THE CHOIR.

ancient monuments of the abbey ; amongst them, the charter of
Edward the Confessor. Between 1866 and 1869, the chamber was
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splendidly restored by Sir G. G. Scott. The floor is paved with
heraldic tiles, and there are ancient paintings on the walls. One of
these displays the remains of a painting of Christ, surrounded by
the Christian virtues; those in memory of Dean Stanley, were
placed there by the Queen and by some of his American admirers.
The proximity of the Chapter House to the Poets’ Cornegy; now
filled to overflowing, suggests the desirability of using it #ige the
same purpose. In November, 1893, the first medallion wasg gltaced
within the chamber. It is inscribed, “In memory of James #usseil
Lowell, United States Minister to England from 1880 to 18883 born
1819, died 1891. Veritas.” Above it are two stained-glass winglows,
the one pourtraying St. Andrew and St Botolph. The offr in-

_ cludes the arms of the United States, Harvard University,#md of

Great ‘Britain, and the monastical device of Westminster Al*y

The Choir is separated from the Poets’ Corner by— ‘

The tomb of Anne of Cleves (1557), the fourth wife of Henry VIII., w for
sixfeen years after her divorce. I :

It is shut off from the north transept by- .
Three fine old tombs, erected in the . thirteenth and fourteenth centsyy and

restored in 1825—those of Edmund Crouchback, Earl of Lancaster (1296}, #nd his
Countess Aveline (1273), and of Aylmer de Valence, Earl of Pembroke (13233

In the 8anctuary—the space inside the altar rails—all the sove-
reigns of England since the Conquest have been crowned.

The present Altar and the Reredos were erected in 1867 from s by Sir
Gilbert G. Scott. 1t is simply constructed of red and white alabaster, @bove it
is a mosaic in Venetian glass, representing the Lord’s Supper, and by
Messrs. Clayton and Bell. In the niches are statues of Moses, David, St. and
St. Paul. The sculptured figures were executed by Armstead, and its imic by
Sajviati. The seats for the officiating clergy rest on a part of Sebert’s togily, to the
south, his representation and one of Henry II1., with Bishop Mellitus betvemasm them,
being seen to the north of the altar. A picture of Richard II., one of the hediders oi
the church, interesting as possibly the earliest painting of an English mowereign
wmade in his lifetime, and a fine piece of tapestry also adorn the sanc , 3@ which
were buried Abbots Ware (1284), (who laid down the pavement in 1 Wenlock

1308), and some of their successors.

At the entrance to the South Ambulatory, we find the wergers
awaiting us; and they will conduct us through the chapels and
describe the monuments. We are first shown the traditional Tombd
of ‘the Saxon King, Bebert (616), the original founder of the abbey,
of his Queen, Ethelgoda (615), and of his Sister, Ricula; with a
fragment of altar decoration of the thirteenth century, over it.

8t. Benodict’s (or the Deans’) Chapel, the entrance to which is
from the south transept, contains the tombs of—

Dean Vincent (1815). Dr. William Bell, Elizabeth’s first dean

Dean Goodman (1601). of Westminster (1561); and—

The Countess of Hertford (1598). In the centre of the chapel, Lionel Cran-

Simon Langham, Archbishop of Canter- field, Earl of Middlesex (164s), and
bury (x376). . his second wife, Anne.

Entering the Ambulatory, we pass a small altar tomb over the
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graves of four children of Henry III,, and four of Edward I., and

Vork & Son,) [ Notting Hill.
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note, in the pavement, several slabs in memory of ecclesiastics and
other persons, distinguished in their day, but of some of whom
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little is now known ;
which contains memorials of —

Edward II.'s second son, John of Eltham

(1334).
Earl of Stafford (1762)—Chambers.
Monk, Bishop of Hereford (1661)—
Woodman.
William and Blanche,
Edward III. (1340).
* Francis Grey, Duchess of Suffolk, mother
of Lady Jane Grey (1559).
Francis Holles, third son of Earl of
Clare (1622)—Stone.
Lady Jane Seymour (1560).
Lady Katharine Knollys (1568).
Lady Elizabeth Russell (1601).
Lord John Russell, Earl of Bedford
(1584), and his son, Francis.

children of

GUIDE TO LONDON.
and then we rcach 8t. Edmund’s Chapel,

Edward Bulwer, Lord Lytton (1873).
Sir Bernard Brocas of Beaurepairc

(1396).
Sir Humphrey Bourgheer (fell at Barnet,

Sir klchard Pecksall (1571).

Edward Talbot, Earl of Shrewsbury
(1601), and Jane, his wife.

Earl of Pembroke (fell at Bayonne,

1296).

In the centre of the chapel, Eleanor de
Bo;:un, Duchess of Gloucester (1399) ;
an —

Ferne, Bishop of Chester, the
faxt ful attendant of Charles I. during
his imprisonment (1662).

Close to the entrance to 8t. Nicholas’ Chapel, are monuments to
Dean Tomson (1621) and Sir Henry Spelman, the antiquary (1641) ;
and in the chapel, we see those to—

Lady Cecil (1591).

Lady Jane Clifford (1679).

Countess of Beverley (1812)—Nollekens.

Duchess of Somerset (1587).

Sir John Fane (1618) and his wife.

Baron Carew (1470) and his wife.

Nicholas Bagenall (1688).

.Lady Mildred Burleigh (1589) and her
daughter, Anne (1588).

Bishop Dudley, of Durham (1483).

Anna Sophia Harley (1605).

Lady Ross (1591).

Marchioness of Winchester (1586).

Dl;;:hess of Northumberland (1776)—

ead.

Phillippa de Bohun, Duchess of York
(1431 or 1433).

(In the centre of the chapel) Sir
George Villiers (1605) and his wife
(1632)—Stone.

Approaching Henry VIL’s Chapel we pass the tomb of Abbot
Berkyng, one of the witnesses to Magna Charta (1246), and notice
a bust of Sir Robert Aytoun, the poet (1638), and a tablet to Sir
Thomas Ingram (1671). This chapel (the most magnificent por-
tion of the edifice), to enter which we ascend a flight of twelve
steps, occupies the site of the ancient lady chapel of the abbey and

some adjacent buildings.

The designs were furnished by Bishops

Fox and Alcock, who must have had a special genius for archi-
tectural work. The first stone was laid by Abbot Islip, in the
king’s name, in 1503, and the chapel was completed in 1519, ten
years after the king’s death. The entrance gates are of oak, with

gilt devices and carvings, in which the “roses,”

united by the

marriage of Henry with the Princess Elizabeth of York, are

especially prominent.

There are a central aisle, two side aisles

and five small chapels at the east end. The vaulted roof, with its
airy network of stone, and luxuriant ornamentation, is almost

unrivalled for beauty.

It is a model of the Gothic-Perpendicular

style, “fantastic and fairy-like.” The beautiful stalls, with carvings,
in some places, grotesque, appertain to the Knights of the Bath,

and their banners are suspended above.

There are nearly a thou-

sand figures in the sculptures on the walls. The length of the nave
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is a hundred feet, the height, sixty, and the entire width, seventy.
Richly-carved niches, each containing a small statue, standing on
a pedestal, surround the chapel, below the clerestory windows.
That the costly black and white marble pavement was the gift of
Dr. Henry Killigrew, prebendary of the church (1699), is recorded
by a brass plate on the floor. The chapel is a royal burial-place.

In the centre of its Nave, is the altar-tomb of Henry VII. (1509) and his queen
Elizabeth of York (1503), a choice work of art, by Torrigiano, an Italian sculptor
with marble pillars, statues, and bas-reliefs, and surrounded by a gilt screen in the
Perpendicular-Gothic style, the work of an Englishman. James I. (1625) lies in the
vault below, beside the coffins of Henr‘y and Elizabeth ; and a little in front of the
tomb, Edward VI., grandson of the founder of the chagf)l, was buried beneath a
Renaissance altar, destroyed by the Puritans during the Commonwealth (the frag-
ments of which were discovered by the late Dean Stanley, and re-erected in front of
Edward'’s tomb). To the left of the altar, is the grave of Elizabeth Claypole (1658),
second daughter of Oliver Cromwell ; and a pulpit, supposed to be that in which
Cranmer preached at the coronation and at the funeral of Henry VI. The graves
of George II. (1760), of his queen, Charlotte of Anspach (1737), and of other member
of his family, are in the western part of the nave.

‘The consists of five small chapels, in which are monuments to George
Villiers, Duke of Bucl:iniham (assassinated in 1628) ; John Shefficld, Duke of Buck-
inghamshire (1721) and his wife—Sckeemakers and Delvaux ; Anne of Denmark,
queen of James I. (1619): Dean Stanley (1881), and Lady Augusta Stanley (1876)
-—~Boehm; Duc de Montpensi 1807)— West ¢t ; Lud Stuart, Duke of
Richmond and Lennox (1624), and his wife (1639); and Esmé Stuart, Duke of
Richmond and Lennox (1601). 1n the eastern one of the small chapels were buried
Oliver Cromwell and members of his family and other Puritan leaders; but their
bodies were exhumed and dishonoured after the Restoration, and various noblemen
and some of the illegitimate children of Charles II. were buried in the vault.

In the North Aisle, are buried Queen Elizabeth (1603)—Sfome—and Mary
(1558) ; the Princes murdered in the Tower—Edward V. and the Duke of
York (1483); two infant da‘i&htexs of James I.; Edward Montague, Earl of Sand-
wich (1672) ; George Savile, Marquis of Halifax (1695) ; Charles Montague, Earl of
Halifax (1715) ; and Addison (1719).

The contains monuments to Margaret, Countess of Lennox
(1577); Mary, Queen of Scots, beheaded (1587)—Cure; Margaret, Countess of
Richmond and Derry (1509)— Torrigiano; Lady Walpole (1737)-—Valori; and
George Monk, Duke of Albemarle (1670)—Scheemakers, designed by, Kent. In the
vaults of this aisle, lic Charles II., William IIL, Mary II, Queen Anne, Prince
George of Denmark, Lady Arabella Stuart (1612), Elizabeth, Queen of Bohemia
(1662), Henry Frederick, Prince of Wales (1594).

The North Ambulatory contains the monuments of—

The Earl of Clarendon, the historian (1674) ; “ Patriot Pulteney,” Earl of Bath
(1764); Rear Admiral Holmes (1761); Bishop Duppa (1662)—Burman; Earl
Ligonier (1770)—Moore ; Gen. Wolfe (1759)—Wizlton, with bronze-relief by Caprz-
zoldi ; Abbot Esteney (1498), the patron of Caxton and the abbot who completed
the vaulting of the west end of the Abbey ; and many others.

In 8t. Paul's Chapel, to the north-west of Henry VIL'’s, are :—

Sir Rowland Hill, of penny-postage Sir Thomas Bromley (1587).

fame (1879)—Keyworth. Sir Dudley Carleton, created Viscount
Sir Henry Belayse (1717)—Scheemakers. Dorchester (1631),and his wife—Szone.
Sir iohn Packering (1596) and his wife. Countess of Sussex (1

589).
Sir James Fullerton (1630) and his wife. Lord Cottington (1652) and his wife—
Archbishop Ussher (1656), at whose fu- Fanelli and Le Saur.
neral, the burial service of the Church ames Watt (1819)—Chantrey.
of England was read—the only time udovick Robsart (1431).
either of her liturgies was used in the [In the centre of the chapel, Sir Giles
Abbey during the Commonwealth. Daubeney (1507) and his wife. ]

An ancient stone coffin, found when Sir Rowland Hill's grave was
dug, may be seen in this chapel.
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In 8t. John the Baptist’s Chapel, which comes next, are :—

Henry Cary, Lord Hunsd in and chamberlain to Queen Elizabeth; Cecil
Earl of Exeter, son of Lord Burghley (1622), and his first wife—space was reserved
for a monumental figure of his second wife, but she refused to appear at his left
side, the place of honour being occupied by the figure of the first wife; Colond
Popham, one of Cromwell's officers (1651), the only memorial of any of th
Parliamentarians permitted to remain in the Abbey; scveral of the old abbots of
Westminster, &c,

Abbot Islip’s Chapel, to the west of St. John the Baptist's, i
closed to the public. It contains an apartment only shown by
special authorisation, in which are a remarkable collection of wax
figures of eminent persons interred in the abbey. The chape!
contains a tomb of the good abbot, whose name it bears, and the
family vault of Sir Christopher Hatton. We first enter—

The Chapel of Edward the Confessor, which occupies the entire
space between the choir of the abbey and Henry VIL.’s chapel to
the west and east and the ambulatory, to the north and south ; it is
sometimes spoken of as the “Chapel of the Kings.” It is sepa-
rated from the choir by a screen, decorated with sculptures repre-
senting scenes in the life of the Confessor, in front of which are
the Coronation Chairs of carved oak, Beneath the older one, i
the famous stone of Scone, on which the ancient kings of Scotland
and the still more ancient kings of Ireland sat when they were
crowned ; it is asserted by antique ecclesiastical legend to be the
very stone on which the patriarch Jacob pillowed his head when
he saw the vision of the angels and the ladder. It was removed
from Ireland to Scotland at an early period, and placed, first of all,
in Dunstaffnage Castle, and afterwards, in 850, transferred to the
abbey church of Scone. Edward I. brought it to England in 1296;
and since then it has been beneath the chair on which everv
sovereign of England has sat when receiving the crown. The
other chair was made for the coronation of Mary, joint sovereign
with her husband, William III. Between the chairs, are the sword
and shield of Edward III.

In the centre of the chapel, is (No. 11) the shrine of the Confessor (1066), erected
by Henry III. in 1269, and originally inlaid and decorated with gold and
jewels, of which only a few traces now remain. On its north side, is the tomb
of Queen Editha (1075), the Confessor's wife, and on its south, that of Queen
Maud (1118), his niece, whose marriage with Heﬁg I. united the Saxon and
Norman dynasties. She was originally named Editha, but she changed this
Saxon name for the Norman one of Maud, to lee her husband. Elizabeth
Tudor (1495), the infant daughter of Henry VIIL,, is buried a little to the north-
east of the shrine. Around the Confessor's shrine, are the tombs of some of
the mightiest of his successors.

Henry I11. (1272) himself lies to its north, his tomb bearing his effigy in brass.

Queen Eleanor (1290), first wife of Edward I., who so bravely sucked the poison
from his wounded arm, and to whose y the f: iat
—Charing Cross, among them—were erected.

At the eastern end of the chapel, the Chantry of Henry V. (1422) the “ Prince Hal, the
rascalliest, sweetest young prince,” of peare, the “ such a King Harry" of
Michael Drayton, the most chivalrously heroic of all English kings, the con-
queror of Agincourt. He established here a chantry of “sad and solemn
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riests,” to pray for the repose of his soul, and when he was carried hither, to
deposited at the feet of the Royal Confessor, the corpse was accompanied
by three armed and mounted knights, who sat with their heads bowed on their
horses’ necks, while the priests chanted the requiem for the dead. Thefigure of
the king was robbed of its head of siiver gilt, at the time of the Reformation,
when the abbey was exposed to divers troubles, and many persons were very
desirous to destroy old monuments, especially when gold, silver, or jewels
could be obtained by the process. The helmet, shield, and saddle of the king
are above the tomb. The remains of his queen, Katherine of France, whom

—

EAST FRONT OF THE ABBEY.

he wooed and won so gallantly, and who, by her second marriage, became the
ancestress of the great Tudor monarchs, have been replaced in the tomb ;
they were removed at the time of the construction of Henry VIL's Chapel. In
the chantry, over which is the tomb, are sculptured representations of the
coronation of the king,

Philippa, queen of Edward III. (1369), who counted among her ancestors thirty
princely personages (figures of whom adorned her tomb in the old time), and
was the mother of fourteen children, among them the Black Prince and “old
John of Gaunt, time-h d L ster.”




186 GUIDE TO LONDON.

Edward lll 003
vﬂle. infant daughter of Edward IV. (1472).

Richald lII (murdered 1399), and his first queen, Anne of Bohemia_ sister of the
Emperor of Wencislaus of Germany.

hdward I (1307), ‘“the great Plantaganet." “the hammer of the Scots (Scoterum
malleus),” as the le end on the tomb describes hlm

Thomas of Woodst: uke of Glc ( dered, 1397).

John of Waltham, Blshop of Salisbury (1395).

Leaving the chapel, we walk through 8St. Erasmus’ Shrine, or
Chapel, little more than an archway, the columns whereof are
beautifully clustered ; and then we reach the three Chapels on the
west side of the North Transept—those of 8f. John the Evangelist,
St. Michael, and 8t. Andrew, now really one, the screens which
separated them having been removed. They contain the following
and other monuments—

In Bt. John the Evangelist's thnl,— SIl' ]olm Franklin (1847) — Nobie.
Captain Cooke (1799)—Bacon. jun. (1695). Sir G. Holles
(1625)—Stone. Sir Francis Vere ( x609) Admiral Pocock (1793)—Bacon. Mrs.
Grace Scott (1646). Lady St. John (1614). Aubrey de Vere, Earl of Oxford (1703!.
Theodore Phaliologus (1644). William Moore.

In 8t. Michael's, — Earl Montieth (1771) and his wife — Wiltor. Admira
Kempenfelt (1782)—Bacon, jun. Duchess of Somerset (1692). Lady Ehmbeth

\Tlghtmgale 1731)—Roubiliac.
n 8t Anflnw)l_ — Lieutenant Forbes, Earl of K%(ISIB) and his wife—
Buclcham Telford, engineer (1834)— Baizley. Gen. Villettes. Sir Humphry
Davy (1829). Dr. Baillie (1823)—Chantrey. ~Miss Davidson (1767)—Hayward.
Mrs. Siddons, actress (1831)— Hinchcliffe, designed by Flaxman. Sir D. G.
Simpson (1870)—Brodie. Dr. Young (ISZQ)—Chantr:y Kemble, actor (1823
Flaxman. Lord Norris (1601), his wife, and six sons. Mrs. Kirton (1603). Abbot
Kyston (1466).

We have thus completed the circuit of the abbey, which we
leave by the north door, that by which we entered it.

The nave and lransepts of the abbey are open to the public free—in Hie winter.

b’ellwcmfckv;g and th;ee ;;‘:loc'fst anf tzhn t:de ;i-c“emmszctem /"'our and six. The
lor 'mission fo [ e 1) 1S eaci

ﬁlmargc s and Tuesdays, when the whole is open free. The cloisters can b:xﬁtn‘:;
any time. The fubltc are not admitted to view the monuments on Sundays, Ash
Wednesday, Good Friday, Christmas Day, or during the hours of divine service.
There are three services daily (at 8.0, 10.0, and 3.0), and three on Sundays, at 8.0,
10.0, and 3.0 ; at certain periods of the year, there is an evening service.in the narc
at seven ; and the boys attending Westminster School have a-special-one daily, a!
nine in the morning,

Facing the west front of the Abbey, is the Westminster Column,
a granite pillar, about thirty feet high, surmounted by a figure of
St. George slaying the Dragon, and with small statues of Edward
the Confessor, Henry III., Elizabeth, and Victoria, and four figures
of lions at the base. It was erected, from the designs of Sir Gilbert
G. Scott, in memory of Lord Raglan and other Westminster
scholars who fell in the Crimean and Indian wars.

Dean’s Yard, the entrance whereto almost faces the monument,
affords access to the cloisters and to the Dean’s residence. By
passing through it and beneath the arch at the further end, we reach

the completed portion of—
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The Church House,
- [(Map1.:N13.]
intended as a2 memorial of Queen Victoria’s Jubilee, and an
acknowledgment to God for the manifold blessings which He
conferred upon the Church of England during her Majesty’s
reign. Its site is about an acre in extent ; and it will eventually
occupy the whole of the south side of Dean’s Yard, a situation at
once very central, easily accessible, quiet, and especially suitable,
owing to its religious and historical associations. It is the
“ business house of the Church of England, which consolidates
all the acfivities of the Church and forms a centre from which
new philanthropic and religious movements emanate, and round
which they easily group themselves;” and it affords a much
needed centre for consultation.and deliberation. The council of
the corporation (for the Church House has been incorporated by
royal charter) fitted up the houses facing the Yard, on the side
whereof the front of the building is to rise, for use during the
erection of other parts of the edifice. In this way the institution
has for some time fulfilled many of the functions for which it was
designed. Reading and writing rooms and various offices have
been provided ; and a library which already contains many thou-
sands of useful volumes has been established for the use of the
members. The plans of the permanent building were prepared
by Sir Arthur W. Blomfield, A.RA.; and on Midsummer Day,
1891, the Duke and Duchess of Connaught laid the foundation of—
The Great Hall block, which faces GREAT SMITH STREET. It

was opened by the Duke and Duchess of York in February,
1896. The exterior of the building is composed of red brick with
dressings of Portland stone ; for all the interior stone-work,
Ancaster stone is used. It is lighted throughout by electricity,
and is heated by hot water ; the offices in the basement have
ordinary fire-places in addition. The edifice consists of three
storeys. In the basement, are ten well-lighted rooms, about
nineteen feet by sixteen in area, and to be used as the offices
of the various Church societies. The ground floor, as at present
arranged, contains two rooms—one, forty-one feet long by twenty-
nine wide, and the other, fifty-two feet long by twenty-nine wide
—for the temporary use of the Upper and Lower Houses of Con-
vocation respectively with robing rooms and other offices. When
permanent quarters have been provided for Convocation in that
part of the building which will face Dean’s Yard, these rooms
will be divided into smaller ones for use as offices or committee
rooms. The basement and ground floor are laid with pitch pine
blocks, bedded in damp-proof cement, upon a fire-proof floor.
The doors and all the other wood finishings in the basement and
on the ground floor are of pitch pine. The Great Hall is reached.
by a double staircase from the main entrance; it is a hundred
and fifteen feet long by fifty wide, and, with the galleries, will
accommodate about thirteen hundred persons. The roof and all
the other woodwork of the hall, together with the flooring, is of oak.

Membership of the corporation may be acguind by an annual subscription o{
a guinea or morve; kfe membership by a tion of ten g s. C
cations should be addressed to the Secretary.
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In Great Smith Street, at its junction with ST. ANN'S STREET,
are the Westminster Baths and Washhouses, opened by Mr.
Burdett-Coutts in 1893.

Continuing our west walk from Dean’s Yard, we pass—

Westminster School,
or, to give it the full title, St. Peter's College of Westminster, founded
originally in the time of the Confessor, remodelled by the Norman
kings, and refounded by Queen Elizabeth. It is one of the great
public schools of England. The large college hall was formerly
the monks’ refectory ; and the “dormitory,” where the plays are
acted, was also a portion of the convent.

On the right side of the road, opposite the Westminster Memorial,
are the Seasions House, where the Middlesex and London County
magistrates meet, and Westminster Hospital, founded in 1719 by Mr.
Hoare, the banker. To the west of the hospital is the Royal
Aquarium, of variety entertainment fame, some six hundred feet
long and about a hundred and sixty wide. Its exterior is of red
brick and Portland stone, with carved work, scrolls, dolphins, &c.
There are two towers at the east end.

VICTORIA STREET is a splendid thoroughfare with the West-
minster Palace Hotel at the more prominent corner, and containing
many large blocks of flats, used as offices and apartments. Victoria
Street is a locality much favoured by engineers and architects. Here
also are the offices of several of the Colonial Governments. At the
further end of the street is—

Victoria Station—or rather stations—for there are three of them,
—the West End termini of the London, Brighton, and South Coast
and of the South-Eastern and Chatham Railways, and, on the
other side of the square, the District Railway Station. The two
former stations are used not only by the companies to which they
belong, but by the London and North-Western, the Midland, the
Great Western, and Great Northern Railways, whose trains run
into them. It is proposed shortly to greatly enlarge the station by
taking in adjoining streets. It will then be one of the largest in
London. The stations are in Pimlico; and their western side
abuts on the BUCKINGHAM PALACE RoAD, a spacious thoroughfare,
lined with tall edifices of attractive architecture, and connecting
St. James’s Park with Pimlico Road and other streets which lead
down to the Thames and over the temporary bridge at Vauxhall
into transpontine London.

In ASHLEY GARDENS, reached from Victoria Street, near its
western end, is rapidly being completed—

The Westminster Roman Catholic Cathedral,
a beautiful structure, the foundation stone of which was laid by
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In Great Smith Street, at its junction with ST. ANN'S STREET,
are the Westminster Baths and Washhouses, opened by Mr.
Burdett-Coutts in 1893.

Continuing our west walk from Dean’s Yard, we pass—

Westminster School,
or, to give it the full title, St. Peter's College of Westminster, founded
sriginally in the time of the Confessor, remodelled by the Norman
zings, and refounded by Queen Elizabeth. It is one of the great
public schools of England. The large college hall was formerly
the monks’ refectory ; and the “dormitory,” where the plays are
acted, was also a portion of the convent.

On the right side of the road, opposite the Westminster Memorial,
are the Sessions House, where the Middlesex and London County
magistrates meet, and Westminster Hospital, founded in 1719 by Mr.
Hoare, the banker. To the west of the hospital is the Royal
Aguarium, of variety entertainment fame, some six hundred feet
long and about a hundred and sixty wide. Its exterior is of red
brick and Portland stone, with carved work, scrolls, dolphins, &c.
There are two towers at the east end.

VICTORIA STREET is a splendid thoroughfare with the West-
minster Palace Hotel at the more prominent corner, and containing
many large blocks of flats, used as offices and apartments. Victoria
Street is a locality much favoured by engineers and architects. Here
also are the offices of several of the Colonial Governments. At the
further end of the street is—

Victoria 8tatlon—or rather stations—for there are three of them,
—the West End termini of the London, Brighton, and South Coast
and of the South-Eastern and Chatham Railways, and, on the
other side of the square, the District Railway Station. The two
former stations are used not only by the companies to which they
belong, but by the London and North-Western, the Midland, the
Great Western, and Great Northern Railways, whose trains run
into them. It is proposed shortly to greatly enlarge the station by
taking in adjoining streets, It will then be one of the largest in
London. The statiéns are in Pimlico; and their western side
abuts on the BUCKINGHAM PALACE RoAD, a spacious thoroughfare,
lined with tall edifices of attractive architecture, and connecting
St. James’s Park with Pimlico Road and other streets which lead
down to the Thames and over the temporary bridge at Vauxhall
into transpontine London.

In ASHLEY GARDENS, reached from Victoria Street, near its
western end, is rapidly being completed—

The Westminster Roman Catholic Cathedral,
a beautiful structure, the foundation stone of which was laid by
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Lowther Arcade is the “ Wonderland ” of London children. There
are numerous theatres in the line of road, and others “ just round
the corner.” The religious character of the locality is maintained
by Exeter Hall, famous for the May Meetings and as the head-quarters
of the Young Men’s Christian Association ; by two churches, standing
like islands in the broad stream of traffic ; and by others in the side
streets. Law and Justice are superbly housed in the new Palace of
Judicature, at its eastern end. Education is looked after at King's
College ; and the “fourth estate "—the press—is amply represented
by the offices of newspapers and other publications. This street,
in which some writers have discovered an epitome of metropolitan
life—the aristocratic element being least apparent—is seven-eighths
ofi a mile long from Charing Cross to the spot where Temple Bar
once marked the distinction between the Strand and Fleet Street—
between thedistrict under the control of the London County Council
and the City, governed by “our own lord mayor”’ and his coadjutors.

We have already dealt sufficiently with the WEST STRAND, as that
portion of the street which extends to its junction with AGAR and
KiNG WILLIAM STREET is called. Villiers Street, which will lead us
to the Charing Cross (District Railway) 8tation, and some of the sur-
rounding streets cover what was once the estate of George Villiers,
Duke of Buckingham, who, Dryden tells us—

“in the course of one revolving moon,
Was chemist, fiddler, stat and buffoon.”

The Tivoli Theatrs, at No. 63, attracts attention by its handsome
gilded exterior. Modelled on the old houses in the Brussels
Market-place, it has five large doorways on the ground floor, and
above them three tiers of equally large windows. Its interior is
notable for similar spaciousness and for its elaborate precautions
against fire. The front is composed of Corsham stone, the windows
being separated by marble pilasters, with ornaments in gold.

BEDFORD STREET, on the other side of the way, runs to Garrick
Street, and so opens out a way, vid St. Martin’s Lane, to the
Seven Dials and Oxford Street; its name reminds us that the
aristocratic Russell family possesses large estates hereabouts.
ApAM STREET, a little further on, perpetuates the name of the
famous architects, brothers, who have left their mark on London.
Among other structures, they built the Adelphi Terrace, facing the
Victoria Embankment, along which we hope to walk in another
Excursion. JOHN STREET, which runs westward from Adam Street
and, continued as DUKE STREET, connects Villiers Street with it,
is interesting to litterateurs. For in it, is the home of the Royal
Boclety of Arte—or, to give it its full title, the “ Royal Society for
the Encouragement of Arts, Manufactures,and Commerce”—which
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was established in 1754, and has numbered many illustrious men
among its presidents (the Prince Consort was one of them). It
was owing to its action that the Exhibitions of 1851 and 1862
originated. In its lecture hall (open daily, except Wednesdays and
Saturdays, from ten till four), are exhibited Barry's six paintings,
illustrative of the progress of civilisation. Philanthropy, too, has
its representative in this street, the Royal Lifeboat Institution
having its head-quarters at No. 14.

On the north side of the Strand, opposite Adam Street, is the
Royal Adelphi Theatre, connected with the name and fame of
Y ates, Mrs. Yates, Mathews, Paut Bedford, Toole, Madame Celeste,
Mrs. Fitzwilliam, and William Terriss, who was so foully assas-
sinated in 1897, and many other theatrical celebrities. The house,
originally known as the Sans Pareil, was first opened in 1816, and
was rebuilt in 1858. A few yards farther is the Vaudeville Theatre.

Behind these theatres, and running parallel to the Strand,
between Bedford Street and Southampton Street, is MAIDEN
LLANE, an old narrow street, in which Voltaire lodged during his
residence in England, and where Turner, the great landscape
painter, was born ; and where Andrew Marvell, as is well known
to all students of history, refused Charles I1.’s bribe of £1,000.

On the south side of the Strand, the Hotel Cecil has quite recently
swept away Salisbury Street, Cecil Street, and a number of shops,
thus giving the hotel a much-needed frontage to the Strand. A
few more steps eastward conduct us to BEAUFORT BUILDINGS,
leading to one of the entrances of the Savoy Theatre, built, in 1881,
by the late Mr. C.]. Phipps, and the first London theatre lighted
by electricity ; it is identified with the burlesque operas of Mr.
Gilbert and Sir Arthur Sullivan. SOUTHAMPTON STREET, nearly
opposite, leads to—

Covent Garden Market.
[Map I.: L13]
Cab Fares : From Paddington station—1/6.

From every other principal railway station—1/-.

Nearest Railway Stations : Charing Cross and the Temple.

It is famous for fruits, flowers, and bouquets. The ground on
which it stands was in old times the garden of the convent of St.
Peter’s, at Westminster. After that convent was, with so many
others, “disestablished and disendowed,” the site remained vacant,
and in course of time stalls were erected for the sale of vegetables
against the wall of the garden of Bedford House, in the Strand.
In 1631, the Earl of Bedford built around it the quadrangle (about
three acres in extent) ; and the piazza (formerly all round the
square, now only on the northern and eastern sides) was designed
by Inigo Jones. The main body of the present market buildings
were erected by Mr. Fowler, at the cost of the Duke of Bedford,

14
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in 1830. The covered central avenue, lined with shops in which
the most exquisite and costly' fruits are displayed, is about the
middle of the day quite a fashionable resort ; and at very early
morning, on Tuesday, Thursday, and Saturday, when the whole-
sale market is in full swing, a very animated spectacle is pre-
sented. The piazza and the taverns which are connected with it
were very conspicuous in the social, literary, and dramatic history
of the last century. On that side, stood Button's Coffee House,
famous in its day. An entrance to the Floral Hall, an adjunct of
the Royal Italian Opera House, Covent Garden, is at the north-
east corner of the square, and at the south-east is a new flower-
market, an extension demanded by the increase of business. On
the western side of the market is 8t. Paul’s Church ; built by Inigo
Jones in 1633, destroyed by fire in 1795, and rebuilt, in accordance
with the original designs, by Mr. Hardwick. In the churchyard
were buried Robert Carr, the base Earl of Somerset ; Butler, the
author of “Hudibras,” who died of consumption, accelerated by
the effects of poverty ; Sir Peter Lely, who painted the portraits
of so many frail beauties of the Stuart Court; Wycherley.
the dramatist ; Mrs. Centlivre, who wrote lively, but licentious
comedies ; Dr. Arne, the musical composer ; and Charles Macklin.
the famous actor, who, after he retired from the stage, kept a
favourite tavern under the piazza, and lived, it is believed, to be
107 years old, his span of existence (he died in 1797) linking the
lives of some then breathing with the days of William and Mary.
John Wolcot (“ Peter Pindar”) and Girtin, the painter in water
coloyrs, also lie here. . . - .
Returning to the Strand, we soon reach, on the left-hand side—

Exeter Hall,

This well-known building has only a narrow frontage to the
Strand ; it is ornamented with Corinthian columns, and has a Greek
inscription—®d\adehpsiov (Philadelphion, “hall of brotherly love™
—on the pediment. It was erected in 1831, from the designs of
Gandy Deering, for the meetings of religious and philanthropic
societies and for musical performances on a large scale. The great
hall contains sitting room for more than four thousand persons, with
a fine organ and large orchestra at the east end. A smaller hall has |
room for a thousand persons. The building, which has received
considerable additions and improvements, was purchased by the
Young Men’s Christian Association in the early part of 1881. In the
basement, are class-rooms and accommodation for athletic exercises.

At No. 105, on the opposite side of the way, is Terry's Theatre,
conspicuous by its sheltered porch. It was erected, in 1887, from
the designs of Waller Emden, and is fireproof throughout.

Journeying eastward, we find, leading to the Embankment,

SAvOY STREET, in which is the Church of St. Fohn ia Savoy, better
known as—
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The Savoy Chapel Royal.

This building, restored in 18635, after a fire which nearly destroyed
it, was built in 1505 on part of the site of the Palace of the Savoy,
erected in 1245 by the great baron, Simon de Montfort, and given
by Henry III. to Count Peter of Savoy. John of Gaunt after-
wards owned it. Chaucer wrote some of his ppems there ; and
King John of France, the captive of Poitiers, died there. The
palace was destroyed by the mob, led by Wat Tyler ; and in 1505,
Henry VII. established a hospital on the spot for the sick and the
poor, and to this hospital the chapel, dedicated to St. John the
Baptist, was attached. The famous Savoy Conference of 1661 was
held in the hospital buildings, some portion of which, used at a
later period as a military prison, remained till the ground was
cleared for the approach to Waterloo Bridge. The style.of the
building is Gothic. The wooden ceiling is divided intp compart-
ments, in which are sacred emblems and heraldic devices. At the
east end, are Gothic niches and a painted window with a repre-
sentation of the Crucifixion, by Willement, given by Queen Victoria
as a memorial of the Prince Consort. The font was presented by
Mrs. de Wint, widow of the eminent landscape painter, as a
memento of her husband and Mr. Hilton, R.A. the historical
painter. On the floor, is a brass, marking the grave of Bishop
Gawain Douglas, the translator of Virgil, who died in 1522, and
was buried here. There is a tablet to the memory of Richard
Lander, the African explorer; and in the church are buried
George Withers, the religious poet (1667), and the Earl of Faver-
sham (1709), who commanded King James’s troops at the battle
of Sedgemoor. Services on Sunday at 9.30, 10.0, 12.0, and 5.30.
New school buildings, in connection with the Chapel Royal, were
opened by the Princess Christian in April, 1883.

On the opposite side of the Strand, is the pit entrance to the
Lyceum Theatre, the principal front of which, adorned by a fine
portico, is in WELLINGTON STREET, the broad thoroughfare which
crosses the Strand and forms the approach to Waterloo Bridge.
The theatre, at one time known as the English Opera House—
an older theatre, opened in 1834—was originally a “lyceum,” or
academical institution, in connection with the Society of Arts. It is
worth noting that the old theatre was the first lighted with gas ;
and that the “Sublime Society of Beefsteaks,” popularly known as
the * Beafsteak Club,” of which George IV. was a member in the
days when he was Prince Regent, and for which Captain Morris
acted as poet-laureate, met in one of its rooms, The Lyceum has
for many years been associated with the name and fame of Sir
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Henry Irving. Still going eastward, we reach, at the corner of
CATHERINE STREET, the Galety Theatre, opened in I1868. It is a
large and handsome edifice, famous for burlesques.

Somerset House,
Map I.: L 14]

a large edifice on the southern side of the street, next attracts our
attention. It is one of the finest and largest buildings in the
metropolis ; and owes its name to the fact that it covers the site
of the palace begun, in 1547, by Protector Somerset, who, how-
ever, did not live to see its completion, for the headsman of Tower
Hill stayed his career. The proud and unscrupulous duke pro-
vided some of the materials for the use of his architect by pulling
down the cloisters of St. Paul’s, with the charnel-house and chapel,
flinging the bones to rot in Finsbury Fields ; and it is said that
he even cast his irreverent eyes on Westminster Abbey as a
possible stone quarry. To make room for the palace and gardens,
the town houses of the Bishops of Lichfield, Coventry, Worcester.
and Llandaff—pleasant places, with lawns sloping to the Thames
—an inn of Chancery, known as the Strand (or Martin’s) and
two churches, with their burying-grounds, were cleared away. The
palace, which occupied a site six hundred feet from east to west
by five hundred from north to south, was designed by John
of Padua, and is said to have been the first Italian edifice erected
in London. After Somerset's death, it became royal property:
it was assigned as the residence of the young Princess Eliza-
beth, who, when she became the queen, gave it to her cousin,
Lord Hunsdon. In the time of James I., it was named Denmark
House, in honour of his queen, Anne of Denmark ; and when the
king died, his body lay here in state. The queens of Charles 1.
and II. lived at the palace. Cromwell’s body lay here in state, on
a crimson velvet bed, for some days. After the Restoration, the
house became a lodging for foreign potentates and decayed noble-
men ; and it continued the residence of successive queens, until
1775, when Parliament, on the recommendation of George III,
settled upon Queen Charlotte the house she then occupied (known
as the Queen’s House), and Somerset House was given up and
appropriated ‘‘ to such purposes as shall be found most useful to the
public.” And as public offices it has ever since been used.

The palace was found altogether unsuitable for its new uses:
and it was resolved to pull it down and erect another building on
its site. Sir William Chambers was accordingly commissioned to
furnish designs for it ; and the new edifice was commenced in
1766, It encloses a quadrangle three hundred and nineteen feet
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in length by two hundred and twenty-four in width, in which is a
Bromge Group by Bacon, representing George III., with the British
lion and an allegorical figure, representing the Thames, at his feet.
The Strand front is one hundred and fifty-five feet long, the entrance
to the quadrangle being by an elegant triple archway ; its attic
storey, which is supported by three-quarter Corinthian columns, is
divided into three compartments by allegorical figures of Justice,
Truth, Valour, and Moderation, surmounted by the royal arms.
Two other statues represent Fame and the Genius of England.
The south front, nearly four hundred feet long, presents a noble
facade in the Palladian style, with a terrace which, previously to
the construction of the Embankment, was lapped by the waters of
the Thames. The eastern wing, now occupied by King’s College,
was added by Sir R. Smirke in 1828, and a western wing, with a
handsome frontage to Wellington Street, by Pennethorne, between
1854 and 1856. Altogether, the building of Somerset House has
cost about half a million. There are sunken storeys throughout the
building, affording a very large amount of additional accommoda-
tion. The number of windows is said to be three thousand six
hundred, but we are not aware that they have ever been accurately
counted. From time to time, some of the learned societies have
had rooms assigned to them in the building ; but, as they have
grown older, they have been provided with homes elsewhere.
The increase of Government business has necessitated this ;
and now the civil servants occupy the whole of the structure,
with the exception of the east wing. The Audit Office,
the Inland Revenue Office, whence stamps are issued and where
taxes are paid, the Prerogative Office, where wills are kept, and
the office of the Registrar-General of Births, Deaths, and Marriages
in England, some of the minor departments of the Admiralty,
and other Government offices are located in the building.

King’s College.

This college and school, founded in 1828, and vested in a body
of shareholders, was established on the principle of combining
religious and secular instruction. There are five departments—
theology, general literature and science, applied sciences, medicine,
and evening classes. The large school for boys has been removed
to new buildings on Wimbledon Common. The museum contains
a valuable collection of mechanical models and philosophical
instruments, formed by George III., and the famous calculating
machine constructed by Mr. Babbage. The hospital in connection
with King’s College is in Portugal Street, Lincoln’s Inn Fields.
Nearly opposite King’s College is— '
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The Church of St. Mary-le-Strand,
built by Gibbs in 1717. It was the first of the fifty churches
erected in London in the reign of Queen Anne. Originally
founded in the year 1147 and at first known as the “ Church of the
Nativity of Our Lady and the Innocents at the Strand,” the pre-
decessor of the present handsome structure stood on the€ site now
occupied by the quadrangle of Somerset House ;- it was one of the
two which the duke sacrificed to find room for his palace. -As it
now stands, it is a censpicuous feature of the Strand, its  Yonic
portico, its upper -Corinthian storey, broken by windows and sur-
rounded by a pediment and balustrade, and its charmingly graceful
steeple forming an edifice in every way worthy of the prominent
" positien it occupies. The interior -presents many architectural
beauties. - Sunday services at 7.30, 8.30, 11.0, and 7.0.

Ere Jong, when the New Holborn and Strand 8treet, now in course
of construction by the London County Council, is completed, a large
and architecturally imposing crescent will be formed here. When
that is ‘done, we shall see St. Mary-le-Strand near its western ex-
tremity and St. Clement Danes, at-its eastern, with the handsome
elevation of the Law Courts behind the latter—verily, an approach
to the City proper worthy of its antiquity and history. Already the
block of buildings lying south of Holywell Street has been de-
molished, widening the Strand to 70 feet. Holywell Street (gene-
rally known as Booksellers’ Row), and Wych Street areé also
being subjected to the ruthless, but in this case very necessary.
operations of the “house-breaker.”

.

The Church of St. Clement Danes, _
which, like St. Mary’s, stands,in the .centre of the Strand, occupies
a spot on which a Christian church has stood since the year 1o002.
It is dedicated to St. Clement, the patron saint of sailors and cloth-
workers ; but of the cause of the singular affix, “ Danes,” nothing
certain is known. Tradition, however, supplies a story connected
with it, which is so interesting that we can but hope it may be
a true one. We are told that after a disastrous defeat which the
Danes suffered at the hands of the Londoners, some few were leit
behind by their comrades, in their haste to reach their ships; that
their lives were spared, and they were permitted to settle in the
neighbourhood ; and that marrying English wives, and becoming
converted to the Christian religion, they erected a church on the
spot. Another tradition is that the name was given to the building,
because Harold, a Danish king, Harefoot, a leader, and many other
Danes were buried on the site. The old church was repaired over
and over again ; it was eventually taken down in 1668, and thc
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present one erected by Edward Pearce, under the direction of Sir
Christopher Wren. It is of white stone and in the Corinthian
style of architecture, the tower and spire, together a hundred and
sixteen feet high, being added, in 1719, by Gibbs. In the belfry
is the peal, which chimes forth the “oranges and lemons” of the
nursery rhyme. The site possesses marked peculiarities, to suit
which the architect adopted a ground plan which bears some re-
semblance to the section of a ship of the old round-bowed pattern.
The church has literary associations, for, in the yard, were buried
Otway, the poet—a fine genius with a lamentable ending to his life
—and another dramatic poet, in whom the line dividing genius
from insanity was very confusedly drawn, Nat Lee, the author
of ‘¢ Alexander the Great” ; and Dr. Johnson regularly attended
service at the charch, the pew, in the north gallery, occupied by
him, being indicated by a brass plate, affixed to it by “some in-
habitants of the parish of St. Clement Danes,” in 1851. Sunday
serwvices at 8.0, 11.0, and 7.0.

Between Holywell and Wych Streets, is the entrance to the
Opera Comique, a very clegant theatre, opened in 1870; and ad-
joining it, with the principal entrance in Newcastle Street, is the
Globe Theatre. NEWCASTLE STREET, on the north, and SURREY and
NORFOLK STREETS, on the south side of the Strand, are memorials
of the connections of the old nobility with the neighbourhood. Just
beyond King’s College, on the same side, is STRAND LANE, a small
court, in which is one of the antiquities of London, a Roman Bath,
still available, and remarkable for the cool freshness of the water.
It is about thirteen feet long, six wide, and five deep ; and the bricks
of which it is constructed are of Roman make. Near it, are other
baths constructed, it is supposed, about 1588, by the Earl of Essex,
who resided near the spot.. The water is from the same spring as
that of the Roman bath. Next to Strand Lane, is the 8trand Theatre,
opened in 1831, a small house, famous for farce and burlesque.

The Strand, hereabouts, has long been the head-quarters of the
pictorial journals of London, the lllustrated London News, the
Graphic, and the Daily Graphic. Other newspapers have their
publishing offices hereabouts ; and in MILFORD LANE, running
southwards, are their printing offices, &c.

E sSEX STREET, the next turning to the south, the name of which
preserves the connection of the celebrated Earl of Elizabetl's
time with the neighbourhood, communicates with the Embank-
ment, near the Temple station of the District Railway (it is well to
keep the whereabouts of the railway station in our mind’s eye, in
case we have occasion to quickly make our way home). On the
west side of the street, and near its northern end, is what was the
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oldest Unitarian chapel in the metropolis, converted, in 1866, into a
Unitarian Public Hall, a marble Statue of Raikes, the originator of
Sunday Schools, being erected in its vestibule. Nearly opposite the
chapel is DEVEREUX CoURT, which connects Essex Street with
the Temple, and also with the Strand, somewhat the shape of an
inverted capital L.

On the north side of St. Clement’s churchyard and extending
nearly to Fleet Street, are the extensive and magnificent buildings,
opened by Queen Victoria, in November, 1882—

The Royal Palace of Justice.
[Map II1.: ¥14.]

Cab Fares : From Paddington station—2/-.
From London Bridge, Fenchurch Street, or Victoria stations—1/6.
From Broad Street, Cannon Street, Charing Cruss, Euston, King's Cross, Liver-
pool Street, Ludgate Hill, St. Pancras, or Waterloo stations—1/-.

Nearest Railway Station : Temple.

In 1859, a Royal Commission reported in favour of concentrating
the law courts on a site between the Strand and Lincoln’s Inn
Fields, a convenient position in relation to the principal inns of law,
and central as regards the metropolis generally. Acts of Parlia-
ment to carry out the plan were passed, and competitive designs
were invited. There was great diversity of opinion as to the spot
on which the edifice should stand, the Thames Embankment having
many advocates, and still greater diversity as to the merits of the
plan; but the present site and Streef's design were ultimately
selected. The structure consists of a main building, with a central
hall, and wings, connected with the main building, at each end.
thus forming a quadrangle. The eastern block, almost detached,
is occupied by masters and other officials of the courts. It has
a tower, with a projecting ornamental clock, at the south-eastern
angle. Provision is made for eighteen separate courts, with judges’
rooms, robing rooms for counsel, jury rooms, accommodation for
witnesses, and other requisite apartments and offices. The central
hall, two hundred and thirty-one feet long, forty-eight wide, and
eighty-two high, with groinings and carvings, is a noble vestibule
to the courts ; its gable, a hundred and thirteen feet high, contains
a large “light,” with a beautiful rose window above it. There is
a marble gallery at each end of the hall, and corridors from it
communicate with every portion of the building. The level of
Carey Street, on the north, is seventeen feet above that of the
Strand ; and this feature in the site has necessitated the pre-
sence of the steps in the hall. In it, is a Statue of Mr. Street,
from the chisel of H. H. 4rmstead, R.A, ; it stands on a pedestal,
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the frieze whereof contains representations of the various trades
connected with architecture. The grand entrance, facing the
Strand, has a magnificent recessed archway, with octagonal flanking
towers, ninety feet apart; and there is every provision for the
approach of carriages and pedestrians. The central arch of the
porch is fifty feet high. On each side of it, are ancient windows,
containing Gothic tracery, with recesses for sculpture above them ;
and the central hall is gained through a second porch. Its floor is
four or five feet higher than the level of the Strand. The style
adopted by the architect is known as Monastic Gothic; and its
cost was little short of a million sterling. The Strand facade,
nearly five hundred feet long, has an elegant arcade, the arches
supported by marble columns ; and the unoccupied land at the west
end has been laid out, by an unknown benefactor, as a recrea-
tion ground. Behind it rises the pleasing front (which, in a
position where its proportions were not dwarfed by its surround-
ings, would be imposing) of the Bankruptcy Court, with its offices,
opened in 1892, Of white brick and Portland stone, it is of Italian
architecture. '

The visitor will mark the spot where, until January, 1878, stood
Temple Bar (still the official name of this part of the thoroughfare),
that famous portal of the City, in the last century surmounted by
the heads of the unfortunate Jacobites. The gates of the bar were,
on the occasion of royal visits to the City, formally shut against the
sovereign, who asked permission to enter civic domains and was
then received with enthusiastic and loyal welcomes. However his-
torically interesting, the bar, erected by Sir Christopher Wren,
hindered the traffic, and moreover became so shaky when the foun-
dations were weakened by the excavations for the new Law Courts
that its removal was decided on. The spot where it stood is marked
by an erection in the middle of the narrow roadway, with statues
of Queen Victoria and the King as Prince of Wales, busts of the late
Duke of Clarence and of Lord Mayor Truscott, and is surmounted
by one of the ugliest achievements of the sculptor’s art, generally
described as the griffin, but an imaginary adaptation of the heraldic
dragon. The stones of the bar were carefully preserved ; and in
1891 were purchased by Sir H. Meux, who re-erected them at the
entrance to his grounds at Cheshunt.

We have thus reached the west end of Fleet Street and the
entrance to the City. But, before we cross the boundary of the
domain ruled over by the Lord Mayor, we will make a défour to
the north to visit several places of interest thereabouts. We will
wwalk back to WyYCH STREET, the name of which is a survival of
Aldewych Street, the title of Drury Lane, before brave Sir Wil-
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liam Drary, who distinguished hjmself in the Irish wars in the
reign of Queen Elizabeth, built himself a mansion at its Strand
end and, as is usually the case, called his possession by his own
name. Passing up the street, we note, on the right (east) side, the
handsome fagade of— : S -

The Olympic Theatre, -

which was opened in 1806, as an arena for horsemanship, by
the famous Philip Astley, but which is better known in con-
nection with the long management 68 Madame Vestris, who first
introduced there the elegant stage arrangements now so generally
adopted in high-class theatres. Liston made his last, and Charles
Mathews his first appearance there. Wych Street will shortly
be demolished, in connection with the Holborn and Strand
Improvement Scheme. : :

A few more steps and we reach DRURY LANE, wherein is
St. Mary-le-Strand Public Hall and Library, opened by Lady
Esther Smith in January, 1895. The hall, which cost £4,400,
was designed by Mr. Albert, contains a library (the books in
which were presented by the Hon. W. F. D; Smith, M.P.), a
lecture-room, and a board room. In the basement, are baths
for men and for women ; and the edifice is lighted throughout
by electricity.

At the northern end of Drury Lane, is— !

Drury Lane Theatre.
[Map I.: L 14) ~

Cab Fares: From Broad Street, Fenchurch Street, Liverpool Street, London
Bridge, or Paddington stations—1/6.
From Cannon Street, Charing Cross, Euston, King's Cross, Ludgate Hill, St.
Pancras, Victoria, or Waterloo stations--1/-.

Nearest Railway Stations ; Temple and Charing Cross.

“Old Drury,” the most famous of the London Theatres, ex-
tends from Drury Lane to Bridge Street, a continuation of
Catherine Street, Strand (where its front is), and from Russell
Street to Vinegar Yard. The enormous size of the stage affords
almost unrivalled facilities for spectacles. A figure of Shakespeare
is over the external portico ; and in the entrance hall, are statues
of Shakespeare; Kean, and Balfe. There is accommodation for
3,500 persons. The present is the fourth theatre on the site. On
the 8th of April, 1663, Thomas Killigrew, one of the “king’s
servants,” or company of actors especially attached to the court
of Charles II., opened a theatre here, in which, among others,
Nell Gwynne performed. The first play-bill ever 1ssued appeared
on the occasion of the opcening, and announced that “ by his
Majestie his company of comedians, at the new theatre in Drury
Lane, will be acted a comedy colled ‘The Humorous Lieu-
tenant.” In 1672, the theatre was burnt down and sixty houses
with it ; but Sir Christopher Wren soon built another, which
was opened two years afterwards. The interior was recon-
structed by Adam in 1775 ; and the theatre was entirely rebuilt
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in 1794. That building lasted until February, 1809, when it was
destroyed by fire. It was rebuilt by Wyatt ; and when the new
theatre was opened in October, 1812, there was considerable
competition among the poets. of the day for the honour of writing
the opening address, which was ultimately furnished by Byron.
‘The occasion gave rise to the famous “ Rejected Addresses,” by
James and Horace Smith, clever burlesque imitations of -the
styles of the leading writers of the day. We must not linger
among the memories of “ Old Drury ” ; but-lovers of the drama

- cannot help feeling an interest in the great house where Garrick
took his farewell of the stage, where Mrs, Siddons, John Kemble,
Charles Kemble, Edmund Kean, Madame Vestris, Ellen Tree,
-and Charles Kean made. their first appearances, and Macready,
his last. - For many. years, it was associated with the late Sir
Augustus Harris, who died in June, 1896. A memorial of the great
manager was unveiled in November, 1897. It stands at the corner
of Russell Street and Catherine Street, and takes the form of a
drinking fountain.

One of the most famous of the Scottish churches in the metro-
polis—that in which Dr. Cumming, of “ Millennium” fame, at
one time ministered—stands in CROWN COURT, on the opposite
side of RUSSELL STREET, to that occupied by the theatre. The
last-named street, by the way, connects Lincoln’s Inn Fields with
Covent Garden Market and Bow STREET. The latter thorough-
fare, most-of our readers will associate in their minds with Town-
send and other famous “Bow Street Runners”; with Fielding,
the novelist, and his brother, Sir John Fielding, who were magis-
trates at the time when that in Bow Street was the only court
in London equivalent to what we now term a police-court, and
with the fact that it is at the present time the chief police-court
of the metropolis. In this street, is—

The Opera ‘House, Covent Garden,
Map I.: L13.)

first opened in December; 1732, by Rich, the Harlequin (when
Harlequin was the principal comic character in a pantomime,
Clown being a later development). It was burned down in Sep-
tember, 1808, rebuilt by R. Smirke;and reopened just a year after-
wards with a performance of “ Macbeth,” the prices of admission
being raised by the lessee, John Kemble ; but after two months’
nightly riots, he was compelled to return to the old tariff. The
house was reconstructed and opened as an opera-house in.1847.
In March, 1856, on the occasion of a bal masque, given for the
benefit of Anderson, the “Wizard of the North,” a fire broke
out which destroyed the theatre. It was rebuilt from the
designs of E. M. Barry, and opened as an opera-house in May,
1858. The bas-reliefs and the statues of Tragedy and Comedy
by Flaxman, on the Bow Street front, are relics of the old
theatre.

Bow Street communicates with the centre of LONG ACRE,
noted for its manufactures of carriages and harness, at a sort
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of “four cross roads,” whence EXNDELL STREET runs {o the
Shaftesbury Avenue and New Oxford Street. At the north-
eastern corner of Bow Street, is Merryweather's fire-engine
manufactory, which itself once fell a victim to the onslaught
of the fire-demon. Long Acre ends at the spot where Drury
Lane crosses this line of street, henceforward known as GREAT
QUEEN STREET and terminating in Lincoln’s Inn Fields. In
Great Queen Street are, the Freemason’s Tavern, where most
of the chief meetings of the “craft” take place, the Great
Queen Street Wesleyan Chapel, and the new Great Queen Street
Theatre. Near the Freemason’s Tavern, LITTLE QUEEN STREET,
which it is proposed to widen out, so as to form the northern
portion of the intended new avenue from Holborn to the Strand,
runs northwards to Holborn, communicating with Euston Square
by means of Southampton Row, Russell Square, &c.

Walking southwards along the west side of LINCOLN'S INN
FIELDS, which we shall visit on a future occasion (see pp. 274~5),
we turn aside to inspect a noted “rookery,” whose chief feature
is Clare Market [Map II1.: ¥ 14], now being *improved” off
the earth. The district echoes with reminiscences of the past
and in PORTSMOUTH STREET, is a waste-paper shop, on which
is painted a legend, which states that it is the “Old Curiosity
Shop,” immortalised by Dickens, in spite of the fact that the
novelist himself expressly states that the house in which Little
Nell lived has long been cleared away, to allow of the street in
which it was situated being widened.

From Clare Market, we reach Temple Bar, either vid PORTUGAL
STREET (half its south side is occupied by King's College Hospital)
and  CAREY STREET, at the back of the new Law Courts, or past
8t. Clement Danes Vestry Hall, and vi4 the celebrated Clement’s
Inn, mentioned in the “Second Part of Henry IV.” But the
glories of the latter are departed. The garden, in which Falstaff
and Shallow “heard the chimes at midnight,” has been covered
with bricks and mortar, and the bronze figure of a negro,
supporting a sun-dial, presented to it early last century by
Lord Clare, has been transferred to the gardens of the Inner
Temple. .

%

* * * * *

Crossing the City boundary, we note that the old buildings on
the north side of FLEET STREET, as far as the corner of Chancery
Lane, have disappeared, in order to effect a much-needed widening
of the roadway, and that new structures, foremost among which is
the Branch Bank of England, designed by Blomfield, have taken
their place. The south side has more recently been subjected to
treatment quite as drastic. Child's Bank, in which the fair but frail
Nell Gwynne kept her account, has disappeared or rather has been
re-erected on the spot where once stood the Devil Tavern, in the
Apollo Room of which Johnson presided at the nightly revels ;
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and where, before his day, Shakespeare, Ben Jonson, and other
celebrities met. Gosling’s Bank, or the “ Three Squirrels,” oppo-
site St. Dunstan’s Church, has also been rebuilt, from designs by
Mr. A. C. Blomfield. The new building is in Classic style, and is
a notable addition to the architectural beauties of Fleet Street.
Among the famous men who banked at the old Three Squirrels
were Warren Hastings and Clive, Pope, Warburton, Samuel
Richardson, Camden, Ellenborough, Bishop Percy, the Tonsons,
Longmans, Rivingtons, and Sir Philip Francis. A still more
recent removal is Dick’s Coffee-House, a famous haunt of literary
men in the eighteenth century.

‘We next reach MIDDLE TEMPLE LANE and INNER TEMPLE LANE.
At the entrance to the former, is an old building, No. 17, Fleet Street,
with a considerable amount of gilding and several heraldic devices
on the exterior. An inscription states that the house was formerly
the residence of Henry VIII.and Cardinal Wolsey ; but there is more
of imagination than of veracity in the statement. A hundred years
ago, Mrs. Salmon exhibited her waxworks there ; and she affirmed
that it was “once the palace of Henry, Prince of Wales, son of
James L,” and the plaster work of a ceiling, containing the initials
“P.H.,” with the plumes of the Prince of Wales between them,
lends colour to her statement. The house was really built by Sir
Amias Paulet, as a fine imposed by Cardinal Wolsey ; and there is
a curious story connected therewith. When Wolsey was a young
and a poor man, he offended Sir Amias, who, so say the old bio-
graphers of the great cardinal, put him into the stocks. Fifteen
years afterwards, Wolsey was the greatest man in England, and
ordered his old prosecutor to come to London, where he lived in
a state of semi-captivity for six years, being compelled besides to
build anew the gate-house of the Middle Temple. The house
narrowly escaped being scheduled for demolition in connection
with the widening of Fleet Street, but both the London County
Council and the City Corporation eventually decided in favour of
its preservation and restoration at a total outlay, including the price
of the freehold, of upwards of £27,000. Over the adjoining arch-
way; there is the figure of a lamb with a flag, and at Inner Temple
Lane a winged horse, the respective devices of the two divisions
of the Temple. Wags have it that “the lamb sets forth the
innocence ; the horse, the expedition” of the lawyers. Formerly,
a portion of land and some buildings further west were named
the Outer Temple, being beyond the City boundary ; but the site
was leased to Stapleton, Bishop of Exeter, the other portion being
retained for the use of students of law, and now the name of QOuter
‘Temple has no official recognition.
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about thirty thousand volumes. The interior is about eighty feet

long and nineteen high. |
The Hall of the Inner Temple was rebuilt by Sydney Smirke,

and:opened in 1870 by the Princess Louise, Duchess of Argyll

J

THE TEMPLE CHURCH.

The interior is ninety-four feet long and forty high, and it has an
extremely beautiful moulded roof. There is an interesting old
crypt beneath its northern end.

There are {wo Gardens, about five acres in extent, laid out
with lawns and flower-beds, now very interesting in late autumn,
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on account of the famous show of chrysanthemums, these flowers
being a special favourite of the gardener. Shakespeare has made
the old garden of the Temple historically famous, as the scene of
the quarrel between Plantagenet and Somerset, when the white
and red roses—those fatal symbols of civil war—were plucked and
adopted as badges. In FOUNTAIN COURT, in the Middle Temple—
a prettily laid-out corner, near the entrance from Devereux Court
—is a little fountain, which Dickens has made memorable in that
pretty chapter of Martin Chuzzlewit in which he tells us how
Ruth Pinch went to meet her brother Tom in the Temple, and
there encountered John Westlock. But the little fountain, described
by Dickens, and by Thackeray in his Pendennis, has been “im-
proved,” and is all the worse for the operation. -
The Temple is associated with the names of many eminent
persons only remotely and, in some cases, not at all, connected
{with the legal profession. Among these, are Sir Walter Raleigh,
the dramatist Ford, Beaumont, Fletcher, Wycherley, Congreve,
Burke, and Sheridan. Dr. Johnson lived for some time in INNER
TEMPLE LANE, a new stack of houses, JoHNsSON’S BUILDINGS, mark-
ing the spot. Goldsmith died in BRICK CoURT, and was buried in
the Temple churchyard. His tomb has been restored, and is now,
with others, outside the railing of the church. Charles Lamb was
born in the Temple.

The Temple Church

is one of the most interesting ecclesiastical edifices in the metro-
polis. It is divided into two parts, the “round ” and a rectangular
choir, where the services take place. The former, built in 1185,
on the plan of the church of the Holy Sepulchre at Jerusalem, is
in the Transition-Norman style ; it is fifty-eight feet in diameter.
It was consecrated by Heraclius, the Latin patriarch of Jerusalem.
| After various vicissitudes, it was carefully renovated about the
rmiddle of the nineteenth century, the entire edifice being then
restored to its original beauty. The porch is especially admired.
There are nine tombs of Crusaders, with recumbent figures in
complete armour. Among them are the grave and monument of
William le Mareschall, protector of England during the minority
of Henry III. Selden, the great writer on international law, is
buried to the north of the altar, the spot being marked by a monu-
ment of white- marble, and among more recent celebrities who
were connected with the Temple, and have monuments to their
memory in the church, may be mentioned Lord Eldon Lord
Chancellor Thurlow, &c.

‘When the church was last restored, a double piscina of marble

15
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was discovered near the east end of the south side, and a picturesque
Gothic niche on the north side of the building. On.taking up the
modern floor,-portions- of the original tessellated .pavement were
brought to light, and there were found some remains of ancient
decorative paintings and rich- ornaments, worked.in gold and silver.
Above the western doorway, a charming Norman .window, composed
of Caen stone, was opened out ; and, within the walls of the church
there was found a penitential cell, 4 dreary place of confinement,
four and a half feet long and two and .a half wide, with a narrow
opening, through which the choir is seen. In this narrow prison,
the disobedient brethren of the ancient Templars were temporarily
confined in chains and fetters ; and there is a grim tradition that
knights who had broken their vows were imprisoned here and
starved to death, while, day after day, the services of the church
were chanted in their ears. The triforium is a circular gallery con-
taining many interesting monumental inscriptions, and lighted by
Romanesque windows over Norman .arches. .Clusters of pillars
support the vault. The choir, in the Early English style, has a
very fine interior and a large east window, and -its roef is painted
with arabesques. '

The church can be inspecied any day, except Saturdays, bebween ten and four o'clock.
when a verger is generally in_ atl e, or pp at the porter's lodge ot
the entrance of Inner Temple Lane. On Sa ni:uys between ten and twelve only.

Sunday services at 11.0 a.m., for which a bencher’s order or the introduction of a
bamsgr is necessary, and at 3.0 p.m. No order is needed in the afternoon.

St. Dunstan’s Church, -
[Map IV.: K 14]

on the north side of Fleet Street, .next aitracts our attention. It
stands on the site of an older church, spared by the -Great Fire of
1666, which burnt itself out three doors. to the east of it. This
structure, famous for the clock with the figure of Cain and Abel,
striking the hours (one of the great sights-of old London, now pre-
served over the:entrance to, the stables of Hertford House, in
Regent’s Park), was pulled down in 1831-3; and the present edifice
was built in its place by Shaw. It was then set back thirty feet
from the roadway, an arrangement which prevented the destruction
of the church when the street was widened after the opening of the
Law Courts. Of Pointed architecture, and containing some painted
windows, the edifice is- chiefly noted for its tower, of Ketton stone,
a hundred and thirty feet in height, surmounted by a lantern, and
partially copied from the steeple of Antwerp Cathedral. Dr.
Donne, the poet, was. for:manyw years the vicar of the parish.; and
representations of his head and of that of Wycliffe, “the morning
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star of the Reformation,” are set up over the south door (that facing
the street). Sunday services at 11.0, 3.15, and 7.0. In April, 1896,
one of the windows was filled with stained glass, at the cost of
the principal London angling associations—a memorial of old
Izaak Walton, of *“Compleat Angler” fame ; a marble tablet on

|
|

i

Bolas & Co.,] [Ludgate Hill.
WEST FRONT OF THE RECORD OFFICE, CHANCERY LANE.

the exterior of the church records this fact. It further informs the
passer-by that “ Walton resided for some years in Fleet Street, at
the corner of Chancery Lane (west side), and, between 1652 and
1664, was overseer of the poor and a sidesman and vestryman of
this parish ; he was also 4 member of the Ironmongers’ Company.
A Statue of Queen Elizabeth surmounts the door of the adjoining
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school ; it, too, escaped the Great Fire, and was removed from Lud
Gate to its present resting-place.

CHANCERY LANE, the first opening on the north side of Fleet
Street, connects Holborn with this street. It contains several
features of interest—notably, the Gateway to Lincoln’s Inm, the
description of which we postpone till we reach it from Holborn.
To-day, we walk for a few yards along the lane, to the end of
CAREY STREET, on which abuts the back of the Law Courts. We
do so, in order to visit—

The Record Office.
[Map IV.: K 14-15.]

The national records of England, from the famous Domesday
Book downwards, were for a long time preserved in the Rolis
Chapel (the Domus Conservorum), built by Henry 111. as aresidence
for converted Jews, and afterwards converted into a chapel for
the Master of the Rolls. Divine service was formerly celebrated
in it ; the worshippers sat on the presses containing the various
documents, stored there. But the inconvenience of the arrange-
ment soon became apparent; and Sir John Pennethorne was
commissioned to design a building in which to preserve the
Records. He produced a beautiful edifice, of Tudor architecture,
with a lofty and conspicuous tower. It was erected between 1851
and 1866 ; and it is fire-proof throughout. Hither, the documents
were removed. As may readily be supposed, there are thousands
of them, many of the highest interest ; they are kept in iron
presses, with shelves of slate. The celebrated Domesday Book,
written on vellum, can be seen here ; here, too, are numerous
royal deeds and charters. There is, moreover, a commodious
Reading Room, for the comfortable study of the various documents,
and, if need be, for their transcription ; and to this “ national
treasure house,” as it has been happily'named, the public are freely
admilted, without cven the formality of applying for a ticket; all
that is necessary is to sign one’s name in a book at the door.

But the building, capacious though it is, soon became full;
and in 1870, a new wing, in keeping with the rest of the edifice,
was opened. Soon afterwards it was resolved to considerably
extend it ; and Mr. John Taylor, surveyor to the Board of Works,
in whose hands the matter was placed, planned an edifice, in
accord with Sir John Pennethorne’s original designs, of which
the Record Office, as Londoners have known.it for many
years, will only be a small portion. It will eventually form a
splendid series of buildings, of Tudor architecture, round a spacious
quadrangle. To it, the Western Gateway is the main entrance.
Thisis a magnificent block, of which, although it is set back several
‘{eet from the pavement of narrow Chancery Lane, the full beauty
of the frontage is lost. It stands on a site, two hundred and

- twenty-five feet long by sixty-five deep ; and it consists of three
_-lofty floors and a basement—in all, eighty-eight feet high. Its
tweo fronts are pierced with numerous large windows. Several
lofty and bold octagonal turrets add to the beauty of the edifice,
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which is ‘composed of Devonshire rag and Portland stone, the
Kentish rag, used in the older portion of the Record Office, already
showing signs of decay. The central portion is a storey higher
than the block generally ; indeed, it forms a sort of tower. It has
a special treatment of its own ; one marked feature being the two-
storeyed oriel, overhanging the bold and richly moulded four-
centred gateway, forming the entrance to the building. The
upper portion of this central tower is finished with traceried
parapets, turrets, and pinnacles ; it has a large panel, containing
the royal arms. The entrance gateway, which is in the centre of
the fagade, is wide and lofty, and the ceiling is beautifully groined.
On the east face, above the inner arch, are niches containing
Statues of Henry ITIL and Edward IIL

In addition to clerical rooms and storage rooms, the new
building contains a large room, handsomely fitted, which is to
serve as a public show-room for some of the more famous trea-
sures which the Record Office possesses. There is also a large
reference library for the assistance of the clerks in their daily
work of deciphering and interpreting ancient manuscripts. In
order to make room for this it was necessary to pull down the
old Rolls House and the Rolls Chapel. The former building,
though of respectable age, had no great historical value, and,
being extremely unsafeand inconvenient, its disappearance is not
to be regretted. With regard to the Rolls Chapel, however, a
strong desire was expressed by antiquaries that it should be pre-
served, and the Board of Works promised that this should be
done. But it somehow happened that very soon after the builders
got to work the walls that had stood for centuries began to totter,
and they have now entirely disappeared. In addition to this con-
necting link between Chancery Lane and Fetter Lane, it is pro-
posed at some future date to run another wing eastwards from the
present new block, skirting Clifford’s Inn, and replacing a block
of buildings in which some of the clerks now have their work-
rooms.

The construction of the north wing, to connect the new block
with the older portion, has already made considerable progress.

Facing the edifice is the Law Society’s Institution, housed in a
building formerly the chief attraction of the end of the lane, but
now dwarfed by its magnificent neighbour.

The Record Office extends eastward to FETTER LANE, which
marks the western limit, south of Holborn, of the Great Fire. We
shall see presently that it did not extend so far north of that great
artery. The name of the lane is traceable to the fact of its
containing, in olden times, a colony of feutriers (felt-makers, or
saddlers) ; it is rich in its historical reminiscences. In it, lived
Dryden (whose house, No. 17, has fallen before the march of
modern improvement) and the Brothers Barebones, Cromwell’s
officers ; and No. 16 was, in 1767, the residence of the infamous
Mrs. Brownrigg. The lane, moreover, has its literary interest.
Up to 1885, there was a tablet upon the quaint little house
numbered 16, over Fleur-de-Lys Court,~saying that “ Here livid
John Dryden, ye Poet ; born 1631—died 1700. Glorious John!”
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Thomas Otway, whose house stood on the site of the Record
Office, was his neighbour ; and here occurred thé celebrated
conflict of wit between the two poets. Lamb went to school at
a dingy litlle house in a passage, leading from Fetter Lane intv
BARTLETT's BUILDINGS, close to Holborn.

Opposite the Record Office is a Salvation Army Boys’ Shelter;
and adjoining it, at No. 32, is the Moravian Chapel, which,
approached by a long passage, is interesting on account of its
associations. Tradition has it that a wooden building was erected,
in the reign of Elizabeth, on the site of a sawpit, in which, in
the terrible days of Queen Mary, the Protestants met for wor-
ship. A residence for the minister was subsequently added—
in the reign of James I., if one may judge from its wainscoted
rooms, large casement windows, deeply moulded mantel-pieces,
and dark oaken sfairs (it is still occupied—the ground-floor
the vestry of the chapel). A small brick building succeeded the
wooden one; and that, becoming too strait, was followed by
another, the present chapel, of an irregular oblong shape,
adopted that it might not interfere with the minister’s house.
Like that building, it has deep wainscoting, and the massive
timber pillars, which support the galleries, bespeak the age
of the edifice. After the passing of the Uniformity Act,
it was served by ejected Church clergymen. It escaped the
fire of 1666 ; and passed into the hands of the Moravians in
1738. It witnessed the withdrawal of John Wesley from the
“ Fetter Lane Society,” as the congregation, was first called—
a step which resulted in the establishment of the Methodist
Churches. The chapel (which, by the way, is-in the two
parishes of St. Dunstan and St. Bride, the boundary passing just
in front of the pulpit) was, in the reign of Queen Anne, gutted
by the mob, who were enraged at the trial of Sacheverell at the
bar of the House of Lords; and it had a narrow escape of a
repetition of the misfortune during the “No Popery” riots of
1780. It has a second entrance—possibly, the original one—
from CHAPEL PLACE, a small paved court, shut off from NEVILL's
COURT by a strong door, a silent testimony to the necessity
which once existed for precautions to protect the worshippers
from molestation. Sunday services, 11.0 and 6.30.

Nearer Holborn, but on the other side of the lane, is a
gational Chapel, wherein the grandfather of the late Mr, C. H.
Spurgeon at one time ministered. But it has an older interest than
that. For it was here that Richard Baxter preached, after his release
from prison, in the latter years of the sixteenth and the beginning
of the seventeenth centuries ; and here it was that, being informed
of the fact by an arranged signal from the gallery while he was
preaching, he stopped in his discourse and made the first public
announcement of the success of the negotiations which resulted
in the accession of George I. to the English throne.

From the corner of Fetter Lane to Shoe Lane—ihe next street
running northwards, between Fleet Street and Holborn—are a
series of courts and one square. CRANE COURT witnessed the
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meetings of the Royal Society, in the early part of its history, the
house being bought by the Scottish Corporation, when the Royal
Society removed to Somerset House in 1782, and being destroyed
by fire in 1877. It was rebuilt in 1880. In WINE OFFICE COURT,
is “ Ye Olde Cheshire Cheese Chop House,” one of the few meeting-
places of the literali of the eighteenth century which yet remain ;
and HIND CouURT conducts us into GOUGH SQUARE, a tablet on a
house in which (now appropriately occupied by a firm of printers
and publishers) informs us that in jt Johnson completed his celer
brated Dictionary. “No. 7, JOHNSON's COURT,- where the great
doctor lived for some time, hasrecently been demolished. Fleet
Street and ‘SHOE LANE, which runs through to Holborn Hill,
are famous ‘in thé world of journalism.

On the south side of Fleet Street, are some narrow streets which
have figured in the annals of the city. A Crypt of Whitefriars
Monastery was brought to light in 1895. It presents many interest
ing features, not the least noteworthy whereof is the groining of
the roof. This is composed of a greenish-brown stone ; and the
ribs meet in a rose-shaped central boss, of the same material and
beautiful design. BOUVERIE STREET leads to WHITEFRIARS, known
to swashbucklers and bullies of the seventeenth century as “ Alsatia
or “the sanctuary.” SALISBURY COURT, famous in the early years
of the Hanoverian dynasty, for its “ mug-house riots,” leads into
SALISBURY SQUARE, in which is Warwick House, the head-quarters
of Messrs. Ward, Lock, and Co., Limited, the .publishers of this
Guide and of the others of the series, of the popular and successful
Windsor Magazine, of Mrs. Beeton’s famous works on cookery,
&c., and of other useful books. In this square, too, are the
offices of the Church Missionary Society and the Salisbury Hotel
The square is connected with the Embankment, vid DORSET
STREET, at the east corner, and the tortuous PRIMROSE HiLL, at
the west.

BRIDE CoURT and BRIDE AVENUE come next, the latter running
round St. Bride's Church, and the former, leading up to it from
Fleet Street. This part ‘'of Fleet Street is undergomg a transfor-
mation, and being greatly widened.

8t. Bride’s Church was rebuilt by Wren in 1703, its predecessor
having fallen in the Great Fire ; it is said to be the finest church
he designed. The steeple, of much the same design as those of the
contemporary churches of St. Mary-le-Strand and St. Clement
Danes, is greatly admired ; it is two hundred and twenty-six feet
high. The belfry contains twelve bells. Of late years, the intérior
has undergone a careful restoration. The walls have been painted
in a Renaissance manner, to harmonise with the architecture of
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what is probably one of the most perfect specimens of an Italian
church in England. It is the only one in London dedicated to
St. Bridget. Richardson, the author of Pamela and Clarissa, was
buried in the centre aisle, and Lovelace, who wrote the lines,
commencing, “Stone walls do not a prison make,” at the west end
of the church. It is open daily from eleven till four, and there is
on certain days a short service at half-past one. Sunday services,
11.0 and 7.0.

In BRIDE LANE, a narrow thoroughfare behind the church,
leading to New Bridge Street, and approached from Salisbury
Square by BELL’S BUILDINGS (a court available only for pedestrians
which terminates in a flight of steps), is the 8t. Bride’s Foundation
Institute, the memorial stone of which was laid by the Prince of
Wales in November, 1893. It was established by a scheme under
the City of London Parochial Charities Act, and approved by the
Queen in Council in February, 1891. It contains technical printing
schools, libraries, reading and lecture rooms, a gymnasium, and,
perhaps greatest boon of all, a swimming bath of ample size.
The Lending and Reference Libraries are free fo any one residing
or employed in the western part of the city.

Returning to Fleet Street by way of Bride Lane, we notice that
a very necessary widening has recently been effected by the de-
molition and reconstruction of a number of houses on the south
side between Ludgate Circus and Salisbury Court.

At this point, we reach—

Ludgate Circus.
[Map IV.: K 15.]

Cab Fares : From Paddington station—2z/-.
From Victoria station—1/6.
From all the other railway termini—1/-,

Nearest Railway Stations : Blackfriars, Holborn Viaduct, Ludgate Hill, St.
Paul’s, Snow Hill, and Farringdon Street.

Probably, we immediately notice with regret how an architectural
opportunity has been missed. A large circus was constructed a few
years since at the point where the line of Fleet Street and Ludgate
Hill is intersected by that of Farringdon Street and New Bridge
Street, but each quadrant of the circle is in a different style. If the
architecture were uniform, there would be no more striking spot in
London. Near the Circus, Ludgate Hill is spanned by the viaduct
of the London, Chatham, and Dover Railway, and the view is im-
peded. (We may remark here that the most picturesque glimpse
of St. Paul’s, as seen from the street, is to be gained from about the
corner of Shoe Lane, in Fleet Street, the variety of sky-line, crowned
by the mighty dome, being very impressive.) Two Obelisks stand
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at the intersection of the roads, that on the right hand comme-
morating John Wilkes, wit and political agitator, the “bogey”
of George 111, the rejected of the House of Commons, sheriff and
Lord Mayor of London, one of the profane ‘“monks of Medmen-
ham,” and the hero of the famous election for Middlesex, whose
squint was perpetuated by Hogarth, and whose essay, which he
contrived to dedicate to the Archbishop of Canterbury, was publicly
burned. The opposite obelisk is to the memory of a far less bril-
liant, but more reputable man—Alderman Waithman, who kept a
large draper’s shop at the corner of Fleet Street, and was one of
the most active friends of Queen Caroline in her renowned quarrel
with George IV.

On the east side of New Bridge Street is the Ludgate Hﬂl Station
of the London, Chatham, and Dover Railway. The construction of
FARRINGDON STREET, the broadest thoroughfare in the City, swept
away Fleet Market, once a well-known locality ; on its right side,
stood for generations the famous Fleet Prison. Street, market, and
prison were named from the Fleet river, which once pursued its
muddy way to the Thames, but which has long since been covered
over and changed into a commonplace sewer. The Fleet Prison
is not only historically memorable for a connection with eminent
prisoners, but for the marriages performed there by dissolute Fleet
parsons ; and Dickens has made the place almost immortal in fiction
by associating it with Mr. Pickwick, Sam Weller, Jingle, and Job
Trotter. The prison, closed in 1845, was finally cleared away in
1868, and on a part of the site stands—

The Congregational Memorial Hall,

completed in 1874, in memory of the “ fidelity to conscience ” of the
two thousand ministers, ejected from the Church by the passing
of the Act of Uniformity in 1662.* It is a handsome, but rather
peculiar-looking building, in the Second Pointed style of the French
type. The height of the centre gable is a hundred and thirty feet,
and the width, eighty-four feet. The large hall for public meetings
affords sitting room for upwards of fifteen hundred persons ; and
there are a spacious library, board room, and various offices. The
cost of its erection was about £30,000.

Proceeding up LUDGATE HILL, we pass LA BELLE SAUVAGE
Y ARD—a name which perpetuates the visit of a fair African of the
Middle Ages—once famous as a centre for carriers and now more
so from its connection with the world of letters. A little further up,

# Their admirers apparently forgot that some of them were, during the Common-

wealth, “intruded” into their benefices, other clergymen, quite as much noted for
their “ fidelity to conscience,” being ousted to make room for them.
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is the corner of the OLD BAILEY, a name which has many un-
pleasant associations ; and as we proceed, we notice with pleasure
the improvement in the architecture of the street, consequent on the
widening of the thoroughfare. About mid-way between the Old
Bailey and the summit of Ludgate Hill, there stands, on the left
hand, 8t. Martin’s Church, another of those which Wren rebuilt
after the Great Fire. Its spire is of somewhat unusual shape ; and
the body of the church, forming, as it does, a part of the row o
buildings on that side of the street, is not .very conspicuous. It
might, indeed, escape notice- altogether, butfor-its -clock: afd the
music of its bells on all suitable occasions. It was re-opemed in
August, 1895, after having been closed for six years, during it-

restoration, from designs by Ewan Christian. Sunday services a! .

11.0 and 7.0.

ST. MARTIN'S COURT, on the south side of the street, imme-
diately opposite the Old Bailey, runs into PILGRIM (side’ Little
Bridge) STREET. It is a narrow thoroughfare, which leaves
Ludgate Hill, opposite St. Martin’s Church, and, turning abruptly
at right angles, runs parallel to it, beneath the railway wviaduct
and close to the northern end of Ludgate Hill station, to Bridge
Street. CREED LANE, a little further up, conducts us intc
Doctors’ CoMMONS, as the district is still named, though “the
cosey, dosey, old-fashioned, time-forgotten, sleepy headed family-
party” of courts, which so excited the ire of Dickens, have
long since been reformed and removed to the Law Courts:
and most of the buildings in which they were held have dis-
appeared. On the north side of Ludgate Hill, about half a dozen
doors eastward from the church, STATIONERS’ HALL COURT com-
municates with Paternoster Row and Ave Maria Lane.

Stationers’ Hall,

which gives its name to the court, which it faces,is,in the opinion
of Leigh Hunt, worth anybody’s while to visit ¢ to see the portraits
of Steele, Prior, and Richardson,” which with that of Bunyan and
the painting of “ King Alfred Sharing the Loaf with the Pilgrim.
St. Cuthbert ” (West), are exhibited there. All books have to be
registered at the hall to protect them from piracy.: AVE MARK
LANE, which leaves Ludgate Hill opposite Creed Lane,.crosses
Paternoster Row, and, as WARWICK LANE, communicates with
Newgate Street.

And thus we reach St. Paul's Cathedral and its Churchyard, our
wanderings about which we reserve for another Excursion.
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EXCURSION VIII.

ST. PAUL’'S CATHEDRAL AND ITS

SURROUNDINGS.
[Map IV.: K-L 15-16.]
sab Fares : From Paddington station—2/-.
From Victoria station—1/6.
From all the other railway termini—1/-.
iearest Rallwag Stations: Blackfriars. Holborn Viaduct, Ludgate Hill,
Mansion House, St. Paul’s, Snow Hill, and Post Office (Central London).

T. PAUL’S CATHEDRAL stands on a site on which there has
been a succession of churches from the very introduction of
Christianity into‘Britain. There is a tradition that a temple to
Diana previously occupied the spot; but the story rests on, to say
the least of it, somewhat questionable foundation. It is, however,
pretty certain that the Pretorian Guard pitched their camp on the
summit of the hill, as soon as the Roman legions had taken posses-
sion of the British fort; that, as Christianity spread among the
soldiers, a place of worship was erected in the camp ; and that that
humble church was subsequently succeeded by a cathedral. This
edifice stood there till the reign of the Emperor Diocletian, at-which
period, it was destroyed, in common with many other Christian
219
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churches throughout the empire. A second cathedral was erected
under Constantine the Great, and this one lasted till the Pagan
Saxons destroyed it and most of the other churches in the land
which they overran. In 607, King Ethelbert, built the third cathe-
dral on the spot, dedicating it to St. Paul the Apostle, and conferring
on the clergy who ministered therein the manor of Tillingham, still

[Notting Hill.

THE DOME.

York & Son,)

in the possession of the dean and chapter. The structure was en-
larged by St. Erkenwald, bishop of London, but, with great part of
the city, it was destroyed by fire in the year 1086. Maurice, bishop
of London in 1087, refounded the cathedral, which he designed on
a vast scale, The building was carried on by his successors, and
completed in 1315, while William Seagrave was bishop ; and it had
.an eventful history, lasting till 1666, when it was destroyed by the
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Great Fire of London. Sir Christopher Wren afterwards removed
its ruins, and erected upon the site the existing church.

The colossal size of the cathedral can scarcely be appreciated
from the churchyard ; we must view it from a distance if we wish
to realise with any approach to accuracy the grandeur of its propor-
tions in relation to all the surrounding buildings. From Waterloo
bridge, a fine view of the western end can be obtained ; and we
have already referred to the effect as seen from Fleet Street.

St. Paul's—beyond all doubt, the most conspicuous object in the
distant view of the British capital—stands in the very centre and on
the most elevated part of the City. It is entirely built of fine Port-
land stone, on the plan of the Latin cross, a form which approaches
to perfection, expands easily to the eye of the spectator, and exhibits
its beautiful combinations at one view. The whole length of the
church, with its portico, is five hundred and fifteen feet ; the width
~of the western front, with the towers, a hundred and exghty feet ;

\ the length of the transept within the doors of the porticoes, two
hundred and fifty feet ; and the circumference of the building, 2,292
feet. At the intersection of the nave and transepts, rises a magni-
ficent dome, a hundred and forty-five feet in diameter, from the top
of which springs a lantern, enriched with columns and surmounted
by a gilded ball and cross. At the western end of the church, are
projections northward and southward, forming a kind of western
transept (the northern portion is used as the Morning Chapel, and
the southern as the Consistory Court)—an arrangement which gives
additional importance to the western front. There are, also, at the
internal angles of the cross, on the plan, small square bastion-like
adjuncts, the real use of which is to strengthen the piers of the
dome, but which are made serviceable, internally, as vestries and a
staircase. The choir is terminated eastward by a semicircular apse.
On it, are the initials, “ W. M.,” with an imperial crown above
them—a memorial of the erection of this portion of the cathedral
in the reign of William and Mary ; and beneath the eastern window
is the monogram of Sir Christopher Wren,

The architectural elevation of the edifice consists throughout of
two orders—the lower one, Corinthian, the upper, Composite. In
both storeys, excepting at the western front and the northern and
southern entrances, which are enriched with semicircular porticoes,
the whole of the entablatures rest on coupled pilasters. Between
these, in the fower order, a range of semicircular headed windows
is introduced ; and in the order above, the corresponding spaces
are occupied by dressed niches, on pedestals pierced with openings,
- which give light to passages over the aisles. The upper order is

merely a screen to hide the series of strong buttresses which are
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carried across from the outer walls to resist the thrust of the heavy
roof. The balustrade around the body of the church was designed
by the architect very much against his will. It is well known that
the plan of the cathedral, originally prepared by Wren, and preserved
in the library, was greatly modified by the influence of the Com-
mittee appointed to act with him, and that these modifications were
by no means improve-
ments. The carv
ornamentation on th
exterior is chiefly b
Grinling Gibbons.
The cathedral is a
remarkably fine speci-
men of Renaissance
architecture. It is sur-
passed only by St
Peter’s, of Rome ; and
it is universally con-
sidered Sir Christo-
pher Wren’s greatest
work. The first stone |
was laid in 1675, and ‘
the edifice was
finished, except some
decorative work, in
1710, its erection hav-
ing occupied thirty-
five years. It was
completed, it has been
observed, under one
architect, one master-
mason (Mr. T. Strong),
and one bishop (Dr.
H. Compton, who suf-
fered under James II.

. for his adhesion to the
ST. PAUL'S CATHEDRAL : THE GROUND PLAN. cause of the Protes-

tant religion, and was selected by William and Mary, that monarch’s
successors, to perform the ceremony of coronation). Sir Christopher
lived for years after the completion of his chef d’euvre, and we are
told that, in his old age, that which afforded him the greatest
pleasure was to be carried to a spot whence he could gaze on it.
The Western Pacade, facing Ludgate Hill, is a hundred and
eighty-nine feet wide and has a portico in two divisions, the lower
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one consisting of twelve Corinthian columns in couples, and the
upper, of eight Composite columns. Above is a bas-relief, by Bird,
representing the conversion of St. Paul, and surmounted by a statue
of that apostle, with statues at the side of St. Peter and St. James,
each figure being fifteen feet high. On the sides of the portico, are
towers, each of which is surmounted by an enriched steeple of two
orders, in light pierced work, covered by a dome formed by
curves of contrary flexure, and terminated by a majestic pine-cone,
two hundred and twenty-two feet from the ground. At the angles
of these towers, on the western front, are colossal statues of the
Evangelists, with their attributes.

The western front of the cathedral was for many years enclosed
by iron railings, cast at Lamberhurst in 1714, and removed, to give
more space for the ever-increasing traffic which passes over the spot,
in 1874. They were afterwards purchased by Mr. J. G. Howard,
an architect, who has placed part of them round the tomb of his
~vife, at Toronto, in fond - remembrance of their youth in London,
when they “did their courting,” as plighted lovers, walking round
St. Paul’s Churchyard. Infront of the west door, and facing Lud-
gate Hill, is a Statue of Queen Anne, which has in recent years
taken the place of the one executed by Bird in 1712. The effigy of
the queen is supported by allegorical figures, representing Britain,
Ireland, France, and America.® At the foot of the steps at the west
entrance may be seen a slab commemorating the Diamond Jubilee
Thanksgiving. The inscription runs, “Here Queen Victoria re-
turned thanks to Almighty God for the sixtieth anniversary of her
accession, June 22nd, 1897.”

The south tower contains a fine Cloek, designed by Lord Grim-
thorpe, and manufactured by Messrs. J. Smith and Son, of Derby.
1t occupied two years in making ; and was started on December
21, 1893. The escapement is known as “double three-locked
gravity,” its purpose, of course, being to prevent any variation of
force reaching the pendulum. It is a form invented by Lord Grim-
thorpe for thé clock he also designed for the tower of the House of
Commons. The pendulum is compensated ; it is fifteen feet long
and weighs seven hundredweight. The clock has three faces ;
they are each seventeen feet in diameter, and the central part—
that is, the space within the figure ring—is ten feet across. The
figures are two feet nine inches long ; and the hands are of copper,

# The original statue, !‘3' F. Bird, was erected in 1712, and provoked the satire of
the wits of the day, one of whom, taklng advantage of the fact that, facing it, at the
T of there then stood a much- -frequented tavern, produced a c.ouplet
h;w ckled the popular fancy—
“Brandy Nan, Brandy Nan, you’re left in the lurch,
Your facg to the gin-shop, your back to the church.”
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and are specially shaped to resist wind and snow. The minute
hand is nine feet six inches, and the hour hand five feet long.

In the clock tower, is the Great Bell—“ Great Paul,” as it is called
—which was placed in position in February, 1882. It is the largest
bell in England ; it is seventeen and a half tons in weight, nine feet
high, and nine feet seven inches in diameter, and the thickness of
metal at the bow is nearly nine inches. The note is E flat. The
great bell of the cathedral is only tolled on occasion of the death of
a member of the royal family, the Archbishop of Canterbury, the
Bishop of London, or the dean of the cathedral.

The north tower contains a Peal of Twelve Bells, hung in 1878.
In the case of eleven, each one is engraved with the arms and the
motto of the City company by whom it was presented. The
Turners, with whose arms are associated those of the Baroness
Burdett-Coutts, presented four ; the Drapers, two ; the Salters, the
Fishmongers, the Clothworkers, the Merchant Taylors, and the
Grocers, one each. The fine tenor bell, presented by the Corpora-
tion of London, bears the City arms and their familiar motto. It
weighs nearly seven thousand pounds, and is five feet and three-
quarters in diameter. This is the largest of the peal. The smiallest,
is one of the two presented by the Drapers’ Company.

The fronts of the northern and southern Transepts are terminated
upwards by pediments, over coupled pilasters at the quoins, and
two single pilasters in the intermediate space ; each front is sur-
mounted by five colossal statues of apostles. On the front of each
transept is also a grand semicircular Corinthian portico not inferior
in beauty to the dome itself. They are objects equally admirable
whether considered separately or in connection with the building
which they adorn and diversify ; and they afford a contrast of curved
with straight lines and of insulated columns with engaged pilasters.
Over the southern entrance, is the pheenix, with the motto, * Resur-
gam.” We are told that, when Sir Christopher Wren was marking
out the ground to begin the edifice, he sent a man to bring a flat
stone from one of the heaps of ruins, to indicate where the centre
of the dome should be ; and that the stone he brought bore this
word in large letters. Sir Christopher regarded this as a good
omen, and thus commemorated it._ .

* * * * * *

Entering the cathedral by the west door, we obtain a striking
view of its interior, with its vast nave, the magnificent arc
beneath the dome, with the light from the windows streaming into
it, and the choir, with its richly decorated roof and its organ and
long line of stalls, broken in the middle by the seats for the Arch-
bishop of Canterbury (on the right) and for the Lord Mayor (oppo-
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site it), and ending, on the south side, with the throne of the Bishop,
the view being closed at the east end by the reredos.

The Cathedral will shortly be lit by means of electricity.

To the left and right on entering, are the Morning Chapel
and the Consistory Court. They are divided from the aisles by
screens of carved oak. The Morning Chapel has a stained-glass
window, in memory of Dean Mansel, and a beautiful mosaic by
Salviati, representing the Risen Saviour, placed there asa memorial
of Archdeacon Hale. The Oonsistory Court was for some time the
home of the monument to the Duke of Wellington, now standing
in the nave. When it was erected here, some appropriate bas-
reliefs, in white marble, by Calder Marshall, R.A., and Woodington,
A.R.A., were placed on the walls of the chapel ; and they have been
left there—mementoes of the temporary “hiding away” of the
monument in thisspot. In 1896, it was filled up as a Baptistery, the
font being removed thither.

In the south-west tower, is the Geometrical Staircase, a flight of
steps, so ingeniously constructed that all hang together without any
visible support, except the bottom stair.

‘The nave and choir are each divided from the aisles, which run
the entire length of the cathedral, by three arches, springing from
piers, which are decorated on their inner faces by pilasters of the
Corinthian order, crowned by an entablature. Over them, rises
a tall attic, the pilasters of which form abutment piers for the
springing of the semicircular arches of the ceiling. The vaulting
of this part of the church is light, elegant, and very judiciously
constructed ; each division forms a low dome, supported by four
spandrels, the face of each’sphere being encircled by an enriched
course of foliage. In the upright plane space on the walls, a
clerestory is introduced over the attic. The aisles, which are low
in comparison with the nave, are vaulted from the small pilasters
and terminated in a manner similar to that of the nave and choir.

Immediately above the north door, is the Tablet to 8ir Christopher
Wren, formerly affixed to the choir screen, on which we read the
inscription, known all the world over—

“Subtus conditur hujus ecclesiz et urbis conditor Ch. Wren qui vixit annos ultra
nonaginta, non sibi sed bono publico. Lector, si monumentum requiris,
circumspice.”

Which may be translated—
** Beneath is buried Ch. Wren, architect of this church and city, who lived for

more than ninety years, not for himself, but for the public good. Reader, if
thou seekest his monument, look around.”

The Dome,

both externally and internally, the most rcm_."-rknb]e feature in the
16
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building, is always spoken of in terms of unqualified admiration ;
for dignity and elegance, no church in Europe has a “steeple”
which compares in any way with the cupola of St. Paul's. The
peristyle stands on an immense circular basement, rising about
twenty feet above the roof of the church and supperted on the
piers and great arches of the central arca: the columns, thirty-
two in number, are of a Composite order, every fourth inter-
columniation being filled with masonry, but so disposed as to
include an ornamental niche, by which arrangement, the but-
tresses of the cupola are judiciously concealed and converted
into a decoration of a beautiful character. The colonnade is
crowned with a complete entablature apd balustrade, which
forms an entire circle, connecting all the parts in one grand
and harmonious whole. Above the colonnade, but. not . resting
upon it, rises an attic, the detail of which is simple and appro-
priate, and whence springs the exterior dome of a bold yet
graceful contour ; it is covered with lead and ribbed at regular
intervals. At its summit, is another gallery of gilded iron work,
from the centre of which -rises a stone lantern, enriched with
columns and crowned by a ball-and cross, The view of London
from the stone gallery, over the colonnade—the Golden Gallery, as
.it is called—is, in clear. weather,- one of. surprising extent. All
London seems to be at our feet,and.beyond are-the -northern and
southern hills, with the glass roof of the, Crystal Palace: glittering
in the distance. The external diameter of the dome is a hundred
and forty-nine feet, its, internal diameter is a hundred and eight
feet. Its entire.height from the ground to-the top.of the cross is
three hundred. and sixty-four feet, and a,xquarter. The central area
beneath it.(in which services are held. every Sunday), is surrounded
by an arcade, consisting of elght immense piers, each forty feet
w1de, the four openings giving access to the choir, the nave,
and the transepts. The handsome' marble Pulpit, which stands
-against the south-east .pier, was erected by the subscriptions of
-his fellow-officers and friends, as 2 memorial of Captain Fitzgerald,
a brave officer, who died in 1853. The magnificent cupola above
is pierced with an eye in its vertex, and, through it, the vista is
carried -up to the small dome in which the great cone termiinates.
When the whole height is seen through the opening from below,
the view becomes truly fascinating ; it"is very justly considered
the prime scenic feature of the whole building. The -architec-
tural embellishments of the more lofty parts of the structure are
painted and gilded. The dome is ornamented by eight scenes from
the life of St. Paul, originally painted by Sir Fames Thornhill,
Hogarth's father-in-law. The eight spandrels below that gallery
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are adorned with Salviati mosaics, two by Watfs, and four by Alfred
Stevens—those in the west representing the four greater prophets
and the eastern ones containing delineations of the four evangelists ;
and the eight niches are filled with large statues, carved of Bere
stone, from Seaton, in Devon. They represent four Greek (or
Eastern) and four Latin (or Western) Fathers. The former are—
St. John Chrysostom, St. Basil the Great, St. Gregory Nazianzen,
and St. Athanasius ; the latter—St. Jerome, St. Ambrose, St. Augus-
tine, and St. Gregory the Great. They are over eleven feet in height.
The later additional decorations to the Dome by Sir William Rich-
mond have excited much adverse criticism.

In the western projection of the S8outh Transept, are the Stairs
leading to the Dome. About half-way up to the Whispering Gallery,
a door on the right communicates with the Oathedral Library, which
occupies the storey above the Consistory Court. It contains many
Biblical treasures, Fathers, and works on the Councils of the Church.
It is rich in books and pamphlets on the history of the cathedral.
It has in recent years received the large collections of pamphlets,
formed by Bishop Sumner of Winchester and Archdeacon Hale.
Over its chimney-piece, is the portrait of Dr. Henry Compton,
Bishop of London, painted by Sir Fames Thornhill ; he is repre-
sented with a plan of the cathedral in his hand. It was he who
was bishop of London at the time the cathedral was built ; and he
presented the whole of his books to the library. At the opposite
extremity of the west end, over the Morning Chapel, and exactly
corresponding in situation and dimensions with the library, is
another apartment, used as a practising room.

As we approach the Whispering Gallery, we find that the stair-
case contracts, to afford room for various passages, through the
apertures of which, the immense buttresses of the dome may be
seen. The gallery was so named from the acoustic property it
possesses, by which the slightest whisper on one side is distinctly
heard on the other. Composed of richly ornamented iron-work, it
encircles the drum of the dome and extends to the extreme edge of
the cornice ; and from it, the best views of the interior of the cathe-
dral and of the paintings of the dome may be obtained. A con-
tinuation of the staircase conducts us to the Stone Gallery, whence
the view of London and its surroundings, to which we have already
referred, may be had. We are, too, better able to appreciate the
skill which designed the dome and the magnitude of the work
of constructing it. It consists really of two cupolas—an inner one
of brick, and an outer one of timber, covered with lead. At its
foot, it is girdled by a band of Portland stone, in which is an enor-
mous iron chain, weighing nearly five tons, inserted in a channel
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cut for its reception ; it adds stability to the structure and makes it
more perpendicular than it could otherwise have been. A flight of
steps, inside the outer dome, leads to the Golden Gallery, at the foot
of the lantern, and from it another communicates with the Ball, six
feet across, and capable of seating twelve persons. The Croes,
fifteen feet high, is thirty feet above it.

The Choir

was formerly shut off by an organ screen, but the organ, one of
the finest in London, enclosed in a case, designed by Wren, has
been divided and placed at the sides, so that the whole length of
the cathedral is now thrown open. The carvings on the Bishop's
Throne, the Stalls, and the other fittings of the choir are chiefly
by Grinling Gibbons. The Lectern, of brass, richly gilt, represents
an eagle with expanded wings, supported by a pillar and enclosed
within a railing.

The Ceiling of the choir has in recent years been ornamented
by Sir William Richmond, R.A., with mosaics, in richly-coloured
opaque glass. The scheme of these decorations is illustrative of
the Creation. The spandrils are divided by the arches and pillars
into six sections. The first two containing an allegorical represen-
tation of the creation of light; the two following sections show
the visit of the Angel Gabriel to the Virgin at the Annunciation ;
the last two sections show two guardian angels keeping watch on
the walls of the holy city. The whole work is beautifully rich in
colour, though opinion in art circles is much divided as to its
appropriateness and merit. On the south side the subjects of the
mosaics are the expulsion from the Garden of Eden, the tempta-
tion in the garden, and the figures of two angels bearing the
emblems of the Passion.

At the end of the choir, is the Reredos, the propriety of the
erection of which in a Protestant cathedral was questioned by
many ; indeed, the question of its legality gave rise to proceedings
in the Courts. It is connected with the side arches of the eastern
bay of the choir by a semicircular colonnade. Its design consists of
a basement, against which the altar stands, with a small pierced
brass doorway on each side to give access to the apse behind.
Over these doors, are-angels, supporting shields of the cross swords
and keys, the arms of the diocese, and St. Paul and St. Peter,
and they are flanked by sculptured festoons of fruit and flowers,
separated by marble panels. Above this, is a range of sculptured
panels with coloured marble backgrounds, supporting an open
colonnade of semicircular plan. A large group of sculpture, in bold
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relief, occupies the centre, flanked on each side by twisted columns
of rich Brescia marble (both being monoliths), wreathed with
foliage in golden bronze. These support an entablature and rich
pediment. The frieze is of Rosso Antico, bearing the inscription,
“ Sic Deus dilexit mundum,” in gilt bronze letters. The whole is
crowned by a central niche and surrounding statues at a height of
between sixty and seventy feet from the ground. The general
idea of the sculptured subjects is to express the incarnation
and life of our Lord. The niche above the pediment is occupied
by a figure of the Virgin Mary, with the Divine Child in her
arms and the statues of St. Paul and St. Peter on either hand.
The figure on the summit of the niche is an ideal one of the
risen Saviour. The entire reredos is executed in white Parian
marble, with bands and panels of Rosso Antico, Verde Prato,
and Brescia marble. The enrichments are generally gilt. The
steps in front of the altar are of white marble, and the pave-
ment of Rosso Antico, Brescia, and Verde Prato, like the reredos.
In 1897, Mr. E. T. Hooley presented the chapter with a service of
altar plate of solid gold, “to commemorate the longest reign in
English history.” When that gentleman’s bankruptcy occurred
funds were raised by the chapter to repay the creditors the cost of
the gift. The plate consists of two flagons, four chalices, and four
scale-patens, executed in the Renaissance style of the seventeenth
century. ‘The decorations are in high relief, richly modelled and
chased, the most prominent features being the symbolical vines and
cherubs of the art of the period, which are so conspicuous in he
decoration of the cathedral itself. The cross on the cover of the
flagon is a facsimile of that on the dome of the cathedral.

‘The Apse, behind the reredos, wherein stands the old communion
table, has been set apart as the Jesus Chapel. The altar-piece is a
copy of Cima da Conegliano’s * Doubting Thomas” (the original is
in the National Gallery); and within the altar rails is the handsome
Cenotaph of Canon Liddon (by Bodley and Garner), which supports
his recumbent white marble statue. The apse has, like the choir,
been richly decorated by Sir William Richmond. The entrance
to—

The Crypt

is in the south-east part of the space beneath the dome. Like
the cathedral itself, the crypt is divided into three parts by
immense pillars ; and of late years, much has been done to im-
prove it and to bring out its beauties. Its windows have been
glazed, stained glass, representing the entombment of the Saviour,
being inserted in the eastern one. The central space beneath
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the choir and dome has received a tessellated pavement ; and an
altar has been placed at the east end, rendering it available for
daily services. The part representing the old church of St
Faith * is marked by two mosaic inscriptions on the pavement.
Iragments of tombs which escaped destruction at the Great Fire
are placed west of the altar. Among these, are memorials of Sir
Nicholas Bacon, father of Lord Bacon; of Dr. Donne, the guaint
poet and satirist, who was dean of St. Paul's ; of Sir Christopher
Hatton ; of Dean Colet, the founder of St. Paul's school, &c.

The crypt contains the remains of most of those whose monu-
ments appear in the cathedral. Immediately under the centre of
the dome, is the Tomb of Nelson. The black marble sarcophagus
containing the coffin was constructed by order of Cardinal Wolsey,
and was intended for his own interment (see our Guide to Wind-
sor Castle). -Nelson’s coffin was made from the mainmast of
L'Orient, the flagship of the French admiral at the battle of Aboukir.
In a space between two large supports of the dome, is the beautiful
Sarcophagus of the Duke of Wellington. It is cut out of a great
block of luxulyanite (so-called from the Luxullyan Valley, Cornwall,
where it is quarried), a kind of porphyry with large crystals of red
felspar in a mass of quartz and black ‘tourmaline ; and it rests on
a massive base of granite. The funeral car in which the duke’s
coffin was conveyed to the cathedralis at the extreme west end
of the crypt. It was cast from guns taken in the actions enume-
rated on its sides. 8ir Christopher Wren's Tomb is beneath a
window in the South Aisle, at the east end of the crypt. A black
marble slab presents the legend :—

* Here lieth Christopher Wren, Knt, the builder of this Cathedral Church of St.
Paul, &c., who dyed in the year of our Lord mdccxxiii, and his age xci.”

The slab, which rests on a pedestal, is enclosed by a railing. At

its foot, lies *“ C. M. B. Wren,” who died in 1851, aged ninety-three ;

and there are tablets on the wall near by to Sir Christopher’s wife,

Maria, his daughter, Jane, and Constantia Maria Burgoyne, his

great-granddaughter.

This portion of the crypt, beneath the choir of the cathedral, has
been named Painters’ Oorner, because here lie Sir Joshua Reynolds
and such of his successors in the presidency of the Royal
Academy and fellow artists as have found a last resting-place in
St. Paul's. )

# The church of St. Faith-the-Virgin, which parish is now united to St. Austin’s,
in Watling Street, was demolished about the year 1256, to enlarge the cathedral,
and its churchyal; that part of the latter, at the east end of the cathedral,
formerly occupied by the church, has been laid out as a garden, and is kept in
order by the civic corporation. A place of worship was granted to the

parishioners in the eastern part of the crypt, and in it divine service took place
to the destruction of Old St?l’anl's. w
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Just outside the railings of Wren's tomb were interred, in the early weeks of 1896,
the remains of Lord Leighton, one of the most distinguished presidents of the Royal
Academy ; and in the August of the same year, his successor, Sir John Everett Millais,
was laid beside him. To the north of Leighton's grave, is that of Thomas Newton,
bishop of Bristol and dean of St. Paul's, buried in 1782 ; and, in the same line, are seven
other tombs—those of Bcné:l;lin West, P.R.A. (1820) ; George Dance, R.A. (1825);
Henry Fuseli, R.A. (1825); rge Dawe(1829) ; Sir Edwin Landseer (1873); Sir J E.
Boehm (1890). A little to the north, in the centre of the aisle, is the grave of Sir
Thomas Lawrence, P.R.A. (1830); and to the east is another line of slabs, which,
going from south to north as before,;mark the graves of J. M. W. Turner, R.A,
(1851) ; James Barry (1806); Sir Joshua Reynolds (1792); and John Opie (1807).
Continuing along the aisle, eastward, are the monuments (the only really artistic
ones hereabouts) of Randolph Caldecott (1886), with its charming child statue,
and Francis Montague Holl, R.A,, 1888, with its fine bust, and the inscription,
* How short the life, how great the k.” Close to Holl's monument, a slmgle
brass plate marks the resting place of Join Henry Foley, R.A,, buried in 187 n
the crypt, too, are interred :—globert Mylhe and C. R. Cockerell, architects ; n
Milman ; Admiral Collingwood ; Sir Thomas Picton, who fell at Waterloo ; John
Rennie and Robert Mylne, engineers ; Dr. Johnson; Sir Astley Cooper ; Sir am
Jones; Sir Bartle Frere; George Cruikshaflk, &c.: A bust, by Wade, of Sir John
Alexander Macdonald, ‘‘for ninet years premier of the Dominion of Canada,”
was unveiled, in November, 1892, by Lord Rasebery, then Foreign Secretary.

Recent interments in the Cathedr:;] include Sir Arthur Sullivan,
the great composer, and Dr. C;eight&l, Bishop of London.
1

The Monuments in the Cathedral,

as a rule, commemorate military and naval heroes; but there
are some noticeable exceptions. Some'of the groups are of large
size, and contain several figures. They arc chiefly of white
marble, with the exception of the plin of those which stand
upon the pavement. Generally speakgli, they are more inte-
resting from personal associations than frgm great artistic merit ;
but some of the groups display vigorous a&ion and the likenesses
are well preserved. The two first erected there were the statues
of John Howard, the philanthropist,* whd died at Cherson, in
Russian Tartary, in 1790 ; and of Dr. Samuel Johnson, the famous
author of the “ Dictionary of the English ‘Language,” who died
in 1784. Both were the work of $ohn Bacon, R.A., and occupy
corresponding situations in the angles in the front of the smaller
piers of the dome. In another angle, is a statue (by the same
sculptor) of Sir William Jones (1794). The fourth anglé is occu-
pied by one of 8ir Joshua Reynolds, the celebrated painter (1722),

The monument to the Duke of Wellington, which for some time
stood in the Consistory Court, was, in the winter of 1892-3, removed
to its present position (that originally intended for it) under the
third arch on the north side of the nave. Designed by Stephens, it
consists of a bronze recumbént figure of the duke, beneath a marble
canopy, supported by twelve Corinthian columns. Above it, are
large groups of sculpture, representing Truth plucking out the

* The kﬁln Howard’s hand has induced some persons to mistake his statue for
one of St. Peter.
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tongue of Falsehood, and Valour punishing Cowardice ; and round
the base, are the names of the principal battles gained by the duke.
An equestrian figure of the hero, on the charger which he rode at
Waterloo, and in the dress he then wore and the attitude in which
he watched the progress of that momentous fight, may, perhaps,
some day surmount the monument, as was originally intended.
That to Lord Nelson, designed by Flaxman, is in the south
transept. - The admiral is represented as leaning upon an anchor,

t .- NELSON’S TOMB.

resting on a coiled-up cable. On the cornice, are the names of his
principal victories. The British lion crouches at his right foot ;
and Britannia, on the other side, is represented as encouraging
young sailors to follow his example. On the pedestal are a number
of emblematic figures.

Among the other monuments, the following are the most note-
worthy. The years given are the dates of the death of those com-
memorated, the names in italic are those of the sculptors :—

North Transept.—Admiral Duncan (1797), Westmacoit. General Hay (1814),
Hopper. General Picton (1815), Gakagin. Admiral Rodney (1792), Rossi. General
Ponsonby (1815), Bailey. Earl St. Vincent (1823), Bailey. General Charles J. Napier
(1853), Adams. General William F. P. Napier, historian (1860), Adams. ~ Admiral
Sir Charles Napicr (1860), Adams. Hallam, historian (1839), Theed. Generals Crauford
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and Mackinnos (l8!2), Bacon, jun. General Dundas (1794), Bacon, jun. Captain
Faulknor (1795), Rossi. Generals Gore and Skerrett (1814), Chantrey. Captams
Mosse and Riou (1801), Rossi. Generals Mackenzie and Langwerth (1809
Manning. General Ho hton (1811), Chantrey. Sir W. Myers (1811), Kendm:k
Sir Pulteney Malcolm 38), Bailey. The Hon. Mountstuart Elphinstone (1859).
Noble. Admiral Charles Napier (184%). Adams. General Le Marchant (1812), Rossi .
Bowes (1812), Chantrey.

South Tramzﬂ.—Lord Collingwood (1810), Westmacott. Marquis Cornwallis
(1805), Rossi. Lord Heathfield (1790), Rossz. Sir William Jones (1794), Bacon. Earl
Howe (1799), Flaxman. Sir Ralph Abercromby (1801), Westmacott. Sir John
Moore (1809), Bacon, jun. General Gillespie (1814), Chantrey. Lord Cornwallis
(1815), Rossi. Generals Pakenham and Gibbs (1815), Westmacott. Captain Hoste
(1831), Campbell. Sir Astle{ Cooper (1842), Bailey. Dr. Babington (1756), Bek
M. W. Turner, painter (1851), McDowell. Sir Henry Lawrence (18s7), Lough.
Admiral Lord Lyons (1858), Noble. General Sir Isaac Brock (1812), Westmacott.
Colonel Cadogan (1813), Chantrey. Captain Hardinge (1808), Manning. General
Sir J. T. Jones (1843), Behnes. Captain Miller (1799), Flaxman. General Ross
(1813), Kendrick.

South Aisle of Choiy.—Dr. Donne, dean of St. Paul’s (1631), a monument from the
old cathedral, in which the dean is sculptured in his shroud, Stone. Bishop Heber
(1826), Chantrey. Bishop Blomfield (1857), Ri d. Dean Milman (1868),
Willsamson. Dr. ]ackson, Blshopof London (1889), Wvolner In this aisle, aretwo
pieces of marble from the t d by Dr. and Mrs. Liddon.

South Aisle of Nave. —Captam “’ estcott (1798), Banks. Bishop Middleton, first
bishop of Calcutta (1822), Lough. Captain Burgess (1797), Banks. Captain Loch,
C.B. (1853), Marochetti. Captain Lyons (1855), Nobdle. Monument in honour of
British officers killed at Inkermann (1854), Marochetts.

North Aisle of Nave—Monument tothe officers and men of the 57th Regiment who
fell in the Crimean (1854-6) and New Zealand (1861-6) Forsyth. Ditto
to those in the cavalry, who fell in the Crimea, Marocketts, Ditto to those of the 77th
Regiment, Noble. Ditto to those of the Royal Fusiliers who fell in the Afghan cam-
palgn (1879-80), Forsyth. General Sir H. Stewart, K.C.B. (1885), Bockm. General

Sir A. W. Torrens, K.C.B. (1855), Marochetti. General C. G. Gordon, C.B. (1885),
Boehm. William (1848) and Frederick (1853), Viscounts Melbourne, Marochett:.
Tablet to the crew of the Caplarn (1870).

In the Crypt are numerous brasses and tablets. Brasses to the newspaper special
correspondents, who fell in the Soudan (1883-5) ; to Professor Palmer, Captain Gill,
R.E, and Lieutenant Charrington, R.N., murdered in the Sinai desert, 1882; to
Mmor Canon J. V. Povah (1882), &c. Tablets to Archdeacon Claughton (1884) to
the soldiers who lost their lives in the Transvaal (1881), Matthews; to Captain
MacNab, slain at Waterloo (1815) ; to Captain Thompson, C.B., of Kars fame (1856),
Adams ; to the Rev. H. Bar 5 author of the “ Ingo oldsby Legends " ; to Sir Robert
Montgomery, one of the heroes of the period of the Indian Mutiny (1867), Bruce Foy:
and others. The chief monuments in the crypt have already been noticed.

The Windows are of great interest. The western window
was presented by Mr. Thomas Brown, of the firm of Longmans,
publishers, and represents the Conversion of St. Paul. That over
the north-west entrance, given by Mr. H. F. Vernon, represents
¢ St. Paul ;” that over the south-west, by the Rev. Dr. Vivian, * St.
Peter ;” that at the eastern end of the choir, by Mr. N. Rogers,
‘“The Ascension ;” that at the end of the south choir aisle, in
memory of Mr. W. Cotton, “ The Martyrdom of St. Stephen ;”
those in the south transept, by the Drapers Company, “ The Cruci-
fixion ;” and by the Goldsmiths Company, *“ The Agony in the
Garden ;” and the Thanksgiving window, by Kemp, commemorates
the Queen’s visit to the cathedral, February, 1872.

There are five daily services in the cathedral, at 8.0 and 10.0 a.m., and at 1.15, 4.0,
and 8.0 p.m.; on Sundays, the services commence at 8.0 and 10.30 a.m., and 3.15 and
7.0 p.mn. (umizr the dome). The entrances are at the west and north door: Admis-
sion to the nave and transepls is free throughout the day; but the following
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charges for viewing particular portions of the edifice are authorised :—Whispering
Gallery and two exterior galleries, 46; ball, 1/6 ; library, great bell, and. gmmtlrual
staircase, -[6; clock, -|2 ; crypt, -16; ltotal,3[2.

St. Paul’s Churchyard, Paternoster Row, &c.

The comparatively narrow thoroughfare on the north side of the
cathedral is closed against vehicles ; but some of the most famBous
drapers’ shops in the City are there. On the southern side, is a
broad thoroughfare, leading to CANNON STREET. A considera-
ble portion of the ancient churchyard is still enclosed. It is taste-
fully laid out and bright with flowers and shrubs ; and in it there
is a plentiful supply of comfortable seats, on which the wearied
city clerk may spend his hour of relaxation. A large colony of
pigeons inhabits the churchyard. The Chapter House is opposite
the north door of the Cathedral. The large block of buildings at
the east end of St. Paul's Churchyard, and fronting Cheapside, is
being rebuilt and set back.

PATERNOSTER Row, a narrow lane immediately behind the
north side of St. Paul’s Churchyard, with which it communicates
by several little courts, is known all over the civilised world in
connection with the book trade. Near at hand are AMEN CORNER,
AVE MaRiA LANE, CREED LANE, SERMON LANE, and GODLIMAN
STREET, all suggestive of the old ecclesiastical atmosphere of the
locality. At the western end of Paternoster Row, leading to New-
gate Street, is WARWICK LANE, so named from a residence there
in the old times of the Earl of Warwick ; farther to the east is Ivy
LANE, where were old ivy-clad houses for the prebendaries, and
in which, in 1764, Dr: Johnson and Sir Joshua Reynolds founded
the famous Literary Club, afterwards removed to Soho. PATER-
NOSTER BUILDINGS occupy the site of the old Newgate Market,
abolished when the Metropolitan Meat Market in Smithfield was
opened. Near the extremity of the Row is a short passage,
PANYER ALLEY, leading to NEWGATE STREET. In the alley, is
an old tablet, containing the figure of a boy, sitting on some-
thing which may be described as a pannier, with this inscription
bencath :—

“When lglre have sought the City round,
Yet still this is the highest ground.
August the 27th, 1688.”

SR




F. 7 Doltman,) (Chiswick.
CLEOPATRA’S NEEDLE.

EXCURSION IX.

WESTMINSTER TO THE MANSION HOUSE,
BY THE EMBANKMENT, &c.
N our First Excursion, we noted (p. 69) the fact that a useful
“short cut” from Charing Cross to the Bank, when in a
hurry, is afforded by the Northumberland Avenue, the Victoria
Embankment, and Queen Victoria Street. In the present Excur-
sion, we purpose describing the chief features of this line of street ;
and, inasmuch as, while doing so, we can much more easily trace
the intimate connection there exists between Westminster and the
City (and also because we have already dealt at sufficient length
with Northumberland Avenue itself), we will suppose readers to
meet us on—
Westminster Bndge.
[Map 1.: M 13-14.])

Cab Fares: From Paddington rallwa{:station—z/-

From Broad Street, Cannon Street, Euston, Fenchurch Street, King's Cross,

Livel | Street, ‘Mansion House. and St. Pancras stations—I

1/6,
From Charing Cross, Holborn Viaduct, London Bridge, Ludgate Hill Victoria
and Waterloo stations—1/-,

Nearest Railway Station : Westminster Bridge.

And a very convenient rendezvous it is. The District Railway
has a station near the northern end of the bridge ; a line of tram-
way has its terminus close -to its southern foot, and omnibuses
from all quarters of London run all day long over it. Designed

235
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by Page and opened in 1862, this bridge is a notable structure
of seven low segmental arches of wrought and cast iron, borne
on solid granite piers ; it is in all eleven hundred and sixty feet
long, with a roadway, eighty-five feet wide, and nearly level
throughout. It is one of the broadest and most handsome bridges
in Europe ; and from it we gaze upon an interesting scene. The
river, flowing under its arches, is all day long alive with timber
and hay barges, colliers, row-boats, and other craft. Looking
eastward we have a fine view of that noble boulevard, the Thames
Embankment, lined by handsome and imposing public offices and
hotels. Westward, the northern bank is ornamented by the terrace
and southern elevation of the Houses of Parliament. Lambeth
Bridge occupies the centre of the background ; and to the south, we
see the Albert Embankment, with Lambeth Church and Palace,
and, close at hand the handsome edifice in which are located
the wards of—

St. Thomas’s Hospital.
[Map I.: M-N 14.]

The hospital, designed by Currey, consists of seven detached
blocks of buildings (“pavilions "), a hundred and twenty-five feet
apart and connected by arcades ; the central block contains the hall
and chapel. The chief entrance faces Lambeth Palace Road ; in
the hall is a 8tatue of Queen Victoria, clad in her royal robes and

seated in the chair of state. The hospital has accommodation for

six hundred and fifty in-patients. Nearly half of the land on which
it stands was at one time covered, twice every day, by the water
of the Thames. The Albert Embankment runs along the river
bank hereabouts. Each block has four storeys. The entire fron-

tage extends nearly a third of a mile; it was opened by the

Queen in June, 1871. Not only is the hospital a great boon to
sufferers unable to provide for themselves the medical aid they
require, but is of great importance as a school of medicine ; and
in order to increase its usefulness in this way, several laboratories,
class-rooms, and so forth have recently been added to it.

A few yards from the Surrey foot of the bridge, on the same side of WESTMINSTER
BRIDGE ROAD as that on which the hospital abuts, is Sanger's Amphitheatre. It
occupies the site of the circus established by Philip Astley in 1773. Not much
further along the road, but on its opposite side, we find Hall, one of
London’s leading music halls ; and a little further, after passing under the viaduct
which carries the London and South-Western Railway over the street, we reach the
Lambeth Baths, the scene of many public meetings for philanthropic purposes.

At the Middlesex end of Westminster Bridge, is the western end
of—
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The Victoria Embankment.
[Map I.: L-M 13-14-15.]

It extends about a mile and a third, from Westminster to Black-
friars Bridge, and beneath it the District Railway runs, with
stations at either end and two—those at Charing Cross and the
Temple—along it. The Embankment (as it is commonly called)
was completed- in 1870, under the superintendence of Sir Joseph
Bazalgette, at a cost of about £2,000,000. From Westminster to
the Temple, its roadway is a hundred feet wide ; for the rest of the
course, its width is seventy-five feet. On the river side, the whole
line of road is planted with trees, and large spaces, not available
for the roadway, are laid out as ornamental gardens, under the
management of the London County Council. The Embankment
will shortly be lighted by electricity. The handsome generating
station adjoins Charing Cross (District) railway station.

8t. Stephen’s Club (Conservative), occupies the premises at the
corner of the Embankment and Bridge Street ; and near it is the
Duke of Buccleuch’s town residence, Montague House. Next, con-
tinuing our eastward journey, we reach New 8cotland Yard, as it is
called, the headquarters of the Metropolitan Police Force. Opened
in 1891, it was designed by Norman Shaw, R.A., and is of quite
unique appearance. It has a frontage of a hundred and twenty-
eight feet, with a depth of a hundred and sixty-eight, and it is a
hundred and thirty high. Its offices are arranged around an inner
court, sixty feet by fifty-five in area. The corners of the edifice
are flanked by domed and circular turrets.

At its western extremity, a wide throughfare communicates with
Whitehall ; and, passing it, we reach the first of the gardens,
at the western end of which is a Statue of William Tyndale, the
first translator of the New Testament into English, who was burnt
at Antwerp in 1536 ; that of General Sir Francis Outram, who dis-
tinguished himself during the Indian Mutiny, is at the eastern end.
Just outside the gates of the enclosure, the NORTHUMBERLAND
AvENUE and CRAVEN STREET join the Embankment ; and at the
western corner of the opening, stands—

The National Liberal Club House, which fronts to the Northumber-
land Avenue and to the Embankment, and is one of the most
handsome structures in London. At the opposite corner of the
Avenue, is the Avenue Theatre, opened in 1882; and here the
Embankment and river are crossed by the Charing Cross Railway
Bridge, designed by Sir ¥ohn Hawkshaw ; it has side thoroughfares
for foot passengers. It superseded the Hungerford Suspension

Bridge, now spanning the Avon at Clifton, near Bristol.
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On the northern bank of the Thames, to the west of the bridge,
is a Station of the Metropolitan Fire Brigade, with a number of
floating fire engines ; and on the eastern side of the bridge is the
Charing Cross Steamboat Pier. Behind the pier, is the Charing
Cross Station of the District Railway, standing at the entrance to
another garden, at the back of which an elevated terrace of hand-
some houses will be noticed. This is ADELPHI TERRACE ; in one
of its houses Garrick lived and died. There are to be found,
in the Terrace, three associations of persons of artistic and
literary taste—the Arundel, Crichton, and Savage Clube. Indis-
putable evidence of the fact that all this “good dry land” was
originally filched from the river is here afforded by the presence
at the foot of BUCKINGHAM STREET, on the side of the garden
most distant from the stream—of—York Stairs, or Watergate, a
beautiful structure, designed by Inige Fones, and erected at the
cost of the first Duke of Buckingham. It is ornamented by a
number of lions, one of which, carved by Nickolas Stone, served
as a model for the rest. This garden contains three 8tatues. There
is one of the poet Burns, by Sir Fohn Steel, R.S.A., which was
presented by a Glasgow merchant, Mr. J. G. Crawford, and un-
veiled by the Earl of Rosebery in 1884 ; another of the Right Hon
Henry Fawcett, M.P., which consists of a medallion portrait of the
distinguished statesman, surmounting a drinking fountain, in-
scribed, “Erected to the memory of Henry Fawcett, by his
Grateful Countrymen ;" and a third, to Robert Raikes, the founder
of Sunday Schools, unveiled in 1880. -

Close to the gate of this garden, is the Examination Hall of the
Royal Colleges of Physicians and Surgeoms, a well-designed and
attractive edifice, consisting of five floors. A Statue of Queen
Victoria, unveiled in 1889, occupies a prominent position in the
interior of the building, almost immediately in front of which,
close to the water’s edge, is an object of considerable interest,
the famous Egyptian obelisk Cleopatra’s Needle brought to this
country, at the expense of Dr. Erasmus Wilson, and erected here
under the superintendence of Mr. Dixon, in 1878. This, as all
students of history know, was one of the two obelisks which stood
before the great temple of Heliopolis, near-the site of the modern
city of Alexandria. Not far from the Needle, we reach—

‘Waterloo Bridge,

considered by Canova, the great sculptor, to be the finest bridge in
Europe.' It was opened in 1817, on the anniversary of the battle of
Waterloo, and consists of nine noble arches, each of a hundred and
twenty feet span. Its piers are twenty feet thick,and adorned with
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Tuscan columns ; the width within the.parapets is forty-two feet.
It cost upwards of £1,000,000, and for sixty years a toll of one
halfpenny was paid by pedestrians using .it. The. architect was
Fohn Rennie. Waterloo Bridge is flanked, on the westérn side, by
the Waterloo Steamboat Pier.

Beyond this bridge, the Embankment runs past the water-front
of S8omerset Houss, at the end of which, the Temple Railway Station
stands in a third Garden, which is ornamented by Statues of Brunel,
the eminent civil engineer, and John Stuart Mill, the political
economist. Two finely executed bronze figures, “ The Wrestlers,”
stand at the east entrance. During the summer months the popular
“ Press Band,” subsidised by leading newspaper proprietors, plays
daily from one to two o'clock. Overlooking the garden, are the
Offices of the 8chool Board for London, in the Dutch style of archi-
tectare. Close by is the costly Astor Estate Office, one of the finest
modern buildings in London. No one can pass along the Embank-
ment without being struck by the edifice, though it is by no means
obtrusive.” The late Mr. ]J.'L. Pearson, R.A,, supplied the designs,
and Mr. Astor, the well-known American millionaire, supplied the
equally necessary funds. Passing the Temple Gardems, we reach
CARMELITE STREET. At the corner, oCcupying a site 93 feet by
165 feet, are the handsome Offices of the Asylums Board, erected
1898-1goo, at a cost of about £50,000. The style of architecture
is French Renaissance, the architect being Mr. E. T. Hall. The
frontage overlooking the Thames' is’ adorned with some artistic
sculpture representing incidents in the Board’s operations. This
locality is rapidly becoming a second Fleet Streét, so numerous are
the newspaper and publishing offices hereabouts.. A few years ago
it was all waste land, reclaimed from the Thames. The National
Press Agency is housed in a handsome building of red brick and terra-
cotta, at the junction of Carmelite Street and Tallis Street. Another
great biock is occupied by Harmsworth Bros,, Ltd., the Ddily Mail,
‘&c. A partof the plot between Carmelite Street and JoHN CARPENTER
STREET, which runs parallel to it, a few yaids to the west, is oceupied
by two new edifices—the head-quarters of the Thames ‘Conservancy
Board, facing the Embankment, and the Clty Fire Stationbehind them.
The latter is a'structure of ‘red brick and Portland stone dressings,
with plinth of blue Staffordshire bricks. There is a look-out tower,
rising to an altitude of a hundred and sixteen feet. “The offices of
the Thames Conservancy Board were erected-in 1894; the board,
it is scarcely needful to say, control éverything connected with
the river, a very special function being the prevention of its
pollution. Separated from the edifices by John Carpenter Street,
are the library, hall, and other buildings, belonging to 8ion College
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opened in December, 1886. The institution was founded by Dr.
Thomas White in 1630, all the City clergy and those whose parishes
touched the City bounds being fellows.

The Guildhall School of Music was established in 1880, to
supply high-class musical instruction at moderate fees. The
present building fronts streets on three of its sides, thus afford-
ing scope for artistic treatment, not always available in edifices
of its size. It consists of four floors, and contains forty-two class-
rooms, some of them—and particularly the practice-room—being
of noble dimensions. An extensive addition, including an imposing
orchestral saloon and twenty-seven new class-rooms, has recently
been made to the school, at a cost of upwards of £22,000. About
four thousand students now attend the school, as compared with
sixty in 1880, the opening year. We next see the City of London
8chool, an extensive building, with a facade, described as being in
the style of the Italian Renaissance, with polished columns of Aber-
deen granite,and, in niches, Statues of Shakespeare, Milton, Newton,
Bacon, and Sir Thomas More. There are twenty class-rooms,
and a lecture-hall, fifty feet square, open and covered play-
grounds, a fives-court, fencing gallery, gymnasium, dining-room,
and library. The school was opened by the then Prince and
Princess of Wales in November, 1882.

The City of London School for Girls, erected in 1892-3, stands at
the rear of the Guildhall School of Music. Built by funds devised
for the purpose by Mr. W. Ward, of Brixton, it is constructed of
Portland stone, in the Anglo-Italian style, and it contains sixteen
class-tooms and (on the fourth floor) a luncheon room. The
l%mbankment ends at—

Blackfriars Bridge.

which has a length of nine hundred and twenty-two feet and
a width of seventy-five, its incline being by a gradient of about one
foot in forty. The abutments and piers are of granite, four having
on them columns of polished red granite, twelve feet high and
seven in diameter, with carved bases and capitals of Portland
stone. There are five wrought-iron arches, Venetian Gothic in
character. Immediately to its east, is the massive iron bridge of
the London, Chatham, and Dover Railway ; and a second, opened
in 1886, on a portion of which is St. Paul's Station, belonging to
the same company. Its entrance is in Queen Victoria Street.
Beneath the two last-named bridges is the Blackfriars Steamboat
Pier; and adjoining its approach, facing NEW BRIDGE STREET,
which we next cross, and forming a conspicuous feature from the
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eastern end of the Embankment is the Blackfriars Station of the
Metropolitan District Railway. On the western side of the space
at the City foot of the bridge, there stands, with the face down the
Embankment, as though she were welcoming an unseen visitor
to the capital of her empire, a large Statue of Queen Victoria,
R.L, 1898, to quote the title on the front of the pedestal of red Aber-
deen granite. An inscription on the back informs us that it was
“ presented to the citizens of London by Sir Alfred Searle Haslam,
in token of friendship to themselves and loyalty to her Majesty,”
and, it may be added, as a memorial of her visit to the donor dur-
ing his year of office as mayor of Derby. The stalue was unveiled
by the Duke of Cambridge, in the July of 1896. It was modelled by
Birch, A.R.A., and has been cast in bronze by Mr. Thomas Moore,
of Thames Ditton. Queen Victoria is represented standing erect, in
royal robes, with the sceptre in her right hand and the orb in
her left.

Queen Victoria Street,
[MapIV.: L 15-16]

along which our road now conducts us, is a fine modern arterv
leaving New Bridge Street a few yards north of the Blackfriars
station. No sooner have we entered it, than we pass beneath a
viaduct carrying the City extension of the Chatham and Dover
Railway over it, and pass, on our right, the front of 8t Paul’s
Station, the useful suburban terminus of that railway. UPPER
THAMES STREET runs off just beyond the station, and follows the
north bank of the river to London Bridge, under one of whose
land arches it passes, and then changes its name to LOWER
THAMES STREET. At one time, this street was the site of riverside
palaces and the stately mansions of London’s merchants ; but it
has long since lost those characteristics. It is now lined on its
river front with wharves and quays, and, facing the street, with tall
warehouses. Opposite St. Paul’s station, are the Offices of the
“Times,” and a little behind it is—

PRINTING HOUSE SQUARE, nearly the whole of which is taken
up by the editorial and printing oftices of that journal, which we
often hear spoken of, in consequence, as ‘ the Thunderer of
Printing House Square.” In the square stood, in the times
of the Stuarts, the king’s printing-house ; and in a day long
anterior to that, the spot was occupied by the Norman castle,
erected by Montfiquet, a follower of the Conqueror, while not
far off, Baynard's Castle rose on the ruins of a Roman fortress.
On writlen application, the “Times” printer will give an order
to see the machinery at work—a privilege much prized by those
interested in such matters.

Apothecaries’ Hall, buill by tlhe Apothecaries Company, stands

7




242 GUIDE TO LONDON.

in WATER LANE, a turning out of Queen Victoria Street, almost
behind Ludgate Hill Station. -

ST. ANDREW’S HILL, one of Doctors’ Commons’ tortuous streets,
joins Queen Victoria Street, a little to the east of the Times
office ; and at its south-west extremity, facing Queen Victoria
Street, is 8t. Andrew’s Church, surnamed “ by the Wardrobe,” to
distinguish it from the other churches in the City dedicated to
Scotland’s patron saint. It is one of the churches which Wren
rebuilt after the fire of London. (Sunday services at 11.0 and
7.0.) Separated from the church by WARDROBE TERRACE, are
the offices of— : -

The British and Foreign Bible Society.

This society was founded in 1804, for the purpose of issuing the
simple text of Holy Scripture in all the languages of the world.
The immediate cry was from Wales, and in eighty-eight years it
has issued over a million Bibles and a million and a half of copies
of the New Testament in Welsh. But this is only a sample of
what it has done for Great Britain, with her colonies and depen-
dencies all the world aver, for the Continent, and for heathen and
Mahommedan nations. The issue is now about thirteen thoeusand
fresh copies of Bibles, Testaments, and parts of the Bible for each
working day, or four millions a year. The total issue during the
first fifty years of the society’s existence was over a hundred and '
thirty-two million copies. It has promoted the translation, print- |
ing, or circulation of at least one book of the Bible in three hun-
dred and four languages and dialects. Its library contains a
unique collection of valuable copies and translations in 2 multitude |
of languages ; and the windows of its depdt exhibit a number of
Bibles in various languages, usually open at the same chapter, and
so affording an interesting evidence of the good work done by the
.society. Visitors, properly introduced, are shown over the Bible House |
in the usual business hours. |
The Savings’ Bank Department of the General Post Office .
(shortly to be removed to new buildings at West Kensington) and ‘
the Herald’s Office, or College of Arms, are on the same side of the |
strect, as we make our way eastward. The latter is the wonderful
establishment, the] officials of which, on being properly fee-d, will |
prepare for any ordinary mortal a coat of arms, provided he first
obtain her Majesty’s sanction to write armiger after his name.
Among the curiosities exhibited here is a pedigree .of the Saxon !
kings, tracing their descent from Adam—a privilege we all share |
with them. i
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Near this spot, GODLIMAN STREET connects Queen Victoria
Street with St. Paul's Churchyard ; and on the opposite side of the
roadway, the somewhat crooked BENET's HiLL will conduct us,
across Upper Thames Street, to St. Paul’s Wharf. It winds round
8t. Bene't’s Church (Sunday services at 11.0 and 6.30), now the chief
Metropolitan Welsh church (the services in it are conducted m
that musical tongue). On its outer wall, facing us, as we approach
the church from Queen Victoria Street, is a tablet commemorative
of one Timothy Wood Bullard, who died when twenty-eight years
old, in 1829, and his mother, who survived him till 1853, by which
time she had attained the patriarchal age of eighty-four.

A little further on, we see the International Head Quarters of
the Salvation Army, on the right, and, on the opposite side of
the street, 8t. Nicholas Cole Abbey Church, which was the first of
the forty-nine churches that Wren built in the City. (Sunday
services at 8.0, 10.30, I1.15, and 4.0.)

KNIGHTRIDER STREET joins Queen Victoria Street a little to
the east; and soon afterwards our road crosses CANNON STREET,
with, at the south-east corner of the two, the-Mansion House
Station, for many years the terminus of the Metropolitan District

Railway.

Cordwainers’ Hall, on the north side of Cannon Street and not
far from St. Paul’'s Churchyard (i.e., westward of the spot at
which we cross that thoroughfare), contains many interesting
features. The most recently-added of these is a memorial
window, unveiled in May, 1896, by the Right Hon. Joseph
Chamberlain, a member of the company, six of whose ancestors
have filled the office of master. It commemorates John Came, a
worthy master cordwainer, who died on May 13, 1796. We are
told that he “ did good by stealth,” and that, with a grim sense of
humour, he, for many years, sent anonymously to his brother
wardens and assistants, a large sum of money, to be distributed
among the poor widows of the clergy, the blind, the deaf, and
the dumb, and used to sit watching their distribution of his bounty
and hearmg the speculations of his colleagues on the identity of
the unknown philanthropist. The window exhibits figures of
Came and of St. Crispin and St. Crispinian, with coats of arms,
and a tableau of the people benefited by his gifts.

A few steps further along Queen Victoria- Street, and QUEEN
STREET, connecting Cheapside and the Southwark Bridge, crosses
our path. WATLING STREET, whose name reminds us of the days
when the Roman soldiers kept. watch and ward in Londinium,
runs westward to St. Paul’'s Churchyard ; and BuDGE Row opens
out communication with Cannon Street, immediately in front of

- the two railway stations, so named. Then a little further to the
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north-east, Queen Victoria Street crosses BUCKLERSBURY, a short
street which it has well-nigh obliterated from the map, and joins
the POULTRY at the western end of the Mansion House [Map IV.:
L 16], the residence of the Lord Mayor. We are here in the
centre of the City, and in our next Excursion shall note the chief
features of London’'s heart. But before separating, we find our
way to the beautiful little—

Church of St. Stephen, Walbrook,

which Sir Christopher Wren is said to have considered his master-
piece. Any one who examines the fine interior can well believe it.
It is in the Cinque-cento style. The most striking feature is an en-
riched cupola, supported by four rows of Corinthian columns and
eight arches, which rise from their entablature. It has been spoken
of as “a kind of probationary trial, previous to the architect’s greater
dome of St. Paul's.” The carving of the choir stalls would not
disgrace Grinling Gibbons. The carved pulpit is surmounted by
a magnificent sounding-board, on which stand angels with wreath:
of flowers and fruit. One of West's chefs d'cuvre, *“ The Martyr-
dom of St. Stephen,” long the altar-piece of the church, hangs
against its north wall. The east window was painted by Wille-
ment. The other windows are by Alexander Gibbs, and were
inserted as a memorial to Dr. Croly, a former rector, whose bust.
by Belines, and monument, by Birnie Philip, are here. (szda,\‘
services at 11.0 and 7.0.)

The Oity Liberal Club, dating from 1874, has its home in!
WALBROOK, ‘



ﬁ;&v&-?wx,r]ii [Notting 115/l
THE MANSION HMOUSE.

EXCURSION X.

THE HEART OF LONDON: THE BANK, &c.
[(Map IV.: K-L 16-17.])
Cab Fares: From Paddington Railway station—2/6.
From Euston, King's Cross, St. Pancras, or Victoria station—1/6.
From Broad Street, Cannon Street, Charing Cross, Holborn Vjaduct, Liverpool
Street, London Bridge, Ludgate Hill, Mansion House, or Waterloo stations—71/-.
Omnibuses run hence, east, west, north, and south. :

Nearest Railway Stations : Bank (Central London and City and South
London Railways), Moorgate, Bishopsgate Street, Broad Street, Liverpool
Street, Monument, Cannon Street, and Mansion House.

E have thus reached the chief omnibus centre of the

metropolis—a spot to which may well be applied the title
which the patriotic citizens of Boston are credited with a desire
to claim for their dwelling-place—that of the “ hub of the universe.”
Both above and below ground it is the most busy spot in restless
London. It consists of a large open triangular space, at which
meet the Poultry (the eastern end of Cheapside), Queen Victoria
Street, Princes Street, King William Street, Cornhill, Lombard
Street, and Threadneedle Street, and is commonly spoken of as
The Bank. Hitherto it has required dexterity of no common order
to cross the roadway at this always-crowded spot, and many acci-
dents have occurred, in spite of the care and alertness of the police.
In connection with the new electric railways an oval S8ubway has

: 65
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been constructed so that the timorous pedestriar may descend one
of the short flights of steps, and after a walk of a few yards emerge
triumphantlyjand tranquilly on the other side. Here is The Baunk

[ Notting Hil.

THE BANK OF ENGLAND.

York & Son,)

Btation, the terminus of the Central London Railway. A subway
leads also to the similarly named station of the City and South
London line in King William Strect.
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The Bank of England

is a colossal establishment, which, although belonging to a private
corporation, is so mixed up with the finance of the realm that it
may almost be regarded as a national institution. Through it
flows all the monetary business of the government ; and for more
than a century it has been nightly. guarded by a detachment of
soldiers. - Its architecture is ornamental, but solid ; and it is so
constructed as to make it very stiong. The older part of the
building dates from 1734 ; east and west wings were added sub-
sequently ; and in 1788, Sir Fohn Soanc erected the western part,
imitating,-on the south-western angle, the temple of the Sibyl at
Tivoli. It will be observed that the edifice has no external windows
which might assist thieves in the prosecution of their “ business.”
Daylight is admitted by skylights and by windows facing the open
courts in the interior.

Admission “ behind the scenes” can only be obtamed by a special
order from the governor or one of the directors ; but a good idea of the
immensity of this establishment may be obtained by walking through
the many public rooms, to which there is no hindrance whatever.
The various departments of the Bank of England are so numerous
that even to specify them would occupy more space than we have
at. our disposal. (We may, however, note that an exhaustive
description of the interior of the Bank was published in the first
volume of the Windsor Magazine) Chief among them may be
noticed the Bullion Officc, where all the specie and securities of
the bank are deposited. It need scarcely be stated that the wealth
contained here is enormous. The bullion alone is sometimes up-
wards of £25,000,000 in value. The Garden Court, ornamentally
planted, was the churchyard of St. Christopher-le-Stocks, a parish
now entirely occupied by the buildings ; and overlooking this, is
the Bank Parlour, where the directors meet. The Rotunda,
Transfer Room, and the Pay Office are the apartments with which
the public are most concerned ; and those who have the necessary
permit to see its inner life will be particularly struck with the
beautiful process whereby the notes are printed. In front of—

The Royal Exchange,
but below, is the terminal Station of the Central London Railway,
a subterranean electric line which affords rapid communication
with the West End and Shepherd’s Bush. Chantrey’s Equestrian
statue of the Duke of Wellington was erected in 1844. The presentis
the third Exchange which has stood on this site. The first, founded
by Sir Thomas Gresham, the Lombard merchant, whose crest,
the grasshopper, forms the vane of the present structure, was
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a victim to the Great Fire of 1666. Its successor, built by Hawks-
moor, a pupil of Wren, was destroyed by fire in January, 1838. The
bell tower was the only portion of the edifice that escaped crema-
tion ; and we are told that during the fire its bells played the
familiar Scotch air, “ There is nae luck aboot the house,” until one
after another, they fell into the flames. The tower contains a
beautiful set of Chimes, which, becoming worn out, have been
recently renewed—they were restarted in June, 1895. They play,
at fixed hours, several well-known tunes, the celebrated Old
Hundredth Psalm and the National Anthem, among them. The
present fine structure, erected from the designs of Mr. Tite, was
opened by Queen Victoria, on the 28th of October, 1844. There isa
fine portico of Corinthian pillars, on the west front; and on the
pediment, are allegorical figures by the younger Westmacott, repre-
senting Commerce, with the municipal officials and merchants of
various nations. Beneath is the text, “ The earth is the Lord’s, and
the fulness thereof.”

The interior of the edifice is a large quadrangle, unroofed, but
surrounded by arcades, in which business is transacted. In its
centre, are Statues of Queen Victoria, of Queen Elizabeth, and of
Charles I. The former had become so decayed that Lord Leighton
pronounced it impossible of restoration. Mr. H. Thornycroft, R.A.,
was therefore commissioned to produce another ; and the present
figure, which presents the late sovereign as she appeared in the
hey-day of her youth and in the dress she wore when she opened
the Exchange, was unveiled in June, 1896. The tessellated
pavement, of Turkey stone, is that of Hawksmoor’s Exchange.
A staircase at the eastern end of the interior leads to Lloyd’s
Subscription Rooms, where the business of under-writing—that
is, naval insurance—is carried on. The great room is ninety-eight
feet long and forty wide; and in the vestibule are Statues of
the Prince Comsort (by Lough) and of Huskissom, the statesman
(by Gibson). The panels around the ambulatory of the inner
court of the Royal Exchange are now being filled with Frescoes
by the most distinguished artists of the day. Already seven of the
frescoes are ¢n situ. The first, presented by Mr. Deputy Snowden,
chairman in 1891 of the committee (by Macbeth, A.R.A.), represents
Queen Victoria opening the present Exchange ; another, given by
the late Lord Leighton (his own work), is a scene in the “ Commerce
between the Pheenicians and the Ancient Britons.” The fine picture
(by S. ¥. Solomon, A.R.A.) depicting the progress of Charles I. to the
Guildhall to demand thearrest of the five Members of Parliament was
presented by Sir Samuel Montague, M.P. “ William the Conqueror
granting a charter to the citizens of London ” {by Seymour Lucas,
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R.A.) was the gift of the Corporation. For the fifth panel, “ The
Crown of England being offered to Richard III. at Baynard’s Castle ”
(by Sigismund Goetze), Londoners are indebted to Mr. Carl Meyer.
Castle Baynard is still the name of one of the city wards. The
castle formerly stood by the riverside near Blackfriars (see p. 16).
The sixth picture (by Stanhope Forbes, A.R.A.) depicts the Great
Fire of London,and was presented by the Sun Insurance Company.
A seventh picture, representing “ The Opening of the first Exchange
by Queen Elizabeth in 1571, accompanied by Sir Thomas Gresham "
(by Evrnest Crofts, A.R.A.), was unveiled in 1899. Anther panel
representing “ Sir Richard Whittington and his charities” (Mvs.
Ernest Normand) will shortly be completed.

Behind the edifice, at the corner of Bartholomew Lane and
Threadneedle Street, is a bronze Statue of Mr. George Peabody,
erectedin 1869. Itfacesa Drinking Fountain, surmounted by attrac-
tive statuary ; and at the other end of the open space which here
separates the Exchange from the adjacent buildings, is a Statue
or 8ir Rowland Hill (by Mr. Onslow Ford), also in bronze.

There are many nooks and corners hereabouts well worth notice,
did time permit. 8t. Margaret’'s Church, in LOTHBURY, one of
Wren’s, in which the * Golden Lectures” to business men are
delivered in Lent ; the Mart, TOKENHOUSE YARD, the chief room in
London for sales by auction of houses and land ; the 8tock Exchange,
in CAPEL COURT, BARTHOLOMEW LANE, the great money market
of England (to which none but members are admitted) ; these and
many other places have their interest. Banks are plentiful in the
neighbourhood. It has been quaintly said that, of old, the braziers
had their head-quarters in the district, and that now “brass” of
another kind is the ware mostly in vogue there.

‘Westward of the Exchange, on the south side of the way and
alinust facing the Bank, is the third of the public edifices which
give its special character to this important centre. It is—

The Mansion House.

This very large and handsome building is the official residence of
the Lord Mayor of London. It was built, between 1739 and 1753,
by George Dance, the clder, and repaired and redecorated in 1868.
Its lofty portico has six columns of the Corinthian order, and in the
interior is the BEgyptian Hall, adorned with sculpture, in which
the Lord Mayor’s banquets are held, accommodation being afforded
for four hundred guests. It contains some of the best productions
of modern English artists. There are also dining-halls and saloons,
a justice-room, and ample domestic accommodation for the family
of the Lord Mayor.



250 ‘GUIDE TO LONDON.

The Church of 8t. Mary Woolnoth, stands at the junction of King
William Street and Lombard Street, immediately to the south 6f the
Bank. It was rebuilt, in 1719, by Hatoksmoor, and presents a remark-
able illustration of the perfection to which ‘modern engineeting
science has attained. Immediately beneath the church is the Bank
station of the City and South London Electric Railway. “The
church being of historical interest, a special clause was inserted in
the Company's Bill providing for its preservation. Now that the
work is finished the church has been handed back to the autho-
rities exactly as the engineers found it, and there is little, if any,
indication either by sound or sign of the busy scene below. The
entrance to the station harmonises well with the church. -“The
parish has had some noted rectors, not the least known of whom was
the Rev. John Newton, the joint author, with his friend -Cowper
of the celebrated “ Olney Hymns.” He and his wife were buried
in a vault beneath the church, but their bodies wete exhramed in
1893 and reinterred at Olney, his birthplace.

The 8alters’ Hall is in ST. SWITHIN'S LANE; wh:ehoonnects King
William Street with Cannon Street—it leaves the former close to the
Church of St. Mary Woolnoth, and reaches Cannon Street at the
corner of St. Swithin’s Church, in whose front is preserved the
famous London 8tone. The present Salters’ Hall was built between
1823 and 1827 ; in its front is an open space which adds considerably
to its imposing appearance. Amongst the treasures of the company
are the original grant of arms by Thomas Benolt, Clarencieux, in
1530 ; an old map of their Irish estate ; and a finely executed one of
their lands at Maidenhead, Bray, and Cookham in Berks. In the
court-room, there stands the old master’s chair, saved from the
wreck of the Great Fire, and some portraits which also escaped
destruction, notably those of Charles I, William Robson, and
Barnard Hyde. The hall itself is fine and beautifully decorated.
In it are portraits of Queen Charlotte and George I11., supposed to
have been executed by Sir Foshua Reynolds.

&
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A FRUIT LUNCH IN THE CITY.

EXCURSION XI.
ROUND ABOUT THE CITY. .

VERY yard of the City of London teems with interesting
reminiscences ; and its streets and courts are crowded with
important edifices. The thoroughfare in front of the Lord Mayor’s
palace is known as MaNsioN House STREET. The PoULTRY, the
short street to its west, has, since 1860, been almost rebuilt and con-
siderably widened. We may notice, by the way, that the name of
this street, and others, such as Bread, Milk, and Wood Streets,
Honey Lane, and Ironmonger Lane, indicate the marketing character
of the old Chepe, now CHEAPSIDE. Proceeding along this famous
street we notice, on the right hand, OLD JEWRY, the name of which
recalls the fact that some Jews, who came over with the Conqueror,
settled here and built a synagogue. But, later, the poor Israelites
were driven eastward to Aldgate, where their descendants dwell to
this day. Farther along, and on the same side of the way, we
pass IRONMONGERS' LANE, with the beautiful Mercers’ Hall, occupy-
ing the Cheapside front and extending for a considerable distance
down the lane ; and then we reach KING STREET (with QUEEN
STREET, on the opposite side, running down to Queen Victoria
and Cannon Streets). King Street is a short, but very important
thoroughfare ; for at its head stands—
251



252 GUIDE TO LONDON.

The Guildhall.
[Map IV.: K 16.]

Cab Fares : From Paddington railway station—2/6.
From Euston, King’s Cross, St. Pancras, or Victoria stations—1/6.
From Broad Street, Cannon Street, Charing Cross, Holborn Viaduct, Liverpool
Street, London Bridge, Ludgate Hill, Mansion House, or Waterloo stations—1/-.

Nearest Railway Stations: Cannon Street, Mansion House, Moorgate,
Bishopsgate Street, Broad Street, Liverpool Street, Monument, and the Bank
station of the Electric Railway.

The Guildhall may be styled the official palace of the London
corporation. It is the scene of its most magnificent festivities and
receptions, especially the great banquet on Lord Mayor's Day ; the
meeting-place of the Court of Aldermen and of the Common
Council ; the place where the elections of Lord Mayors and
Sheriffs and of members of Parliament for the City are held.
where its freedom is conferred on distinguished persons,and where
very many gatherings of national—and even world-wide—impor-
tance have been held. The first corporation building on this site
was erected early in the fifteenth century, and suffered severely in
the Great Fire of 1666. The edifice was, to a great extent, re-
constructed and a new front added by the younger Dance in 178q.
In 1868, considerable improvements were made, and a timber roof
added to the Great Hall, a noble apartment; a hundred and fifty-four
feet long, fifty- broad and fifty-five high. At its eastern end is a
large painted window, commemorating the assistance rendered by
the City of London to the suffering people of Lancashire, during
the “ cotton famine " of 1863-5 ; and near'it are the famous wooden
figures, known as Gog and Magog. Fourteen feet high, they
were carved by Richard Saunders, and placed in the Hall in 1708.
On the sides of the room are several large monuments : those to
the Duke of Wellington (Bell), Nelson, with inscription by Sheridan
(Smith), and Chatham, with inscription by Burke (Bacon), on the
north ; and those to William Pitt, with inscription by Canning
(Babb), and Lord Mayor Beckford (Moore), who is represented in
the act of making a courteous speech to George III. (regarding the
actual delivery of which there has been considerable historical con-
troversy), on the south. The walls are ornamented with the portraits
of heroes of modern days and some fine descriptive pictures ; and
the west window is a memorial of the good Prince Consort. A
corridor leads from the Great Hall to the Common Council Chamber
(adorned with busts and historical pictures—among them is a Bust
of the Duke of Cambridge, for forty years commander-in-chief of
the British army, by Williamson, unveiled in October, 18g6).
Adjoining it, are the Aldermen’s Chamber, the Chamberlain’s Office,
and—
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The Guildhall Free Library,
which, opened in 1872-3, occupies a Perpendicular edifice, the chief
frontage of which, to Basinghall Street, is a hundred and fifty feet ;
its depth is a hundred feet. There are entrances from that street
and from the Guildhall. The structure consists of two halls—one
above the other, with a smaller room containing directories and
books of reference—muniment rooms, and offices. The upper
hall—the Reading Room—is a hundred feet long, sixty-five wide,

r———_ -
F. Frith & Co., Ltd.,] LReigate.

THE GUILDHALL.
and fifty high, and is divided by handsome bookcases into twelve
bays. There are heads of representative authors, philosophers,
men of science and artists, besides sculptures and portraits. The
oak roof is supported by the coats of arms of the twelve great City
companies ; and there are large painted windows at each end. It
is used for grand receptions when illustrious persons visit the City.
The Museum, beneath it, contains a large number of interesting
curiosities, chiefly illustrating the history of London, several old
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.erected between 1825 and 1829, from designs by Sir R. Smirke, on
the site where, before the Reformation, the old church and sanctuary
of St. Martin’s-le-Grand stood. It has since then been so increased
and altered that, possibly, the architect would have difficulty in
recognising it. The additions are, however, in excellent keeping
with the original design. The building is in the Ionic style, and is
surmounted by a lofty and handsome portico.

The great increase in the work of the Post Office, especially
since the adoption of the telegraph as part of the system, rendered
an additional building indispensable ; and in December, 1870, the
foundation stone of an extensive pile of buildings on the opposite
side of the road was laid. This building has frontages to St.
Martin’s-le-Grand and Newgate Street. On the former front, is a
portico of two storeys, the lower part rusticated and the upper
formed of Corinthian columns. The greater part of the building is
appropriated to the working of the telegraphic department.

But the new premises were soon found inadequate for the re-
quirements of the Post Office; and in 1889, the Government
acquired and removed a block of buildings to the north of the last-
named edifice. These included the once-famous coaching-house.
the Bull and Mouth (more recently known as the Queen’s Holel)
and the Frencl Church of St. Martin’s-le-Grand (now re-erected in
Soho Square, contiguous to the colony of foreigners located there-
abouts), in which Roubiliac, the sculptar, was buried. On the site
thus cleared, a new extension of the Post Office has been built in
the Italian style of architecture. In it, are the offices of the Post-
master-General, the secretary and his subordinates, the solicitors,
and other members of the administrative staff of the department.
The original edifice is termed the General Post Office, East; the first
extension, facing it, is known as the General Post Office, West ; and
the latest addition, the Gemeral Post Office, North. Still further
extensions are being made.

8t. Botolph Church adjoins the latter. Its graveyard has been
laid out as a garden, and is appropriately known as the * Post-
men’s Park.” It has recently been enlarged. At the suggestion
of Mr. G. F. Watts, R.A., a cloister has been erected here, in which
to place tablets commemorative of “heroes in humble life.”
Little Britain, further north, is a busy hive, occupying the site of
the mansion of the Duke of Bretagne of the daysof Edward II.
Hence the name. The Young Men’s Christian Association (the
mention of its name is enough—for its work is well known) has
its head-quarters facing Aldersgate Street.

Proceeding along NEWGATE STREET, we reach, on the right-
hand side, the entrance to Christ Church, the building itself being
hidden by the houses. Wren was the architect, and the edifice,
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which is large and commodious, has a tower and steeple, a hundred
and fifty-three feet high. Richard Baxter, the celebrated Noncon-
formist, and Lawrence Sheriff, to whom Rugby owes its school,
were buried -here. The boys from the adjoining ‘Blue Coat
School” attend the services in this church, and in it the famous
‘ spital sermons” are preached at Easter before the Lord Mayor
and .corporation. .

Christ’s Hospital, or Blue Coat School..

The buildings of this greaf school occupy a large area, extending
f rom KING EDWARD STREET to GILTSPUR STREET. It was founded
in 1 533 by Edward VI, on the site of -the old Grey - Friars
Monastery, of which some iraces remain. The older portion of the
buildings, some by Wren, are on the eastern side, surrounding a
quadrangle. The first stone of the great hall was laid, in 1825, by
the Duke of York, and the building was completed in 1829. In the
interior, are paintings (representing Edward VI. granting the
charter of incorporation and James II. receiving the mathematical
pupils) and portraits of Queen Victoria, the Prince Consort, &c.
The “supping in public” on Thursday evenings in Lent is one of
the sights of London, and on these occasions admission to the hall
is gained by tickets issued by the governors. In front of the hall, is
the large playground, reaching to Newgate Street, from which it is
divided by a railing; and over the chief entrance, a Statue of
Edward VL and an inscription commemorating the founding of the
hospital. The school is shortly to be removed to new buildings at
Stammerham, near Horsham (the foundation stone of these was laid
by the then Prince of Wales on the 23rd of October, 1897),and the pre-
sent site will probably ere long be covered by warehouses and offices.

At the west end of Newgate Street, we reach an important “ four
cross roads.” Extending southward and communicating with
Ludgate Hill, is the OLD BAILEY, whose northern end, a wide open
space, much used by carriers, was formerly the scene of public
executions. On its eastern side and extending round the course
into Newgate Street, is—

Newgate Gaol
(Map IV.: K 15),
now mainly used for the detention of prisoners awaiting their trxa]
at the Central Criminal Court. It is named from one of the City
gates which formerly stood here, and was for several centuries
used as a prison. The gaol was rebuilt in 1782, after its partial
destruction by the mob in the Gordon riots of 1780. The interior
was reconstructed in 1857. The iron door, known as the “debtor’s
door,” was that by which criminals were led to execution in the
18



258 GUIDE TO LONDON.

days when the capital sentence was carried out in public. Newgate
was abolished as a prison in 1881, theoccupants being transferred
to the Holloway gaol. The Old Bailey is about to be rebuilt.
Adjoining Newgate, is the Sessions House, where the sittings of the
Central Criminal Court are held.

The name of GILTSPUR STREET, the continuation of the Old
Bailey northwards, reminds us of the processions of knights, who
formerly passed along it"on their way to and from the priory of
St. John's and the jousts which took place in Smithfield. PyE
CORNER, in Giltspur Street, is adorned by a tablet, recording the
fact that the Great Fire stopped there. Of 8t. Sepulchre’s Church,
we shall speak in our next Excursion.

Smithfield
has more sombre associations than those eonnected with the
tournaments. It was for years the place of public execution ; and
as such was the scene, in the reigns of Henry VIII. and his
daughters, Mary and Elizabeth, of the martyrdom of those who
did not adopt the creed of their sovereign, as witness the monu-
ment on the spot where two hundred and seventy-seven Protestants
were burnt in the reign of Mary, and the memorial church hard by.
From the time of Henry I. till the year 1855, the revels of
Bartholomew—or, as it was popularly known, Bartlemy—Fair took
place annually in the open space; and in more recent times, the
chief cattle market of London was held on the site occupied by—

The Corporation Markets.*

[(Map IV.: K 15.]

These cover the greater portion of old Smithfield. The Metro-
politan Meat Market was built from designs by Mr. Horace Jones,
in the Renaissance style, of red brick, with corner towers, sur-
mounted by domes, and a roof of glass and iron. It was opened in
1868. Beneath it is a railway depdt, with cellars for storing meat.
There are also Poultry and Butter, Fish, and Fruit, Vegetable and
Flower Markets. These extensions are all to the westward of the
original building, and in much the same style of architecture. The
last addition is in direct communication with the Farringdon Street
railway station and with the huge warehouses of the Great Northern
Railway. The London, Chatham, and Dover Railway runs below
the edifice ; and the rails and platforms of the Midland and Great
Northern lines extend beneath the entire length of this and the

* The itan Cattle Market was removed in 1855, when Prince Albert
opened the market (the largest market for live stock in the world, occupying, with
cattle-layers, and slaughter-houses, about thirty acres) in Copenhagen Fields,
between Islington and Camden Town. Mr. Bunning was the architect. In the
centre, is a lof H clock-tower, Italian in character, and around the base are bankin
houses, a postal and telegraph office, &. The market gates are ornamented wit
well-executed heads of oxen, sheep, and pigs.
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ad joining markets, from Charles Street to Snow Hill. To the south-
west of Smithfield, is—

St. Bartholomew’s Hospital,

the oldest and richest and one of the largest of the Metropolitan
infirmaries. It contains accommodation for nearly seven hundred
in-patients, and it is estimated that about a hundred thousand out-
patients are annually attended to here. As a school of medicine,
the hospital stands in the very first rank. It originally formed part
of a monastery, founded by Rahere, the minstrel of Henry I., and
before that the companion of Hereward the Wake in his opposi-
tion to William the Conqueror. He became the first prior of St.
Bartholomew’s and a canon of St. Paul's. After the dissolution,
Henry VIIL refounded the hospital ; and a statue of that king is
yet to be seen over its entrance. The present edifice dates from
a period subsequent to the reign of Henry VIII. The great quad-
rangle was built by Fames Gibbs, about 1733, and since then
great additions have been made. In the court-room, are fine
portraits of many of the principal benefactors to the institution.
A tablet let into the wall at the entrance to the hospital com-
memorates some of the Smithfield martyrs. Of the old priory, the
only remaining portion is—
The Church of St. Bartholomew the Great,

to the east of the hospital. We are told that, during an attack
of malarial fever in Rome, Rahere made a vow that, if he were
allowed to recover, he would found a hospital for the poor near
London. Tradition has it that, as a result of his vow, he re-
covered ; and that subsequently he had an extraordinary vision,
St. Bartholomew appearing to him and bidding him build a church
at Smithfield. On his return home, he carried out the commands
of the apostle and his own vow, and the church (in which are his
tomb and other noteworthy monuments) and hospital, still attest
his sincerity. The tower of the former, as witness a date on its
front, was erected in 1628 and altered in the eighteenth century ;
it contains five bells, which are amongst the oldest in London.
The internal length of the church, which consists only of a bay of
the nave and of the choir and aisle of the original building, is
about a hundred and thirty feet, and its width, fifty-seven. The
church has latterly been restored, the many encroachments which
defaced and circumscribed it being removed. The crypt has been
utilised as a mortuary chapel, for which purpose it has been fitted
with an altar, &c., and a raised stone base to support the bier, It is
believed that it dates from early in the fifteenth century, and was
built to contain the bones of the canons of the priory, removed from
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the adjoining graveyard. The Lady Chapel, which stands at the
east end of the church, after being for 350 years used for secular
purposes—it was at one time let to a fringe manufacturer—was,
in 1897, re-opened for public worship. The interior is singularly
reposeful, owing to the quiet scheme of colour decoration and
hangings. The floor ascends by five steps to the sacrarium, which
is paved with tesselated marble. The vista, looking westward,
through the Norman columns of the choir, is one of the most
striking in London. The church is open daily from nine till five.
(Sunday services at 8.15, 11.0, 11.45, 4.0, and 7.0.)

BARTHOLOMEW CLOSE, adjoining the church, occupies a portion
of the site of the priory. Several eminent men (among them,
William Hogarth, who was baptised in the church) have lived
here ; and the Butchers’ Hall is one of its most recent additions.

To the north of Smithfield, is CHARTERHOUSE SQUARE—of old,
the site of the monastery of Carthusian monks, known as the
Chartrcux, of which the present name is a corruption. Here is
still to be seen the old Hospital Chapel, in which is the grave of
“good old Thomas Sutton,” the founder of the Charterhouse
Bchool, now removed to Godalming, and the Charterhouse,
wherein eighty decayed gentleinen are still housed and fed and
subsidised in their old age. The buildings of the school have been
renovated and are now occupied by the Merchant Taylors’ School.

Charterhouse Square is a little to the east of ST. JOHN STREET
and ST. JoHN STREET RoaAD, which connect Smithfield with
“merry Islington.” On the west side of this thoroughfare, in
ST. JOHN’s LANE, may be seen—

St. John’s Gate,
[Map IV.: ¥17]

the only remains of the ancient monastery of the Knights of St.
{ovhn of Jerusalem. The edifice was destroyed by the rebels under
at Tyler, in 1382; and a century and a half later, X
the then prior, partly rebuilt it and completed the gateway. The
monastery was suppressed by Henry VIIL; and-in the reign
of his son, Edward VI., Lord Protector Somerset laid violent
hands on the edifice and used its stones as part of the materials

wherewith to construct Somerset House.

But the gateway was not injured ; it is one of the i ing and
edifices of the London of the Middle Ages which remain to us. Its north front
exhibits the arms of the community and of Prior Docwra ; and on the south
wall are those of England and France. It is now occupied by 8t. John Ambu-
Association, which does a good work in tralnin%s the public to render
assistance in cases of accident, &. The modern kn{Eh
were those of ancient days, for they are favoured with the presence of the fair
sex, including some pri of the royal blood. On St. John the Baptist’s day,
1893, a memorial of the Duke of Clarence, the first sub-prior of the order, on the
exterior of the gate, was unveiled by the then Prinec of Wales, its grand prior.
In the eighteenth century, the gate was associated with the commencemeni,
by Cave, of the *“Gentleman's Magazine,” edited by Dr. 'lohnion, and with
Garrick's first appcarance as an actor in London, when Cave'’s printers read the

are more happy than
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minor !\arts and Garrick played that of the hero of “the Mock Doctor,” before
an audience of two—Johnson and Cave.

8t. John’s Church (in ST. JOHN’Ss SQUARE, to the north of the
gate) is a remnant of the priory church. John Wesley, Row-
land Hill, and other noted preachers have occupied the pulpit.
The grandfather of Wilkes Booth (the assassin of Abraham
Lincoln, the celebrated American President), and others of his
kinsfolk, were buried in the little graveyard belonging to the
church ; and in 1804, its interesting old crypt was cleared of the
coffins which had accumulated in it, and opened for public
inspection (it may be visited on the first Saturday in each month).
The crypt consists of a nave of five bays, a transept, and two
aisles. The three western bays are Early Norman, round
arched, dating back to about 1080, while the two eastern are
more transitional in character, and with the transept and aisles
were built in 1170. The nave is about sixty feet long by seven-
teen feet wide, the length of the transept measuring fifty-one
feet. Around the sides of the nave are low stone sedilia, which
form part of the structure of the walls ; and at the western end
one jamb of the original doorway still remains. Some of the
original iron bars still exist in the loopholes, or Norman lancet
windows, and in the centre of each arch is an iron ring, from
one or two of which hang ancient candelabra.

The Wesleyan Chapel, in the square, is the seat of the Wesleyan
Central Mission. There are clubs and classes for men, women,
girls, and boys, mothers’ meetings, a temperance society, 2 medical
mission ; indeed, every kind of work necessary for the uplifting of
the people, is successfully carried out here.

By making a northward digression, outside the bounds to
which we have limited ourselves, we may visit the Royal Agri-
cultural Hall, between ISLINGTON GREEN and the LiVERPoOL
RoaAp. It is an immense building, of great interest to visitors
as the place where are held many exhibitions of use to agri-
culturists—notably, the Dairy Show and- the Smithfield Club
Cattle Show in the winter, and the Horse Show, in the summer.
The Royal Military Tournaments and the Stanley Cycle Shows
are also held here. The Liverpool Road frontage is in the Italian
style ; it is constructed of brick and has two towers. On the
other side of the wide thoroughfare is the Grand Theatre, destroved
by fire early in 1990, but since rebuilt.

Leaving Smithfield, we turn our faces eastward, and, walking
along LONG LANE, cross Aldersgate Street, at the spot where
stands a station of the Metropolitan Railway, and enter the BAR-
BICAN, which perpetuates the name of one of the old towers of the
city. The Barbican changes its name to BEECH STREET, which
extends from Redcross Street to Whitecross Street, and then the
thoroughfare becomes known as CHISWELL STREET and conducts
us to the south-west angle of Finsbury Square.

We make another défour at REDCROSS STREET, in order to visit
the scene of—
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The Great Fire of 18g7.

It will be remembered that about midday on the 1g9th of
November, 1897, a fire broke out in Well Street, and in spite of
the heroic efforts of the Fire Brigade, was not extinguished until
an area of 44 acres had been involved. This was the biggest
outbreak which has occurred in London since the historic Great
Fire of 1666, and the damage was estimated at two million pounds.
Whole streets were swept away, and something like one hundred
buildings either completely destroyed or severely damaged. The
area has now been almost entirely rebuilt.

The Church of St. Giles, Cripplegate,
[(Map IV.: K 16.]

was fortunate in escaping the fire of 1897, just as it escaped the
conflagration of 1666. The roof was fired by sparks, but no
serious damage was done. The church was originally erected
in 1090, by Alfunc, proctor of St. Bartholomew’s Hospital,
and .was almost rebuilt in 1392, and is famous on account of
its connection with the Great Plague in 1665, as well as from
the fact that * Book of Martyrs” Fox, Milton, Speed, Glover, and
others, were interred in it. Oliver Cromwell and Elizabeth
Boucher, daughter of Sir James Boucher of Felstead, Essex,
were married here in 1620. Allen, writing in 1830, thus describes
the church (and though it has been repeatedly repaired since he
wrote, it has not been materially altered) :—

“It is a spacious and substantial building, and though much disfigured by
modern alterations and detached buildings, still shows considerable ions of
the ancient edifice. The plan gives a nave, side aisles, and chancel, with a large
and massive square tower at west end of four storeys, the upper part of red
brick (fifteen feet, added in 1682). The ancient parts of the tower and the south
side of the church are built of stone in irregular masses, interspersed with tile
and brick. The first stor';{ shows the arch of a spacious window, now walled

up, on the west front. e north side of the church is nearly concealed by
the Quest House—a large modern Gothic building, which also covers the porch.”

The church (which has been described as “ a perfect storehouse of associations
—a very museum of antiquities ") s open daily between len and four. (Sunday
services at 8.0, 11.0, 3.30, and 7.0.)

In GOLDEN LANE, which runs northward from the junction of
the Barbican, Beech Street, and Redcross Street, is the Cripple-
gate Institute, opened by the Lord Mayor, on the 4th Novem-
ber, 1896. It was designed by Mr. Sidney R. J. Smith. It con-
tains a library, concert hall, and technical class rooms.

FINSBURY SQUARE, the largest open space within the boundaries
of the City, is somewhat noted as the residence of Germans and
‘foreigners of cognate nationalities. Behind the houses on the west
side, is the Artillery Ground, where the members of the Honourable
Artillery Company—the oldest of the volunteer corps of the City of
London, first incorporated in 1585, and long known as the City
Trained Band—have their drill ground and armoury. Adjoining
it, to the north, is—
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The Bunhill Fields Cemetery.
[Map IV.: ¥ 16.]

It occupies about four acres between the City Road and Bunbhill
Row, and is now ornamentally laid out and open fo the public. For
more than two centuries, it was the chosen burying-ground of
dissenters, and some of the most eminent names in the annals of
Nonconformity may be found inscribed on the tombs. Dr. Thomas
Goodwin, who attended Cromwell in his last moments, lies here ;
and so do General Fleetwood, Oliver Cromwell’s son, and John
Owen, the Independent divine. We cannot enumerate all the
worthies, but there are three pre-eminent names which Englishmen,
whatever their theological opinions, will not lightly pass over—John
Bunyan, Daniel Defoe, and Isaac Watts. The Tomb of Bunyan,
with recumbent figure, was erected, in 1862, by public subscription :
and four years later, an Obelisk Memorial of Daniel Defoe was
built, the funds having been provided by a subscription among the
young readers of Robinson Crusoe.

Immediately behind the cemetery, is the Burial Ground of the
Society of Priends, where is the Grave of George Pox, their founder.
His tomb is so much sought after by Americans and others that,
contrary to their usual practice, the community have placed over it
a stone inscribed with his initials and the date of his death.

On the opposite side of the road, is the cathedral of Methodism—

Wesley’s Chapel,

the first stone of which was laid in 1777 by John Wesley. He
preached there during the later years of his life, and was buried
in the “ God’s acre,” behind it. A tablet to the memory of his
brother Charles occupies the place of honour on the wall of the
interior of the chapel ; and in front of the building, which stands
back from the road, is a monument to his mother. At the centenary
of Wesley’s death, in 1891, it was decided to renovate the chapel
and purchase a new organ, pulpit, &. The restoration was com-
pleted in 1899, when the chapel was formally re-opencd. The central
east window represents Christ delivering thc Great Commission to
His disciples, “ Go ye into all the world,” &c.

Adjoining the chapel, is Wesley’s House, wherc he resided during
the latter years of his life, and where he died. By means of
an endowment raised in 1897, the house is to be preserved in
perpetuity as a Museum of relics connected with Methodism. Here
may be seen Wesley’s bureau, hjs blue and white teapot, the
stumpy quill pen with which he last wrote, and sume receipts given
by him for his princely salary of £15 per quarter, A little to the
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south are the publishing offices of the Wesleyan Conference ; and
near them is the Allan Wesleyan Library, which contains a large
collection of theological works.

“Walking back through Finsbury Square, we reach FINSBURY
CIRCUS, now undergoing a complete transformation. Here is the
London Institution, founded in 1805, “for the advancement of litera-
ture and the diffusion of useful knowledge.” An extensive library,
a laboratory, and a lecture-room are attached to it, and high-class
lectures are delivered. At the junction of FINSBURY PAVEMENT
and SouTH PLACE is the terminus of many of the lines of tram-
ways between the City and the northern suburbs; and a little
nearer the Bank, is the Moorgate 8tation of the Metropolitan and
other railways.

It is proposed to connect Moorgate Street with Finsbury Park
station on the Great Northern by a direct electric line, running
beneath the City and New North Roads. The line will be a great
boon to residents in the northern suburbs. The work is now well
in hand.

Walking down South Place, we reach the important railway
stations of Broad Street, Bishopsgate Street, and Liverpool Street.
Facing the street which they dominate formerly stood the church of
St. Mary's, Moorfields, at one time the pro-cathedral of the Roman
Catholic body in London, and rendered famous by Cardinal Wise-
man’s lectures on Catholic doctrines and practices. The church
was demolished in 1900. Part of the sum realised by sale of the
site has been devoted to the new Roman Catholic Cathedral at
Westminster.

In BLOMFIELD STREET, a short street connecting South Place
with London Wall, is the Musenum of the London Missionary Society,
admission to which, betwecn ten and four o'clock, may be obtained
on application to one of the secretaries.

LIVERPOOL STREET communicates with BISHOPSGATE STREET,
which takes its name from the city gate erected by Bishop
Erkenwald in Saxon days.

. Bishopsgate Street conducts us to SHOREDITCH.

Columbia Market, one of the many princely gifts to the poor
of London of the Baroness Burdett-Coutts, is in HACKNEY Roabp,
which runs to the north-east, and communicates with—

Victoria Park, the ‘ breathing space ” for the thousands who in-
habit Bethnal Green and the other congested districts of the East
End of London. Occupying nearly three hundred acres of Old

. Stepney Common, it was laid out in 1841. It is very handsomely

" planted, the ornamental waters are remarkably attractive, and
‘the flowers are charmingly arranged. - It .contains a- Drinking
Fountain, erected by the Baroness Burdett-Coutts. ..
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The Bethnal Green Museum

(accessible from the Cambridge Heath or Bethnal Green stations
of the Great Eastern Railway, and from Whitechapel—Mile-end
—station of the District Railway) may be reached by the BETHNAL
GREEN RoAD, which runs eastward from the head of Bishopsgate
Street. It is a branch of the South Kensington Museum, and
is open daily. Free on Sundays, Mondays, Tuesdays, Thursdays,
Fridays,and Saturdays. On Wednesdays, the public are admitted
on payment of sixpence each pérson. The hours on Sundays are
from two till dusk ; on Mondays, Tuesdays, and Saturdays, from
ten in the morning till ten at night; on Wednesdays, Thursdays,
and Fridays, from ten till four, five, or six p.m., according to the
season.

In MAPE STREET is—

Oxford House, one of those settlements of university men which
have of late years done so much to ameliorate the murky
life of East and South London. It was founded in 1884, and for
eight years occupied a disused church school in St. Andrew’s
parish, Bethnal Green, partitions being run up so as to form
rooms. The continuous growth of the work and the increased
number of residents made a permanent building necessary,
and on June 23, 1892, a new house was opened in the adjoin-
ing street to accommodate twenty residents, with common
room, dining-room, library, committee-room, and lecture-hall.
Since then there have been from twentz to twenty-eight resi-
dents, all laymen except the head of the house, and mostly
but not entirely Oxford graduates. There are also men in
non-residence who use the house as a centre for work, either
in the daytime or the evening. About half the residents have
their business in the City or in chambers during the day, and
work in connection with the house during the evening.

‘The work undertaken by the house is of a varied character. It attempts to
cover the needs of all classes in the neighbourhood—children, boys, young men,
men, and women. It works upon the assumption that man is a threefold being
—body, mintl, and soul, and it seeks to satisfy the needs of each. It further
endeavours to back up existing oxﬁanisations for good in the neighbourhood,
and to make them more efficient. Much of its good work is done by the agency
of clubs. Besides the clubs for boys and young men with which the house is in
touch, there is, in connection with the house, working men's clubs in different
parts of London. In all the clubs for boys, young men, and men, there are
bagatelle, billiard-rooms, gymnasia, football, cricket, cycling, and rowin% clubs.
‘There is at Walthamstow a cricket ground, of about six acres in extent, in
connection with the clubs. There are reading-rooms in all the clubs, as well as
classes and lectures. Each club has a Bible class, and a mission service is held
every Sunday evening at Oxford Hall for club members, their wives and families.
Club services are held quarterly in St. John’s and St. Andrew’s Churches, alter-
nately. There is a lecture followed by discussion every Sunday afternoon in the
lecture-hall of the Oxford House; and, in connection with the mission service,
the Oxford House guild of communicants meets every fortnight in the chapel
of the Oxford House.

The Bishopsgate Institute, erected under the provisions of a
scheme prepared by the Charity Commissioners, is from designs
by C. Harrison Townsend, F.R.I.B.A. - -1t includes a hall, maga-
zine and newspaper reading rooms, and a lending library. The
last named contains upwards of 20,000 volumes, available for
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home reading free to persons resident, renting offices, or em- !
ployed in the eastern half of the City. The reference library
contains over 7,000 volumes. The Institute was partly built by
the surplus funds of a bequest left by Alderman John Stewart in
1481 to provide flannel petticoats for poor old women. It was |
opened by Lord Rosebery in 1894. '

Walking southward down Bishopsgate Street from the corner of
Liverpool Street, we notice several interesting features. ST. HELEN'S
PLACE contains the Leathersellers’ Hall, beneath which is part of
the crypt of St. Helen's Priory ; the hall was erected in 1815.

Crosby Hall was built, in 1466, by Alderman Sir John Crosby.
Richard of Gloucester lived in it, while he planned the murder of
his nephews and his own accession to the crown. In turn, i
has been a palace, a prison, a Presbyterian chapel, a warehouse,
a concert hall, and, last of all, a restaurant. It is one of the few
existing relics of the domestic Gothic architecture of the fifteenth
century. Externally, its lower storey consists of an arcade of
semicircular arches, supported on square piers, and the first floor
is embellished with an order of Ionic pilasters. Adjoining the
hall, and standing on the site of the Crosby Hall Chambers, is—

The new home of the Bank of Scotland, a corporation only a year
younger than the Bank of England. The edifice, which was opened
in April, 1896, is of Portland stone and Italian architecture. The
entrance arches are of Norwegian porphyry, and they support the
arms of London and of Edinburgh and those of England and
Scotland. In the centre of the edifice is a grand representation of
the arms of the bank. They were all modelled by Mr. E. Roscoc
Mullins ; and the building itself was designed by Mr. W. W
Gwyther, F.RI1.B.A. An ancient stone fireplace and a carved
wooden overmantel, dated 1633, and part of the buildings which
the bank has superseded, is preserved in the committee room.

St. Helen’s Church, in Great St. Helen's, to the north of Crosby
Hall, is unrivalled amongst the City churches for the spaciousness
of its interior. It is all that is left of the nunnery, founded earlier
than 1180, in which year it was given to the canons of St. Paul's.
If we are to believe tradition, the church occupies the site of one
erected to the memory of Helena, mother of Constantine, which
gave shelter to the remains of Edmund, king and martyr, when
the Danes were devastating Mercia and East Anglia. The present
church, which, by the way, lies north-west and south-east, is
rectangular, a hundred and twenty-one feet long, fifty-two broad,
and thirty-eight high ; and it has a belfry, capped by turret and
cupola. Its body consists of a nave, parted into two aisles by an
irregular order of five pillars and six Pointed arches, and-of a
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south-eastern transept, containing a chantry and two small chapels,
now thrown into one. It has stained-glass windows, in memory
of Sir Thomas Gresham, of Alderman Copeland, lord mayor in
1835, and of Shakespeare, said to have been a parishioner. The
latter is in the northern, or nun’s aisle.

‘The church has been termed the Westminster Abbey of the City, because it con-
tains many memorials of illustrious Londoners, the number of which was increased
in 1874, when the church of St. Martin Oteswich, or Outwich, was demolished and
the two parishes united. Among the monuments are those of—Francis Bancroft,
who founded the almhouses at Mile End ; Sir John Oteswich and his wife ; Sir John
Spencer (1610) ; Sir Thomas Gresham (1570) ; Sir John Crosby and Agnes, his wife
(1475-6) ; Sir Andrew Judde, lord mayor in 1550, citizen and Skinner, founder of
Tunbridge School and of the almhouses in Great St. Helen's for six freemen of
the Skinners’ Company ; Sir William Pickering (1542) ; of a renowned merchant-
adventurer, William, father to Captain Martin Bond, “ flos mercatorum” (1576) ; and
that of Sir Julius Casar (1636). The church was restored in 1893, largely at the
expense of the City companies and their members, the Merchant Taylors being

especially liberal with funds. I is open daily, except Saturday, from half-past eleven
till two o’clock.

The Wesleyan Centenary Hall and Mission House, opposite the
end of Threadneedle Street, is a centre of the activity of that
energetic body. It was erected in 1839, and received its name
from the fact that it was paid for out of a fund collected to mark
the centenary of the establishment of the Wesleyan society as a
separate religious organisation.

8t. Ethelburga’s Church, one of the oldest and smallest in London,
is a little to the north of St. Helen’s Place ; it presents to the street
a flat west front of cement, a squat little tower and a belfry upon
which the adjoining houses look down. Half of its height is
masked by the shop of a ‘ working cutler” and “ practical opti-
cian,” over which the point only of its west window is seen. The
church is only fifty-four feet long ; but, small and lowly though the
building is, it is distinguished by the “ height " of its services. The
altar is partly draped with fine lace, and ornamented with cross,
candles, and flowers. On the wall, near the pulpit, hangs a crucifix ;
and the pretty iron work rood-screen is surmounted by a gilded cross.
The church consists of nave and south aisles only, the arcade be-
tween them being apparently of fifteenth-century architecture. In
the windows, is some good heraldic glass—the arms of the City of
London, of the Saddlers’ Company, of the Vintners’ Company, and
the Virgin crest of the Mercers. The graveyard of 8t. Botolph’s,*
opposite the end of Houndsditch and on the other side of the road,
has been laid out as a garden.

We return to the Bank, vid THREADNEEDLE STREET, in which

* This church is known as that of “St. Botolph-Without,” the last word being
added to distinguish it from the others in the City of the same dedication.
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are Southsea House, historically interesting from its connection
with the famous * Bubble,” and—

The Merchant Taylors' Hall,

the largest of those belonging to the London Companies. It wa:
rebuilt after the Great Fire, the hall itself being completed in 1671.
and the rest of the buildings subsequently added. The old hall
was, until 1502, the scene of the Lord Mayor’'s annual feast in
alternate years ; and since 1676, the Sons of the Clergy have dined
in the present one after their annual festival in St. Paul’s. It has
two entrances in Threadneedle Street ; and it contains some fine
statuary and pictures, the latter including some good portraits ; and
the stained glass in the windows of the court-room displays the
arms of illustrious deceased members of the guild. One of the
most interesting relics preserved here, is the silver yard, by which
for centuries the London cloth measures were corrected ; it escaped
the Great Fire, by which almost all (he plate belonging to the
company was melted. The hall may be viewed by order, to b
obtained on application at the officc.

In OLp BROAD STREET, is the City of London Club, which dates
from 1832, whose members are chneﬂy merchants, bankers, and
others of that class.
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THE BRITISH MUSEUM.

EXCURSION X11.
THE BANK TO OXFORD CIRCUS.

IN this Excursion we hope to notice some important features of
the northern portion of the great West Central division of the
great City, by means of a two-penny journey, on the garden seats of
an omnibus, from the Bank to Oxford Circus, which point we
reached in our Fourth Excursion. We have already dealt with
Cheapside and Newgate Street, so that we take up the route
at the “ four-cross-roads " at the end of the latter. At the corner of
Giltspur Street and extending to Snow Hill, is—

St. Sepulchre’s Church,
a large, recently-restored edifice, rebuilt on the site of an old struc-
ture (of the existence of which as early as 1178 there is a record),
about the middle of the fifteenth century. It was almost destroyed
by the Great Fire and restored by Wren ; and it is noted for its fine
porch and its tower, terminating in four pinnacles, with gilded
vanes. There are eleven bells in the tower, one of which is
tolled on the occasion of an execution at Newgate. It is said
to be the largest church in the City, being a hundred and fifty
feet long by, with 8t. Stephen’s Chapel, eighty-one feet wide in-
ternally. It stands at the eastern extremity of one of the finest
architectural works cver undertaken in connection with metro-

politan improvements—
269
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The Holborn Viaduct.

Cab Fares : From Paddington Station, 2/-.
From Victoria terminus, 1/6.
From each of the others, 1/-.

Nearest Railway Stations : Farringdon Street, Holborn Viaduct and Snow
Hill (S.E. and C. & D.), Post Office (Central London); Ludgate Hill, Black-
friars, and St. Paul’s stations are all near.

Holborn Viaduct carries the road over Farringdon Street, which
runs along ‘what was of old the channel of the Fleet river. Previous
to the comstruction of this fine Bridge, Holborn Hill, as it was styled,
was one of the (to vehicles) most dangerous parts of London, and
horses suffered greatly, especially in frosty weather, from the steep-
néss of the gradient. The viaduct is fourteen hundred feet long and
eighty feet wide, and is lined with lofty piles of buildings. It is
supported on rows of arches, utilised as vaults ; and it is so con-
structed that the gas and water mains and telegraph tubes can be
reached without disturbing the roadway. Farringdon Street is
spanned by a beautiful skew bridge of iron, richly ornamented and
supported by columns of polished granite. On the parapet, besides
the City arms, are bronze lions and large figures symbolising the
Fine Arts, 8cience, Commerce, and Agriculture, and in niches in the
frontage of the immense stacks of buildings at the angles of the
bridge are memorial 8tatues of Henry Fitz-Alwyn (the first mayor of
London), 8ir William Walworth, 8ir Thomas Gresham, and 8ir Hugh
Myddelton. Four flights of granite steps give access to the road
below. The edifice was opened to the public by Queen Victoria
in November, 1866.

We have seen that at the north-eastern corner of the viaduct is
St. Sepulchre’s Church. Towards the other end, very nearly at its
south-western corner, are two other places of worship.

The City Temple, the easterly of these, is a noted Noncon-
formist sanctuary. It is surmounted by a tower and its Classic
front exhibits a pediment, supported by columns. An inscription
on a tablet, affixed to one of the outer walls, reads thus :—

“The Church assembling here was founded, in 1640, by the Rev. T. Goodwin,
D.D., preacher to the Council of State, president of Magdalen College,
Oxford, a member of the Westminster Assembly of Divines, and chaplain
to Oliver Cromwell. The Church first met in Anchor Lane ; thence, it was
removed, in 1672, to Paved Alley, Lime Street ; thence, in 1755, to Miles
Lane; and thence, in 1766, to Camomile Street ; from thence (sic), in 1819,
under the ministry of the Rev. John Clayton, to the Poultry Chapel, Cheap-
side ; and thence, in 1873, under the ministry of Joseph Parker, D.D,, to the
south-west end of Holborn Viaduct.”

The Sunday services commence at eleven and seven ; and the Thurs-
day lecture (one of the noted religious “ functions ” of the City) af
noon. Adjoining it, is 8t. Andrew’s Church, of old approached by
steps, but now below the level of the roadway. One of Wren's
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churches, it was built, in 1686, on the site of an old dilapidated
edifice. The tower was commenced in 1446 and finished in 1468 ;
it contains a clock and eight bells. The church consists of a nave,
two aisles, and a chancel ; and the interior has been greatly praised
for its magnificence and beauty. 1t contains a carved oak pulpit
and a sculptured marble font, displaying four cherubim. Its
entire length is a hundred and five feet, breadth sixty-three
feet, height forty-three feet. But it is principally for its tablets
and for its connection with various notabilities of former days,
that St. Andrew’s is famous. There is a tablet to John Emery,
the famous comedian, who died in 1822. Lord Wriothesley is
buried here. Dr. Henry Sacheverell, the divine who was im-
peached by the House of Commons in 1710 and was suspended from
preaching for three years, lies in the chancel. Henry Neele, poet
and author, was buried in the churchyard, and Joseph Strutt,
author of Sports and Pastimes of the People of England, in the
church. John Webster, the dramatist, is said to have been at one
time parish clerk. The church is open on Mondays, Wednesdays,
and Fridays, from half-past ten to twelve.

At the western end of the viaduct is HOLBORN CIRCUS, connected
by new lines of street with the Mctropolitan Meat Market and Lud-
gate Circus. At this spot is a small cquestrian Statue of the Prince
Consort, ercected in 1873.

ELY PLACE and HATTON GARDEN, on the northern side of the
Circus, reminds us of the Bishop of Ely, who had a strawberry
garden attached to the palace here See Shakespeare’s * Richard
I11.”), and of Sir Christopher Hatton, Queen Elizabeth’s chancellor.
A grim story respecting a Lady Hatton who lived here, tells us that
having sold herself to the power of evil, she was claimed one
night when she was holding high festival, and her mutilated body,
with the heart torn out, was afterwards found in an adjoining
yard. There is, it is true, a BLEEDING HEART YARD still existing
close to Hatton Garden, but it is almost certain that it derived its
name from “the Bloody Heart, the cognizance of Douglas blood.”
The palace of the good bishop was eventually destroyed by fire,
its chapel alone escaping. This is now known as 8t. Etheldreda’s
Roman Catholic Church. The tracery of its east and west windows,
the first named filled with stained glass, its oak roof, and especi-
ally the crypt and its cloister, in which fig-trees flourish, make
this quiet nook, close to the heart of the great city, worth visiting.
CHARTERHOUSE STREET runs from Holborn Circus, in front of Ely
Place, to Farringdon Street and Smithfield. Hatton Garden is
the head-quarters of the diamond merchants of the metropolis,
and also contains the London offices and warehouses of a number
of the leading manufacturers of pottery.

From the south side of the Circus ST. ANDREW'S STREET com-
municates with Shoe Lane and so with Fleet Street, and vid
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St. Bride Street, with Ludgate Circus; and THAVIES INN and
BARTLETT'S BUILDINGS branch off to the south-west.
Holborn

extends westward from the Circus to Oxford Street. 1is name
originated in that of a stream—either the Old Bourne, a tributary of
the Fleet, or the Fleet itself (formerly known as “ the bourne in the
hole,” between the hill on which Newgate stands and Holborn
Hill). A little further, and we have LEATHER LANE, running north-
wards to Clerkenwell Road, and FETTER LANE communicating with
Fleet Street. A little to the west of Leather Lane formerly stood
Furnival’s Inn, where Dickens lived when he first became famous, and
where he wrote several of his works. The Inn is now demolished,
and the site is occupied by an extensive range of buildings belonging
to the Prudential Assurance Company. Barnard’s Inn, on the opposite
side, where Dickens tells us Pip, of Great Expectations lodged, and
Staple Inn, a little further west, are both connected with Gray’s Inn.
The chief features of the former are the redecorated old Hall of the
members of the inn, and the new home of the famous Mercers
School, opened in 1894. This school has an interesting history, ex-

tending over four centuries and a half. The Mercers’ Company |

covenanted with Henry VIII. that they would teach twenty-five
boys free of charge, and have carried out their engagement to this
day, many of the pupils leaving their mark on the history of their
times. There is a footpath through Staple Inn to Southampton
Buildings and Chancery Lane. The Birkbeck Bank is housed
in a superb structure with an imposing main entrance and
tower in Southampton Buildings. The premises have now been
carried right through to Holborn, seven houses fronting that
important thoroughfare having been demolished for the purpose.
Architecturally, the bank is one of the most noteworthy recent
additions to the public buildings of London, though to some tastes
the style will appear florid and over-elaborated.

Adjoining the entrance to Staple Inn, are some of the Oldest
Houses in London, in good preservation, and interesting as speci-
mens of “the homes of our forbears” ; and near them, on either
side of the way, are stone pillars, marking the civic boundary.
Directly opposite is GRAY'S INN ROAD.

It leads straight to King’s Cross and the railway stations ; and
contains a few edifices of interest. Trinity Church, the grave-
yard of which has been laid out as a garden, is near the
Free Hospital, founded in 1828. The special feature of the
hospital is that the sick poor are admitted freely without the
necessity of providi% themselves with letters of recommenda-

tion. George IV, William IV. and Queen Victoria have suc-
cessively been its patrons.
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In REGENT SQUARE, to the west, are 8t. Peter’s Church and the
English Presbyterian Church, wherein Irving, Hamilton, Dykes,
and other noted preachers have ministered.

ROSEBERY AVENUE runs from the junction of CLERKENWELL
RoAD with Gray’s Inn Road (the spot at which the Holborn Town
Hall rears its handsome fagade). The direction of the avenue is
to the north-east; it opens out communication with that famous
hostelry, the “Angel” at Islington. It was inaugurated during
Lord Rosebery’s chairmanship of the London County Council and
named after hislordship, who performed the ceremony. In it is the
Clerkenwell Town Hall, of English Renaissance architecture ; at its
northern end, it runs over the site of old 8adler's Wells Theatre,
whose successor faces it. Gray’s Inn Road takes its name from—

Gray’s Inn, one of the inns of court, an entrance to which is
through an archway, a few feet to the west. With its gardens,
it occupies an extensive area, stretching back from Holborn to
Theobald’s Road, on the north, and its buildings form the western
side of Gray's Inn Road, thus far. As a school of law, it dates
back to 1357 ; and it is named after Lord Gray de Wilton, who
long ago had a house on the spot. A large broad quadrangle, on
one side of which is the Hall (built in 1560, and boasting a good
oak roof and painted windows), is entered from Holborn, and
there are gates into Theobald’s Road, Gray’s Inn Road, and
Bedford Row. The Archbishops’ Window contains figures of
Becket, Whitgift, Juxon, Laud, and Wake. The last four were
all members of the * Ancient and Honourable Society.” The
Library is modern. The extensive gardens were first planted in
1600, and in the time of the Stuarts were a fashionable promenade.
During the summer they are open without let or hindrance, to
the children who live in the densely-populated neighbourhood,
from six to cight in the evening.

On the opposite side of Gray’s Inn Road, in BALDWIN’S GARDENS,
a narrow and uninviting thoroughfare, is—

St. Alban’s Church, a fine modern structure of Middle Pointed
architecture, from designs by Butterfield. It has a good spire ;
and its internal decorations, as one would expect in the leading
Ritualistic church of the metropolis, are beautiful and costly. The
Rood contains the figures of SS. Mary and John suspended from
the chancel arch—one of the largest in Europe. At the back
of the high altar is a figure of St. Alban, surrounded by beauti-
fully executed representations in alabaster of the scenes of his
martyrdom. The stained-glass windows are chiefly by Kemipe.
The beautiful chapel, of English Gothic design, on the south
side of the church, is a memorial of the Rev. A. H. Machonochie,
the first vicar, whose recumbent figure in his eucharistic vest-
ments is to be seen in a recess on the south side. The
church faces BROOK STREET, which communicates with
Holborn.

CHANCERY LANE (see p. 211) connects Holborn with Fleet Street.
About half-way down the lane, we reach the interesting old gate-
way (restored in 1899) of—

19
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Lincoln’s Inn,
[(Map II1. : I 14.]

which occupies the site of the first monastery of the Black Friars,
who afterwards migrated to the spot which still bears their name.
In the reign of Edward I. the land belonged to Henry de Lacy,
Earl of Lincoln, who built his town house there ; and at his death
it became an inn of court and has been one ever since. Its Gate-
house dates from 1518,and was erected by Sir Thomas Lovell,
whose arms are to be seen on its front ; and its Chapel, opened in
1623 and designed by Inigo Fones, is a specimen of the Perpendi-
cular style, and the painted windows, of English maké, are fine.
The edifice has been recently restored and added to by Lord
Grimthorpe. The courts where the Chancery judges formerly sat,
superseded by new courts in the Palace of Justice, have been re-
moved, and the site on which they stood is still unoccupied. NEw
SQUARE, with an entrance into Carey street, is a large quadrangle,
with a garden in the centre. Lincoln’s Inn Hall and Library were
completed in 1845, from the designs of Philip Hardwick, and opened
by the Queen. The building is of red brick, with stone dressings.
The great hall is a hundred and twenty feet long by forty wide :
its roof is of carved oak, and its windows of stained glass, with
armorial bearings and mottoes. Figures of eminent members of
the inn are in canopied niches ; and on the walls are a painting by
Hogarth, representing “ Paul before Felix,” and a fresco, “ The
School of Legislation,” forty-five feet wide and forty high, with
figures of thirty lawgivers, from Moses downwards, executed
gratuitously by G. F. Watfs. The library is eighty feet long, forty
wide, and forty-four high; it contains more than twenty-five
thousand volumes, some of great value and rarity, including manu- |
scripts bequeathed by Sir Matthew Hale. The library was estab-
lished in 1497 ; it is the oldest collection of books in London. In\
the drawing-room are portraits of legal celebrities. On the eastern
side of this elegant building are the gardens of the inn, pleasant
and spacious, and the Hall and Library form one side of— |

Lincoln’s Inn Fields, the largest of the London squares. About
1618, Inigo Jones built some fine houses on the western side
of a piece of waste ground, where executions sometimes took
place—that of Lord Russell (1683) among them—and this was
the commencement of the square. Its centre is laid out as a
garden, now open to the public, and with its numerous large trees.‘
is a very agreeable lounge on a hot summer’s day. ‘

The Royal College of Surgeons is located in an imposing build-|
ing on the south side of Lincoln’s Inn Fields. The college
was erected in 1835 from the designs of Barry; it contains

|
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the ceclebrated Museum of Anatomy and Pathology, founded by
John Hunter, and a collection of portraits of celebrated surgeons,
Reynolds's oil painting of Hunter occupying the place of honour
among them. Visitors are admitted by orders, which may be had
from any member of the college or of the secvetary, or by the personal
introduction of a member, on Mondays, Tuesdays, Wednesdays, and
Thursdays, between noon and four o’clock in winter, and noon and
five in summer ; the museum is closed during the month of September.

Some of the houses in the square are interesting for their reminis-
cences. Thus, one in the centre of its western side, marked by
stone vases on the pillars, was built by Inigo Jones for the Earl of
Lindsay (for though now abandoned to the “limbs of the law,”
Lincoln’s Inn Fields was once the residence of the leaders of
society) ; and a large mansion at its north-west angle, the side
whereof overhangs the footway of GREAT QUEEN STREET and
is supported by piers of brickwork, at different periods of its
history known as Powis House and Newecastle House, was the
residence successively of Lord Chancellor Somers and of the Duke
of Newcastle, the eccentric minister of George II. The chief
features of the northern side of the square are the richly orna-
mented fagade of the Inns of Court Hotcl, an immense building,
with another frontage in Holborn, and—

8ir John Soane’s Museum (13, Lincoin’s Inn Fields), which con-
tains the fine collection of books, manuscripts, pictures, sculpture,
and Egyptian and Oriental antiquities formed by Sir John Soane,
the eminent architect. Among the more prominent attractions to
the general public are Hogarth’s series of pictures, “The Rake’s
Progress” and “The Election,” and some admirable works by
other artists. The museum is open free from 11 to 5 on Tucsdays,
Wednesdays, Thursdays, and Fridays, in March, April, May, Fune,
Fuly and August. Cards for private days for the remainder of the
year, and for students, may gencrally be obtained on application to
the Curator at the Museum.

Regaining HicH HOLBORN by one of the two narrow passages
known as GREAT and LITTLE TURNSTILE, we walk for a short
distance along that important street, We cross to its nortbern
side, and so gain—

DEAN STREET, which conducts us into RED LION SQUARE, the
central portion of which has recently been laid out as a pleasure
ground. A short road at the north-west angle of the square con-
ducts to SOuTHAMPTON Row, which is continued as WOBURN
PLACE and leads directly to Euston. In Southampton Row are
Cranston’s Waverlcy Hotcl and Pitman’s Metropolitan School, chiefly
devoted to the teaching of shorthand and commercial subjects. A
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few steps towards the east, and we reach the junction of RED Liox
and LaMB's ConDUIT STREETS (the latter deriving its title from
the fact that it marks the course of the pipes by means of which,
in 1577, Mr. W, Lamb carried water to the conduit he erected on
Snow Hill). These two streets connect Holborn with GUILFORD
PLACE, .the central portion of GUILFORD STREET, which runs
from Gray’s Inn Road to Russell Square.

In. .GREAT ORMOND STREET, which extends westward from
Lamb’s Conduit Street, is—

The well-known Working Men’s College, founded in 1854 by F.
D. Maurice, Thomas Hughes, and others. Subscriptions are now
being raised to extend the college bmldmgs at the rear as 2 memorial |
of the late Tom Hughes, of Tom Browne's Schooldaysfame. Ruskin, ‘
Dante G. Rossetti, Lord Bowen, Sir John Gorst, Professor Sir
William Flower, Mr. C. A. Whitmore, M.P., and Mr. R. B. Haldane,
Q.C., M.P., have at different periods taught in its classrooms.

A little beyond is the Royal Children’s Hospital, occupying the
site of a mansion with a history. In the reigns of Queen Anne
and her successor, George I., it was the residence of the Court
physician, Dr. Mead ; and later on, the father of Lord Macaulay
lived in it,and worked with Wilberforce and others for the abolition
of slavery. Dr. Charles West originated the project of turning it
to its present use, in 1850 ; and since then, under the fostering
care of royalty, the Prince and Princess of Wales especially
interesting themselves in it, the hospital has grown to large
dimensions, and is doing a noble work. Adjoining it, is—

The Homoeopathic Hospital, opened by the Duchess of Teck in
1895. Its home is a handsome building, containing a hundred
beds, and providing accommodation for three hundred out-
patients.

In Guilford Place, looking down Lamb’s Conduit Street, is—

The Foundling Hospital.
[(Map II1. : I 13-14]

Cab Fares : From Victoria railway station—2/-.
. From Paddington, Broad Street, Cannon Street, . Fenchurch Street, Liverpool |
Street, London Bridge, Mansion House, or Waterloo stations—1/6.

From Euston, Charing Cross, Holborn Hill, King’s Cross, Ludgate Hill, or St.
Pancras stations —1/-.

Neaéest Railway stations: Euston, Gower Street, St. Pancras, and King's

_'This charity was_founded in 1739, for the cdumtxon and main- |
tenance of “exposed and deserted children.” Its funds were
._grea.tly aided by Hogarth (some of whose best pictures adorn the
. walls of its rooms) and Handel. The latter gave the organ in the
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chapel, and frequently performed upon it. After his - recitals,
collections were made for the hospital, and we are told that £1,000
was obtained by one of them. The chapel is nicely arranged, and
its altar-piece, by West, represents “ Christ blessing Little Children.”
Musical services take place..every Sunday at eleven and . three
o’clock, the collections after each ‘being  devoted to the.support of
the institution; and after the services visitors are permitted to
inspect the hospital. The buildings occupy a pleasant site between
MECKLENBURGH SQUARE and BRUNSWICK SQUARE, two of—

The Squares of London,

to which reference has been more than once made, and with the
general features of which we have now an opportunity of ‘'making
acquaintance, as we wend our way westward. QUEEN’S SQUARE,
one side of which Guilford Street skirts, contains the National
Hospital for the Paralysed and Epileptic. Queen Square' House,
formerly a college for Presbyterian ministers, is now used as the
Jews’ College.

RUSSELL SQUARE, in which Guilford Street terminates, one of
the oldest and best known of these open spaces, stands on a spot
which, in 1720, was called Southampton Fields (hence the present
name of Southampton Row, running from its south-east corner and.
communicating with Holborn). o

On the Guilford Street side of the square is the new Hotel
Russell, a colossal establishment, and one of the most ornate
buildings in London.

In Tavistock Place stands the Passmore Edwards’ Settlement,
erected at a cost of about £20,000, and opened in 1897. The build-
ing is of red brick with stone dressings, and has a distinctly novel
appearance. There is a large public hall to seat 450 persons,a
number of classrooms, refreshment rooms, and a gymnasium. In
addition to the University Extension Lectures, Sunday Popular
Concerts and Lectures are given.

WOBURN SQUARE, on the east side of which is a pretty build-
ing, Christ Church, communicates between the north-west corner
of Russell Square and GORDON SQUARE. In the latter—at its
south-west angle, is the chief sanctuary of the Catholic Apostolic
Church (sometimes known as ‘“Irvingites,” from one- of - the
carly and prominent ministers of the community; the Rev.
Edward Irving, the first lover of Jane Welsh Carlyle, and
afterwards a celebrated Londlon preacher. It is of cathedral-like
proportions, but, though what there is of it was built in 1850-4,
it is still unfinished—and appears likely to remain so. .

In Gordon Square stands Dr. Willlam's Library, containing a
large number of works, chiefly theological and historical, which

N
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may be borrowed freely by ticket-holders. Apply to Librarian
fqr particulars.

northern end of Gordon Square, is closely adjacent to the
south-western extremity of EUSTON SQUARE. In the latter, is the
London terminus of the London and North-Western Railway ; and
the square itself is bisected by the EusToN RoAD, wherein stand
the Midland and Great Northern termini.

From Woburn Square, or Gordon Square, it is but a step into
GOWER STREET, on the east side of which (at its northern end)
is the University College, with its Corinthian portico and hand-
some dome, and its numerous lecture rooms, museum, labora-
tories, and éadded in 1893) its electrical laboratory. Facing it, on
the west side of the street, is the University College Hospital, the
ailments of the patients attending which are attended to by
the medical professors of the college. The hospital is being
rebuilt, from designs by Mr."A. Walerhouse, R.A., in the form of
a diagonal cross. Sir ]. Blundell Maple, M.P., contributed

£100,000 towards the cost. The foundation stone was laid by the |

Prince of Wales on the 21st of June, 1898.

Russell Square communicates, in the centre of its south side, by
a wide but short street, known as BEDFORD PLACE, with BLoOMs-
BURY SQUARE. -In its garden is another of Westmacott's master-
pieces, a bronze Statue of Charles James Pox, crected in 1816.
The southern side of the square forms part of the line of street of
which Theobald’s Road is also a portion ; and here is the home
of the College of Preceptors. It is constructed of red brick, and the
carved stone panels over the ground and first-floor windows contain
medallion busts of Locke, Milton, Arnold, Pestalozzi, and Frabel.

In HART STREET, which runs from the square to New Oxford
Street, is 8t. George’s Church, a large edifice, designed by Hawks-
moor, and completed in 1731. It has a very fine portico, sup-
ported by ecight beautiful Corinthian columns; and a very
curious steeple, consisting of steps, guarded by lions and
unicorns, and surmounted by a statuc of George I. in a Roman
toga. This incongruity excited the ridicule of Horace Walpole
and others, and gave rise to the cpigram :—

“When Harry the Eighth left the Pope in the lurch,
He ruted over England, as head of the Church ;

But George's good subjects, the Bloomsbury people,
Instead of the church, made him head of the steeple.”

At the north-west corner of the square, is the local habitation of
the Pharmaceutical Society; and near by, facing GREAT RUSSELL
STREET, which runs from the square to Tottenham Court Road—

The British Museum.
[Map 1. : ¥ 13]

Cab_Fares: From Broad Street, Fenchurch Street, Liverpool Street, London
Bridge, Paddington, and Victoria railway stations—1/6.
From all others—1/-.
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Omnibuses run between all parts of the metropolis and the Oxford Street end of
Tottenham Court Road, close by.

Nearest Railway Stations: British Museum (Ceatral London), Euston, and
Gower Street.

The British Museum is one of the chief attractions of London,
»ut it is so vast that days are required to gain an idea of the
wonders it contains, and it would take a life-time to become
icquainted with them all.

‘The museum originated in 1753, with the purchase of the library and collection of
sir Hans Busk, the physician and antiquary of Chelsea. It was the result of a life-
ime of earnest research. On his death-bed, he directed that it should be offered to
the nation for £20,000 (about two-fifths of its actual cost) ; and Parliament accepted
the offer. Montague House, the residence of the Earl of Halifax, was purchased,
as a fitting place for the reception of the treasures which, added to by the Cottonian
and Harlelan and other coliections of ipts, were -opened to the public in
1759. Many libraries and collections of natural objects, coins, and antiquities,
were adde!—especia!l the magnificent library, formed by George III. and pre-
sented to the nation by George IV, and the renowned Elgin marbles—and the
museum rose to the rank of one of the most extensive and valuable in Europe. A
new building was imperatively re&uired, and the erection of it was entrusted to the
brothers Smirke, with the result that, between the years 1823 and 1852, Montague
House gradually disapp d and the t structure took its place The new
Reading Room was erected in 1857, and the White Wing, to the south-east of the
main building, was be in 1879 and has been erected chici-ﬂ;:‘yl by the bequest of
Mr. William ite. e edifice is quadrangular, of Ionic architecture, with resi-
dences for the superior officials on each side ; and it has a frontafe, standing back
from Great Russell Street, three hundred and seventy feet in length. The site
extends backwards to Montague Place, a continuation of the south side of Russell
Square, and it is bounded on the east by Montague Street—the names of both
reminiscences of the original edifice. Between the building and the street, are plots
of refreshing greens ; and the whole is enclosed by tall railings.

Al the galleries are open to the public on Mondays, Wednesdays, Fridays, and
Saturdays. On Tuesdays and Thursdays, the British and Medizval Anltiquilies,
the Etlmog;aﬁh{ departments, and the rooms in the White Wing are closed to all but
students, the public being admitted to the rest of the museum on those days. Itis
openn from ten o'clock until four, five, or six o'clock, according to the season ; until
eight o'clock from the 8th of May till the middle of Fuly, and thenceforward to the
end of August until seven o'clock.” The galleries are open on week-day evenings from
eight o’clock till ten, when they are lighted by electricity. On Christmas Day and
Good Friday the Museum is closed.

The Reading Room is only available to ticket-holders, but visitors may obtain
permission to go as far as the doorway and sce the room, on application to the
officials in the entrance-hall. 1t is open daily, except on the first four days of March
and September. Catalogues of the various depariments are on sale.

We enter the Museum by a flight of steps, beneath a massive Portioo, supported
by sixteen columns, forty-four feet high and five in diameter at the base. The
sculpture, by Westimacott, on the pedi t represents the progress of the human
race and the development of the Arts and Sciences.

The is of a highly ornamental character. It contains statues of Shake-
speare, by Roubiliac, presented by Garrick, and of the Hon. Anmne Damer, the
female sculptor, by Westmacott; a bust of the Duke of Mariborough, by Rysbrack
to the left of the principal staircase ; and small busts of Mr. Townley, the donor of
the fine collection of sculpture, by Nollekens, and of Sir §. Reynolds, by Bacon. Its
northern portion is utilised as a Lyocian Gallery, and contains a number of interest-
ing Archaic sculptures ; and from it admission is gained to—

The Reading , the centre of the museum, over the inner door of which is a
bust of Sir A. Panizzi, forms a perfect circle, and is the most superb room of its
kind in the world. It was designed by Sydney Smirke, from a plan suggested
by Sir Anthony Panizzi, at that time keeper of the department of printed books. It
isahundred and forty feet in diameter and a hundred and six feet high to the
«rown of the dome. Galleries run round the room, which is lined to the springing
of the dome with cases, containing dghtz th d books. A space in the centre is
reserved for the superintendent and other officials. The catalogue, consisting of

more than two thousand volumes, is ranged in two large circles around ; and the
desks for readers radiate from the centre towards the circumference of the room.
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UY‘wards of six hundred literary workers make use of it daily. The Reading Room
is lighted at dusk by electricity. Connected with it, but opening out of the King's
Lib .arealﬂ.h’lo-,forthe&:mpmual of the manuscripts forming so
valuable a feature of the contents of ; and the Newspaper Roem, in
which are deposited files of the London and a few of the leading provincial journals
for the last hundred years, some books of reference, &c.

It would be impossible, within the limits imposed on us, to describe at any
length the contents of this marvellous museum. We may briefly say that they are
arranged in de ents for—Antiquities, Ethnogphy, Printed Books, Maps,
Manuscripts, Prints, Drawings, Photographs, and ns and Medals. The depart-
ments of Zoology, Geology, Mineralogy, and Botany have been removed to the
Natural History Museum in South Kensington (see p. 124).

The door on the left of the Entrance-Hall leads to the Roman Gallery, the threc
Grwoo-Roman Saloons, &c. From the Roman Gallery, the Assyrian Transept (con-
taining slabs and figures discovered by Layard) leads to the Egyptian Galleries and

in which is an immense and most interesting collection of tian statues,
sarcophagi, and inscriptions, including the famous Rosetta stone, a slab of black
marble, with three inscrigtion.s, which gave the key to the decipherment of the
Egyptian hierogl!phs.‘ y their side are the Nimrod Gallery and other rooms, in
which are stored the deeply interesting collection of Assyrian relics, inscriptions
and brick-books, discovered by the late Mr. George Smith, and including the
primitive record of the Flood, in the cuniform character. Further to the west, the
Archaic and the Eph Rooms lead to the Elgin Room, the apartment in which
are arranged the Elgin marbles, fragments, casts, and restorations, chiefly from the
Parthenon at Athens, which were brought to this country by the Earl of Elgin, in
1841. They include specimens of sculpture which, through all their much-to-be-
lamented mutilation, evidence the highest form of ancient genius. The visitor
should particularly examine the statue of Theseus and that of I

Returning to the Vestibule, we enter a door, to the right, beneath the clock, and
gain the Gremville Library, which contains more than twenty thousand volumes,
the gift to the nation of the gentleman, whose name it bears and whose bust is to
be seen in the centre of the room. From it, we enter the Baloom, a part
of the museum which will amply repay a diligent search. Here we find the Great
Seals of England, autographs of kings and queens, warriors, statesmen, poets,
musicians, and authors, &c. Here, likewise, are rare examples of early printing
and splendid binding, the missals especially being gorgeoudy enriched. Particular
notice should be taken of Queen Elizabeth’s Book of Prayers in her own hard-
writing, remarkable for boldness and legibility. Next, walking thrm.;’h a doorway,
over which is an inscription, which records the fact that George IV. ted to
the nation the books collected by his father, we reach the Royal . The
volumes here are very valuable and, in many cases, exceedingly scarce. The stands
of prints in the centre of this corridor room were bequeathed by Mr. Felix Sladc.
At the end of this room a flight of stairs conducts us to—

The upper storey of the museum, which may also be reached by the Grand
Btai on the left side of the Vestibule, the walls of which are temporarily
utilised for the exhibition of the Indian sculptures. At its head, are the l&;nn.
the Bronge, and the Vase Rooms, six in all, occupying nearly the whole of the west
side of the building. There is, in the second room, a noble array of bronzes, that

cunningly-fused metallic combination, so peculiarly perfected by the ancients, being ‘

here represented in almost every conceivable form. The other rooms of this series
contain specimens of rare ancient pottery of all kinds, many of them being singu-
larly beautiful ; and to the south of the grand staircase, is a fine assortment of

Terra Cotta Antiquities. In a private room in this part of the museum, are the

y , Oameos, and other treasures of the like character. This part
of the exhibition is not o;ﬁen to the public, except by special a%plimﬂon, which is
obtained by ringing a bell. In it, we find the almost invaluable P Vase,
which was broken by a madman in 1845, but restored with marvellous ingenuity.
Here, likewise, we find a superb collection of gems and cameos. y
should we notice the magnificent head of Augustus and that of Messalina, Among
the coins shown in this room, may be instanced a silver picce of \Mithridates, Asia
Minor, for which the trustees of the museum gave £130.

The Prehistoric 8aloon is near the top of the grand staircase, and the roums
devoted to Medieval, Anglo-8Baxon, and Anglo-Roman Anhﬂm occupy the res!
of the south side of the main building. Then we reach_the Room, with the
exhibition of English Pottery, near it ; and enter the White Building, containing

* On onc side of the Egyptian Saloon, is the Refreshment Room.
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the Glass and Oeramio G.ll-l;nand that in which is exhlbnted the couection of
Prints apd - Dra Adjol latter, is the obtain ad-

mission to which, application musgtbemade to the prit hbm .
‘The east galleries contain the extenslve lluﬁm, and in the

north galleries are the Amerioan, eluyrhn,an the Egyptian Rooms.

At the west corner of MUSEUM STREET, which runs southward
from the entrance gates of the Museum to NEwW OXFORD STREET,
is Mudie’s famous Circulating Library; and almost immediately
opposite the end of Hart Street is the north-eastern extremity of
SHAFTESBURY AVENUE, already noticed. New Oxford Street was
constructed to straighten the line from High Holborn to Oxford
Street. At the point where High Holborn becomes New Oxford
Street, stands the new and handsome building of the Holborn
Public Library, opened in the spring of 1896. Nearly opposite it is
the British Museum Station of the Central London Raflway. New
Oxford Street terminates at the end of Tottenham Court Road,
whence another new artery, CHARING CROSS ROAD, runs south-
ward, through Soho and St. Giles’s to Charing Cross.

The unsightly block of buildings which formerly obstructed the
view and impeded the thoroughfare at the junction of TOTTENHAM
CouRrT Roap with Oxford Street was demolished in 1900.

Tottenham Court Road is a broad and busy thoroughfare,
opening up direct access with Camden Town, Hampstead Heath,
and other interesting portions of the northern suburbs. Towards
its northern extremity, near its junction with the EusToN RoAD,
is Whitefleld’s Tabernacle, standing on the site of the chapel erected
by the congregation of which that eminent evangelist was the
pastor. The new building was opened in November, 1899. The
burial-ground around it is used as a recreation ground, under the
title of Whitefield Gardens. It is of historic interest, no fewer than
thirty thousand persons having been buried there. Among them
were Whitefield’s wife, and Bacon, the celebrated sculptor.

In OXFORD STREET, along which our course next lies, is the Oxford
Music Hall, one of the most successful of its kind, occupying Nos.
14 and 16. The Pantheon, famous a hundred years ago and long
afterwards as a place of amusement, and better known nearer our
own time as a bazaar and frec picture-gallery, is now occupied
by Messrs. Gilbey, the well known wine merchants. Nearly
opposite is the Princess’s Theatre, opcned in 1840, and famous for
the nine years of Mr. Charles Kean’s management. The housc
has been reconstructed.

¢
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R. 7. Thomas,] [42, Cheapside, E.C.
THE CONSOLS OFFICE, BANK OF ENGLAND,

EXCURSION XIII.

THE BANK TO THE ¢“ELEPHANT AND
CASTLE.”

N\ UR Excursion to-day, though short, is an interesting one.
Assembling at the Bank, we walk past the Church of St.
Mary Woolnoth and along KiNG WILLIAM STREET to London
Bridge. About midway between the Bank and the bridge, we
reach the junction with it of CANNON STREET, lcading to St. Paul’s
Cathedral, GRACECHURCH STREET, communicating with Fenchurch
Street and with Cornhill, at its junction with Leadenhall Street
and Bishopsgate Strcet, and EASTCHEAP, now a wide and modern
thoroughfare, by which, in our next Excursion, we shall reach
the Tower. The spot where these three arteries add their contri-
butions to swell the traffic which ceaselessly runs over London
Bridge forms a wide and spacious “four-cross-road.” Here, once
stood the Boar's Head, Eastcheap, the scene of the roysterings of
Prince Henry and Falstaff, the site of which is now occupied by a
granite Statue of Willlam IV, by Nion, erected in 1845. Close
by it, is the Monument Station of the Underground Railway,
by which friends residing in any of the suburbs may join us
283
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for to-day’s excursion. ‘A few stages further east, we reach
ARTHUR STREET EAST, on our left hand. FisH STREET HILL
and PUDDING LANE run across Arthur Street, on their way from
Eastcheap to Lower Thames Street ; and in the centre of this
intersection rises one of London’s most famous and conspicuous
landmarks—

The Monument.
(Map1V.: L 17.]

Cab Fares : From Paddington station—2/6.
From Victoria station—2/-.
From Euston, King’s Cross, and St. Pancras stations—1/6.
From all other termini—1/-.

This prominent memorial was erected by Sir Christapher Wren
to mark the spot where the Great Fire of London broke out in
1666. It is a fluted Doric column of Portland stone, two hundred
and two feet high, the loftiest isolated pillar in the world. Inside
it is a spiral staircase, consisting of three hundred and forty-five
steps of black marble, and leading to the exterior gallery, pro-
tected by an iron cage, several suicides having been committed
from it. A gilt vase, forty-two feet high, and represented as con-
taining flames, surmounts the whole. The bas-relief on the pedi-
ment is by Cibber, and the dragons at the angles by Pierce. The
monument can be ascended on {ayment of threepence for each person.

At the foot of Fish Sireet Hill, in its day the main access to
old London Bridge, is 8t. Magnus Church, It faces Lower Thames
Street, and stands on the site of an old noteworthy edifice, destroyed
by the Great Fire. Wren built the present church, and gave ita
unique spire—one of his excellences, we all know, lay in the versa-
tility of his designs for spires. Miles Coverdale, the translator of
the Bible, and at one time Bishop of Exeter, was a rector of the
old church, a monument in the present one recording the fact.

At the north-west corner of London Bridge, the approach to
which is carried over THAMES STREET by an arch, in reality part
of the bridge, is Pishmongers’ Hall, a palatial edifice, bnilt in 1831,
at the same time as the bridge. It is the third hall that has
occupied the site, the first having fallen before the Great Fire.
On the staircase of the present hall, are a statue of St. Peter, and
one by Picrce, inscribed—

“ Brave Walworth, lml%xt. lord mayor, slew
Rebellious Tyler in his alarms ;
“The king therefore did give in lien
The dagger in the City arms,
Fourth year of Richard II., 1381.”
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But the last three lines contain a misstatement, for the dagger
appeared in the City arms long before the days of Walworth ; it
is, in fact, not a dagger at all, but a representation of the sword
of St. Paul, London’s patron saint. A number of royal portraits
and other paintings adorn the walls ; and in the edifice is pre-
served the flag presented to Admiral St. Vincent in 1797. The
drawing room is beautifully furnished, and the hall is a noble
chamber adorned with the shields of the past masters of the
company, &c. The court waiting room contains some very interest-
ing treasures, conspicuous amongst which is the pall, made pre-
vious to 1381, and used at Walworth’s funeral. In the room, too,
there are some good paintings of fish, by drnold von Hacken, 1767,
Scott's picture of old London Bridge, 1757, and many others. The
hall is quite a prominent feature of the approach to—

London Bridge.
[(Map IV.: L 16.)

The present structure, which superseded the old one in 1831,
was designed by $okn Rennie, and carried out by his sons. It
is of granite, a little over a thousand feet long, and consists of
five arches, the centre of a hundred and fifty-two feet span. The
roadway, fifty-four feet wide, is altogether inadequate for the
traffic, and various projects for widening it have been under
discussion from time to time. In all likelihood the work will
shortly be put in hand, at an estimated cost of £100,000. The
lamp-posts are formed of the bronze of cannon taken in the
Peninsular War. The bridge was opened by William IV. and
Queen Adelaide. Standing on it, a fine perspective of the shipping
in the Thames, with the wharves, Billingsgate, the Custom
House, the Tower, and the Tower Bridge, London’s latest pon-
toon, beyond, is obtained. The vast piles of warehouses on the
southern bank, at our left mark the scene of the terrible Tooley
Street fire of 1861, one of the most destructive known to London

since the Great Fire.

" The road to the left at the Surrey foot of the bridge is TooLEY
STREET, which we¢ may well associate with the “three tailors ”
who on a memorable occasion described themselves as “ We, the
people of England,” and on the southern side of which is the
approach to the cluster of Railway Stations already mentioned.
Tooley Street will conduct us to many of the poorer districts on
the southetn bank of the Thames, in one of which (Bermondsey)
is the Methodist Settlement, the workers in which are striving
to do for the destitute inhabitants of this part what the University
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Settlements in Bethnal Green and Whitechapel are undertaking.
At the south-western foot of the bridge, is—

St. Saviour’s Collegiate Church.
[Map IV. : M 16)

which has been recently restored, at a cost of over £40,000. It
is intended to create a diocese for the whole of London south of
the Thames, from Woolwich to Putney along the river, and in-
cluding Surrey, as far west as Kingston and as far south as Reigate.
St. Saviour’s will serve as the cathedral. The new diocese will
include a population of two millions. The cathedral was formally
re-opened by the then Prince of Wales on the 16th of February, 189,
the Archbishop of Canterbury and other prelates and digni-
taries taking part in the proceedings. St. Saviour’s is, next
to Westminster Abbey, the finest mediaval building in the
metropolis. The choir, transepts, and lady chapel are remains
of the priory church of St. Mary Overy. At a very remote
period, there was a religious house on this spot, dedicated to St.
Audrey, or Etheldreda, and afterwards a college of priests. Soon
after the Conquest, two Norman knights refounded it, as a home
for canons of the Augustine order ; and in the thirteenth century,
Giffard, bishop of Winchester, who had a palace near the spot,
built a large church, which was nearly destroyed by fire, and after-
wards rebuilt. There are peculiar literary associations connected
with the church, for in it were buried Gower, who has been styled
the “father of English poetry,” and who contributed largely to the
rebuilding of the church. He died in 1402, and there is a noble
monument {o his memory, restored by the late Duke of Sutherland,
the head of the Gower family and a presumable descendant of
the poet. Edmund Shakespeare (1607), brother to the great poet,
Massinger, and Fletcher, the dramatist, are also buried here ; and it
is an interesting memory connected with the church that, in 1424
James I. of Scotland married here the golden-haired beauty, Joan
Beaufort, niece of Cardinal Beaufort. John Harvard, founder of
the famous Harvard University in the States, was christened here.
After the Reformation, the inhabitants of Southwark purchased the
church from the king, and it was made parochial. In 1891-6, a new
nave, to “form with the choir and transepts one harmonious
whole,” was erccted under the care of Sir Arthur Blomfield. The
Lady Chapel (which had been used as a bakehouse), has also been
restored. The cathedral is famous for its memorial windows, such
as those to Massinger, Fletcher, Shakespeare, Chaucer, and other
literary celebrities. In 1898, the Duke of Connaught unveiled a
memorial window to the Prince Consort, The Chaucer window
was unveiled in 1900.
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Guy’'s Hospital was founded in 1721 by the miserly bookseller,
“Thomas Guy, who had realised a fortune by successful speculations,
not in every case of an immaculate character. His statue stands
in the courtyard. The hospital can accommodate about seven
hundred in-patients, and a large number of out-patients are relieved.

BoROUGH HIGH STREET—more briefly, the BorRouGH—extends
from the foot of London Bridge to the corner of the Dover Road.
In it, is the Talbot Inn (the Tabard, of Chaucer) ; and the Borough
Market is on the right-hand side, near St. Saviour’s Church. The
market occupies the site of the old palace of the Bishops of Win-
chester, erected in 1107, the cellars and portions of the original
building of which were brought to light during some extensions of
the market in 1895. SOUTHWARK STREET is a wide and handsome
thoroughfare, connecting Southwark with Blackfriars Bridge. The
district which it traverses, known as Bankside, was the site, in
Elizabeth’s days, of the Globe (famous for its connection with
Shakespeare) and other theatres. In SOUTHWARK BRIDGE RoaD,
which connects Southwark Street with Southwark Bridge, is the
8t. Saviour’s Free Library. It is constructed of white Suffolk bricks,
with freestone dressings. On the ground-floor there is a news-
room, sixty feet by twenty-five feet, and a lending-library with a
capacity for twenty-five thousand books. On the first-floor is a
magazine-room and a reference-library with shelves for fifteen
thousand books.

St. George’s Church, at the southern end of the Borough, is a large
building, occupying the site of an ancient church dedicated to St.
George of Cappadocia, pulled down in 1734. In this church, was
buried Bishop Bonner, the burner of heretics, who died in the then
adjoining Marshalsea, and Cocker, the arithmetician, from whom is
derived the phrase “according to Cocker.”

Beyond the Borough, the thoroughfarc is known as BLACKMAN
STREET and afterwards as the BOROUGH RoAD, wherein, besides
many other useful religious and educational edifices, is the Borough
Polytechnic Institute, opened by Lord Rosebery in the autumn of
1892. It occupies handsome premises, at one time the training
college of the British and Foreign Schools Society.

The Borough Road communicates with ST. GEORGE's CIRCUS.
Here is the 8chool for the Indigent Blind, in which afflicted boys
are taught a trade and in some cases music. The building is a
prominent one, with a lofty tower, lighted by Tudor windows, in
its centre. Facing the circus, also, is—

The South London Ophthalmic Hospital founded, in 1890, by the
then Prince of Wales. The hospital had existed for upwards of

thirty years prior to the erection of its present home, which presents
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many interesting features. It contains accommodation for forty
in-patients and for an out-patient service, equal to thirty thousand
new cases per annum. The asphalted roof has been utilised as
a promenade, and every possible comfort is provided.

A broad road, NEWINGTON CAUSEWAY, leads to the juriction of
several roads, at the famous “Elephant and Castle ” tavern, recently
rebuilt in very pretentious style. Theroadways have been set back
and the aspect of this well-known quarter so altered that it is
scarcely recognisable. Close at hand is the well-known—

Metropolitan Tabernacle, originally erected to accommodate the
immense congregation attracted by the preaching of the late Mr.
C. H. Spurgeon, and opened in 1861. A fire broke out about mid-
day on the 21st of April, 1898, and destroyed the whole of the
interior, only the bare walls and the portico being left standing.
Efforts were at once made to raise funds for the erection of a new
building. The present Tabernacle seats about a thousand less than
its predecessor. The re-opening took place on the 19th September,
190o. The total cost of rebuilding and refurnishing was £44,500,
towards which the insurance companies provided £22,000. At the
rear of the Tabernacle is a useful institution known as the Pastors’
College.*

In ST. GEORGE'S RoAD, not far from the spot, is Bethlehem
Hospital, which, in 1815, superseded the famous “Old Bedlam”
in Moorfields. A new wing was added in 1838, and about four
hundred patients are accommodated, the treatment being on the
most approved system. The main building, designed by Lewis,
has a fagade, about nine hundred feet in length, and the dome was
added by Mr. Sidney Smirke.

Nearly opposite Bethlehem Hospital is—

8t. George’s (Roman Catholic) Cathedral, from designs by Pugin.
Its style is Decorated, or Middle-Pointed Gothic, and the material
employed is yellow brick, with dressings of Caen stone. As yet
the tower is wanting. The cathedral is two hundred and thirty-
five feet long. In the chancel window, is some fine stained glass,
presented by the fifteenth Earl of Shrewsbury. The high altar,
reredos, pulpit, bishop’s throne, and font are very ornate. Outside
is the Petre Chantry; and adjoining are a convent, priests’ house,
and schools.

The Surrey Theatre is near the Obelisk ; and the Victoria Theatre
(now used for meetings and entertainments) is in the Waterloo

* A!emoddoflr.ﬂsjntm has taken the form of a hall at the Stockwell

mculp!::nl: Rt:: o::t tg t::et maxg benevole:& instlt;xtlo:n‘chwhlch owe their
0 ;in a terra statue, the surroundin, resen!

various phases of his activity and benevolence. ngn of w rep ¢ the
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Road. At the junction of the LAMBETH and KENNINGTON ROADS
not far from Bethlehem Hospital, is—

Christ Church, built by the congregation of the Surrey, or Row-
land Hill's, Chapel, in the Blackfriars Road,-who removed thither.
It has a tower and spire, two hundred ‘and twenty feet high,
is cruciform in shape, and its style is the First Pointed, freely
treated. The central portion forms an octagon fifty-five feet in
diameter and seventy high. There are a moulded roof with wooden
ribs and a groined ceiling. The choir, five feet above the level of
the floor, is reached by a flight of marble steps. One of the most
recent additions is a hand§ome baptistery for the immersion of
adults.

e msa— -
Symmons & Ca..] i (23, Bourerie St., E.C.
THE NEW PAVILION AT KENNINGTON OVAL.
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York & Son,) [}VTM"[ Hill.
‘ BEEFEATERS "’ AT THE TOWER.

EXCURSION X1V,

TO THE TOWER, THE TOWER BRIDGE,
THE DOCKS, &c.

EAVING the Bank again by KING WILLIAM STREET, we
walk as far as the Statue of Willlam IV., and then turn to
the left along EASTCHEAP, widened by the joint companies, when
the connecting link of the Inner Circle of the Metropolitan and
District Railways was constructed in 1884. We cross the foot of
GRACECHURCH STREET, the name of which is a reminiscence of the
herb or grass market, at one time held in the yard of St. Bene't's
Church (recently removed to the Mile End Road) ; it was, on that
account, known as the Grass Church; and the street in which it
stood was named after it. The title, Grace Church Street, was, as
years ran on, corrupted to Gracious Street, and then to Grace-
church Street. The Monument Station of the Inner Circle line is
at the foot of this street.
BoToLPH LANE and ST. MARY-AT-HILL are two of the short
streets connecting it with LOWER THAMES STREET. At the
201
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corner, formed by the juncture of the latter with St. Mary-at
Hill, is— - -

The Coal Exchange, built, in the Italian style, in 1849, from the
plans of Bunning; its tower is over a hundred feet high. Its
circular hall is decorated by representations of fossil ferns, palms,
&c., found in the coal measures ; its floor is so arranged as to
represent a mariner’s compass ; the sword in the City arms was
made of the wood of a mulberry-tree, said to have been planted
by Peter the Great ; and the remains of a Roman bath, discovered

) ——— ——
Symmons & Co..) (23, Bewverve St., E.C.

BILLINGSGATE.

when the foundations were dug, may be inspected on application
- to the attendants. |
~_On the opposite side of Lower Thames Street, the Custom !
House and Billingsgate Fish Market adjoin one another. ‘

The Custom House |

‘was opened in 1817, the previous building having been destroyed J

- by fire. The Thames front, four hundred and eighty-eight feet
long, was designed by Sir Robert Smirke ; and between the
building and the river is a broad esplanade. The Long Room,
wherein business is chiefly transacted. is a hundred and ninety
feet long and sixty-six wide.
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Billingsgate Fish Market marks the spot where fish have been
landed since the days of the Saxons. The first market was erected
in 1699 ; and the then existing structure was extended and-im-
proved in 1849. In 1852, Bunning built a new one ; and in 1877,
the present structure was completed. The building, Italian in
style, has on the river side an arcade of twelve bays. Adjoin-
ing it, are rooms in which fish dinners, including every kind in
season, may be had at low charges. Billingsgate language is a
choice variety of English, and includes many words not usually
found in dictionaries. . )

The Church of 8t. Dunstan-ih-the-East, in IDOL LANE, was re-
erected in 1810, on the site of a temple, built by Wren, in place
of one destroyed by the Great Fire. The latter had existed.
Stowe tells us, for five hundred years before his day. The spire
of the present church is supported on four arched ribs, springing
from the angles of the tower, in much the same manner as are
those of the Newcastle, Edinburgh, and Old Aberdeen cathedrals.

8t. Mary-at-Hill Church is in the street to which it gives its
name. It is famous for its midday lantern lectures and concerts.

In the Rectory, is the Church Army City Samaritan Office, Free Club,

and Labour Registry, where destitute but deserving clerks, ware-

housemen, and others receive a helping hand. From its west foot,
opposite the Coal Exchange, ARTHUR STREET runs to King William

Street. Botolph Lane contains the Church of St. George and 8t.

Botolph.

The name of the artery along which we are walking is in due
time changed from Eastcheap to GREAT TOWER STREET ; but its
character does not alter. Its only noteworthy building is the Church
of Allhallows, Barking, which received the last portion of its name
to distinguish it from the other Allhallows Churches in the City,
because it was built by the nuns of Barking Abbey. It is interest-
ing from the fact that Archbishop Laud and many other celebrities
beheaded on Tower Hill were buried there. Laud’'s body was
subsequently removed to St. John’s College, Oxford.

Two of the streets which run northward from Fenchurch
Street are of world-wide fame. In MINCING LANE, the centre
of the tea trade (the name whereof is traceable to the word
minchuns, the Saxon for “nuns,” and was bestowed on it as a
memorial of its connection with the nuns of St. Helen’s), are the
Commercial Rooms, wherein colonial and foreign produce of every
kind is sold by auction. Here, too, is the Clothworkers’ Hall, in
which, infer alia, is preserved the loving cup, presented to the
company by “Diary” Pepys, its master in 1677. MARK LANE
(from it, there is an entrance to the Commercial Rooms) is the
centre of the corn trade; the dealers in grain meet on market
days in the New and 0ld Corn Exchanges, which, on such occa-
sions, present a very animated appearance, though ordinarily
they are deserted and quiet enough.

Great Tower Street conducts us to—
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Tower Hill.
[Map IV. : L 17-18.]
Railway Station : Mark Lane (facing the Tower).
Cab Fares : From Paddington station—2/6.
From Euston and Victoria stations—z2/-.

From Charing Cross and Waterloo stations—1/6.
From all other railway stations—1/-.

Tower Hill is as historically interesting a spot as any in the City.
A garden, railed in and bright with foliage and flowers, occupies
the site on which the headsman’s block stood, more or less con-
tinually, for centuries ; and the neighbourhood itself is redolent of
historical reminiscences. The Tower Subway, the entrance to which
is not far from the railway station, is a narrow passage beneath the
bed of the Thames, reached by a staircase of ninety steps, and con-
necting the north and south sides of the river, but available only for
foot passengers. The iron tube forming the passage is not more
than seven feet in diameter. Toll, one halfpenny each passenger

The Tower of London
is the most famous fortress in the country. It occupies an irregular

pentagon-shaped area of about twelve acres on the bank of the
Thames.

ADMISSION.—The Tower is open free on Mondays and Saturdays,
from ten to six o’clock. On other days it is closed at four ; and sixpence
is charged for admission to the White Tower, with a second sixpence
to the regalia.

By whom it was built and when, we are but im]la‘erfectly informed. Old tradition
speaks of Julius Caesar as having first erected the Tower of London, and from many
ascertained circumstances, to say nothing of probabilities, we may assume that the
Romans, always quick to strengthen their out':iring defences, had an important
fortress here. It is, however, more than doubtful whether the great central square
keep, the White Tower (from which the fortress takes its name), was built before the
days of William I., by whom this fine ple of old y was projected, Gun-
dulph, bishop of Rochester, being the architect employed by the Norman conqueror,
Gundulph, no doubt, had to deal with an old Roman castle which had gone to
comparative decay, the foundation being of that wonderfully solid character of
which we always find evidence in Roman work. That he built upon these founda-
tions seems bc¥ond question, for deep-lying walls of great breadth and strength,
their tenacity of cement being something marvellous, have at various times been
discovered in the immediate vicinity of the White Tower. Perhaps, the best col-
lateral evidence that he was the architect of the White Tower, is this—that here we
have the same characteristics as in the keep of Rochester Castle, built by him.

For a period of five hundred years, the Tower of London was, from time to time,
the occasional residence of our kings and queens, and chief palace of the sovereign.
For these purposes, it was not used until the reign of Stephen, who came here at a
dangerous crisis of his affairs, in order to have the advantaﬁeof its strength as a
fortress. King John frequently resided here ; as also.his son, Henry IIIL., who smt
many of his youthful days of kingship in the tower. Edward I. made it his abode
upon various occasions ; but his son, Edward I1., only came here when flying from

revolted barons. Edward III., in his minority, was kept here by his mother,
in comparative ignorance of public matters; but quickly enough after the young
king became aware of his real power and responsibilities did he shake off the yoke
of that parent who had, with Mortimer, her favourite, compassed the death of his
father. chard 1I. proceeded to his coronation from the Tower ; and it was in it
that he ended his sovereignty, giving up his crown to his cousin Henry, who also
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went from the Tower to be crowned at Westminster. Henry VI. spent many years
of his unhappy life in this royal fortress, more often as a prisoner than as a king.
Here he was murdered, the Duke of Gloucester, afterwards Richard III., being
the immediate author, or at least the contriver, of the deed. Edward IV, who
succeeded H , made the fortress his chief residence, keeping up magnificent
court ceremonials in the great upper room of the White Tower. And now it is
that we arrive at probablédthe most touching of all the Tower memories—the
murder of the infant king Edward and his younger brother, Richard Duke of York,
by means of which crime their uncle Richard ascended the throne. Their bones
were discovered in 1674, and, by order of Charles II., were interred, as became the
dignity of the murdered chﬂ:K-en, in Henry VII’s Chapel, Westminster Abbey.
The ;Fot where they were found is marked by the trunk of an old mulberry-tree,
stan nq_ against a wall, which is continued, by a from the chapel of the
White Tower. Henry VII. received his 3;;: , Elizabeth, at the Tower, and here
she died. Henry VIII. made little use of building as a royal residence ; but his
son, the youthful Edward VI, often lived here during his brief term of sovereignty.
Mary heid a grand court here before her coronation ; her sister, Elizabeth, who had
been imprisoned in it, naturally had little relish for it as a residence. James 1. came
to the fortress to be crowned ; but it was gradually abandoned as a p: and, with
the exception of a grand Progress by water thither, when Charles II., after holding
a chapter of the Order of the Bath, went to his coronation, the Tower is no longer
to be spoken of as a special home of royalty. The 22nd of April, 1661, the day on
which Charles was crowned, was the lasty jon of court cer ial in its history.

Entrance is obtained by the Lion Gate, the name wh fisa ini of the
royal menagerie, removed in 1834. Here parties are made up, and are conducted
over the ce by Beef-eaters (or more roﬂperly, the Bufetiers), whose hand
dress has not been changed since the institution of the corps by Henry VIIL.

We first dpass under two Gothic gateways, known as the Middle and Byward

'owers, and over the moat, now planted as a garden but still capable of being
filled with water. We are now in what is called the Quter Bail, the wall of the
Inner Bail fronting us. In the south-west corner, is to be observed the Bell Tower
on the right, in the ramparts, 8t. Thomas's Tower, with Traitor's Gate, restored in
1866, leads to the river. Traitor's Gate was the celebrated gloomg water pamge
by which State prisoners were conveyed to their apartments. pposite is the
Bloody Tower, so named in remembrance of the murder. of the infant princes by
order of their uncle Gloucester. We next enter the Inner Bail. In the left corner
of the square, is the Bell Tower, now the Governor'shouse. Here is the Council
Chamber, where Guy Fawkes was put to the torture in the presence of King James
and his lords. Before his day, Sueen Elizabeth, when Princess, was here confined
for some time. This part is not o the public.

Proceeding to the right, we now approach the most ancient part of the fortress,
the massive Tower, or Keep, which stands isolated, a grand speci of
castellated architecture. It was refaced by Sir Christopher Wren, who modernised
the windows, but to all intents and purposes it is the identical structure erected by
Gundulph. Descending a winding stair at the corner, we arrive at the Chapel of 8t.
John, one of the most beautiful and best preserved specimens of the Early Norman
style in En%land. The effect of the massive arches bearing up a second tier is singu-
larly fine. It was at the foot of the winding stair leading to this chapel that the
bones of the unhapfzv “infant princes ” were found in the seventeenth century. The
banqueting hall and the council chamber adjoining the chapel are now filled with
rifles, beautifully kept and arranged. To the west of the White Tower a Guard Room
has recently been erected, in a style quite out of keeping with the historic buildings
around it. This incongruous structure has excited much unfavourable comment
but the War Office is sublimely indifferent to public criticism.

The Horse Armoury, which is entered from the south side of the White Tower, is
a fine and cxceedln%ly interesting collection of mail defence, illustrating various
epochs of English history. The Fallcry containing it was built in 1826. It is a
hundred and fifty feet long and thirty-three wide. ere are twenty-two mounted
figures, ranging, as to their respective eras, from the latter part of the thirteenth
to the latter part of the seventeenth century. On the walls of the gallery, in direct
connection with the special ages of the armour, are the names of our English
sovereigns from Henry II. to James II. To the antiquarian, the compartment
adjoining this is more than ordinarily attractive, b it tains some broken
mail and rude weapons, found on the field after the Battle of Hastings. We
next, by a short stairway, enter an ante-chamber, where is stored a fine collection
of eastern arms, and then reach— -

's , filled, for the most part, with arms and armour of
her time, but recalling other interesting recollections. Here we can enter the cell
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f Sir Walter Raleigh, who, having been condemned to death on a frivolous charge,
ras kept a prisoner, the always hanging over him. He was eventuall
:leasca to head an expedition to America; but it was unsuccessful, and James
rdered Raleigh's execution on the old judgment which had slept for fourteen years.
he visitor should not forget to notice some rude inscriﬁtions carved by other
risoners, who had tenanted the cell in the days of Queen Mary. In Queen Eliza-
eth’s Armoury, we shall likewise find specimens of the instruments used to
xtract evidence from prisoners by torture. Here, also, is the axe by which the
.arl of Essex was beheaded, and the block on which Lord Lovat—one of the
cottish nobles who rose in favour of the Pretender—was executed.

Leaving the White Tower, we now go westward and at the extreme verge of the
nner Bail arrive at the Beauchamp Tower. It was restored in 1853, and is in reality,
hough not one of the chief show-places of the Tower of London, one of the most
1teresting of its memorials.. Here Henry VIIL.'s second queen, Anne Boleyn, was
onfined, when arrested on that charge which soon ended in her death on the

e e e e
F. Frith & Co., Ltd.,} [Resgate.
THE WHITE TOWER.

caffold on Tower Green. Here also Lady Jane Grey was imprisoned by Mary. The
salls of the Beauchamp Tower are covered with the names of those who at various
-mes were incarcerated here. The stones on which are the inscriptions were taken
ut during the process of restoration, and were then very cleverly, after careful
1anipulation. let into the new ones.

In the Bloody Tower, at the entrance of the Inner Bail, are kept the Crown
ewels. They are enclosed in an iron cage, windowed by broad panes of thick
lass. through which the treasures within can be freely observed. Here is Sf.
‘dward’'s Crown, used at the coronation of all our Sovereigns since the time of
harles II,, for whom it was made. We next notice Queen Victoria’s Crown. It is
very elegant cap of velvet, richly adorned with diamonds and other precious
‘-ones—among them, a ruby, said to have belonged to the Black Prince, and a very
1agnificent sapphire. Near it, is the Royal Sceptre, a gold rod and cross, enriched
t the pommel with precious stones. There is a fine diamond in the centre of the
‘oss. Among the other emblems of sovereignty, are, specially, the Sceptre with the
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Dove, a very beautiful detall of royal ; the Orb, held in the left hand of the
sovereign at his or her coronation ; the of Mercy and of Fustice ; the Coro-
nation Bracelets ; the Royal Spurs, used in the order of coronation, whether the in-
coming sovereign be king or queen; threedgolden measure, called the Ampulla,
sha; like an eagle, for holding the sacred oil, used in anointing the monarch ;
the famous diamond, known as the Kok-i-noor, or “ mountain of light,” and so forth.
The estimated money value.of the contents of the iron e is about three
millions of money, but the associations of the various jewels e them still more

recious.

P On the north of the White Tower, the modern Wellington Barracks are erected
on the site of the Grand Storehouse, destroyed by fire on October 30, 1841 ; their
first stone was laid by the Iron Duke in 1845.

To the north of Wellington Barracks, lies the Bowyer Tower, where the
f: Duke of Cl , 80 says tradition, was drowned in a butt of Malmsey.
Skirting the west end of the barracks, we now approach the Ohurch of Bt. Peter ad

the church of the Tower liberty. It has been much altered from its
original design, but is very interesting on t of the iations ted
with its interior. Anne Boleyn lies here ; so also do Katherine Howard, Lady Jane
, and her husband, Lord Guildford Dudley, and many others.
e circuit—outside the wall—of the Tower of London is nearly two-thirds of
a mile. The Gardens arc open fo the public, for whose convenience seats are
provided.

On the northern side of Tower Hill, near POSTERN Row, is
Trinity House, erected by Wyatt in 1793, an unpretending edifice.
ornamented with the arms of the Trinity Corporation, medallions
of George III. and Queen Charlotte, &. The duties of the cor-
poration, in reference to the protection of navigation, the superin-
tendence of buoys and lighthouses, and the supervision of pilots,
are well known. The edifice contains many pictures, busts of
celebrated persons, and a museum of naval relics and other
curiosities. ) '

The Royal Mint, where the gold and silver money current in
this country is coined, adjoins Trinity House. The present building
was erected in 1811 from designs by Fohnson and Sir R. Smirke.
The machinery employed in the work of coinage is of a very
interesting character. Application for admission should be addressed
“to the Deputy Master, with number of the party and their names and

addresses, and the day on which it is wished to make the visit.

The Tower Bridge,

connecting the opposite banks of the Thames below the Tower, is
approached by a wide street along the eastern wall of that fortress.
The foundation stone of the bridge was laid by the then Prince of
Wales, as the representative of Queen Victoria, in June, 1886 ; and
it was formally opened on June 30, 1894. Its cost and that of
the approaches was £1,184,000, the whole of which sum was pro-
vided out of the (London) Bridge House Estate. The new bridge is
of unusual construction, in order to avoid interference with shipping.
Two huge towers, two hundred feet apart, rise to a height of a
hundred and fifty feet above high water mark, from the opposite
sides of the Thames. Their foundations are laid deep down in the
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two hundred and forty-
six feet high. They each
communicate with the
shore by what has been
described as “a small
suspension bridge,
twenty-seven feet above
high water mark.”
These towers are con-
nected by two bridges.
The main one, on the
same level as the two
suspending bridges
communicating  with
the shore, consists of
two ‘“bascules” (to
adopt the technical term
invented for it), worked
by hydraulic power;
and over it both vehicles
and foot passengers
travel. It is, in plain
English, two leaves,
which are raised, some-
what after the fashion
of an old-world draw-
bridge, when the cen-
tral waterway is open.
Where the leaves differ
from a drawbridge is
that they do not termin-
ate at the base of the
towers in a hinge, but
are continued beyond
for forty-six feet, in a
mass of iron which acts
as a counterbalance to
their weight. The upper
bridge, built on the
cantilever principle and
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bed of the river; they are faced with Portland stone and granite ;
and they terminate in ornamental pinnacles, the points of which are

(Notting Hill,

York & Son,)

THE TOWER BRIDGE.

half as high as the Dome of St. Paul’s, is a covered way for the
use of foot-passengers when the bascules are opened to permit
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ships to pass. It is gained by huge passenger lifts (large enough
to carry twenty or thirty persons at a time), and by spiral stair-
cases, lighted by stained-glass windows. Lifts and staircases alike
communicate with a chamber in which the streams of passengers
meet and pass on over the spans to the other side.

The street, known as the MINORIES, runs northward, along the
line of the old city wall, from Tower Hill to Aldgate. Its most in-
teresting feature is Holy Trinity Church, all thatremains of a Minority
nunnery (hence, the name of the street), built in 1293 by Queen
Blanche, widow of Henry le Gros, king of Navarre, who after-
wards married Edmund, Earl of Lancaster. At the Dissolution
the abbey was given by Henry VIII. to the Bishop of Bath and
Wells (Dr. John Clerk). It was he who took to the Pope of Rome
a copy of King Henry’s book against Luther, which led to that
sovereign’s receiving the title of “ Defender of the Faith,” still used
by our monarchs, though with a different meaning. Isaac Newton,
when Master of the Mint, attended Divine worship in this church.
1t contains some good monuments—one of the Elizabethan era
and others adorned with Jacobean carving ; and in it is preserved,
in a glass case, the head of the Duke of Suffolk, beheaded on
Tower Hill in 1450. The church is now used as a mission-room
in connection with St. Botolph, Aldgate, the two parishes having
been amalgamated.

The Docks

do not arrest attention in the vast metropolis as they would
elsewhere, but they are rivalled in extent and importance only by
those of Liverpool. The miles of quays, the colossal warehouses,
the vast basins filled with noble vessels, must, to use a common
phrase, “be seen to be appreciated.” At the present time a Royal
Commission is inquiring into the affairs of the Port of London
generally, it being held in many quarters that the administration is
by no means abreast of the times, and that the greater facilities
afforded by rival ports are diverting shipping from the London
docks.

Facing Tower Hill, as we turn southwards to inspect the To“er
Bridge, are the gates of 8t. Katharine’s Docks [Map IV.: L 18],
planned by Telford. They occupy the site of and took their name
from St. Katharine’s Hospital (sec p. 140), removed to Regent's Park
when they were constructed ; and they occupy an area of twenty-
three acres. These docks, the most westerly of those on the banks
of the Thames, were commenced in 1825 and opened three years
later. They cost two million pounds. They are surrounded by
unusually high walls, and their water area is eleven acres. This
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consists of a six-sided basin, entered direct from the river by lock-
gates ; from it, two channels lead to the eastern and western docks
The quays are nearly a mile long ; and the five-storeyed ware-
houses are so constructed that goods can be landed or vessels
loaded with exceptional celerity.

‘Walking along EAST SMITHFIELD, the shops whereof seem largely
to belong to dealers in second-hand articles connecting with the sea-
faring profession, and crossing NIGHTINGALE LANE, we enter—

The London Docks [Map IV.: L 18-19]. They were designed.by
Fohn Rennie, the architect of London and Waterloo Bridges ; and
they cover an area of ninety acres. These docks consist of three
portions, Western, Eastern, and Shadwell New Basins ; they are all
three connected by a channel, which, at the eastern end, is known
as the Shadwell Basin, and opens into the Thames by means of
large lock-gates. The Shadwell New Basin has, in addition, a
channel of its own, a little to the north of the main one; and the
West Basin, the largest of them, possesses two independent outlets
—the one through the Hermitage Basin, whence sail many of the
larger coasting steamers, which connect London with the other
ports in the kingdom, the other by the Wapping Basin, a complete
little dock in itself. This series of docks covers a hundred and
twenty acres, about a third whereof are under water. The basins
are surrounded by quays and immense warehouses ; their floor area
is ‘4,847,000 feet, and when all allowances have been made for
gangways and walking space, they can store a hundred and seventy

thousand tons of merchandise of almost every conceivable descrip-
tion. The tobacco warehouse alone occupies seventy-five acres, and
the wine vaults are quite as large. In one of the latter, is a vat,
containing more than twenty-three thousand gallons ; and here it is
that the casks are kept, for which “tasting orders” are granted by
their owners. The public are at liberty to walk about the open part
of the docks; but in order to inspect the warehouses, &c., an order
must be obtained from the secretary, at the London Dock House, Bank
Buildings.

The greater portion of the London Docks is situated in Wapping,
the nautical district in the East End of London, which derived its
name from the word, wapp, Anglo-Saxon for “ a ship’s rope,” and
which is connected with the other side of the water by Brunel's
famous Thames Tunnel —in its time, one of the things all our
“country cousins ” visited. Now it is used daily by the thousands
of passengers travelling by the East London Railway, whose lines
run through it.

Leaving the London Docks, we have a walk of three or four
miles before us, in order to reach the West and East India Docks,



302 GUIDE TO LONDON.

whither we are next bound. To “save our legs,” therefore, we
betake ourselves to the Shadwell Station of the Blackwall Rail-
way; and utilise the services of the “iron steed.” We ride
past the Stepney and Limchouse stations (our train stops at both),
between which we see, on the right (south) side of the line,
the Basin of the Regemt’s Canal It is the end of the won-
derful series of canals which traverse the Midlands and unite
the Thames and the Mersey, and which played so prominent a
part in the carriage of merchandise prior to the era of railways. |
They are still an important factor in the commerce of the country.
Alighting at the West India Docks Station, we are close to the
entrance to— |

The West India Docks and the Millwall Docks [Map VIII.: L-M-N |
22-23]. These occupy the whole of the Isle of Dogs, the name
of which has no reference to “man’s faithful friend,” but is said
to be a colruption of “docks.” How that can be, seeing the
island was so called long before the docks were “born or thought
about,” is more than we can say. The first stone of the West India
Docks, which cover nearly three hundred acres, was laid in 1800
by Pitt ; the Millwall Docks are a hundred acres in extent. The |
West India Docks, the inner gate of which is surmounted by
an immense model of a three-masted vessel, of the pattern in
vogue before steam was discovered, cover nearly three hundred
acres. Its three large basins—the Import, Export, and the South
Docks—extending across the island, and with three channels and
smaller docks—the Poplar Dock and the West and South West
Basins — connect the Limehouse and Blackwall reaches of the
Thames. The Millwall Docks, a hundred acres in extent and a
little to the south of the others, have their mouth at Millwall, an
important district on the eastern side of the island, and consist
of an Outer and an Inner Dock, the two covering two sides of a
quadrangle.

The Bast India Docks [Map VIII. : L 23, 24] covering thirty-two
acres, the Victoria Docks [Map VIII.: L-M 25-26-27] and the
Albert Dock (the last two nearly three miles long, lighted by
electricity, and fitted with every modern invention) are to the
east of the Isle of Dogs. The former, which are served by the
terminus of the Blackwall Railway, are on the western bank of
Bow Creek, and occupy the peninsula formed by the Thames and
the lower portion of the river Lea. They consist of two, the
Export and the Import Docks, the former having an area of nineteen
and the latter one of ten acres, and their basin, through which the
vessels frequenting them pass on their way to and from the river,
is three acres in extent,
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And here we may notice, though we shall not visit them
to-day, that the Tilbury Docks, twenty miles or so further down
the river, opened in the early part of 1886, cover an area of
something like three square miles and were completed in less
than four years. There is a tidal basin of nineteen acres, with
its quays, sheds, passenger and goods offices, and custom house ;
a dock, eighty feet wide by seven hundred long ; four large dry
docks ; a main dock, eighteen hundred feet long and six hundred
wide, with three branch docks, each sixteen hundred feet in
length, one three hundred feet and the other two two hundred
and fifty wide ; besides every imaginable mechanical contrivance
for the loading and unloading of vessels, and the transmission of
passengers and goods to London. It is scarcely necessary to say
that these docks are reached by railway, the Great Eastern and
the London, Tilbury, and Southend lines, having stations adjoining
them and their rails running over all the quays.

Poplar,
the district to the north of the West India Docks, is chiefly inhabited
by those “that go down to the sea in ships—that do business in the
mighty waters ;” and in this district are many institutions for their
benefit. One of the most recent of these is the Institute for Sea-
men, which provides Jack with refreshment, recreation, and classes
in various subjects, when ashore. It belongs to the Missions to
Seamen, and is situated in EAST INDIA Docks Roap. It was
opened by the King and Queen, then Prince and Princess of Wales,
in June, 1894; and on the same day they inaugurated ‘a new
wing of the Poplar Hospital for Accidents, standing in the same
thoroughfare.
Blackwall, the district lying on the north-western side of the Isle
of Dogs, is noteworthy as the site of—

The Blackwall Tunnel,

which deserves to rank with the Tower Bridge as one of the most
remarkable engineering feats of the cemtury. It is the largest
sub-aqueous tunnel in the world, and took upwards of five years to
construct. The work was commenced on the 1st March, 1892, and
the tunnel was declared “open to the public for ever ” by the then
Prince of Wales, in the name of Queen Victoria, on the 22nd May,
1897. Two artistic bronze panels have been placed in the tunnel to
commemorate the opening ceremony. The tunnel is six miles
from London Bridge, three from Woolwich and one and a half
from Greenwich. Previously, the only means of communication
east of the Tower Bridge between the north and south sides of the
Thames was by means of the Woolwich Ferry. Apart from the
immense value of the tunnel from a business point of view, it
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affords the tceming population of the East End easy access to-Green-
wich Park, Blackheath, and other open spaces south of the river.

The tunnel is twenty-seven feet in external, and twenty-three
feet in internal diameter, and the roadway is sufficiently wide for
two vehicles to pass. The footpaths on each side are three feet
wide in the tunnel, and five feet three inches in the open approaches.
The tunnel is six thousand two hundred feet in length, but only
about one-fifth (one thousand two hundred and twenty feet) is actually
under the bed of the river. The electric light is used throughout,
and the tunnel is lined with white glazed tiles. Ventilation is
afforded by means of four shafts, and with such success that there
is less closeness in the atmosphere than is frequently experienced
in the subway of an ordinary railway station. At the commence-
ment of the slopés to the tunnel on both sides stand handsome
entrance arches, with residences above for some of the chief
officials. In addition to serving an ornamental purpose, the
entrance arches provide a gauge by which to measure the height
of loads entering the tunnel, before they descend the slopes. The
total cost, including the property which had to be purchased for
the approaches, was one million four hundred thousand pounds.
The work was planned and carried out under the direction of Sir
Alexander R. Binnie, the chief engineer of the London County
Council, the contractors being Messrs. S. Pearson and Son.

Another tunnel, of similar type, but for foot passengers only, is
about to be constructed by the London County Council lower
down the river to connect Greenwich and the Isle of Dogs. It
is also proposed to construct a tunnel to connect Shadwell with
Rotherhithe, at a cost of over two million pounds. This will be
even larger than the Blackwdll Tunnel.

A terrible accident, by which thirty-four people lost their lives,
occurred on the 21st June, 1898, at the Thames Bank Works, Black-
wall, at thé launching of H.M.S. Albion.

A ride through the tunnel would conduct us to Greenwich and
Deptford—which places we shall notice in a future excursion.
To-day, we will content ourselves with visiting the Burrey and
the Commercial Docks [Map VII.: M-N 20-21], and so completing
our necessarily brief description of the docks of London. These
two systems occupy the northern portion of the peninsula, bounded
by the Pool, on the west, and the Limehouse Reach, on the east,
the area over which they are spread being terminated by the
Deptford Lower Road, on the south. Their entrance is opposite
the Thames Tunnel Pier ; and together they measure between three
and four hundred acres.



ENTRANCE TO THE WEST INDIA DOCKS.
(See p. 302.)

EXCURSION XV.
THE BANK TO WHITECHAPEL, &c.

TARTING once more from the Bank, but this time in an east-

ward direction, our course lies along CORNHILL, the busy street

on the south side of the Exchange, in which, besides attractive shop
windows, two churches, both on its south side, claim our attention.

8t. Michael’s Church [Map IV.: L 16] occupies a site whereon a
church hasstood from time immemorial. A record of-its being given
to the Abbey of Evesham, in 1055, is extant ; and even at that far-
distant period it was not spoken of as a new edifice. The then exist-
ing structure was one of the victims of the Great Fire. It was
rebuilt by Wren ; and its chief features are a noble Gothic tower, a
hundred and thirty feet high, a carved portal (modern), and a grand
altar-piece of marble and granite. The wood carvings on the pulpit
and seats are admirable specimens of Grinling Gibbons’ skill. Com-
plete restoration, under the superintendence of Sir Gilbert Scott,
was effected a few years since. Church open from ten till four.

8t. Peter’s Church, a little further east, was also rebuilt by Wren.
It stands on the site of one founded, it is believed, in the second
century.

Cornhill, important though it be, is but a short street, for, after
we cross the junction of Bishopsgate and Gracechurch Streets, a
few doors east of St. Peter’s Church, we find that the thorough--

21 8056
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fare has changed its name to LEADENHALL STREET. It shares
that title with—

Leadenhall Market.
[Map1V.: L 17.]
Here we can purchase meat, poultry, vegetables, and live stock.
Among the latter, are rabbits, fowls, dogs, goats, and vigorous cats
—greatly in request for long voyages in rat-haunted ships and for
warehouses, where “rats and mice and such small deer ”” abound.
Rather singularly, under the circumstances, the ground on which
the market stands was presented to the City by Dick Whittington.

St. Andrew Undershaft

on the other side of the way, derived its name, Stow tells us, from
a long shaft, or Maypole, higher than the church steeple, which
used, early in the morning of May Day, the great spring festival of
“ merrie England,” to be set up, opposite its south door, and hung
with flowers. This setting up of the Maypole was ultimately con-
demned, as a superstitious custom. The inoffensive shaft was
declared an idol ; and it was therefore “raised from the hooks,
whereon it had .rested for two-and-thirty years, sawn in pieces,”
and burnt. The church, rebuilt in 1520-32, presents to the street
a tower of peculiar appearance ; and it is notable for its stained
glass, one of its windows containing full-length portraits of Edward
VI, Elizabeth, James I., Charles I., and Charles II. The most
remarkable among its many brass tablets and monuments is that to
Stow. It is chiefly of veined English alabaster, with a frieze of
black and plinth of white marble. The chronicler is represented
as sitting at his writing-table, with a real pen in his hand, which,
Brewer tells us, “has been stolen over and over again, under the
impression that it was the identical pen with which he wrote his
chronicles.” He was buried in the church, but his body was
removed in 1832. The rectory of the parish is utilised to provide
an income for the Bishop of Bedford (the suffragan for . East
London). The church is open daily from twelve till two. -

St. Katherine Cree, or Christ, Church, a few yards further east,
was built at the time when the Gothic and the revived Classic
.or Renaissance architecture were coniending for the supremacy.
Its tower (which contains a ring of six bells) is Gothic and remains
from a nolder edifice ; the rest of the church was rebuilt by Inigo
_Jones in the Ialian style in 1631. The “lion sermon” (to com-
memorate the escape of Lord Mayor Gayer, femp., Charles 1., from
a lion, while he was travelling in Africa), and a “flower sermon,”
.the idea of which has of late been adopted far and wide, are annually
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preached in this church. It possesses one of the finest organs in
the City ; the instrument was built by Father Smith.

Leadenhall Street unites with Aldgate at the spot where once
stood one of the city gates, and near the site of one of the old
land-marks of the city, Aldgate Pump (now no more).. Beyond it,
is one of the “without” wards of the city—Portsoken, or “the field

beyona the gates.” ALDGATE HIGH STREET is a continuation of our’

walk ; and near its west end, we see HOUNDSDITCH, communicating
with Bishopsgate Street. At the eastern corner of its junction with
Aldgate High Street is 8t. Botolph’s Church [Map IV.: K 17],
usually known as St. Botolph, Aldgate, to distinguish it from two
other churches in the City, dedicated to the same saint. Its tower
and peculiar-shaped spire, together with the open churchyard and
the iron palisading by which it is surrounded, render it conspicuous.
It is a large building, the centre of much active Church-life. St.
Botolph’s and St. Katherine Cree’s Churches formerly belonged to
the Abbey of Holy Trinity. Now, the latter parish is moorporated
with that of St. Botolph (see p. 300).

Houndsditch reaches Bishopsgate opposite St. Botolph With-
out, so that, very singularly, it begins and ends at a church of
St. Botolph. Near its Bishopsgate terminus, is ST. MARY AXE,
which received its name from the Church of St. Mary-at-the-
Axe, which formerly stood there ; it connects Houndsditch with
Leadenhall Street. This short street was in the olden times so
much frequented by Jewish dealers in cast-off wearing apparel
as to suggest the couplet :—

“Jews from St. Mary Axe, for jobs so wary,
'hat for old clothes they’d even axe St, Mary »?

And this reminds us of another famous mart for the disposal
of second-hand garments, PETTICOAT LANE, .now- known: as
MIDDLESEX STREET, but popularly as “the Lane,” which runs
almost parallel to Houndsdltch but a hundred’ yards further
eastward, and which, with many of the streets' hereabouts, con-
--tains a densely-packed colony -of -Hebrews. This is, in fact the
- Jewish quarter ” of the great metropolis. -
Hereabouts, as one might expect, are sume nmportant syna-
gues. The Great Synagogue, in St. James's Place, DUKE
%TREBT (which runs northwards from Aldgate, a few yards west
of Houndsditch, as JEWRY STREET does southward), is the
Hebrew cathedral of London. The post of senior warden has

been occupied by the Rothschild family for three generations, -

and the founder of that family was buried here. The site of the
synagogue has been occupied by a Jewish place of worship ever
since the re-admission of the Hebrews to England in the middle
of the seventeenth century. A synagogue was erected here in
1722 by Moses Hart ; and in 1789, Mrs. Judith Levy, his daughter,
contributed £4,000 towards the cost of pulling it down and
building in its place the present much larger structure. A little

¥
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to its north, in BEvis MARKS, which connects Duke Street with

t. Mary Axe, is the Spanish and Portuguese Synagogue. The
Now Synagogue is between Crosby Place and St. Helen’s Square,
off Bishopsgate Street ; and there are others in Fenchurch Street
and in various parts of the neighbourhood.

In JEWRY STREET is the 8ir John Cass Technical Imstitute
and 8chool, from designs by Mr. A. Cookscy. The foundation
stone was laid by the Bishop of London on the 1oth May.
1899. Sir John Cass was a prosperous city merchant of Queen
Anne’s time. The greatly augmented value of the property with
which he endowed the small school founded by himself induced
the Charity Commissioners to sanction the erection of a new and
more convenient building. Education is provided for two hun-
dred and ten boys and girls. The scholars receive a dinner every
day gratuitously, and some are provided with clothes as well.

Passing St. Botolph’s Church, we reach on the same (the left)
side of the way, and not far apart, the Aldgate and Aldgate East
Stations of the Metropolitan and District Railways, a branch
whereof runs eastward to Whitechapel, where (at the spot at which
the main thoroughfare changes its name to Mile End Road) it
effects a junction with the East London line. We soon leave the
City behind us ; and enter—

Whitechapel,
[Map IV.: K 18.)

the main road being known as WHITECHAPEL HIGH STREET and
WHITECHAPEL ROAD, successively. It is a very busy, crowded
thoroughfare, with old-fashioned butchers’ shops and various
picturesque accessories. It was formerly part of the road along
which the stage coaches bowled on their way into Essex, and it |
still retains traces of those days, in the shape of a few old-fashioned
houses and taverns. About a quarter of a mile from St. Botolph’s |
Church, a spacious thoroughfare, COMMERCIAL STREET, crosses the
latter to bifurcate, as COMMERCIAL ROAD and LEMAN STREET, the |
former leading to Limehouse, Blackwall and the East and West
India Docks ; and the latter to the London Docks. . l

In Commercial Street, close to St. Fude's Church, Toynbee Hall
(to give it its fulltitle, the Universities’ Settlement in East London). \
wherein reside a2 number of Oxford and Cambridge men, who '
devote their energies to the temporal and spiritual good of their
poorer neighbours. |

In STEPNEY CAUSEWAY, on the south side of Commercial Road,
are the head-quarters of Dr. Barnardo’s Homes for Destihm‘
Children, the largest of the kind on the globe. The institutions
comprise eighty-four separate homes and twenty-four mission,
branches, and accommodate very nearly five thousand children,
Their object is to rescue children from the streets and from vicious,
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surroundings, and to bring them up as Christian workers ; and
since their establishment by Dr. Barnardo in 1866, nearly thirty
thousand boys and ﬁls have been so trained and started in life.
Many of them have been sent to Canada, where two distributing
large homes and a valuable industrial farm, of ten thousand acres,
are in active operation. No destitute child, whatever his or her
age, creed, sex, nationality, or physical condition, is ever refused
admission. At the Stepney Home, which is open to visitors every
week-day afternoon, except Saturday, from two till half-past five
o’clock, about four hundred boys, between thirteen and sixieen,
are being trained in one or other of the thirteen handicrafts in
operation there. Opposite to it, is the Hospital for the London
Homes (known as Her Majesty’s Hospital for Waifs and Strays).
Further down the Commercial Road, is a Youths’ Labour House,
a unique institution for the reception and testing of destitute lads
of seventeen and upwards, prior to their being drafted off, should
they be found to be industrious, decent, and honest, as emigrants
to the colonies. The “Edinburgh Castle,” in Limehouse, at one time
an inn of not very savoury repute, has been purchased and made
the centre of an effort for the benefit of the adult population here-
abouts. Its large hall accommodates a congregation of over three
thousand every Sunday, and much educational and social work is
carried on in connection with it.

Whitechapel Parish Church,

dedicated to St. Mary Matfelon, stands on the south side of the way
at the spot where Whitechapel High Street becomes Whitechapel
Road. Having become inadequate to the necessities of the parish,
it made way for a very handsome Gothic structure, opened in
February, 1877, which was destroyed by fire in August, 1880. But
it was speedily rebuilt in the same style and on much the same plan,
the distinguishing feature of both edifices being a handsome tower
and spire, about two hundred feet high. The style of the present
church is thirtcenth-century Gothic, and its dimensions are : Nave,
a hu .died and niuc feet by thirty-three—height, eighty feet; chancel,
thirty-seven fcet by twenty-seven—height, sixty-eight. It will seat
thirteen hundred and fifty, and is richly decorated internally ; and a
peculiar feature of the exterior is the open-air pulpit, from which
addresscs are given on most evenings during the summer. The
preachers are, as a rule, laymen. Whitechapel is by no means
one of the richest of the metropolitan parishes ; and its inhabitants
were largely indebted for their new church to the liberality of the
late Mr. O. E. Coope, for some years M.P. for Middlesex. The
Clergy House and Highgate School Mission Buildings, as it is «alled
in acknowledgment of the help the parish receives from the High-
gate School, is adjacent to the church. It is a handsome block of
buildings, opened in the autumn of 1895,
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On the opposite side of the road, a little to the west, is another
institution, whose object it is to bring the blessings of Christianity to
bear on the seething masses of the East End. The George Yard
Mission, like Dr. Barnardo’s Edinburgh Castle Mission, had obtained
possession of a public house of not the best standing and utilised it |
for the good of the “ submerged thousands ” of the neighbourhood.
It was commenced, under the auspices of the philanthropic Earl of
Shaftesbury and the patronage of Queen Victoria and other members
of the Royal Family, nearly forty years ago ; and during all those
years, Mr. George Holland has laboured successfully and in faith,
without soliciting subscriptions, which have nevertheless come in.

Not many doors further east, and we reach the Whitechapel Free
Library, the Museum attached to which contains collections of |
Egyptian antiquities, of dried plants and of fossils, and many native |
weapons from the Fiji Islands and elsewhere. A permanent Art
Gallery adjoins the Library. It is intended to be used also |
for occasional exhibitions of work done by the people in the |
neighbourhood.

WHITECHAPEL R0OAD contains several features of interest. At a
little distance from the church, and on the same side of the way, we
pass the Salvation Army Barracks,in which that extensive organisa-
tion originated. On the opposite side, is the Pavilion Theatre, a
large house, in which four thousand persons can be seated. " We
then cross the important junction of the District and the East
London Railways, already alluded to, with Stations on each side
of the street ; and soon afterwards see, on our right—

The London Hospital,

which contains seven hundred and eighty beds for in-patients, and
has a daily average of three hundred and sixty males and two hundred
and fifty-seven females all the year round, besides its out-patients,
whose visits, in 1897, numbered 301,636. The institution was begun |
in 1740, and the foundation stone of the hospital was laid in 1752.
‘When opened in 1759, George II. granted it a charter. At first fitted
with a hundred and thirty beds, the hospital has grown toits present
dimensions. The South-West Wing was added in 1811 ; and the
South-East in 1840. The (out-door) maternity department was in-
augurated in 1854. Ten years later the then Prince of Wales laid the
foundation stone of the Alexandra Wing, and the building was
opened by the Prince and Princess in 1865. In 1878, Queen Victoria
opened the Grocers’ Company Wing, the gift of the guild whose
name it bears. The Nurses’ Home was inaugurated by the present
King in 1887; and additional buildings were founded by the
Duke of Cambridge in 1890, and opened by His Royal Highness a
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year later. They include a fine portico entrance from the street,
a students’ room, chapel, clinical and operating theatres, the
medical college, a children’s medical ward, ophthalmic wards,
isolation wards, enlarged medical waiting halls, additional examin-
ing rooms, gas and steam cooking apparatus, a steam laundry, new
baths, and every conceivable arrangement for the prevention of
fire, &c. The hospital is now being still further enlarged. The
chapel is eighty feet long and has a handsome stained-glass east
window, representing “ Christ healing the Sick,” a memorial of
Mr. O. E. Coope, M.P.

MiILE END RoAD, which communicates with the Bow Road and
near its eastern end crosses the Regent’s Canal, is not without its
edifices worth notice. Among them, on the left-hand side, are the
Trinity (or S8eamen’s) and the Vintmers’ Almshouses. The former,
the gift to the Trinity House Corporation of Captain Henry Mudd
in 1696, have been little altered externally during the two hun-
dred years of their existence. They form an interesting specimen
of old-world architecture. Mile End Road contains Congrega-
tional, Roman Catholic, Wesleyan, and Plymouth Brethrem places
of worship, the Paragon Theatre, the Spanish and Portuguese
Jews’ Hospital, a Jewish Burial Ground, the head-quarters of the
National Society for the Prevention of Cruelty to Children, which
has done a good work in the protection of the little ones, the
Deaconess’s Home, in connection with the East End Juvenile
Mission, and so forth. Near its further extremity is 8t. Bene't’'s
Church (one of the first of the City churches removed under the
Act of Parliament which enabled the ecclesiastical authorities to
follow the population), with its mission hall and schools ; and
adjoining this, is— .

The People’s Palace,
planned by the Beaumont Trustees, and practically the outcome
of Sir Walter Besant’s novel, All Sorts and Conditions of Men. It
comprises winter and summer gardens, a concert hall, swimming
baths, and gymnasia for both sexes, a library, reading-room, tech-
nical and trade schools, and so forth—all which are calculated to
improve and to render happy thousands of toilers in East London.
The foundation stone of the Queen’s Hall, so called by permission of
Queen Victoria, was laid by the then Prince and Princess of Wales, in
June, 1886, and the hall opened by Queen Victoria herself on May 14,
1887. It will accommodate two thousand five hundred persons ; and
in it concerts, entertainments, and organ recitals are given and public
meetings held, and there is a general reading and social room,
where friends may sit and chat, It is a hundred and thirty
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feet long by seventy-five broad ; and, in the centre, its height from
floor to roof is sixty feet. It has three entrances facing the Mile
End Road, and doors for egress on every side; and it is adorned
by a figure of Queen Victoria, seated in the coronation chair, and

statues of twenty-two other queens. It contains a magnificent |

organ, the gift of Mr, Dyer Edwards. The Library is constructed
on the same plan as the reading room at the British Museum (sec
p- 279).

* * * * * =

And here we must stop. We might extend our walk so as to see
many other features of the great metropolis—for we still are far
from its eastern boundary. But we have passed the limits we
assigned ourselves when we commenced our task, so we make our
way back to our “ quarters,” turning aside, as we go, to visit—

8t. Philip’s Church, at the back of the London Hospital. Pre-
sented to the parish by the Rev. Sidney Vacher, the building is
a very large one. It is of peculiar design, the intention being to
secure as great irregularity as possible, no one portion bearing
any resemblance to another. There is no carving whatever ; the
roughest material has been used everywhere, and the stains of
the weather have been allowed to remain on all the stonework.
Externally, it is constructed of red brick and Ancaster stone.

At the spot where ALDGATE and FENCHURCH STREET bifurcate,
we elect to proceed along the latter thoroughfare. Both of them
will conduct us to our destination ; and we can utilise a spare half-
hour by turning aside in front of Fenchurch Street Railway Station
and descending some steps into HART STREET, to have a look at—

St. Olave’s Church,
dedicated to the canonised king of Norway, who Christianised his
subjects in the way very much in vogue in his days—by giving
them the choice between baptism and decapitation. One of the
thirteen City churches which escaped the fire of London, it is a good
specimen of the Perpendicular architecture of the early part of the
fifteenth century ; and in it is preserved the exquisitely-carved pulpit,
said (though there is some doubt on the subject) to be the work of
Grinling Gibbons, which formerly stood in the Church of St. Bene't,
Gracechurch ‘Street. Attention should be drawn to the ceiling,
which was “very worthily garnished in 1632-3" (Sfow). In the
nave, the corbels on the north side have angels bearing shields,
those on the south side have shields only. In the aisles, especially
the south, the ceiling is studded with leaden stars. The!' want-of
uniformity characteristic of Gothic architecture is illustrated in
several particulars. The west window, for instance, is not centred
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with the east, but is built in a recess, and the bases and shafts of
the pillars on the north and south sides are of unequal length. The
edifice is chiefly noted for its numerous memorials of the illustrious
dead. It was “our owne church” of “ Diary” Pepys ; and in it he
and his wife, Elizabeth, were buried. The latter is represented by
her bust; and in the south aisle there is a monument (erected in
1883 by public subscription) to the “ gossiper of the time of Charles
I1.””  Among the other monuments are those of Sir John Mennys,
1670, comptroller of the navy, “a servant of James I., Charles I.,
and Charles I1.” ; the figure, beautiful in profile, of Lady Anne
Radcliffe, 1585 ; and the statue of Sir Andrew Riccard, 1672, chair-
man of the India and the Turkey Companies, who generously gave
the advowson of St, Olave’s to the parish. The church is open daily
from half-past twelve till half-past two.

LLoYDS AVENUE is a new thoroughfare constructed by the Cor-
poration to connect Fenchurch Street with Crutched Friars.

Hart Street communicates with MARK LANE, and it, in turn, will
conduct us back to Fenchurch Street (the first syllable in the name
whereof is a corruption of the Anglo-Saxon, foin, “ hay ). Crossing
GRACECHURCH STREET, near the site of St. Bene't's—the “ grass ”

—Church, which gave it its name, we enter LOMBARD STREET and
reach the Bank once more.

THE SEAMEN'S ALMSHOUSES, MILE END ROAD.
(See p. 311.)
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Symmons & Co.,] (23, Bowwverie St., E.C.
THE THAMES AT GREENWICH.

EXCURSION XVI.

DOWN THE THAMES : LONDON BRIDGE TO
SOUTHEND.

E have thus noticed—not nearly so fully as we should like
to do, had we space at our command—the principal fea-
tures of that portion of the metropolis to which we confined
ourselves in our opening Chapter. But there are some things
outside that district, without a word or two about which no Guide
to London would be complete ; and these we purpose visiting.
First of all, we will ask readers to accompany us on an imaginary
trip down the river, starting from the O0ld Swan Pier, at London
Bridge. We have said an “imaginary " trip, for unfortunately the
pier-to-pier steamers do not run during the winter, and even the
summer services cannot be regarded at present as fixtures. All the
points of interest may, however, be easily reached by rail or 'bus.
We have already spoken at sufficient length of Billingsgate Market
and the Custom House, of the Tower, the Tower Bridge, and the
Docks, which we pass in succession, as we make our way towards
the Nore. We will, therefore, suppose that we have reached the
extremity of “the Pool,” and commence our journey at—
315
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Deptford.
[Map VII. : O 21-22.]

FARES : From Cannon Street—1/-, -/, or -/5§ ; return, 1/6, 1/2, or -/g.
Deptford, on the south side of the river, was once noted for its dock-
yard, established by Henry VIII. and abandoned by the frugal
Government of 1869, since which time, the naval establishment has
been confined to the Royal Victualling Yard, where cattle are
slaughtered and biscuits made and where other provisions are
stored for the use of the navy. The workshops include a bakery,
flour, chocolate, mustard, and pepper mills, and a very large
cooperage ; and the gas used in the workshops is made within
the yard. Pepys makes frequent reference in his diary to the
Victualling Department. He was at one time its head, and strove
hard to reform the abuses in the contracting system. The present
range of buildings were erected in 1780 by Sir Charles Middleton.
Adjoining the Victualling Yard is the Foreign Oattle Market,
belonging to the City corporation. It stands on the site of the
abolished dockyard. The land was sold by the Government, when
they discontinued the building of ships here, to a Mr. Austin for
£70,000 ; and that gentleman made a handsome profit out of the
transaction, for, very soon after he obtained possession of it, he
resold the property to the patres conscripti, for £94,640.

Deptford is situated opposite the Isle of Dogs, at the spot where
the Deptford Creek (or Ravensbourne River) enters the Thames—its
name is said to be a survival of a “deep ford,” once existing at this
point ; and it adjoins the historically famous—

Greenwich.
[Map IX. : O-P 23-24-25.]
FARES : From Charing Cross—1/-, -/g, or -/6 ; return 1/6, 1/2, or -/9. From Holborn
Viaduct or Victoria, -/9, -/7, or -/5; return, 1/2, -/10, or -/7. From Fenchurch
Street, -/11, -/8, or -/6 ; return, 1/2, -/1I, or -/8.

The two domes of the famous hospital first come into view, and
when we reach the pier we shall see the broad terrace along the
bank, eight hundred and sixty-five feet long, with two granite
obelisks, one in memory of the gallant Frenchman, Lieutenant
Bellot, who lost his life in the search for Sir John Franklin in the
Arctic regions, and the other commemorating the officers and
soldiers of the Royal Marines, killed in New Zealand in 1863-4.

From the Conquest till the time of the Civil War, Greenwich
Palace was a royal residence, and was the scene of the births and
marriages and of the “ junkettings” of many of our sovereigns.
Henry VIII. and his daughters, Mary and Elizabeth, were born in
the palace ; and his son, Edward VI.,died there. ‘But it disappeared
in Commonwealth times ; and after the Restoration, Charles II.
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began the erection of a new and far more splendid palace, of
which Webb, the son-in-law of Inigo Jones, was the architect.

(Notting Hill.

York & Son,)

GREENWICH HOSPITAL.

This work was
stayed for want of
funds ; but William
and Mary made
extensive additions
and established the
building, under
letters patent of
1604, as a home for
superannuated sea-
men. This, now
known as—

Greenwich
Hospital,

consists of four
extensive piles of
buildings, or wings,
entirely  detached
from each other,
but at the same
time so connected
by the conformity
of their dimensions,
figures, and the
general arrange-
ment of their deco-
rations, as to con-
stitute a complete
whole. The princi-
pal front of this
structure, which is

nearly all of Port-

land stone, is to-
wards the Thames,
on the north. The
north-west angle is
occupied by King
Charles’s  building,
the north-east by

Queen Anne's, both of them lying next the river ; and the posterior
wings, towards the south, are formed of King William’s building,
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on the west, and Queen Mary’s, on the east. The two northern
wings are separated by a square, in the middle of which is a 8tatue
of George IL, sculptured by Rysbrack, out of a single block of white
marble. The intervening bank of the Thames is formed into a
terrace, with a double flight of steps to the river in the middle.
Queen Mary’s building comprises the chapel, built from the designs
of Stuart, on the site of a former edifice, destroyed by fire in 1709.
One of the highest efforts of West, the “ Shipwreck of Paul,” forms
the altar-piece. King William’s building contains the great hall,
vestibule, and dome, designed and erected, between 1698 and 1703,
by Sir Christopher Wren.

The Great, or Painted, a hundred and six feet long, sixty-five wide, and fifty-
six high, was decorated by Sir William Thornhill, who was eagaged for nearly
twenty years on the walls and ceilmeg In the hall and vestibule, is a paval gallery
of pictures, statues, portraits, models, and relics, of which the following are the
more noticeable :(—

PORTRAITS.—Christopher Colombus, Andrea Doria, Admiral Barrington (Reynolds),
Earl of Sandwich (Gain:bomu%h), Admirals Jervis, Hood, and Bridport, Captain
Cook (Dance), Prince George of Denmark (Kneller), General Monk ) Wlﬁum
Penn (Lely), James II., Lord Nelson, Admirals Kempenfelt, Collingwood, and
Charles Napier.

STATUES AND Busts.—Lord Exmouth (Macdowell), Sir Sidney Smith (Kirk),
Captain Peel (Theed), Admiral Blake, William IV., and other busts.

AINTINGS.—Destruction of the Armada (Loutherberg), Victory of Lord Howe
off Ushant (Loutherberg), Death of Captain Cook (Zoffany), Battle of Trafalgar
(Turner), Battle of Aboukir (4rnold), Battle of St. Vincent ((fones), Nelson Boardin,
the St. Nicholas- (4llin). A collection of pictures illustrating the career of Lo
Nelson, and portraits of his contemporaries.

RELICS.—In December, 1900, a great sensation was d by the t
that the principal Nelson relics had been stolen from the Hall. At the time of
writing, although large rewards have been offered, none of the missing articles have
been recovered. The Hall contains relics of the Franklin expedition, discovered
by Dr. Rae, and the astrolabe presented by Queen Elizabeth to Sir Francis Drake.

The painted hall is open free to the public every day, from ten to seven
tn summer and ten to three in winter ; on Sundays after one o’clock.

To holiday-makers, the Park is the great attraction of Greenwich.
Gigantic trees shade the avenues ; there are steep hills, with green
valteys and open spaces where herds of fallow deer graze peace-
fully, too accustomed to the ways of holiday-makers to be alarmed
at even a little extra merriment. In 1897, fifteen acres of land
adjoining the Ranger’s Lodge were, by the Queen’s desire, added
to the park for the use of the public. One of the steepest hills is
Observatory Hill, one hundred and eighty feet above the level of
the river. On its summit, is the famous—

Greenwich Observatory,

known all over the world. The Observatory was established in its
present position by the advice of Sir Christopher Wren, in 1675.

“In this unpretending range of buildings,” to quote the description of a recent
writer, * under the direction of the Astronomer Royal, those elaborate astronomical
observations are carried on which result in the collection of a series of facts of
the most inestimable value to navigation and science generally. The Astronomer
Royal and his staff are always on duty, not a moment of intermission being permitted
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by night or day in the Observatory. Chronometers are sent by the makers to the
Observatory to be tuted, and to that purpose a special department is devoted. Pro-
found math y at work ; not a star in the midnight heavens
is unobserved ; the paths of the anets are noted the phenomena of gravity, light,
and magnetism investigated ; the true time—Greenwich time—flashed along the
wires to almost every important railway station in the kingdom (and, we may add,
to many private business establishments as well); and sailors far away at the
antipodes are navlgaﬁng surely and safely, g]\uded by the exact record of the move-
ments of the host, ient philosophers of Greenwich.
More obvious indications of the natute of their pursuits are the time-balls, which
fall daily at precisely one o’clock, the twenty-four hour clock, near the entrance
gate, marking astronomical time, and the standards of t inserted in the
outer wall.”

The “ Nautical Almanac,” that indispensable handbook to the mariner, is pub-
lished three years in advance, so as to be available for long voyages. It is not
prepared as fo erally supposed, at Greenwich, but at the Nautical Almanac Office,
Gray’s Inn, London, the requisite calculations being made by the ~upenntcndent
and a staff of twelve assistants.

Behind the Hospital, is the Royal Naval 8chool, originally designed
by Inigo Jones, as a residence for Henrietta Maria, the Queen of
Charles I., and since then considerably modified. About a thousand
children are educated here. In the south-western portion of the
hospital, is the S8eamen’s Hospital for sailors of all countries. Near
it, is Norfolk College, an almshouse founded in 1603 by the Earl
of Northampton, who is buried there. Greenwich is noted for its
whitebait dinners.

The river Lea, for miles the boundary between Middlesex and
Essex, falls into the Thames at Bow Creek. Approaching Woolwich,
about two miles and a half below Greenwich, we see the huge
Steam Ferry Boats, which connect the opposite banks of the
Thames, crossing the stream incessantly from morning till night.
There are two of them, and they are of peculiar build, each
having two decks—an upper one for vehicles and horses, a
lower one for passengers. Swift and powerful, they are free to
man and beast alike.

Woolwich.

FARES : From Charing Cross, 1/6,1/-, or -/9 ; return 2/6, 1/8, or 1/2.” From Liver-
pool Street, 1/1, -/10, Or -/7 ; return, 1/7, 1/3, or -/11. From Cannon Street, 1/6, 1/-,
or -/9 ; return, 2/6, 1/8, or 1/2.

A royal dockyard existed at Woolwich from the time of Henry
VIII. until 1869, when it was closed ; and now its chief feature of
interest is the Royal Arsenal, which, with foundries and other build-
ings, covers a hundred acres. There are four departments—the
Gun Factory, where the “ Woolwich infants ” and other pretty play-
things are made ; the Laboratory, the manufactory of shot, cart-
ridges, caps, &c. ; the Carriage Department; and the Stores. The
Royal Marine Barracks, completed in 1859, are situated on the side
of an eminence, and comprise eight blocks of building, connected by
a corridor. The Artillery Barracks form a range of buildings, eight
hundred and seventy feet long, with accommodation for four thou-
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sand men and a thousand horses. In front of it, are a number of
cannon captured in the Crimea and India; a gun, about sixteen
feet long, cast in 1667 for the Grand Mogul, Aurungzebe, and taken
at Bhurtpore ; and four Florentine guns. On the north-west side |
of the common, is the Royal Military Repository, with a Rolunda,
containing an artillery museum, with models of fortresses, plans, |
specimens of machines, and ancient and modern cannon, and a fine
collection of armour. The Rotunda was built by Nash in 1814. The
Garrison Chapel, in the Italian Gothic style, was erected from the |
designs of the Messrs. Wyatt. The Royal Military Academy is on
Woolwich Common. It was established in 1806, and the present
building erected from the designs of Wyatville in the same year.
The common is a large open space, used for exercising troops.
Artillery practice is carried on in the Plumstead Marshes, by the -
river side. St Mary’s Churchyard, laid out as a public recreation
ground and gay with greensward, flowers, and shrubs, was opened '
by the Duchess of Fife, in May, 1895. w

The Arsenal is open (on Tuesdays and Thursdays) for inspection by ‘
visilors with tickets, which can be obtained on personal application at
the War Office, Pall Mall. The Rotunda of the Royal Military Re-
pository is open free every day from ten to five. These regulations
only apply to British subjects : foreigners can only obtain permission
through ambassadors, who must apply to the Secretary of State for |
War. ' !

Near Barking Oreek, on the left bank of the river, and Crossness
Point, on the right, are the Northern and Southern Outfalls of the
gigantic main drainage system of the metropolis. The pumping
station at Barking is Oriental in design, with tall minarets (really
chimneys). At Crossness Point, the engine-house is a handsome
building, with a high and ornamental Italian tower. Both stations
were opened by the Prince of Wales in 1865.

Erith, Greenhithe, Grays, Northfieet, and Rosherville, once famous
for its gardens, are passed ; and then, on the north side of the river,
we see—

Tilbury Fort.
FARES: From Fenchurch Street, 2/- or 1/-; return, 2/6 or 1/6.

Henry VIII. built a block-house here, and when, some fifty years
afterwards, the great Spanish Armada threatened England, his
daughter Elizabeth, then fifty-five years of age, summoned the
manhood of England to meet her at Tilbury, and prepare to repel
the advance of the invaders up the Thames. The fort was strength-
ened in the reign of Charles II., when the Dutch admirals had an
unpleasant habit of sailing up the Thames ; and on one occasion
battered the tower of the church at East Tilbury. Two miles from
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the fort, is the village of West Tilbury—the old form of  the name -
was Tillaburgh — where are some pleasant residences, an old"
church, with a wooden-framed tower and spire, and a mineral
spring, once upon a time much resorted to. Not far off, are the
Tilbury Docks, already noticed (see pp. 301-3).

Opposite Tilbury Fort, on the Kentish side of the Thames, is the
busy town and municipal and parliamentary borough of—

Gravesend.

FARES: From Charing Cross, Holborn Viaduct, or Victoria, 3/6, 2/8, or 2/-; return,
6, 3/6, or 3/-; by cheap trans, 2/~ 1/6, or 1/-; return, 2/6, 2/-, or 1/6. From
enchurch Street, 2/2 or 1/2 ; return, 3/- or 1/9.

Gravesend is a holiday resort, much in request with a certain
section of Cockneys, though of late years its popularity has been
somewhat on the wane. It has three piers, the most recent of which
was opened in June, 1894 ; but Windmill Hill, at the back of the
town, once the great resort of excursionists, is now nearly built over,
although a tavern and “tea-gardens” remain. The Church, which
possesses little architectural merit, was erected in the reign of Queen
Anne, on the site of an older edifice. Gordon Park, with a statue of
the celebrated general in its centre, opened in 1893, is one of the
most recent additions to the town. The real attractions of Graves-
end are the river, the craft of all shapes and sizes on its bosom—a
scene which always exercises a fascination over Londoners—and
the charming trips to be enjoyed in the neighbourhood.

Gravesend is the legal limit of the port of London ; and here our
excursion should end. But some fifteen miles further down the
river, which by this time has become an estuary of the sea, subject,
in a marked degree, to the vagaries of the tide, is, on the opposite
shore, a watering-place in great request with those who are unable
to absent themselves for alengthy period from their business engage-
ments, and who can, by utilising the morning and evening expresses
reach the place within the hour. We mean, the recently-incor-
porated borough of—

Southend.
FARES : From Fenchurch Street or Liverpool Street—4/4 or 2/2; retumn, 7/- or 4/4.
From Chalk Farm—4/- or 2/- ; return, 7/6 or 4/-.
Southend-on-Sea is built at almost the extreme point of Essex,
nearly opposite Sheerness and not far from Shoeburyness. It is,
within easy distance of many places of interest; and, in addi-
tion to the traditional “ sniff of the briny ” which visitors go there to
obtain, they can avail themselves of a variety of charming
excursions by land and water. Steamers, on their way between
London Bridge and more distant holiday resorts, call daily at
22
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the head of the pier, and others make frequent excursions to
Sheerness and Rochester, to Gravesend and Tilbury Fort, and to
many other places, The borough (for Southend was incor-
porated in 1892) is divided into three parts, known as the Old
Town, Cliff Town, and Porter's Town, and these are all united by
an Esplanade, of unusual length, plentifully furnished with seats
and presenting a rural appearance which makes it difficult to
realise that we are really staying at a populous and flourishing town,
with an estimated population of 26,000. Adjoining the Esplanade, is
the Shrubbery, a famous rendezvous for visitors. This commences
close to the iron Pler (admission, one penny), which is lighted by
electricity and provided with a good refreshment room, a pavilion,
and other structures. An Electric Tramway (fare, twopence) traverses
the pier, which is a mile and a quarter long. The erection of Sea-
Water Baths, near the entrance to the pier, with a promenade,
reading room, an arcade, and bandstand attached to them, is one of
the latest undertakings of the municipality. About £70,000 have been
spent in new main drainage works. New municipal buildings,
including a Town Hall, administrative offices, technical and
organised science day schools, and fire brigade stations have been
erected in a central position at the junction of four of the prin-
cipal thoroughfares—Victoria Road, London Road, Southchurch
Road, and Whitegate Road. The block is in the English
Renaissance style, from designs by H. T. Hare, F.RI.B.A. Of late
years Southend, or, rather, the portion of it euphemistically
designated “ Westcliff-on-Sea,” has become very popular as a place
of residence for City men. A good train service makes it possible
to reach the City in less time than is occupied by the journey from
many of the suburbs. Houses are consequently in great demand,
and the place is rapidly growing both in size and importance. The
Royal Terrace and Victoria Avenue are other features of the town,
which it is needless to say contains good hotels, boarding establish-
ments, and lodging houses for the accommodation of the ever-
increasing army of visitors.

On the other side of the river is 8heerness, a most important
naval station and dockyard. During the summer several large
and well-equipped steamers run daily from London Bridge down
the river to Southend, Margate, Ramsgate, Yarmouth, &c. These
trips are very popular. See the Guides to Margate, Yarmouth, &c.,
in this series.



A COACHING CONTEST AT RANELAGH.

EXCURSION XVII.

UP THE THAMES : LONDON BRIDGE TO
HAMPTON COURT.

E commence this trip—like the last “imaginary,” if the
pier-to-pier service is discontinued—from London Bridge.
‘We pass successively under the Cannon Street Railway Bridge and—

Southwark Bridge,
[(Map IV. : L 16.]
opened in 1819, and built from the designs of Rennie, at a cost of
£800,000. It consists of three iron arches (from which fact, being
the first constructed of this material in London, it was formerly
known as “the iron bridge”), the central one having a span of
four hundred and two feet; and it rests on three stone piers.
On the south side of the river, between the last two bridges, is
Bankside, in which, in Queen Elizabeth’s reign, stood the Old Globe
Theatre, memorable on account of its connection with Shakespeare.
Its site is now occupied by Barclay’s Brewery, which, on previous
written application to the manager, it is possible to inspect. On the
western side of Southwark Bridge, facing Upper Thames Street,
is—
323



324 GUIDE TO LONDON.

The Hall of the Vintners’ Company, one of the oldest of London’s
guilds.

We first call at Paul’'s Wharf, very convenient for those whose
business attracts them to St. Paul's Churchyard and its neighbour-
hood. Then we reach the wharf beneath the Blackfriars Bridge,
and steam along the edge of the EMBANKMENT, the features of which
are fully noted in our Eighth Excursion. Westward of Westminster
Bridge, we have the Houses of Parliament on our right, and St.
Thomas's Hospital, on our left; and then we pass—

Lambeth Palace,
Map I. : M 14.]

for nearly seven hundred years the town residence of the Arch-
bishops of Canterbury. The palace and grounds occupy about
eighteen acres. The Chapel, in the Early English style, is the
oldest part of the building, portions of it having been erected by
Archbishop Boniface, about the middle of the thirteenth century ;
but the roof and stained-glass windows are modern. All the arch-
bishops since Boniface and many bishops have been consecrated
here. The Gothic Gatehouse was built about 1499 by Cardinal
Morton. Near. it is the Lollards’ Tower, built by Archbishop
Chicheley, in 1435, and named from the Lollards, who were
imprisoned and tortured in it. The upper part of the tower is
still named ‘“the prison,” and there are the rings to which the
prisoners were chained, and inscriptions on the walls. On the
west side of the inner court, is the Great Hall ninety-three feet
long, thirty-eight wide, and fifty high, built by Archbishop Juxon,
about 1622. There are a fine oaken roof and central lantern. In
the hall, is the Library of above thirty thousand printed books and
two thousand manuscripts, some of them very rare and valuable.*
Here reposed until recently the log of the Mayflower, which was
transferred, by special request, to the custody of the United States
Government. In the Guest Chamber and Picture Gallery are many
interesting portraits. The residential palace of the prelate was
rebuilt by Archbishop Howley, who spent £60,000 on the work.
There is a good garden front in the Tudor style. The Archbishop
has recently transferred the grounds surrounding the palace to the
London County Council for use as a public park. The palace can
only be visited by special permission, for which application must be
made lo the Archbishop’s chaplain in residence. The library is open
to students daily (Saturdays excepted) from ten to four ; it is closed
during the Easter and Christmas weeks and for six weeks from the
firs of September.

* A list of the chief literary treasures in the libr: with interesting noti has
been compiled by Mr. S. W. Kershaw, F.SA. ' g notices,
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The Lambeth Parish Church (S{. Mary's), the fine tower and
other parts of which date from the latter part of the fourteenth
century, contains the tombs of seven Archbishops of Canterbury
and of other celebrities.

In front of Lambeth Palace, is the Albert Embankment, which
was completed in 1869, at a cost of nearly £1,000,000. It connects
the Westminster and Vauxhall Bridges, is about three-quarters of a
mile long, and has a roadway, sixty feet wide, and a granite wall
on the river side. A little west of the palace, it crosses the foot
of Lambeth Suspension Bridge. Mr. Peter Barlow was the
engineer, and the cost was £40,000. The Albert Embankment
terminates at Vauxhall Bridge, which is now being rebuilt from
designs by Sir Alexander Binnie. The new bridge will cost
£390,000, will be eighty feet wide,and will consist of five spans and
four piers. Considerable difficulty has been encountered in securing
a firm foundation for the piers. Meanwhile, a Temporary Bridge has
been thrown across the Thames, opposite the Tate Gallery. The
destruction of the old bridge calls to mind the days when Vauxhall
Gardens were something more than a name to Londoners. The
gardens, in which so many merry junketings took place, extended
along the south bank of the river from near the old bridge to a
point a little east of the temporary bridge.

The Tate Gallery.
Map I.: 0 13.).

Nearest Railway Station : Victoria. Take #ram from Victoria to Vauxhall
Bndge, fare one halfpenny. The Gallery is in Grosvenor Road, overlooking
the river, almost opposite Doulton’s Pottery.

The Gallery is open FREE on Mondays, Tuesdays, Wednesdays,
and Saturdays, as follows : Fanuary, ten to four ; February, March,
October, Novcmber, and December, ten to dusk ; April to September
ten to six.

STUDENTS' DAYS : Thursdays and Fridays, ten to five, summer ;
ten to four, winter. The public arc admittcd on Students' days,
after cleven, by payment of SIXPENCE.

The Gallery is open on SUNDAYS from too to six, April to
September ; and from two to dusk during October.

The National Gallery of British Art, or, as it is more commonly
called, the “ Tate Gallery,” is the latest addition to the art galleries
of the metropolis, and has been not inaptly termed the “Luxem-
bourg of London,” the object being to gather in one great national
collection the finest examples of contemporary British art. For
this purpose all pictures are considered modern which have been
painted by artists born since the year 179o. The circumstances
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that led to the establishment of the gallery are best described in
the generous founder’'s own words. Speaking at the opening
ceremony on July 21, 1897, the late Sir Henry Tate said : “ Some
years ago I learnt that a great want was felt of some place where
works of modern art could be seen at any time of the year, and
I decided that if I could succeed in obtaining from the Government
a suitable plot of land I would build a gallery for the permanent
exhibition of British art. Sir William Harcourt warmly interested
himself in my proposal, and chiefly through him the Government
liberally placed this site at my disposal. These galleries are
already nearly full, and as it is evident that much more hanging
space will be required, I propose to utilise the remainder of the
land granted by the Government in building the extension, plans
of which may be seen on the corridor walls. The Government
has promised to maintain the gallery, and the Trustees of the
National Gallery have undertaken the management of it, which
is not only a great satisfaction to me, but a guarantee to the public
for its good government.”

Only a few years ago the site of the gallery was occupied by
that gloomy and depressing institution, the Millbank Penitentiary,
and, as Mr. Balfour has truly said, “ None who remember the old
Millbank Prison could in their wildest imagination have conjectured
that in so short a period, by the generosity of one man, so vast a
transformation could be effected.”

The building was designed by Mr. Sidney R. ¥. Smith, and is an
excellent specimen of the modernised classical style. The chief
feature of the river front is the projecting central portion, with
its handsome Corinthian portico. Above the apex of the pediment
stands a figure of Britannia, with a lion and a unicorn on either
side. The wings are not in themselves imposing, but are admirably
calculated to enhance the dignity and beauty of the central block.
The mean-looking wall which fences the grounds from the road
is only a temporary structure. A broad flight of steps leads up
to the entrance doors, and the visitor first passes into a rectangular
and much-arched Vestibule, where umbrellas and sticks must be
left in charge of the attendants. A short corridor leads to the
octagonal Sculpture Hall, the most remarkable portion of the
building. In the centre is a pretty marble fountain, and the
semi-circular recesses between the four entrances are occupied
by sculpture. Upon the base of one of the two columns opposite
the entrance is the following inscription : “ This Gallery and sixty-
five -pictures were presented to the nation by Henry Tate for
the encouragement and development of British Art, and as ‘a
thank-offering for a prosperous business career of sixty years.”
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. Another inscription records the fact that “ This building was opened
by H.R.H. Albert Edward, Prince of Wales, K.G., July 21, 1897.”
From the corridor surrounding the sculpture hall the various
picture galleries are entered, and are so arranged that there is no
necessity to retrace one’s steps. There are at present seven galleries,
three of them being 59 feet long by 32 feet wide, the long gallery is
93 feet long and 32 feet wide, and the square gallery 32 feet by 32
feet. At the end of the corridors are circular white marble stair-
cases which lead up to the first floor sculpture gallery, and to the
picture gallery over the vestibule. In addition to the sixty-five
pictures and two bronzes presented by the late Sir Henry Tate, the
Gallery contains the important collection purchased under the
terms of the “ Chantrey Bequest,” consisting of sixty-four oil paint-
ings, eight water colours, one pastel, and twelve pieces of sculpture.
That distinguished artist, George Frederick Watts, R.A., has pre-
sented the nation with eighteen of his most important works :
these form the *“Watts Collection,” and are all hung in one
room in the new building. Ninety-six pictures executed by
artists who worked within the last hundred years, and one piece
of sculpture by John Gibson, R.A., have been transferred from the
overcrowded National Gallery. The Landseer-Millais equestrian
portrait, in our opinion one of the choicest gems of the collection,
was the gift of an anonymous donor. As each picture is labelled
with its title and the painter’s name, and a very admirable de-
scriptive and historical catalogue, with biographical notices of the
deceased artists, can be obtained (price sixpence) in the vestibule,
it is not necessary for us to go into details here. It may be said,
however, that the oil paintings include some of the finest works
of, amongst others, Wilkic, Eastlake, Landseer, Rossciti, Constable,
G. F. Watls, Millais, Leighton, Walker, Mason, Madox Brown,
Poynter, Orchardson, and Legros. The collection is distinctly
weak in water colours, but there are good specimens by 4. W'
Hunt, Wilkic, and others. The Sculpture Gallery includes works
by Brock, Thornycroft, Leighton, Onslow Ford, &c. The Gallery,
notwithstanding its somewhat inconvenient situation, ought on
no account to be omitted from the programme of the visitor to
London ; and Londoners themselves, who are notoriously less
informed as to the metropolis than their country cousins, should
show their appreciation of this princely gift by making constant
use of it. .

. Other parts of the site of the old Millbank Prison are being filled
-by extensive blocks of artizans' dwellings erected by the London
County Council. These blocks are appropriately named after
famous artists—Turner, Rossetti, Leighton, &c.
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~ On the south side of the Thames, and easily reached from
Vauxhall Station (London and South-Western Railway), and
from the Oval Station of the South London Electric Railway,
or by tram or ’bus is—

Kennington Oval,

dear to cricketers, and the scene of many of the most important
county matches. The Oval is the head-quarters of the Surrey C.C.,,
as Lord’s is of the Middlesex C. C. To accommodate the thousands
of spectators who assemble at every great event during the season,
the handsome New Pavilion, shown in our illustration on p. 289,
was opened in the spring of 1898.
On the other side of Kennington Park Road stands Kennington
Park, of old known as Kennington Common, where the Chartists
assembled in 1848.
Nearer the river is Vauxhall Park, opened in 1890 by the
Prince of Wales, and set apart for ever as a recreation ground.
Leaving Vauxhall Bridge behind us, a few turns of the paddle
conduct us to the Victoria Station Railway Bridge [Map VI.: O-P
11], over which run, by separate lines of rail, the London and
Brighton, the Chatham and Dover, and the Crystal Palace trains.

The Chelsea (or Victoria) Suspension Bridge, designed by Page,
and opened in 1858, comes next. This bridge connects Chelsea
with Battersea Park and the neighbourhood.

In BATTERSEA PARK RoAD, is the Battersea Polytechnic, opened
by the Prince of Wales in 1894. On Lavender Hill, within easy
reach of Clapham |]unction, is the Shakespeare Theatre, a very
popular suburban playhouse.

Battersea Park,
which abuts on the river on the south side, is, in spite of its being
more or less a dead level, a very charming recreation ground. It
is one hundred and eighty-five acres in extent ; and was arranged
on its present plan in the years 1852-8. It has a fine expanse of
water ; and is very attractive, owing to its plantations and flower
beds. A portion of it, four acres in extent, is known as the Sub-
Tropical Garden ; and, like Hyde Park, this one is a favourite resort
of cyclists. The Cyclists’ Row here is the outer carriage drive, a
delightful track, a mile and three-quarters in length. It is uniformly
level right round, with long straight runs in parts. First-class
cycles may be had on hire on reasonable terms, fixed by the
. London County Council. There are several very convenient Re-
freshment Pavilions in the Park, and from the notice-boards may
be gleaned th¢ welcome fact that an all-thoughtful County €ouncil
has ordained that the refreshment contractor shall supply * at least
two pieces of sugar” with each cup of tea. Close to the western
entrance to the park, is—
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The Albert (or Oadogan) Suspension Bridge, opened in 1873. It
was built by Ordish, and is seven hundred and eleven feet long by
forty wide. The Dogs’ Home, in the neighbourhood, where lost or
ownerless dogs are cared for, or painlessly destroyed, is one of the
modern institutions of the metropolis:

Chelsea,

the most old-fashioned suburb, north of the Thames hereabouts, has
many historical associations. Sir Thomas More lived here ; and
his house was subsequently the home of many men, noted in their
day, and was garrisoned by Cromwell during the Civil War.
In the time of Charles II., the Chelsea Manor came into the
possession of the family of Cheyne, and their then head built the
pleasant waterside terrace, Cheyne Walk. Sir Hans Sloane, whose
collection originated the British Museum, lived at Chelsea, and is
buried in the old churchyard ; and all the world has heard of—

Chelsea Hospital

and its old-soldier pensioners. In 1682, Charles II., at the instiga-
tion of Sir Stephen Fox (not of Nell Gwynne, as is traditionally
asserted), converted a theological college, established by James I,
into an asylum for invalided and destitute soldiers. Sir Chris-
topher Wren was the architect employed. The frontage to the
Thames consists of a centre and two wings of red brick, with stone
dressings. The buildings of the hospital form three courts, two of
which are spacious quadrangles ; the other is open to the river. It
contains accommodation for five hundred and thirty inmates, whose
pensions are regulated by length of service. In the area, is a bronze
Statue of Charles IL, by Grinling Gibbons. There are interesting
paintings in the hall and chapel (the altar-piece of the latter is by
Sebastian Ricci); and in the former about a hundred foreign flags,
captured by British troops in various parts of the world, and eleven
of Napoleon’s eagles. There are about five hundred and forty in-
pensioners. The gardens are open to the public, and admission to
the hall can be oblained.

Near the hospital is the Royal Military Asylum, or Duke of York's
8chool, for the support and education of the orphan children of
soldiers and non-commissioned officers. The first stone was laid
by the Duke of York in 1801. Near at hand, are the Botanic Gardens,
leased in perpetuity by Sir Hans Sloane to the Apothecaries Com-
pany as “a physic garden, so that apprentices and others may
better digtinguish good and useful plants from those that bear
resemblance to them and yet are hurtful.”

The fine old Parish Church of Chelsea (St Luke's) was built in
1307-27; and altered so as to assume its present shape about 1660.
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It contains many old monuments, and some chained books. The
keys may be obtained at 178, Oakley Street.

The Public Library was erected at a cost of about £10,000. Itis
built of red bricks, with white stone dressings, and is in the Queen
Anne style of architecture. Connected with it is a museum and art
gallery containing many interesting relics of historic Chelsea.
Adjoining, is the South-West London Polytechnic Institute.

Cheyne Walk, the fine esplanade, facing the river, is rich in
memorials both ancient and modern. Our noble painter, Turner,
resided there for years, and so did Thomas Carlyle, the ‘ Philosopher
of Chelsea.”

Carlyle’s House,

in Cheyne Row, is now one of the “sights of town.” It was pur-
chased by subscription, and vested in trustees ; and it was opened
to the public (admission, one shilling—the fees are devoted to the
maintenance fund) in the summer of 1895. Though mainly
interesting on account of its literary associations, the house is
noteworthy as a remarkably perfect example of the domestic archi-
tecture of Queen Anne's days. Every room has been restored, as
far as possible, to its condition during the long years from 1834 to
1881, when Carlyle’s ménage was installed in it; and as much of
his furniture as has been collected has been placed in the position it
then occupied. The particular point of interest in the house is
naturally the “sublime garret,” as he called it, which Carlyle built
in place of the original roof garret, at a cost of £200, in 1853, and
which he used, for some time, as his study. A marble bust of
Carlyle was placed in the house in May, 1900.

A little west of the Albert Suspension Bridge, already noted,
is Battersea Bridge, opened by Lord Rosebery in 18go. It has
five spans, chiefly of cast-iron work, resting upon piers of solid
granite and concrete.

% % * * * %

At Chelsea, we are at the western extremity of the district to which
we have confined ourselves ; but there are one or two spots “up the
river,” which are interesting to all visitors to the metropolis and
which we cannot close without noticing.

Putney [ five and a half miles by train from London, and reached
by the South-Western and the District Railways—single fares, -|9, -|7,
and -|5] is of world-wide fame, as the starting-point of the annual
Ozxford and Cambridge boat-race.

Pulham, on the opposite side of the river, contains the palace of
the Bishops of London, who have resided there for more than seven
hundred years. The episcopal residence is a comfortable house, with
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large grounds, enclosed by a moat, about a mile in circuit and crossed
by two bridges. The Bishop's Walk, along the bank of the river,
is a very pleasant promenade. A new embankment and recreation
ground were opened in December, 1893.

Hammersmith [Fares: From Aldgate, -|10, -[78, or -|6. From the
stations on the District Railway, -8, -/6, or -[5. From Broad Sirecet,
1/-, -9, or -|7. From Waterloo or Ludgate Hill, -[8, -6, or -[4]),
before reaching which place the river takes a bold course northward,
has a beautiful Suspension Bridge, opened by the Prince of Wales in
1887. The ceiling of its Church (St. Paul’s) was painted by Cipriani,
and its altar-piece carved by Grinling Gibbons. )

Barnes, on the Surrey side, occupies a promontory between |
Putney and Mortlake ; its Common is a fine open space (fares from
Waterloo station, -|9, -|7, or -/6). Between Hammersmith and—

Mortlake [cight miles and a half by railway from Waterloo : fares.
1/-, -/10, or -/8], the river makes a curve to the south, so that the
Oxford and Cambridge course, which ends at Mortlake, is over a
series of horseshoe bends. The Parish Church (St. Mary's) was
rebuilt by Archbishop Cranmer ; the ivy-clad tower is dated 1543.

Leaving Mortlake, the Thames turns again northward ; on the
Middlesex promontory, so formed, is—

Chiswick [distant, eight and a half miles from Waterloo station :
fares, -|11, -|9, or -|7], where is Chiswick House, in which died, in the
same chamber, James Fox, in 1806, and George Canning, in 1827 ;
its gardens have been the scene of many a fashionable gathering.
It was in Hogarth House, that the great painter died in 1764. The
Gardens of the Royal Horticultural Society are well worth a visit.
Admission by order from fellows of the society, which can generally
be easily obtained in the neighbourhood.

At this part of the river, we see the first of the Thames * eyots,"
‘“aits,” or islands. The river winds considerably from Chiswick, so
that the mile and a half (by road) between its church and Kew Bridge
is more than doubled by water. Kew Bridge is now being re-
constructed. At Kew Bridge, we have, on the Middlesex side, the
old town of Bremtford, of which George I. was so fond. On the
Surrey bank of the river, is the pretty suburb of—

Kew.
Two stations, Kew Bridge and Kew Gardens. FARES fo Kew Bridge: From
‘Waterloo or Broad Street, 1/-, -/9, or -/8; from Ludgate Hill, 1/2, 1/-, or -/9; To

Kew Gardens : From Waterloo or Ludgate Hill, 1/2, 1/, or -/9 ; from Broad Street,
1/2, -/10, or -/9; from Aldgate, 1/4, 1/1, or -/xo from stations on the District
Railway, 1/1, 1/, or -/9.
Kew offers two attractipns—the Gardens and the Palace.
_ Thé beautiful G‘nlaﬁperhaps, the very finest botanic gardens
in the world—occupy seventy-five acres. The great Palm House is

’
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hree hundred and sixty-two feet long. Several of the conservatories
wnd the museum are of great value to, the students of botany, for
ey contain extensive and splendid collections, The most attractive
onservatories are the Aroideous House—where are the tropical arums
—the Water Lily House, the Cactus House, the Tropical Fern House,
ind the Temperate House, the last-named recently enlarged. The
Museum consists of four buildings, of which the Old Orangery and
‘he Herbarium are perhaps the most attractive. Among the striking
>bjects in the garden, are a flagstaff, a hundred and fifty-nine
‘eet high, the trunk of a Californian pine and the longest piece of
imber in the world ; and Napoleon’s Willow, now nearly fifty feet
yigh, but when first planted, in 1825, a small twig, cut from one of
he trees which overhung the emperor’s grave at St. Helena, It
stands near the grand walk, and may be recognised from the fact
that at about eight feet from the ground it divides into three main
stems. The pleasure-grounds, formerly the park of Kew Palace, are
laid out with paths and flower-beds of rare beauty. A very promi-
nent object is the Pagoda, a tower of the Chinese pattern, a hundred
and sixty-three feet high. The Botanic Gardens were established
by the Princess Dowager of Wales, in 1760, and made a national ,
institution in 1840. The Gardens are open free to the public on week-
days, from noon ti , Sundays ne o'clock.

Kew Palace, where Queen Charlotte died in 1818, and a favourite
residence of her son, was built in Elizabeth’s time, and was for a
time the residence of Queen Caroline, wife of George II.

In January, 1898, Queen Victoria signified her intention to throw
open the palace, and the grounds adjoining the “ Queen’s Cottage,”
to the public. This was done in May, 1899. The grounds comprise
about fifteen acres, and are noted for their fine beeches and abundance
of wild-bird life. The chief entrance is nearly opposite Sion House.

The Parish Church, standing on the Green, was built in 1714, and
has been repeatedly enlarged. Gainsborough, one of the greatest
English landscape and portrait painters, and other celebrated persons
are buried in the churchyard.

Leaving Kew, the river runs between the 0ld Deer Park, now open
to the public, in which is the Kew Observatory, among other attrac-
tions, and (on the Middlesex bank) the grounds of Sion House, the
property of the Duke of Northumberland, which occupies the site
of a nunnery dissolved by Henry VIII. The gardens are exten-
sive and beautiful ; and there is a noble avenue of trees and a .
public footway from Brentford to Isleworth across the park.
Conspicuous, on the summit of the house, is the famous lion,
which formerly stood on the summit of the duke’s town residence
at Charing Cross.

)
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Opposite Isleworth—pronounced I-zle-worth [ fares from Watcrloo, |
1/2, 1/-, or -[10; from Ludgate Hill, 1/6, 1|2, or 1/-; from Broad
Street, 1/4, 1/-, or -[10}], we reach the Pirst and largest Look (and
the most recently constructed) on the river, over which there is a
bridge for foot passengers—fare, one penny (the lock fees vary from
threepence for sculling and other small boats, to half-a-crown for
house-boats, over fifty feet in length). It was inaugurated by the
Duke and Duchess of York, in 1894. Four hundred yards westward
is a Viaduct, which carries the Windsor branch of the London and
South-Western Railway over the Thames; and then we reach

[
Richmond Bridge and— '

5. P. Dollman,] i (Chiswick.
THE THAMES AT RICHMOND.

Richmond.

FAREs: From Waterloo, 1/3, 1/-, or -/g; return, 2/-, 1'6,0r 1/3. From Ludgate Hill,
1/6, 1/3, or 1/-; return, 2/3, 1/9, or 1/6. From Broad Street, 1/6, 1/2, or 1-:
r‘etum. 2/3, 1/8, or 1/6. From Aldgate, 1/8, 1/4, -/11 ; return, 2/6, 1/11, or 8.
From Mansion House, 1/6, 1/3, or -/10; return, 2{3. 1/g, or 1/6.

Although less than ten miles distant from Waterloo station by
railway, the windings of the Thames are so many that by water
Richmond is quite fifteen miles from Waterloo Bridge. There is
no place in the environs of London more attractive than this beauti-
fully-situated town, as it well deserves to be called. The View from
Richmond Hill extending over the valley of the Thames, which,winds
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among meadows and woodlands and charming undulations, has been
celebrated by poets and depicted by painters, who seem never to
have wearied of its tranquil charms. On the front of the hill, sloping
down to the Thames, the Dukes of Buccleuch had their pleasure
gardens, attached to Buccleuch House. It was subsequently pur-
chased by the local authority ; and now the public can wander at
will about the gardens and enjoy the lovely view they command.

The Parish Church, dedicated to St. Mary Magdalene, contains the
tombs of Thqmson, the poet, who lived for many years at Kewfoot
Lane—of Kean, the great actor, to whose memory there is a medal-
lion on the outer wall of the church—of the Earl of Fitzwilliam, who
founded the museum which bears his name in the Cambridge
University—of Dr. Moore, the father of Sir John Moore—and of
Barbara Hofland, whose moral tales were at one time very popular,

Richmond has a special theatrical fame. Its little playhouse,
recently rebuilt, has witnessed several noteworthy gatherings ; and
the latest addition to its publicbuildings is a Town Hall, of attractive
architecture, opened by the Duke of York, soon after his betrothal
to the Princess May was made public. The town has long been
famous in the athletic world. Its cricket, lawn-tennis, and football
clubs, whose head-quarters are in a portion of the Old Deer Park,
have long held a prominent place amidst their fellows ; and the
latest addition to its facilities for out-door amusements are the
Golf Links in Scudbrooke Park.

Richmond Park

was laid out and enclosed by Charles I., and covers between two
and three thousand acres of land; the wall surrounding it is
nearly eight miles in length. Itis a domain of almost unrivalled
beauty and a great boon to London. About fifteen hundred deer
are in the park, in which are Pembroke Lodge, where the late Earl
Russell (famous as Lord John Russell) resided, the White Lodge,
the seat of the Duke of Teck, and other so-called “lodges”
—princely residences in reality. The pieces of water known
as the Pen Ponds have an area of eighteen acres. There are
public entrances from Richmond Hill, East Sheen, Roehampton,
Wimbledon, and Kingston. The right of public way through the
park was successfully asserted many years ago by a brewer of
Brentford. Cabs are not admitted.

Petersham and Ham Common, are near Richmond Park, on the
Surrey side of the river. On its Middlesex shore, is—

Twickenham [ fares from Waterloo, eleven miles and a half distant,
1/6, 1/2, or -[11; return, 2/4, 1|10, or 1/6], a pretty village-town,
famous for its classic associations and pretty houses. Among the
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latter, are Pope’s Villa, Strawberry Hill, Orleans House, &c. In the
Church, a conspicuous edifice, close to the Thames, are the graves
of Pope, of Sir Godfrey Kneller, the portrait painter, of Kitty Clive,
the celebrated actress, &. On Twickenham Ait, or E¢l Pie Island,
is a notable “ house of call ” for refreshments, the reach of the river
between Richmond and Teddington being in great favour with
oarsmen.

At Teddington, in Middlesex, opposite Ham [ fares from Waterioo,
2/, 1/6. or 1/- ; return, 2/6, 2/-, or 1/8], we reach the second lock
on the river ; and here we end our voyage.

Bushey Park, with its mile-long avenue of chestnut trees, is in the
flowering season, towards the end of May, visited by thousands
of excursionists. By walking across it, passing towards its south
end the historic Diana Pountain, we reach—

Hampton Court Palace,

standing in beautiful grounds, bounded on three sides by the
Thames. We cnter the park by the Lion Gates, near the Masze
(admission, one penny)—a great source of amusement to youthful
visitors, who lose and find themselves with the utmost alacrity.
In the Private Garden, is the famous Hampton Court Vime, the
largest in Europe, a hundred and ten feet long, and with a stem
nearly a foot in diameter.

The palace itself is a splendid pile of buildings, concerning the
history of which much might be written. For many years past, the
private rooms have been divided into suites of apartments, occupied,
by permission of the sovereign, by persons, chiefly members of the
aristocracy, to whom such a residence is acceptable. It consists
chiefly of buildings around three quadrangles. The Western Court,
all that is left of Wolsey’s famous palace, is entered by a finely
groined archway, with an oriel window above it. It is a hundred
and sixty-seven feet square, and, crossing it, another gateway is
reached, on the turrets of which are terra-cotta busts of Roman
emperors, presented to Wolsey by Leo X. This gateway gives
access to the Middle or Clock Court, a hundred and thirty-three feet
long by ninety-one wide. It was remodelled by Sir Christopher
Wren, who also built the noble Fountain Court, and the grand
eastern and southern fronts, each about three hundred and thirty

- feet long. The Great Hall is a hundred and six feet long, forty
wide, and sixty high. The roof is decorated with arms and badges,
and the windows filled with modern stained glass, with heraldic
devices. The walls arc hung with Flemish tapestry, representing
events connected with the history of Abraham; and near the
entrance is an older piece of tapestry, of the time of Elizabeth and
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her successor, James. Masques and dramatic performances were
held in the hall; and George I. ordered it to be fitted up as a
theatre, selecting Shakespeare’s “ Henry the Eighth,” as the piece
to be performed—a rather cynical choice, by the way, the fall of
Woalsev heing renresented in the hall of thasnoasibssntssssione he
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Every care has been taken in the compilation n of
of this volume to render it accurate and trust- © ging
worthy. But it is the lot of all human beings— 1 the
even of editors of Guide Books who, of all men, Ing’s
should be most careful—to err. In this busy and
age, too, changes take place, both in town and :::g
country, with marvellous rapidity, and thwart at _the
times the efforts of the most painstaking writer. the
‘We should, therefore, esteem it a favour should .
any of our readers discover errors, either of srmed
omission or commission, in these pages, if they e of
would promptly inform the Publishers. Such :u;g:
communications will be thankfully acknowledged, Mary,
and the inaccuracies rectified. , Van
Addrese— THE EDITOR. ander
Messrs. Warp, Lock & Co., L1p., and
Warwick House, Salisbury Square, ’f‘_‘: gff
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représenting her at various ages from childhood to old age; and some valuable
examples of Holbein, Rembrandt, Cuy%eand Murillo.

XI. The Queen’s Bedroom. State bed of Queen Anne; painted ceiling by Sir
Fames Thornhill, representing Venus, rising from the sea.

XII. The Queen's Drawing-room. Ceiling by Verrio. All the pictures are by
Benjamin West, among them the famous “ Death of General Wolfe.” A splendid
view over the park is commanded from the central window of this room.

XIIL. The Queen’s Audience Chamber. Curious paintings by Holbein.

XIV. The Public Dining-room. Examples of Beechey, Gainsborough, and Law-
rence. From this room, we reach the Queen’s Private and other apartments

28



838 GUIDE TO LONDON.

in each of which are interesting pictures, and the South Gallery andfthe .-h?a
Gallery, the former containing a noble collection. and the latter, the very valuable
water-colour designs for a suite of tapestry representing the “ Triumphs of Caesar.”

XV. The Prinoe of Wales’s Presence Olnnfc

XVI. The Prinoe of Wales's Drawing-room.

XVII. The Prince of Wales's Bedroom.

The Queen's Stairoase leads to the Queen’s Guest Chamber and the Queen’s
Presence » each containing valuable pictures.

The State Apartments are to the public free on Sundays and every other day,
except Friday, from ten till six, from 15t of April o the 1st of October, and from
ten till four during the remainder of the year.” The gardens are open until sunset.

We can return to town from the Hampton Court Statiom, on the
Middlesex side of the river [fares to Waterloo (fifteen miles), 2/-,
1/6, or 1/2% ; return, 2/9, 2/-, or 1/10] ; or a drive home will enable
us to see many interesting parts of Surrey.

. C. llharton & Co.,) L Kstourn.
ON HAMPSTEAD HEATH.



7{. C. I; harton & Co.,} [K'ilburn:
GOLDER’S HILL HOUSE, HAMPSTEAD.

(This house, with beautiful grounds of about 36 acres, was acquired for the
public use in 1898. It is at present util'sed as a home for convalescent
soldiers from South Africa.)

EXCURSION Xviil
SUBURBAN PLEASURE RESORTS.

The Crystal Palace

[FARES: From Holborn Viaduct, Victoria, Lud%ate Hill, London Bridge, or Kensing-
ton, 1/3, 1/~ or -/7 ; return, 2/-, 1/6, or 1/-; return, including admission on shilling
days, 2/6, 2/-, or 1/6.]

is one of the sights of London that must be briefly noticed. We
all know that it originated in a desire that there should be some
memorial of Sir Joseph Paxton’s wonderful palace of glass,
erected in Hyde Park for the Exhibition of 1851 ; that a com-
pany was formed for the purchase of the materials, and that
Sir Joseph re-erected it, with vast additions and improvements ;
that the beautiful grounds on the hill-side were laid out with ex-
quisite taste and skill ; that royal receptions have been held, and
musical performances given on the most colossal scale ; but that it
is shorn of some of its original proportions, by a fire, which, many-

years since, consumed the north transept. But this misfortune -
390
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has lately been converted into a boon ; for the space occupied by
the destroyed transept has been transformed into a garden, with
seats, and walks, and a lake, where we may sit and listen to the
music of a first-class band, while gazing on one of the fairest scenes
it is possible to imagine. At night, the gardens are illuminated,
and the fire-work displays have gained a world-wide celebrity.
The north tower has been fitted with a lift to take people to its
topmost rung, whence, if they think they would like a view into
six counties, they will have an opportunity of gratifying their desire.
The palace consists of a nave, a central transept, and a south transept.
Two spacious galleries traverse the building ; and in the nave, are
marble basins with water-lilies, glass and bronze fountains, flower
beds of exquisite beauty, and innumerable pendant baskets filled
with flowers. In the central transept, is the grand orchestra, with
room for four thousand performers, and the great organ of 4,568
pipes, constructed by Gray and Davison. Adjoining the transept,
are the opera theatre and the concert room ; and in the galleries
are a picture gallery and reading-room.

A leading feature of the palace is a series of Courts, each devoted
to the illustration of some historic or natural development of art, and
each containing a reproduction. of architectural peculiarities. The
chief of these are the Egyptian, Greck, Roman, Alhambra, Byzantine,
Middle Age, Renaissance, Italian, and Pompeian. There are also
others, in which modern art and technical skill are exhibited.

From the palace, the descent is made by a succession of terraces,
ornamented with statuary, to the Grounds, in which are some of the
largest fountains in existence, throwing water to the height of
nearly two hundred and fifty feet. There are also water-towers
:and waterfalls, and the effect, when the entire series is in operation,
is very beautiful. In the lower part of the gardens is a large
lake with pleasure boats; and on an island are extraordinary
veproductions of colossal antediluvian animals by Waterhouse. A
Cricket Ground and a Football Field, provided by filling up two foun-
tain ponds near the Penge Avenue, and other accessions of popular
amusement add to the attractions of the extensive and beautiful
grounds. An excellent Cycle Track has also been constructed.

Dulwich Picture Gallery,

" in the neighbourhood of the Crystal Palace, is a part of the old
quadrangle of Dulwich College, and may be reached from the
station at Dulwich [ fares from Victoria or Holborn Viaduct, -|g, -|7
or -[5; return, 1l-, -[10, or -[8]. It was bequeathed to Dulwich
College in 1811, by Sir Francis Bourgeois, RA. The gallery
contains about four hundred very choice pictures, especially some

l
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masterpieces of Carlo Dolci, Titian, Poussin, Murillo, Rubens,
Rembrandt, Turner, Wouverman, Gainsborough and Sir Foshua
Reynolds. It is open free to the public every day, except Sunday,
from ten to four or five, according to the season. Another gallery
south of the Thames which deserves to be seen is that in the
Peckham Road, known as the South London Fine Art Gallery.
1t is open to the public from two till tem, and on Sundays from
three to nine. Mr. Passmore Edwards recently added a school for
arts and crafts at a cost of £35,000.

Dulwich Park and Peckham Rye and Park are two of the best-known
and most popular breathing spaces in the suburbs of the metropolis.
Hilly Fields, Brockley, not far from the latter, were thrown open to the
public in 1896. Brockwell Park is another very beautiful open space.

The Horniman Museum, at Forest Hill (within a few minutes’
walk of Lordship Lane and Forest Hill stations), will more than
repay a visit, when the tourist is in the neighbourhood. Admission
free. Mr. F. J. Horniman has recently presented his unique
collection to the public, and housed them in a handsome new
building. The fifteen acres surrounding the museum have been
converted into a public park.

B * * ] * S

The northern suburbs, too, contain many favourite pleasure resorts.
The Alexandra Palace at Muswell Hill, after many vicissitudes, has
recently been bought by a board of Trustees for the public use,
at a cost of £150,000, and is to be used for entertainments, &c.
Mention must also be made of Hampstead Heath, by far the
loveliest of London’s open spaces, where one may wander for
miles amidst gorse and ferns, and may and crab-apple trees, and
see at every turn some unexpected beauty. In 1898, the Golder’s
Hill Estate, adjoining the Heath on the north-east side, and formerly
the property of the late Sir Spencer Wells, was secured for the
public use, at a cost of £40,000. The mansion is at present used
as a convalescent home for soldiers. Every effort has been made
to preserve the natural beauties of the park, some thirty-six acres
in extent. The trees are very fine—some, indeed, could scarcely
be matched elsewhere in the kingdom. Parliament Hill, adjoining
the Heath, commands a fine prospect over London. The famous
Highgate Archway has recently been rebuilt by the County Council
at a cost of £25,000. Waterlow Park and Highgate Woods are both
delightful pleasure grounds ; while further afield, at Barnet, are
Hadley Woods. In a more westerly direction is—

Wembley Park,
[FARES: From Baker Street, -/11, -/8, and -/s§ ; return, 1/4, 1/-, and -/g.]
which has a station on the Aylesbury extension of the Metropolitan
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Railway. It covers an area of about a hundred and twenty-f
acres, and the abundant beauties of the spot left but little to be di
in the way of improvement upon ‘nature. The chief attraction i

The Great Tower, which, if it is ever completed, will be t
highest in the world. Its total altitude is intended to be elew
hundred and fifty feet, and as the knoll on which it stands is it
a hundred and sixty-five feet above the sea-level, a view of
surrounding country from the top of the structure would be
paralleled. As it is, although the first platform is only two hun
feet high, five counties can be seen from it. Wembley is near:

Harrow-on-the-Hill.

(FARES: From Euston, 1/6, 1/- or -/9 ; return, 2/3, 1/6, or 1/-. From Broad St
1/8, 1/1, or -/10 ; return, 2/6,1/9, or 1/3. From Baker Street, 1/4, 1/-, or -/8 ; ret
2/, 1/6, or 1/-. From Aldgate, 1/6, 1/2, or -/9 ; return, 2/4, 1/8, or 1/2.]

This celebrated scholastic town occupies the summit of a I
hill, the elevated position making the spire of the church one
the most prominent objects in the landscape for many miles rou
The Church (St. Mary's) is at least seven hundred years old ;
portions—among them, some of the pillars and a doorway in the
tower—are certainly much older. The Anglo-Norman Font, which
for many years lay neglected in an adjoining garden, is remark-
ably interesting. The several old brasses in the church and some
of its monuments are worthy of notice. The tomb in the church-
vard, on which Byron used to lie outstretched, contemplating the
beautiful and extensive landscape, is reverently pointed out.

The 8chool, one of the foremost public schools of England, is now
the great attraction of the place. It was founded, in 1571, by John
Lyon, a yeoman of the parish. The older portion of the school-
house stands near the church. It is a venerable building in the
Tudor style. A Gothic Library, a memorial of Dr. Vaughan, 2
former head-master of the school, designed by Sir Gilbert G. Scott,
was added in 1863, and a new Speech Room, in 1878. The College
Chapel, a fine Second Pointed edifice, with a lofty spire, adorns the
High Street ; it was built in 1859. The panels and desks of the
schoolrooms are literally covered with the names of the pupils, mrvedr
in the wood ; amongst them, may be traced those of Byron, Peel,
Palmerston, and many others who became eminent in after-life.

The list of suburban pleasure resorts would not be complete
without mention of Epping Forest, reached by rail from Liverpool
Street (book to Chingford). The Forest is under the control of the
City Corporation. Twenty-eight acres on Yardley Hill have re-
cently been added to this already magnificent open space.

For Index sce pp. 343-352.
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Rattersea Park, 329 | Lambeth, 328 Chzmery Lane, 211-3,273
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Bath House, 112 | Richmond, 331 Chapels, 26-7

Bedford Place, 278 Southwark, 323 Charing Cross, 657
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Berkeley Square, 111, 113
Berkeley Street, 111
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an, Tomb of, 263
Bur ngton Arcade, 110
Burlington House, 109-10
Bury Street, 104
Bushey Park, 335
Busts—

Cambﬂﬁfc. Duke of,252
Church: R, 161
Fox, Samson 127
Hogarth, 73

Hunter, 73

Bun

eynolds, 73
Butc ers' Hall, 260

C

CABS AND CAB FARES, 58

, Cadogan Bridge, 330

Cambridge Circus, 74

Cannon treet, 21z
Cannon Street Railw: ay
Stations, 43, 244

| Canterbury Hall, 236

Capel Court, 249

Carlton Hotel, 77

Cariton House Terrace,
100
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St.Alban’s, Holborn, 273
St. Andrew’s, Holborn,

270-1

St. Andrew’s-by-the -
‘Wardrobe, 242

St. Andrew’s Under-
shaft,

St. Anne’s, City, 254

St. Anne's, Soho, 77

St. Anselm’s, 112

-St. Bartholomew the
Great, 259



Churches (continued)—
St. Bene't’s, ce-
church Street, 305

St. Bene't’s, Mile End
Road, 311

St.  Bene't's, Queen
Victoria Street, 243

St. Botolph’s, Alders-

gate, 256
St. Botolph’s, Aldgate,

307
St. Botolph Without,268
St. Bride’s, 215-6
St. Clement Danes, 198
St. David’s (Welsh),
Paddington, 144
St. Dunstan's, 210-11
St.  Dunstan-in-the-
East, 293
St. Ethelburga's, 268
St. George and St.
Botolph, 293 .
St. George’s, Blooms-

ury, 278

St. George's, Hanover
Square, 136

St. George's, South- .
wark, 287 i

St. Giles, Cripplegate, |
262- X

St. Giles-in-the-Fields,
e

7
St. Helen's, 267
St.R James's  Chapel
0!

yal, 96
St. James’s, Piccadilly,
108

St. John’s, 261-2
St. John la Savoy, 74
St. Katherine Cree,306-7
St. Lawrence’s, 2
St. Leonard’s,
Stdilfd;' zﬁ%:helua,

. Luke's,
St. Magnus, 284, 285327
Margaret’s, Loth-

bury, 249

St. Margaret's, West-
minster, 164-5

St. Martin - in - the -

Fields, 68
St. Martin's, Ludgate I
SQH&IL e Hill
. Mary-at-Hill, 293
St. Marylebone, 140
St. Mary-le-Bow, 254-
St. Mary-le-Strand, 1
St. Mary Matfelon, 309
St. Mary’s, Lambeth,325
St. Mary’s, Pdgtn., 144
St. Mary Staining and
St. Michael, 254
St. Mary Woolnoth, 250,

283
St. Michael's,
St. Mildred's, 255

ore-

Corabil | Clabo—

INDEX. 845
Churches (continued)— | Clubs (continued.
St. Nicholas Cole, 243 Alexandra, 115
St. Olave’s, 312-3 Alpine, 70

St. Paul's Cathedral,
219-3
St. l?;nt's, Covent Gar-

den, 194
St. Paul’s, Great Port-
land Street, 138
St. Peter ad Vincula, 298
St. Peter’s, Cornhill, 305
St. Peter’s, Piccadilly

Circus, 7%1
St. Peter’s, Pimlico, 99

St. Peter's, Regent
Square, 273

St.  Philip's, Regent |
Street, 135 i

St.  Philip’s, White-
chapel, 312

St. Saviour’s, South-

wark, 286
St. Saviour’s-for-the-
Blind-and-Deaf, 144
St. Segtu.lchre’s, 258, 269
St. ephen's, Wal-

brook, 244
St. Swithin’s, Cannon
Street, 250
St. Vedast's, 254
Savoy Chapel Royal, 195
Temple Church, 208,

209-10 !
Trinity, Gray’s Inn'
Road, 273 |
Trinity, Marylebone,

140

Trinity, The Minories,
300

Westminster  Abbey,

168-86
City and Gullds of Lon- |
don Institute, 125 !
City and South London
lectric Railway, 54-5 |
City Corporation, The, 4
City Fire Station, 239 |
City Law Courts, 253 |
City of London School, ’
i

240
Ditto, for Girls, 240

City Police, The, 7
City Temple, The, 270
Clare Market, 204
Clarence House, 96
Clarges Street, 112
Clement'’s Inn, 205 !
Cleopatra’s Needle, 239
Clerkenwell Town Hall, !

273
Cleveland Street, 105, 139 )
Cleveland Square, 96 .
Clissold Parf 0 1
Clothworkers’ Hall, 293 I

ul
Albemarle, 115

Army and Navy, Ior,
106

Arts, 136
Arundel, 238
Athenzum, 102
Bachelors', 115
Badminton, 114
Baldwin, 78
Bath, 115
Boodle’s, 104
Brooks's, 103:
Burlington
115
Carlton, 102
Cavalry, 114-5
City 268
City of London, 244
Cocoa Tree, 104
Conservative, 103
Constitutional, 69
Crichton, 238
Devonshire, 104
East India

ne Arts

United

Grosvenor, III, 115

Guards’, 103

Hyde Park, 115

Isthmian, 115

Junior Army and Navy
1

unior Carlton, 102
106
Junior

115
Junior Constitutional,

115
Junior United Service,
102, 135
Kennel, 106
Marlborough, 102
National beral, 69,

238
Naval and Military, 114
New, 115
New University, 104
Oriental, 136
Orleans, 106
Oxford and Cambridge,

03
}unior Athenzum, 114,

Conservative

103

Plume, 73

Portland, 1

Prince’s, 116

Reform, 102

Royal Societies, 104

Royal Thames Yacht,
115

St. George's, 136

St. James's, 114

St. Stephen’s, 337

Savage, 238



346
s] conlinued)—

e. 114 .
Smxthﬁeld Cattle, 136
Thatched House, 103
Travellers’, 102

68

United Service, 101-2

Wheel, 132

‘White's, 104

Windham, 106
Coaches, 60
Coal Exchange, The, 292
Coﬂegie of Preceptors, 278
Colonial Office, The, 151-2
Columbia Market, 264
Commercial Docks, 304
Commercial Rooms, The,

293
Commercial Street, 308
CongregationalChurches,

26
Congreg;;lonal Memorial

Constltuhon Hill 116
Cordwainers’ Hall 243-4
Corn Exchanges, The, 293
Cornhill, 305
Corporation Art Gallery,

254
Corporation Markets,

e, zgg
County Council, The, 4-5,
70
County Council Chamber,
70
Covent Garden Market,

193-4
Coventry Street, 73
Cranbourn Street, 72
Crane Court, 214
Craven Street, 69
Crimean Monument, The,
101
Cripplegate lnshtute, 262
Crosg %—I
(.rown Court Scotﬂsh
Church, 202
Crystal Palacc,
ham, The, 339
Cumberland Market, 77,
139
Custom House, The, 292
Curzon Street, 112

Syden-

Cyclists Row (Hyde Electric Railways, 54-6
Park), 117 ' City and South London,
Ditto, Battersea Park, | 34
329 Central London, 55-6

D

DAVY-FARADAY LABO-
RATORY, THE, 111
Dean Street, 75
Dean’s Yard, Westmin-
ster, 186
Deptford, 304, 316

GUIDE TO LONDON.

Devonshire House, 111
Dilletante Society, 81,
106
Docks, The, 300-3
Albert, 302
Commercial, 304
East India, 302
London, 301
Millwall, 302
gt Katharine’s, 300-1
urrey, 304
Tilbury, 302-3
Victoria, 302
West India, 302
Dr. Barnardo’s Homes,

3089
Doctors’ Commons, 218
Dogs’ Home, 327
Donaldson Colleclion,
The, 128
Dorchester House, 113
Dover Street, 111
Downing Street, 151
Drainage, The Main, 23,
320
Drury Lane, 202-3
Dudley House, 113
Duke of York's Column,

Duke of York's School,

330
Dulwich, 340
Dulwich Park, 341
Dulwich Picture Gallery,

340
Duncannon Street, 69
E

EARL's COURT, 51, 2, 133

Eastcheap, 291

East London Railway, 53

Eastlake Collection of
Pictures, The, 139

East Smithfield, 301

East Tilbury, 320

Edgware Road, 149, 2, 4

« Edinburgh Castle,” The,

309, 313
Eel Pie Island, 333
Egyptian Hall, Piccadilly,
110

Ditto, Mansion

! House, 249-50
! Electric Light, 24

,  City and Waterloo. 55
| “ Elephant and Castle,”
_The, 64, 288
Ely Place, 271
Embankment, The Albert,
237, 325
Ditto, The Victoria,

237-40

pping Forest, 342
n't’h

Strcct. 199
Euston Road, 33, 278
Euston Square, 278
Roy:tllag:ﬁ‘ !.huofMPlt:he
eges y-
slcians amdg Surgeons,

2389
Exchange, The Royal, 57,

247-9
Exeter Hall, aﬂ'
Exhibition Galleries, The,

Exhibiﬁon Road, 125
F

FARRINGDON STREET, 217
Fenchurch Street, 312-3
Fetter Lane, 213-4, 272
Fetter Lane ngrega-
Fig:l;ml Cgapel, ent, 364
ury avcment,
Finsbury Sqnare
Fire Brigade,
Fishmongers’ Hall, 284
Fleet Street, 205-16
Foreégn Catue Market,
31
Foreign Churches, 27-8
Foreign Office, The, 150
Forest Hill, 340
Foundling Hospltal, The,
11, 276-7
Free Steam Ferry, 319
Freemasons' Tavern, 204

: French Chapel, 1

French Gallery, The, 103

French Hospital, The,
73

French Protestant
School, 74

Fulham, 331

G

GENERAL FEATURES OF

LONDON, 8-10

General Post Office, 2556
Geological Society, The,

109
Geological Survey The,

104
George Yard Mission,
309-10

Germzng6 Chapel Royal,

Gerrard Street, 75

Gibson Collection of
Sculptures, 110

Giltspur Street, 257, 258

Gloucester Hou:'e, 13

Godliman S 234, 243

Golden Lane, 263

Golden Square, 135

Golder’s Hill, 341

Goldsmiths’ Hall, 254



Gough Square, 214
Gower Street, 278
Gracechurch Street, 291,

313
Grand Junction Canal, 144
Gravesend, 321
Grays, 320
Gray'’s Inn, 273
Gray’s Inn Road, 272-3
Great Central Railway,
31, 368, 140
Great Eastern Railway,

Great Geor;

ﬁc Street, 152
Great Nort

ern Railway,

356
Great Ormond Street, 276
Great Portland Street, 139
Great Queen Street, 204
Great Russell Street, 278
Great Scotland Yard,1 11
Great Synagogue, The,
307-8
Great Tower, The, 342
Great Tower Street, 293
Great Western Railway,
The, 3841, I
Great Wheel. The, 132
Great Windmill Street, 75
Greenhithe, 320
Green Park, The,96-7, 112
Greenwich, 304, 3169
Gresham College, 254
Gresham Street, 254
Grosvenor House, X13

Grosvenor Square, 113 ‘

Guards’ Chapel, The,

99-100
Guildhall, The, 252-3
Guildhall Free Library,

253

Guildhall Justice Room,
253

Guildhall School of Music,

it
Guilford Place, 276
Guy's Hospital, 286-7

H

HABERDASHERS' HALL,
254
Hackney Road, 265
Hadley Woods. 342
Half Moon Street, 112
Ham Common, 335
Hammam Baths, The, 104
Hammersmith, 332
Hampton Court, 336-8
Hampstead Heath 341
Hanover Chapel, 136
Hanover Square, 135-6
Harcourt House, 136
Harley Street, 136
Harrow-on- the-Hlll 342
Hart Street, 313
Hatchett’s, 114

INDEX.

1 Hatton Garden, 271

| Haymarket, The, 76-7
Hendon, 339

Her Majesty’s Theatre, 77

Herald’s Office, The, 243

Hertford House, 136-8

* Highest Ground ” in the
City, 234

Highgate Archway, ‘;41

Highgte Woods, 34

Hilly Fields, Brockley 341

Hippodrome, 72

History of London, 11-14

Hogarth House, 330

Holborn, 272-3, 275-6, 281

Holborn Viaduct, The,

270-1 -
Ho&bom Public Library,
281
Holborn and Strand
Improvement, 198
Hoalborn Town Hall, 273
Holland House, 55, 130-2
Holywell Street, 198
Home for Destitute Boys,

74
Hm’lémopathic Hospital,

Hope House, 114
Ho! Museum, 341
Hospital for Women, 74
Horse Guards, The, 147-8
Horse Guards Avenue, 148
Horse Guards Parade
Ground, 94, 148
Hotel Cecil, The, 193
Houndsditch, 307
Houses of Parliament, sce
Parliament, Houses of
Humane Society’s Re-
ceiving House, 107
Hyde Park, 116-7
Ditto, The Screen, 116
Hyde Park Corner, 114, ’
| 1156

| 1 ‘

IDOL LANE, 293 !
Imperial Institute, The, !

124-5 |
India Office, The, 150
Indian Museum, The,’

123-
Inner

Circle Railway. | 1

50-1
Inner Temple Hall, 209
Institute of Civil Engi-
| neers, 152 !
} Institute for Seamen; 30
Ironmonger Lane, 251

| Isle of Dogs, 302
| Isleworth, 334

J
ERMYN STREET, 104
ewish Hospital, 311

347

ewish Synagogues, 26-7
ewry Street, 307
‘ews’ College, 277

K

KENNINGTON OVAL, 329
Kennington Park, 329
Kensington, 130
Kensington Church, 130
Kensington Gardens, 127
Kensington Palace,128-31
Kew, 332-3

Kew Bridge, 332

Kew Gardens, 332-3
Kew Observatory, 333
King Street, 251-2

Kin, “; William  Street,

) 70
Dltto City,250,283,291
King’s College, 197
King's College Hospital,

204
Knightrider Street, 243
Knightsbridge Road 118
Knightsbridge Barracks
The, 118

L

LA BELLE
YARD, 217
Ladies’ Mile, The, 117
Lady Eastlake’s Collec-
tion of Pictures, 139
Lambeth Baths, 236
Lambeth Palace, 324-5
Lambeth Suspension
Bridge, 325
Lamb’s Conduit Street,

376
Langham Place, 139
Lansdowne House, 111-2
Law Courts, The, 190,
201-2
Law Society's lnstitu-
tion, 213
Leadenhall Market, 306
Leather Lane, 272
Leathersellers’ Hall, 266
L’Eglise Franqaise de
Noire Dame.de France,

SAUVAGE

Leicester Place, 73
cester Square, 72-3
Leighton House, 132-3
Lifeboat Instltuﬁon, The
Royal, 19
Lincoln s Inn, 274
meoln’ Inn Fields, 204,

274-5
Lindsay House, 327
Unnzan Society, The,

Little Britain, 256
Liverpool Strcet, 264
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Livery Companies, The, 5
Lloym’ Subecription
Rooms, 8
Llloyds’ Avenue, 313
Lombard Street, 250, 313
I.ondon Boroughs, 6
London Bridge, 48, 2856
London County Council,

7, 70
London County Council
Chamber, 70
London Hospital. 310-1
London Institution, 264
London Library, The, 106
London Lock " Hospital,

143
London Militia Barracks,

271
London Missionary So-
ciety’s Museum, 265
London Salvage Corps, 75
London Stone, 12, 16, 250

London University, 125
London University Col-
Lovg here

ng Acre,
I..ong Lane,zzogx
Lord’s Cricket Ground,

144
Lower Thames Street,

284, 285
Lowther Arcade, 69
Ludgate Circus, 216-7
Ludgate Hill, 217-8

M

MADAME TUSSAUD'S
WAXWOREKS, 140

Maiden Lane, 193

Main Drainage Outfalls,
320

Mall, The, 94

Manchester Square, 136

Mansion House, The, 244,
247, 249-50

Marble Arch, The, 117,

144, 341
Mar‘itorough House, 94-5,
103

249
Marylebone Road, 140
:}ay ing, 112-3

ecklinburgh Square, 267
Mercers’ Hall, 251
Mercers’ School, 272
M:gghant Taylors’ Hall,

M:zcohant'l‘aylors' School,
Metropolitan Cattle Mar-
et, 2!
Metropolitan Meat Mar-
ket, 259, 282
Police

Metropolitan
Farce, 7

Metropolitan Railways,

49-53
M%polltan Tabernacle,

Methodist Chapels, 27
Middlesex Hospital, 139
Middle Temple Hall, 206-7
Middle Temple Library,

M.sd R:
Midland Railway, 34-5
Milford Lane, 200
Millwall, 302
Milton's Bixth;g’laoe, 255
His Grave,
Mincing Lane, 273
Minories, The, 300
Mint, The, 298
Montague House,
151, 237
Monument, The, 284
Moorgate St. Station, 264
Moravian Chapel, 214
Mortlake, 332
Mudie’s Library, 281
Museum of Anatomy
and Pathology, 275
Museum of Practical
Geology, The, 104, 108
Museum Street, 281

N
NATIONAL DENTAL Hos-
PITAL, 139
Natjonal Gallery, 68, 78-87
National Hospital for the
Paralysed and Epilep-

tic, 277

National Portrait Gallery,
72,

National Skating Rink,

135
National Society for the
Prevention of Cruelty
, _to Children, 311
Natural History Museum,
123
i NelsonMonument,The,67
New Bridge Street, 63,

139,

I
N:ar Gallery, 135
New Oxford Street, 281
New Palace Yard, 152-3
New Scotland Yard, 237
Newgate Gaol, 257
Newgate Street, 234, 257
Norfolk College, 319
Northfleet, 320
Northumberland Avenue,

N%;thumberland Street,

o
ODONTOLOGICAL
SOCIETY, THE, 73

Old Bailey, 217, 257
.ol Bro:x Stnct,ssﬁe

GUIDE TO LONDON.

“Old Curiosity Shop,”
The, 20

Outer Circle Railway, 53
Oxford and Cambridge

Boat Race, 329
Oxford Circus, 138, 144
Oxford House, 2656
Oxford Music Hall, 281
Oxford Street, 139, 144

P

PADDINGTONINFIRMARY,

Paluﬁington Green, [
Paddington Vestry Hall,

143
Pall Mall, 78, 101-3
Pall Mall, East, 78
Pannier Alley Tablet, 234
Panton Street, 77
Panyer Alley, 234
Park Lane, 113
Parks and Open Spaces,
22-3
Parliament, Houses of,

Clock, The, 156
Clock Tower, 156
Commons’Corridor,162
House of Commons,
162
Hous of Lords, 1579
Lantern Gallery, 156
Norman Porch, 157
Octagonal Hall, 160
Peers’ Corridor, 160
Peers’ Lobb?. 159
Peers’ Robing- Room,

160
Post and Telegraph
Office, 160
| Prince’s Chamber, 157
I Queen’s Robing Room,

157

. Royal Gallery, 157

| St. %te hen’s Hall, 162

| Victoria Tower, 156

| Waiting Hall, 160

Parliamentary Represen-
tation of London, 7

Parliament Hill, 342

i Parliament Square, 152

' Paralysed and Epileptic

Hospital, 277
’ Passmore Edwards’ Set-

tlement, 277



Paternoster Row and
Buildings, 234

Paul's Wharf, 324

Peckham Rye and Park,

Pes: Ponds, 33,
People’s Palace, 311-2
ot 2

e Chantry, The, 289
Petticoat Lane, 307
Pharmaceutical Society,

276
Photogr.l hic Society of
ritain, 78
Ph cians and Surgeons’
lleges Examination

Plccadllly, 108-15
Piccadilly Circus, 75-6
Picture Galleries, 29
Pitman’s School of Short-

hand, &c., 275 |

27
PlacesofAmuument,zs-g
Police Force, 7
Polytechnic, 139
Poplar, 303
Popula on of the Metro-

Poﬂ]an: Place, 139
Portman Market, 140
Portman Square, 139
Portsmouth Street, 203
Postmen’s Park, z;(x
Post Office, General 2556
Poultry, The, 244, 251
Primitive etlmdlst
Chapels, 27
Primrose Hill, 142
Ditto. City, 215
Prince’s Hall, 1
Principal
Thoroughfare, 61-4
o
u g Lane, 14, 28
Putney, 331 b .
Pye Corner, 258 |

Lines of

UADRANT, gm;, 135
een Charlotte’s Lying-
ln Hospital, 140

enElizabeth’sTree, 329
Street, 244, 251
ueen Victoria Street, |

241-4
ueen's Gate, 125
gueen ’'s Hall Langham |

Place
Dltto. Wh]’techapel,y 1 '

een’s Square, 276 |
ueen Victoria’s l%ubilee |
Institution for Nurses,
141

R
RAILWAYS, 31-56 .
Electric, 55-0

i Regent’s Park, 141

{Roee

INDEX.

Railways (cont.)— |
Central London, 55
Railway Stations—
Baker Street, 52
Bank, 55
Broad Street, 33, 53
Cannon Street, 46
Charing Cross, 46
Dlttg Metropolltan,
23
Euston, 32-3
Fenchurch Street, 43,

48
Holborn Viaduct, 47
Kentish Town, 34-5
King's Cross, 36 ‘
Liverpool Street, 43
London Bridge, 43-4
Ludgate Hill, 47, 217
Mansion House, 49, 51,

243
Marylebone, 38
Paddington, 39
St. Pancras, 34-5
St. Paul’s, 47
gnoleill , 47

emple, 240
Victoria, 44, 47, 189
Waterloo, 47-8

Record Office, The, 212-3

Redcross Street, 262

Red Lion Street 2756

Red Lion Square, 275

Regent Street, 134-6, 144

Regent uare Presby-
terian Church, 273
Regent’s Canal Basin, 302

Richmond, 334-5
Rlchmond Park, 335
Roman Bath, 199
Roman Catholic
Churches, 27
Bromptoni Orato
Cathedral, The, 1
St. Etheldredan 271
St. George’s, 288
St. Patrick’s, 74 |
Avenue, 273
Rosh e, 320
Rotten Row 116
Royal Albert Hall, 126-7
Royal Arcade, 111
Royal Academy of Arts,

Royal Academy of Music,

oyal Agricultural Hall,
261

Royal Aquarium, The,

Royal Asiatic Society, 111
Astronomical

Roga:d ?:t:;;llc Soclety's

, 118

349
Royal College of Music,
R:z College of Physi-
Royal College of Science,
R;;:l College of Sur-
Rog;:lm Co?zglal Institute,
ng?al Exchange, The, 57,
R:;gl.q Free Hospital,

272-3
R(gacll Geographical
ety, 109, 135
R% Horticultural

ety’s Gardens, 332
Royal umane Society,
Royal Instituteof Painters

in Oil Colours, 108
Ditto in Water

Colours, 108-9

Royal Institution of
reat Britain, 111
Ro al Lifeboat Institu-

Royal )zlltary Asylum,

Royal Mint, The, 299

Royal Naval School, 319

Rc_)lya.l Palace of Justice,
he,

190, 201-2
g’h of Art

Ro;

Igecdlework 125
Royal Society, 109
Royal Society of Arts,

Royal Soclety of British

Ro et of Painter-
tchers, 7
Royal Sodet&)of Painters
in Water Colours, 78
Ro; Society for the
ention of Cruelty

Royal Stables, ‘Re,

' Royal United Service

Insﬁtuhon, 148-50
R% ctualling Yard,

Rwell Square, 277
Russell Street, 202

S

SAVINGS  BANK,
Office, 133
Sackville Street, 109
St. Andrew’s Street, 271-2
St. Bartholomew’s Hos-
ital, 259-60
St?Brlde’s Lane, 216
St. Bride’s Court, 215

Post
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St. Bride's Foundation
Institute, 216

St. Clement Danes Vestry
Hall, 204

St. George's Barracks, 72,

St. George’s Hall, 139

St. Georgc's Hospital, 116

St. Giles’s Chi Mis-
sion, 71

St. Helen'’s Place, 266-7

St. James’s Hall, 108, 135

St. James's Palace, 95-6

St. James'’s Park, 70, 93-
00

X
St. James’s Square, 106
St. James's Street, 103-4
St. John Ambulance So-

cietg, 260

St. John’s Gate, 260

St. 1]oln'l's Hospital for
Diseases of the Skin, 73

St.zﬁ{’ohn's Street Road,

St. John's Wd. Rd,, 142
St.* Katharine’s Docks,

300-1
St. Katharine’s Hospital,

141
St. Martin’s-le- Grand,
.. 255
St. Martin’s Court, 218

St. Martin’s Place, 70

St. Martin's Street, 73

St. Martin’s Town Hall
and Library, 72

St. Mary Axe, 307

St. Mary-le-Strand Public
Hall and Library, 202

St. Mary's Hospital, 144

St. Paul's Cathedral,
210-34
Baptistery, 225
Beﬁs, 2

24
Cathedral Library, 227
Choir, 225, 2289
Clock, 223
Consistory Court, 225-6
Cross, ?l‘

Crypt, The, 229-32
Dome, 2258
Geometrical Staircase,

225
Golden Gallery, 228
Morning Chapel, 225
Monuments, 231-3
Mosaics, 228
Pulpit, 226
Reredos, 228
Stone Gallery, 227-8
Transepts, 224, 227
Western Fagade, 222-3
Whispering  Gallery,

227
‘Windows, 233

GUIDE TO LONDON.

St. Paul's Cath. (cont)— |
Wren's Tablet, 225

St. Paul's Chapter House,
%

St. Paul's Churchyard,
2,

St. :S}viour's Southwark,
2

St.zgaviour's Free Library.

7
St. Stephen’s Cloisters,

I
St. gte hen’s Crypt, 163-4
St. Sw?thin’s Lane, 250
St. Thomas's Hospital,

2367

St. Vincent’s Home for
Boys, 144

For the titles of churches

beginnin, with *St,"
see  u: * Churches,”
and ‘' Roman Catholic

Chuyches.”
Salisbury Court, 215
Saliubur{l uare, 215
Salters’ , The, 250
Salvation Army Head-
Quarters, 243 .
Samaritan Free Hospital,
140
Sanger's Amphitheatre,
236

Saville Row, 115
' Savoy Chapel Royal, 195
| School Board Offices, 240
School for the Indigent
| "Bling, 287
| School of Mines, The, 104
Seamen'’s Almshouses, 234
Seamen'’s Hosrital, 319
Seamen’s Institute, 303
Serpentine, The, 127
Seven Dials, The, 71
Shzagtesbnry Avenue, 74-5,

X

Shaftesbury House, 7.

Shaftesbury Monum%nt,
The, 75-6, 135

Shoe Lane, 214

Shoreditch, 265

Sion College, 239

Sion House, 333

Size of London, 1-4

Skating Rinks, 29, 135

Sloane Street, 117-8

Smithfield, 258-60

Soane Museum, 275

Society of Antiquaries,

109

Soclety of Arts, The
Royal, 109-10

Soclety of Friends’ Burial
Ground, 263

Somerset House, 196-7,

240
Soho Square, 73-4

Southampton Row, 275
Street, 193

South Audley Street, 113

Southend-by-the-Sea, 314,
321-2

South Kensington Mu-
seum, 119-24

South London Art Gal-

lery, 341
So:{g London Ophthal-
mic Hospital, 287
Southwark, 286-8
Southwark Bridge, 323-4
Spencer House, g6
gqpﬁng Gﬁlens, 70, 93
uares, The, 23, 277-8
Stafford House,
Stainer Homes for Deaf
and Dumb Children, 144
Staple Inn, 272
Stationers’ Hall, The, 218
Statues
(see also “ Busts)—
Albert Memorial, The,
129, 131
Anne, Queen, 223
Banks, Sir J., 123
Beaconsfield, Lord, 152
Bentinck, Lord George

136
Bright, John, 162
Brunel, 240
Bunyan, 263
Burgoyne, Field Mar-
shal Sir John, 100

Burns, 238

Byron, Lord, 114
Canning, George, 152
Charles 1., 67, 145, 155
Charles II., 155, 248,

330
Chatham, Lord, 163
Chaucer, 114
Churchill, Lord R., 160
Clarendon, Lord, 163
Clyde, Lord, 100
Crimean Monument,
The, 101, 133
Cromwell, O., 152
Darwin, Charles, 123
Defoe, 263
Derby, Earl, 152
Edward III,, 212
Edward VI, 257
Elizabeth, Queen, 211,

Falkland, Lord, 163
Fawcett, Henry, 239
FitzAlwyn, 270

Fox, Charles James, 163,

27
Franklin, Sir John,100-1
George I1., 318
George III., 78
George IV., 68, 155



Statues (continued)—
Gladstone, W. E., 160
Gog and Mago% 253
Gordon, Gen., 67-8
Granville. Lord, 160
Grattan, 163
Gresham, Sir Thomas,
sz.t‘) ohn, 163

a en, John,
HaveY:)ick. &en., 67
Henry III,, 212
Herbert, Lord, of Lea,

.

INDEX.,

Statues (continued)— '
William IIL, 105
William IV.. 155,238,291

Steamboats, 60, 315

Steinway Hall Concert
Rooms, 139

Stepneg Causeway, 308-9

Stock Exchange. The, 249

Strand. The, 191-202

Stratton Street, 111

Subway, Bank, 245

Suffolk Street, 77

Surveyors’ Institution, 152

llow Street, 135

103
Hill, Rowland, 249
Holland. Lord, 131
Huskisson, 248 .
Huxley, 123 !
Iddesleigh, Lord, 160 I
ames 1., 155
ames II., 150
Jenner, 130
Lawrence, Lord, 100
Mansfield, Lord, 163
Mill, John Stuart, 240
Milton, 114
Myddleton, Sir Hugh,

270
Napier, Gen. Sir Chas,,

Napier, Lord, of Mag-
dala,
Nelson Monument,The,

67
Newman, Cardinal, 118
Outram. General, 237
Owen, Sir R,, 123
Palmerston, Lord, 132
Peabody, George, 249
Peel, Sir Robert, 152,

255
Pitt, William, 136, 163
Prince Consort, The,
248, 271
Raikes, Robert, 200, 238
Richard Ceceur de Lion,

164
Russell, Earl, 160

Selden, 163
ShaftesburyMonument,
The, 756, 134

Shakespeare, 73, 114
Siddons, Mrs., 134
Somers, Lord, 163
Stephenson, George, 32
Stephenson, Robert, 32
Street, Mr., 200
dale, William, 237

ictoria, Queen, 110,

128, 238, 241, 248, 249
Walpole, 163
‘Walworth, Sir William,

270 4
Wellington, Duke of,
1156, 117, 247

William I11. and Mary
11, 155

SwedenborgianChurches,’
27

T

TABERNACLE, SPUR-

GEON’S, 288
Tate Gallery, 325-8
Tattersall's, 116
Teddington, 335
Temple, The, 206-10
Temple Bar, 14, 201
Temple Church, 208, 209
Temple Gardens, The.

209, 239
Thames Conservancy
Board, 239
Thames Street, 241, 284
Thames Tunnel, 301
ThamesTunnels,New, 304
Thavies Inn, 272
Theatres & Music Halls,28
Adelphi, 103 |
Alhambra, 73 |
Avenue, 69, 237
Covent Garden, 204 |
Criterion, 77 |
Daly’s, 72 |
Drury Lane, 203 |
|
|

Duke of York's, 70
Empire, 73

Galety, 1
Garrick, 72

Globe, 199

Grand, 261 *

Great Queen Street, 204 !
Haymarket, 77

Her Majesty’s, 77
London Pavilion, 77
Lyceum, 195

Lyric, 74

New Royalty, 75
Olympic, 202

Opéra Comique, 200
Opera House, 203
Palace, 74

Paragon. 311
Pavilion, 310

Prince of Wales, 73
Princess’s, 281
Royal Comedy, 77
Richmond, 332

St. James's, 104
Sadler's Wells, 273

3
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Theatres (continued)—
Savoy, 103
Shaftesbury. 74
Shakespeare, 329
Strand, 199
Surrey, 193, 288

S, 194
Toole’s, 70
Tivoli, 192
Vaudeville, 193
Victoria, 289
‘Wyndham's, 72

Theistic Church, 135

Threadneedle Street, 260

Thornycroft’s Fountain,

1I
Tilb?xry Docks, 303
Tilbury Fort, 320-1
“Times ” Office, 241
Tokenhouse Yard, 249
Tooley Street, 286 .
Toztgenham Court Road.
1
Tower, The, 294, 295-8
Beauchamp Tower, 297
Bell Tower, 296
Blood_g Tower, 296,
297

Bower Tower, 298
Byward Tower, 296
Chapel of St. John, 296,

297
Church of St. Peter
ad Vincula, 298
Council Chamber, 296
Crown Jewels, 297-8
Gardens, The, 298
Horse Armoury, 296
Inner Bail, 296
Inner Hall, 296
Middle Tower ,296
Outer Hall, 296
Queen Elizabeth’s Ar-
moury, 296-7
St. Thomas’s Tower,296
Traitors’ Gate, 296
Wellington Barracks,

208
‘White Tower, 296
Tower Bridge, The,
298-300
Tower Hill, 2959
Tower Subway, 295
Toxophilite Society's
Garden, 141
Toynbee Hall, 308
Traces of the Past, 15-19
Trafalgar Square, 67-8
Tramways, 59
Treasury Buildings, The,

150
Trinity Almshouses, 311
Trinity House, 208
Trocadero Restaurant, 75
Twickenham, 335
Tyburnia, 143



852

U
UNITARIAN CHAPELS, 27
Unitarian Public Hall.zoo
University Colleio
University of ndon,

125 v

VAUXHALL TEMPORARY
BRIDGE, 325

Vauxhall Park, 329

Vauxhall Station, 329

Victoria Bridge, 329

Victoria Embankment
237-

Viclor?a Park, 264
Victoria Station, 189
Victoria Street, 109, 189
Victoria  and Albert
Museum, 119
Vigo Street, 135
Vintners’ Almhouses, 311
Vintners’ Hall, 324

WALLACE COLLI-CTION
OF PICTURES, &c.,137-8
Wapping, 301
War Office, The, 103, 148
‘Wardour Street, 73
‘Warwick House, 215
Warwick Lane, 234
Water Su;ig rr The, 23
Waterloo Bridge, 238
Waterloo Place, 100-1, 133
Waterloo Steps, 94, 100
Waterloo and City Rail-
way, 49, 54
Waterlow Park, 341
Watling Street, 254
‘Wellington Barracks, St
James's Park, 99
Ditto, The Tower 298
Wembley Park,
Western Ophi!
Hoe&l)tal, 140
West London Synagogue,

Wez?eys Chapel, 263

Wesley's House, 263

Wesleyan Centenary
Hall, 267

Waleyan Central Mis-

n, 262
Wesleyan Chapels, 27

almu

GUIDE TO LONDON.

‘Westminster, 167-8
Westminster Abbey,
68-86

I
Abbot Islep’s Chapel,

I
cnﬁ%ﬁfﬁ?&ﬁm The,

| Cha ter House, The, | Wi

17
Chapter Library, The,
I

Choir, The, 179, 180
ChoirScreen, The,172-3
Cloisters, The, 179
Coronation Chairs, The,

The, 180

184
Deans’Chagel,
Ed t

West Front, 169
‘Windows, 173, 175
Westminster Baths and

Westmmster Hall, 153-5.
163
Westmlnstcr

I
‘Westminster Roman Ca-
thohc Cathedml, ngg

Hospital,

Confes
sor’s Chapel, 184-5 |

I Henry VIL’s Chapel, !
|

Nave, 174
North Aisle, 174
rth f

Choir, 172
North Ambulatory, 183
North Transept, 172,173
| Organ, The, 173-5
I l;:letst'Comexgg 176, 177
pit, 174, 1
St. 86Andre“r's Chapel,

| St. Blaise's Chapel, 178
! St. Benedict’s Chapel,
80

I
St. Edmund’'s Chapel, .
182

182-3 ‘

the

St. Erasmus’ Shrine, 186

Cha; , 184

St. Jo n the Evange—.
list’s Chapel, 1

| St Michaels Chapel,

| 186
St. 8oNi(:l:olas Chapel,

St. Paul’s Chapel, 183
Sanc! , The, 180
' South Alsle, 175
: South Aisle of the
! Cholir, 176

Wheel, The Great, 132
‘Whitechapel, 308-13
Whltechapel Library and
, 310
Whltdidd ardena, 281
Wh!teﬁdd’s Tabernacle,

Whltefriam, 215

‘Whitehall, 69-70, 145-51
Whitehall Banq‘uetmg

‘Whit Gardens, 150
White Horse Cellar, 114
William’s Library, Dr.,

277
Willis's Rooms, 104
| Woburn Square, 277-8
Woolwich, 319-20
“ Wolsey’s Palace,” 203
Working Men's College,

276
Wych Street, 201

Y
YORK GATE, REGENT'S
PAR
ork Stairs, or Watergate,

Young Men’s Christian
Association, 137, 194,256

z
Zoor.oclcu. GARDENS,

2
lZoologlcﬁ Society of

London, 136

13
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